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Introduction of the Group

45 1l 5 4

SRE Group Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries (the “Group”)
are an integrated real estate developer. The Company was founded in 1993
and was listed on the Hong Kong Stock Exchange in 1999 (HKe1207).
Over more than three decades, the Group has expanded its business to
more than 10 key cities in the PRC, including Beijing, Shanghai, Shenyang,
Dalian, Chengdu, Changsha, Jiaxing, Wuxi, Haikou and Zhangjiakou, and
has successfully developed many high-end residential buildings, commercial
complexes and starred hotels, and the Group has also leveraged its own
corporate advantages and industrial resource integration capabilities to
create a unique town with composite functions in Shanghai. The Group
actively explored overseas markets and made presence in London, San
Francisco, Sydney, Phnom Penh and other cities.

As an enterprise that started with the traditional real estate development
business, the Group has created brands of high-end quality projects,
including Rich Gate, Albany and Oasis. In the future, the Group will
continue to give full play to its own advantages, integrate industrial resources,
take “urban renewal, boutique property development, commercial property
investment and management” as its development goal, broaden business
tracks, implement the concept of integration between city operation and
industry operation, develop with the times, keep pace with the market, create
innovative business growth points, and strive to seck new breakthroughs in
the Group’s development with the goal of long-term market value.
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Financial Summary

gz gD
SUMMARY OF RESULTS AL
Year ended 31 December
BEDRH3H LR
2023 2022 2021 2020 2019
20234 20224 20214F 20204 20194
RMB'M RMB'M RMB'M RMB'M RMB'M
AEARE HEARE OEARE THEARE OEARE
Revenue N 599 276 780 289 651
Gross profit (loss) B (B TBH) 43 131 224 (63) 187
(Loss) profit before income tax % i A5 B I (5 £8) 1) (1,709) (509) 28 (967) (2,236)
Income tax credit (expense) TSRS A (B 50) 112 251 (1) 30 (45)
(Loss) profit for the year A (s 1) 1 (1,597) (258) 28 (936) (2,281)
(Loss) profit for the year 55 B I TR TR i
attributable to AF B (F48) F1E
non-controlling interests (21) (10) 10 18 25
(Loss) profit for the year A F BRI AL AR
attributable to owners (e 48) F1H
of the Company (1,618) (268) 38 (919) (2,256)
(Losses) earnings per share AT NN R
attributable to owners of (f48) ZA
the Company - - - - -
- Basic (RMB) S ZNUN: i) (0.079) (0.013) 0.002 (0.04) 0.11)
- Diluted (RMB) . N (0.079) (0.013) 0.002 (0.04)
Asat 31 December
R12A31H
2023 2022 2021 2020 2019
20234 20224 20214F 20204 20194
RMB'M RMB'M RMB'M RMB'M RMB'M
HEARE HEARYE HEARYT HEARY HEARK
Total assets B 13,194 13,931 14,080 14,188 15,481
Total liabilities A frsE 10,532 9,655 9,597 9,717 9,995
Net assets ERE T E 2,662 4276 4,483 4471 5,486
Restricted bank deposits PR 1 1 R AT A7 3K 4 4 37 2 3
Banks balances and cash WATH B R & 127 101 71 380 519
Equity attributable to owners of 5 T AR ) B SR i
the Company 2,363 3,998 4215 4,184 5,181
Year ended 31 December
BERH3HILEE
2023 2022 2021 2020 2019
20234 20224 20214 20204 20194
Return on equity (%) JE PR 4 [ % 2 (%) (68%) (7%) 1% (21%) (44%)
Current ratio (times) LED LR () 0.99x 1.16x 1.18x 1.08x 1.27x
Total liabilities to net assets B A B R B W E R
ratio (times) (%) 3.96x 2.26x 2.14x 2.17x 1.82x
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Chairman’s Statement
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BUSINESS REVIEW

2023 is the first year of implementing the spirit of the 20th National
Congress of the Communist Party of China and the first year after the
initial recovery from the three-year pandemic. During the year, a series of
policies and measures were introduced from the central government to the
local government to focus on stabilising growth and secking development.
However, at the current stage, the road to economic recovery is still full of
twists and turns, and the real estate market continues to be in the bottom
adjustment stage. During the year, the policy strength of the real estate
industry continued to increase, and local policies loosen up to enable a boost.
The real estate industry experiences an initial impact, but it is still faced
with the dilemma of insufficient internal power, and the real estate market
has not shown obvious signs of recovery in supply and transaction, and the
confidence in house purchase in the market is yet to be restored. In the face
of the uncertainty of the business environment, the Company’s operation
management team continues to rise up against the difficulties, focusing on
resolving debt and risks, ensuring the delivery of key development projects
and facilitating sales collection, improving the operating lease and collection
rate of commercial properties, strengthening the brand power of investment
attraction, and promoting the revitalisation of inefficient and ineftective
assets, so as to realise the orderly and stable operation of the Company.

During the Reporting Period, the differentiation pattern of the top 100
real estate enterprises in the industry continues, and improved demand was
released continuously. The core management team of the Group focused
on the main business, actively carried out various operating tasks of the
Company, secured revenue, controlled costs, coordinated and allocated
funds between multiple parties, properly addressed the liquidity issues of the
Company, maintained a relatively stable operating status under the strong
pressure of survivability in the real estate industry, focused on addressing
historical problems, and continued to improve the Company’s operating
efficiency and competitiveness. In terms of the operation of development
projects, a number of projects such as Shanghai Lake Malaren World,
Changsha Oasis Albany and Romduol City in Phnom Penh, Cambodia
were in continuous construction and sales during the year. In terms of
commercial property operation, the Group gathered commercial operation
assets in Shanghai and Shenyang, continued to make efforts at the level of
brand investment attraction, and made a name for high-quality business.

In 2023, the Group’s major projects available for sale were Changsha Oasis
Albany, Shanghai Lake Malaren Mansion, Shanghai Huangpu Huating,
75 Howard in the USA and Romduol City in Cambodia. In 2023, the
Group together with its joint Ventures and associates had contracted sales
amounting to Approximately RMB624 million, with a total contractual
gross floor area of approximately 45,431 m?.

S5 o] Jgi

202348 7 B B A 0 - ROR HBE R 2 4F
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ARURIE o A AT S KR 1 0 - 47 TR P9 2
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BRI & > T IS 0 M B WA - |
B BRI N HEE TR > 0 F) AR A T I K AR
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Chairman’s Statement
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Amount of Contractual

Sales Contracts Gross Area

Project JEH HEAF A 85 1 [n] T
(RMB’000) (m?)

(NRHETn) (CEIK)

Changsha Oasis Albany R VD SR IHE A 268,694 28,580
Shanghai Lake Malaren Mansion IRGES BN 224,216 7,129
Shanghai Huangpu R 2 49,689 3,423
75 Howard in the USA F 75 Howard 43,494 333
Romduol City in Cambodia W BB R 23,059 2,335
Others oAt 14,795 3,631
Total at 623,947 45,431

In 2023, the Group recorded net revenue of approximately RMB599 million AREMF2023F H G 2 B FFIFHEA B NRE

(2022: RMB276 million). Gross profit for 2023 amounted to approximately ~ 5.998 7T (20224F : NR¥2.76(87T) ° 20234F

RMB43 million (2022: gross profit of RMB131 million). AT ZEBH o #H5HNR0.43(8 70 (20224F - B
FIARM131ETT) -

2023 2022
REVENUE LN 20234 20224
Revenue from contract with customers %5 A A7 SR Ry ] 3 e R
recognised at a point in time A
— Revenue from sale of properties L /ESCEUN 392,979 87,532
— Revenue from hospital service - B BE R B A 8,450 10,650
401,429 98,182
Revenue from contract with customers 5 G B R TR 2
recognised over time A
— Revenue from hospital service - B BERB A 19,806 31,998
— Revenue from construction of infrastructure - HRE R e AL Al A% SOt
for intelligent network WA 438 2,397
— Revenue from property management service - W) B IRBT I 29,115 29,304
49,359 63,699
Revenue from property leasing L/E SULEUI N 149,076 115,530
Less: Tax and surcharges W B A R n 2 (1,263) (1,495)
Total revenue KA 598,601 275,916
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DEVELOPMENT PROJECTS

The Group’s key projects under development include projects such as
Shanghai Lake Malaren World, Changsha Oasis Albany and Romduol City
in Phnom Penh, Cambodia. In 2023, the project companies established
reasonable operational plans with key focus on timely delivery, upheld
the principle of “sales-based production”, maintained stable cash flow and
operational safety as a whole, enhanced the refined management and control
over construction projects, ensured completion of delivery milestones as
scheduled, and achieved steady growth in sales collection.

Property Development Business
Shanghai Lake Malaren Mansion

During the year, the project focused on promoting construction and sales,
and successfully completed the delivery of the first section, with a total
completed area of approximately 22,400 m? and a total of 35 buildings. The
completion filing was completed before 30 August 2023, and the delivery
was completed before 30 September 2023. The delivered housing area was
approximately 10,000 m> There was no public opinion and safety incidents.
Under the generally cold situation in the Shanghai commercial office market
during the year, the project cash flow remained stable, laying the foundation

for the subsequent development of the second and third sections.
Changsha Oasis Albany

In the first half of 2023, the project signed contracts with reputable local
educational resources, which aided project sales to a certain extent. During
the year, through communication with the government, the original
construction indicators for the construction of schools were optimised, and
surrounding projects were coordinated to share the costs, so as to reduce the
total construction investment costs. During the year, the focus was to ensure
the delivery of the project in accordance with the contract, and the overall
delivery of the first batch of four buildings in the first phase was successfully
completed. There were no delivery or public opinion incidents, and we
maintained a good market reputation for the project.

Jiaxing Project
The project has entered the final stage of settlement. During the year, the
settlement of land appreciation tax settlement for Phase II of Lanwan has

been successfully completed, and maintained the stable operation of the
project company.
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Dalian Albany Mansions

The project continued to promote the preparations for pre-development
for the project, sorted out the preliminary information and deepened the
operation plan, and laid out the operation nodes and cash flow. Affected
by unfavourable factors such as the downturn of the real estate market in
Northeast China, construction did not resume during the year. During
the year, the Group focused on the historical difficulties of the project,
maintained close communication with the government, and jointly
formulated the implementation of feasible relief plans to resolve the
temporary difficulties of the project and realise asset revitalisation.

Romduol City in Phnom Penh, Cambodia

In 2023, the project focused on promoting the delivery of sold houses.
Through the coordination of the project team with great efforts, the project
team successfully obtained external financing capital injection by the end
of the year. Affected by positive factors such as the acceleration of project
progress, the project sales work achieved a certain breakthrough by the end
of the year, and the total monthly transaction volume was highly ranked in
the Phnom Penh area in Cambodia.

75 Howard in the USA

The project has obtained the final completion certificate. During the year,
under the unfavourable situation of the continuous interest rate hikes by
the Federal Reserve and stagnant sales, the Group successfully achieved
a breakthrough in signing contracts in the second quarter through the
expansion of sales channels. After the extension of the original development
loan was completed at the beginning of the year, the project refinancing was
completed within the extension period in the middle of the year, successfully
ensuring the project’s operational safety. Moving forward, the Group will
continue to expand sales channels and promote project sales collection.

Chairman’s Statement
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Requisitioning
Shanghai Daxing Street Project

The requisitioning work of the project has entered the final phase. During
the year, we focused on the safety of the foundation and the management
of housing resources. By the end of 2023, around 99.5% of the households
signed contracts on requisitioning, and the relocation rate was 99.1%. 100%
of the enterprises signed contracts on requisitioning, and the relocation rate
was 95.45%. There are only 2 units that have yet to be relocated.

Shanty Town Renovation Project in Zhangjiakou

Combined with the sales of the real estate in Zhangjiakou, we maintained
close communication with the government during the year, discussed asset
revitalisation plans for multiple rounds, and negotiated multiple times on
relevant paths. However, due to the downturn of the real estate market,
the relevant work has yet to make a breakthrough, and we will continue to
promote the revitalisation of project assets through various channels in the
future.

Land Bank

As at 31 December 2023, the Group owned a land bank with a total gross
floor area of approximately 1.40 million m? in among other places Shanghai,
Changsha, Dalian, San Francisco and Phnom Penh. The Company stays
abreast of industry development dynamics, explores its own resources and
advantages and is committed to discovering assets which are underestimated
or with growth potential.

Commercial Property Operation

In 2023, the customer traffic and occupancy rate of commercial properties
improved. Affected by unfavourable factors such as the general decline in
leasing capacity of tenants, the Group’s commercial properties maintained
stable operation. Each commercial operation unit would strive to enhance
the refined management of projects, optimise the daily operation and
property management procedures, etc., and plan to further improve the
process efficiency and data transparency by adopting a business management
system, aiming to maximise the value of commercial assets in the future.
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Shanghai Oasis Central Ring Center

As a landmark of the Shanghai Central Ring business district, the project is
created by adopting the design of a complex eco-business cluster in the form
of a circular commercial street connected with office buildings. In 2023, the
project focused on commercial brand upgrades by introducing chain brands
such as Starbucks, KFC, and Domino’s Pizza, further enhancing the vitality
of commercial operation.

Shanghai Lake Malaren Exotic Street

The project focuses on creating an exotic town with a “micro-vacation sports
and leisure” theme based on Nordic architectural styles, and creating an
open-air leisure space. The project continued to expand its brand merchants,
focused on the core of business development, and at the same time paid close
attention to the growth of new businesses, so as to open up new basis of
revenue for the Company. During the year, high-quality merchants such as
Dayin Bookstore, Himaxx and One Step Garden were introduced to settle
in, continuously improving the vitality of regional commercial development

and brand gathering ability.
Lake Malaren Obstetrics and Gynecology Hospital

Lake Malaren Obstetrics and Gynaecology Hospital is a specialist obstetrics
and gynecology hospital that integrates medical treatment, prevention,
healthcare and rehabilitation. It has several departments such as obstetrics
and gynecology and neonatology. During the year, affected by market factors
such as the continuous decline in birth rate, the hospital made continuous
efforts to increase revenue and reduce costs through high-quality medical
services, efficient management, technological innovation, marketing and
talent training. Additionally, in line with the development of the age and
changes in the needs of patients, the hospital has continuously adjusted
and optimised its business strategies, including but not limited to exploring
external partnerships and other methods to ultimately improve the hospital’s
asset yield.

Shenyang Rich Gate Shopping Mall

The project relies on children’s education and parent-child themed
service industry, while gradually introducing interactive business formats
related to health and better lifestyles, which aims to further enhance the
competitiveness of commercial operation. The occupancy rate of the project
has shown a positive trend from April onwards and has steadily increased,
continuously strengthening rental collection, deeply implement cost
reduction and efficiency improvement, and reducing energy consumption
costs. Going forward, the tenant sourcing team will focus on expanding
brand resources to realise increase in project operation.

Chairman’s Statement
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Chairman’s Statement
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MAJOR TRANSACTIONS

Save for those disclosed in this annual report, there were no other significant

investments held, nor were there any material acquisitions or disposals of

subsidiaries during the reporting year under review.

THE GROUP’S HONOURS

14

Shanghai Lake Malaren Town Enterprise Management Co., Ltd was
awarded the “Safe Demonstration Unit of Baoshan District in 2023”
by Shanghai Baoshan District Construction and Coordination Group

Shanghai Lake Malaren International Convention Centre was
awarded the “Safe Demonstration Unit of Baoshan District in 2023”
by Shanghai Baoshan District Construction and Coordination Group

Shanghai Lake Malaren International Convention Centre was
awarded the “Advanced Unit in Fire Safety Work in 2023” by
Shanghai Fire Safety Professional Committee

Shanghai Lake Malaren International Postpartum Club was awarded
the “CBME China Maternity, Infant and Child Industry Award in
2023” by China Maternity, Infant and Child Industry Association

Shanghai Lake Malaren International Conference Center was
awarded the “Advanced Unit in 2023” by Shanghai Baoshan District
Hotel Industry Development Association
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BUSINESS OUTLOOK

In 2023, the scale of real estate sales in China remained at a low and stable
position, and the policy stimulus showed a trend of “First high, then low,
lastly stable”. In 2024, first at the policy level, it is expected that policy
support would continue to increase in areas such as financial support and
transaction taxes to ensure the stable and healthy development of the real
estate industry; Secondly, in terms of market, the uncertainty of the internal
and external environmental impact is still relatively large, and the market
has shown a significant downward trend again after a temporary recovery
in 2023, and the overall market is still relatively sluggish. In the future, on
top of the basis of policy support, real estate enterprises still need to further
restore the confidence of property purchasers, maintain stable operations,
adapt to new changes in the situation and achieve their own business goals.

The Group will also continue to maintain stable operation of its core
businesses and strive to achieve revenue from new businesses. Firstly, in
terms of cash flow, we will accelerate the collection of sales from constructing
and existing projects, and continue to implement the principle of “sales-based
production” on the basis of ensuring delivery, so as to maintain the stability
of cash flow of each development project; we will actively adapt to new
changes, and plan to promote the revitalisation and realisation of inefficient
and ineffective property assets through various ways such as introducing
strategies investors; we will also promote the collection progress of equity
interest of key projects according to plans and realise recovery of cash flow.
Secondly, in terms of ensuring operational safety, the Company will follow
the principle of “focusing on risks, ensuring corporate security, and achieving
annual operational targets”, and make solid efforts in corporate operation.
Thirdly, in terms of real estate development and construction, the Company
will establish reasonable operational plans, enhance refined management,
ensuring the completion of delivery milestones as scheduled, and carry out
construction work in an orderly manner. Fourthly, in terms of commercial
property operation, we will continue to enhance overall revenue of assets
through aspects such as “asset operation”, “asset revitalisation”, “performance
management” and “incentive system”, and enhance the professional
capabilities of asset operation and property management. Fifthly, in terms of
corporate management, the Group will further optimise its accountability
system as and where appropriate to match the changes of the corporate
business development, strictly control human resources and human costs,
optimise its personnel structure, enhance capabilities of talents, improve
individual productivity, and enhance overall professional competitiveness
of the team. Sixthly, in terms of revenue generation from new businesses,
the Group will rely on the establishment of property service management
platform to create new business profits. In the future, the Company will
take advantage of the positive changes in the external environment, improve
its main business, and expand new tracks relying on existing resources to
achieve stable and positive development of corporate operation.

Chairman’s Statement
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ACKNOWLEDGEMENT

I would like to take this opportunity to express my gratitude to the
colleagues in the Board and the management team, and convey my respect
to all front-line staff members. In life and career, just like a marathon, the
key to succeeding does not lie in the immediate explosive power, but in the
perseverance along the way. The year 2023 is a crucial year for SRE. In the
midst of storms, we should hold firm in our beliefs, embrace changes and
forge ahead. With the joint efforts of all staff, the Group will definitely have
a brighter future.

Xu Ming
Chairman
21 September 2024

16

.

T AE G U R S R e W
B > Sl B AR — SR T A B TARREE - A
AN SE  WLAN—IG REHIAR - W5 Y B s A A
I ik TH] B A % - T AE R 988 vh B BR AR - 20234F 02
EE B — 4 78 A B A B
& BEHBEE - BFHER - MEERBATH
RS NT > A B A E e W R
o

R
HHE IR
20249 H21H



2023 ANNUAL REPORT —- % . =Z4E4EH; D

FINANCIAL REVIEW

Revenue and profit attributable to shareholders

In 2023, the Group recorded net revenue of approximately RMB599 million
(2022: RMB276 million), which represents an increase by approximately
117% compared to that of 2022. Loss attributable to owners of the
Company in 2023 was approximately RMB1,618 million (2022: loss of
RMB268 million), and the significant increase in loss was mainly due to: (1)
as a result of the default of the syndicated bank loan of the Shanghai Daxing
Road Project in 2023, there were significant loss from share of results of a
joint venture, while significant impairment allowance was provided for other
receivables and other financial assets at amortised cost related to the joint
venture after the Group’s carefully evaluation; and (2) certain impairment
allowance being provided for certain investment properties, inventories of
properties and other receivables after the Group’s careful evaluation as a
result of continuing downturn in domestic real estate market and macro
economic environment in 2023.

DIVIDEND

The Board has resolved not to recommend the payment of final dividend in
respect of the year ended 31 December 2023 (2022: Nil).

LIQUIDITY AND FINANCIAL RESOURCES

As at 31 December 2023, bank balances and cash amounted to
approximately RMB127 million (2022: RMB101 million) and restricted
bank deposits amounted to approximately RMB4 million (2022: RMB4
million). Working capital (net current liabilities) of the Group as at 31
December 2023 amounted to approximately RMB72 million (2022: net
current assets of RMB752 million), representing a decrease of 110% as
compared to the preceding year, and the current ratio was approximately
0.99x (2022: 1.16x).

As at 31 December 2023, the Group’s total liabilities to total equity
increased to 3.96x (2022: 2.26x). As at 31 December 2023, the Group’s
gearing ratio was approximately 69% (2022: 55%), calculated on the basis
of the Group’s net borrowings (comprising bank and other borrowings
amounted to approximately RMB5,091 million (2022: RMB4,453 million),
non-trade other payables due to related parties amount to approximately
RMB889 million (2022: RMB874 million), and deducting bank balances
and cash of approximately RMB127 million (2022: RMB101 million)
and restricted bank deposits of approximately RMB4 million (2022:
RMB4 million)) divided by the sum of Group’s total equity amounted to
approximately 2,662 million (2022: 4,276 million) and net borrowings as
above.

Management Discussion and Analysis
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Management Discussion and Analysis
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EMPLOYEES

As at 31 December 2023, the Group had 335 (2022: 382) employees
in Hong Kong and the People’s Republic of China. Total staff costs
of the Group, excluding directors’ remuneration, for 2023 amounted
to approximately RMB95 million (2022: RMB127 million). Staff
remuneration packages were in line with the prevailing market practice and
were determined on the basis of the performance and experience of each
individual employee.

CHARGES ON ASSETS AND CONTINGENT
LIABILITIES

As at 31 December 2023, total bank and other borrowings of approximately
RMB2,261 million (2022: RMB1,465 million) were secured by mortgage
of the Group’s certain property, plant and equipment, right-of-use assets,
investment properties and inventories of properties, or by pledge of equity
interests in a joint venture, certain equity interests in subsidiaries or bank
deposits.

The Group provided guarantees in respect of the mortgage facilities granted
by certain banks to the purchasers of the Group’s properties. Pursuant to
the terms of the guarantee arrangements, in case of default on mortgage
payments by the purchasers, the Group is responsible for repaying the
outstanding mortgage loans together with any accrued interest and penalty
owed by the defaulting purchasers to the banks. The Group is then entitled
to take over the legal titles of the related properties. The Group’s guarantee
periods commence from the dates when the relevant mortgage loans are
granted by the banks and end when the purchasers pledge related property
ownership certificates as security to the banks offering the mortgage loans.
The Group entered into guarantee contracts of principal amounts totalling
approximately RMB61 million (2022: approximately RMB98 million) and
these contracts were still effective as at the close of business on 31 December
2023.

The Group also provided guarantee to the syndicated bank loan for a joint
venture of the Group. As at 31 December 2023, such guarantee amounted
to approximately RMB4,452 million (2022: approximately RMB4,452
million) and the related interest and bank fees of RMB421.1 million (2022:
approximately RMB279.8 million).

Asat 31 December 2023, the Group provided a guarantee to a joint venture’s
bank borrowings of approximately RMB378 million (31 December 2022:
RMB280 million).

As at 31 December 2022, the Group provided a completion guarantee on
the development of 75 Howard, a joint venture of the Group in relation to
the development loans balance of approximately US$98 million (equivalent
to approximately RMB687 million) and such completion guarantee was
released during the 31 December 2023.

18

1 5

R20234F 12 H31H - AKE HR & ik o 2 AR
FCRN R Y R B ONBIUE 335 A (20224F ¢ 3820) o
AL R 20234 2 M B TSA (45 3 95
&) # B NREE0.95M8 0 (20224 - AR#F1.27(%
Je) > B L3I AR A BT 30 AT 1 B A R AR
Al B TR B B 5T o

B R R B A

2023412431 H » AKE HERAT B HAb fE 3
N 2261488 (20224F © NR#14.65(87T)
MAEEZ AT EE WY E - M X
ARG E - AW E LY ERBIFRA > 5
DL—[H A8 R - 5T 1A\ Z sk
SRATAFZRAERIHH -

% 42 [ o 5 T T o 5 R IR NI T 2 48 SR AT Y
R ERAT IR AR o ARPEIE LI R A K > it
7 5% T B R N R B S A A BE > AR [
JE B T 1) BRAT R R T R AR N A 4R
L [ R RIS B R o A S (B AL A i A A5 A B
WML E M o AR B R ORI ERAT I
AR S BE > B SR TEEE N
I 1l 7 MERE ) M o R G 8 S T A 2 AR S 8
TR 2 H 1k o A% F WIS G R A 45
ArtE NR 0614578 (20224F © £ AR 0.98
fEIT) » & AR 2£20234F 1231 HABRAE R

AL IR B H— A AN IRAT BRI LR
TSR o 8202341231 H > %55 E
N 44,5280 (20224 + #) NRH44.521%
JG) o AR B AE ARA T T AT A N R 421148
JG (20224 + # NRHE2,7981I0) A& LR -

R20234F12H31H » AEEAE—HAEEEEN
SRAT AR LA N R 378 H & oiE R (20224F
12H31H : AR¥280HHC) °

R20224E12A31H > AMEA L ALER -GS
122675 Howard Y B 25 £ 3K 90,9818 25 7T (R &
AN R 68718 0) 4L TIE A P g R 52 T5
> 5t LB 2 20234E 12 A 31 H 1L
EERRRR o



2023 ANNUAL REPORT & = 4R4REHR

EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING YEAR

a)

b)

Disposal of equity interests in two subsidiaries and
assignment of loan

On 6 February 2024, the Group entered into two disposal agreements
with CMI Financial Holding Corporation (an indirect wholly-owned
subsidiary of China Minsheng Investment Corp. Led.* (W R A= 4%
& A3 A R A), a controlling Shareholder and ultimate holding
company of the Group), subject to conditions, to (1) sell 100% equity
interest of Bowin International Limited (a wholly-owned subsidiary of
the Group) at the consideration of approximately US$15.37 million
and assign a loan together with all rights, title, interest and benefits at
the consideration of approximately US$5.93 million; and (2) 7.66%
equity interest of Cheswing Limited (a wholly-owned subsidiary
of the Group) at the consideration of US$4 million. For details of
the two disposal agreements and the transactions contemplated
thereunder, please refer to the Company’s announcements in relation
to the major transaction and connected transaction dated 6 February
2024, 28 March 2024, 10 May 2024 and 21 June 2024. On 20 June
2024, CMI Financial Holding Corporation issued a letter to the
Group for requesting for a negotiation for an extension of the original
long-stop date (i.c. 31 May 2024) of the aforesaid disposal agreements
for a period of not more than six months. As at the date of this annual
report, the aforesaid transactions have not been completed and are
subject to independent Shareholders” approval at a general meeting.

One government office withdrew a legal proceeding

In March 2023, one government office filed a legal claim against the
Company and one subsidiary in the People’s Republic China (the
“PRC”), demanding the Group and the subsidiary to repay entire
payables principal of RMB81 million and related interests, and
requested the court to seize two pieces of land of the Group located
in Dalian. The Group reached a settlement agreement with the above
government office in March 2024. Subsequently, a withdrawal of
the legal proceeding was submitted by the government office and
approved by the court on 10 April 2024, and the previously seized
two pieces of land were approved to be released accordingly. On 29
April 2024, the aforesaid government office issue a debt settlement
certificate.

Management Discussion and Analysis
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c)

20

Disposal of equity interest in a joint venture and
assignment of rights under certain debts

On 8 April 2024, the Group conditionally entered into a disposal
agreement with Zhongchong Investment Group Co., Led* (H15%
EAEE AR T) (an independent third party of the Company) to
dispose of the 51% of Equity Interest of Shanghai Jinxin Real Estate
Co., Ltd.* (the “Jinxin”) (_F 140 B HE A BRA ) (a joint venture
of the Group) and assign the rights under certain debts of the joint
venture, at an aggregate consideration of RMB3.41 billion (subject to
adjustment) less Jinxin’s payment obligation to Ningbo Zhongging
Trading Co., Led.* (B A B2 5 A BR/A ) in the amount of
approximately RMB32.5 million. For details of the disposal agreement
and the transaction contemplated thereunder, please refer to the
Company’s announcements in relation to the very substantial disposal
dated 8 April 2024, 29 April 2024, 29 May 2024 and 13 June 2024
and the Company’s circular dated 10 May 2024. On 29 May 2024,
the Company held an special general meeting (the “Original SGM”)
for the purpose of approving the aforesaid disposal transaction.
During the Original SGM, the Board announced that due to the lack
of quorum was present within thirty minutes from the time appointed
for the Original SGM, the Original SGM was adjourned and the
Board announced that the adjournment of the Original SGM (the
“Adjourned SGM”) will be held on 13 June 2024. On 13 June 2024,
certain sharcholders of the Company requested to further adjourn the
special general meeting to a date, time and venue to be determined
by the Board (the “Further Adjourned SGM”) during the Adjourned
SGM. As of the date of this report, the arrangement for the Further
Adjourned SGM was not yet determined by the Company. As at the
date of this annual report, the aforesaid transactions have not been
completed and are subject to Sharcholders’ approval at the general
meeting,

Change of chairman of the Board, chairman of the
Nomination Committee, chairman of the Investment
Committee, Process Agent and Authorised
Representative

M. Qin Guohui has resigned from chairman of the Board, chairman
of the Nomination Committee and the Investment Committee of the
Company with effect from 3 August 2024, and has ceased to act as
the authorised representative of the Company for accepting service of
process and notices on behalf of the Company in Hong Kong (“Process
Agent”) and authorised representative of the Company (“Authorised
Representative”) under Rule 3.05 of the Listing Rules) with effect
from 29 August 2024. As replacement, Mr. Xu Ming has been
appointed as the chairman of the Board, chairman of the Nomination
Committee and the Investment Committee of the Company with
effect from 3 August 2024, and Process Agent and Authorised
Representative with effect from 29 August 2024. For details, please
refer to the Company’s announcement dated 3 August 2024 in
relation to the change of chairman of the Board, chairman of the
Nomination Committee, chairman of the Investment Committee,
and the Company’s announcement dated 29 August 2024 in relation
to the change in the Process Agent and Authorised Representative.
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e)

Enforcement ruling of Jinxin

Jinxin and certain subsidiaries of the Group, namely Shunlink
Investment Limited ( FH##Z & A FRA ), Gaken Investment
Limited (5 Bh# & A PR/ H]), SRE Jiaye Real Estate Development
(Shanghai) Company Limited (| % % 3£ 5 2 45 R ( 1) R
2y #]) and Shanghai Oasis Garden Real Estate Company Limited
(L sk M AE B E 26 A BR S A]) (altogether, the “Enforcees”),
have received an enforcement ruling dated 12 September 2024 and
numbered (2023) Hu 74 Zhi No.1509* ((2023) 1E74#11509%%
CHATHIEH)) (the “Ruling”) from the Shanghai Financial Court
(L8 4B BE). It was stated in the Ruling that according to the
civil mediation document numbered (2022) Hu 74 Minchu No.
2987* ((2022) IE74 R #] 29879 KR F D) (the “Mediation
Document”), the enforcees and other relevant parties shall pay
to the lenders the principal amount of the loan in the amount of
approximately RMB4,451.8 million, together with corresponding
interests and management fees and shall also bear the enforcement fee
of approximately RMB4.5 million in respect of the action.

Pursuant to the Ruling, given that the defendants (including the
Enforcees) failed to perform their obligations under Mediation
Document, the Shanghai Financial Court has ruled to force actions
on (i) the 18.80% equity interests in Jinxin, held by Shanghai Oasis
Garden Real Estate Company Limited; (ii) the 18.42% equity
interests in Jinxin held by Shunlink Investment Limited; (iii)
the 7.89% equity interests in Jinxin held by Gaken Investment
Limited; and (iv) the 5.89% equity interests in Jinxin held by SRE
Jiaye Real Estate Development (Shanghai) Company Limited (the
“Enforcement Action”). The equity interests in Jinxin held by the
Enforcees are mainly enforced by way of transfer through judicial
auction. The specific actions to be taken shall be subject to further
notice from the Shanghai Financial Court. For details, please refer to
the Company’s announcement dated 18 September 2024 in relation
to, among other things, the inside information regarding the Ruling
and the Enforcement Action.

Management Discussion and Analysis
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Z(2023)1B 7431150957 CHLAT B 25 ([#k
FERE]) o FHoEEIARIE(2022)1874R 4]
298758 (R S F M 25) ([FRMEEE]) > B0 il
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Rl B £ 3 (1) b Vi sk o 6 B B S5 BR /A )
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INFORMATION ON BUSINESS REVIEW

The Group is committed to supporting environmental sustainability. Being
an integrated real estate developer, the Group has complied with the relevant
laws and regulations that have significant impact on the operations of the
Group. These include regulations on air and noise pollution and discharge
of waste and water into the environment. The Group recognises that our
employees, customers and business partners are the keys to our sustainable
development. The Group is committed to establishing a close and caring
relationship with our employees, providing high quality services to our
customers and enhancing cooperation with our business partners.

Details of properties under development for sale:

T PLE B

AR SRR A RN o AR B — RERS
J75 U PR B R - AR B T AR R R A
CE R 5 B AR B R ANIE B o %A I AN
LA A B8 22 SR R 7 4 G DL B ) B K Pk T
MIEHL o AEEMmERRMOEE - HF KE1E
B PR BAM T R AR R O B B o AR AR BB B
i B ) M B BAR - R S R
s - S Jn o BEEA 1Y S5 SRR TS A o

DAGE 4 2 B i S 2 WAAT

Expected  Completion Group’s
GFA Date of Rate of Holding
Project Location Land Use (sqm) ~ Completion  Construction Proportion
T it
HHAR i LHH % CFFR) TE AR 6 LHEE PER Hfl
Shanghai Lake Malaren No.8, Meilanhu Road, Phase II Commercial 62,054 2026 30% 72.63%
Mansion Baoshan District, [GES
ER:Y PN Shanghai, the PRC Phase II Facility 736 2026 30% 72.63%
W P TR UL fiig
B Rl Phase IT Underground 29,257 2026 33% 72.63%
W
Changsha Fudi Albany Pengjia Lane, Laodaohe Phase I Residential 153,688 2024 87% 54.08%
Garden Street, Kaifu District, — e
R BN E A Changsha, Hunan Phase I Commercial 5,528 2024 60% 54.08%
Province, the PRC —Hif %
B it R Phase I Underground 33,613 2024 80% 54.08%
R i B A —HH
PSR Phase II Residential 171,805 2026 0% 54.08%
“EE
Phase IT Underground 6,338 2026 0% 54.08%
“Hr
Phase II Commercial 47 854 2026 0% 54.08%
[ CE S
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Expected ~ Completion Group’s
GFA Date of Rate of Holding
Project Location Land Use (sqm)  Completion  Construction Proportion
[ it
WHH AR i ER.LY:S (FIiK) 5EIRAF Ot 56 LIS IR
Dalian Albany Mansions West of West Outer Ring ~ Phase I Facility 2,050 2026 0% 100%
KIS FE AT Street and South of —HiiE
North Ring Road, Phase I Residential 85,244 2026 5% 100%
Xincheng District, —HE
Wafangdian City, Phase I Commercial 18,302 2026 10% 100%
Dalian, Liaoning Province, o i[EE 3
the PRC Phase I Underground 23283 2025 0% 100%
B R T —HT
T I A Phase II Residential 82,399 2027 0% 100%
PSNRELITILRIE LI T
Phase IT Underground 22,530 2026 0% 100%
“Hr
Phase III Residential 43,183 2027 0% 100%
=WEE
Phase I1I Commercial 49,233 2027 0% 100%
S
Phase I1I Underground 34927 2027 0% 100%
=iy
Phase [V Residential 71,498 2028 0% 100%
M
Phase IV Commercial 26,611 2028 0% 100%
UPilEES
Phase IV Underground 29,653 2028 0% 100%
UL
Phase IV Facility 6140 2028 0% 100%
MARE
Phase V Residential 125,532 2029 0% 100%
nEE
Phase V Underground 33,338 2029 0% 100%
LT
Shanghai Daxing Road Daxing Street, Residential 109,516 2027 0% 51%
Project Huangpu District, (s
RGN Shanghai, the PRC Commercial 9,297 2028 0% 51%
GC BRI o] YN L E
Underground 67,950 2027 0% 51%
wr
Facility 1,470 2026 0% 51%
[
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Expected  Completion Group’s
GFA Date of Rate of Holding
Project Location Land Use (sqm)  Completion  Construction Proportion
i Hit
JHH A1 fr ER Yk (FIi %K) 5E Ay 56 LHE B eI b ol
Shanghai Shengnan Yongfa Road, Residential 58,492 Not yet 0% 100%
International Garden Pudong New District, decided
VB I R A B Shanghai, the PRC
i LTI 2 R
3 SRR [ 8 B¢
Napa Devlin Road, Napa, Hotel 27,247 Not yet 0% 79.33%
Napa San Francisco, the USA decided
KB =l s RkE
Devlin Road, Napa
Romduol Bourei Muoy Phase I Apartment 24,713 2024 90% 100%
EENZ Roy Khnang villages, —WAE
Tuck Thla Commune, Phase I Commercial 1,797 2024 95% 100%
Sen Sok District, Phnom s i[HES
Penh City, Cambodia Phase [ Facility 2,668 2024 90% 100%
IR BT —HIRE
a3 Phase I Apartment 61,884 Not yet 0% 100%
decided
bR 8 “AE RkE
Bourei Muoy Roy Phase II Commercial 4,057 Not yet 0% 100%
decided
Khnanghf i [ KE
Phase II Facility 2,956 Not yet 0% 100%
decided
“HRE Kk
Phase IT Car Park 18,785 Not yet 0% 100%
decided
R RkE
Phase I Club 415 Not yet 0% 100%
decided
—men KkE
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Details of completed investment properties: B Lz REWEZ M -
Holding
GFA Proportion
Project Location Land Use (sqm) of SRE
T
W H 21 fr B L& (P75 %) I kel
Oasis Central Ring Center No. 915, Zhenbei Road, Retail 1,782 97%
Putuo District, Shanghai,
the PRC
R HHER Hh B L i P [ T
FALRE915 9%
Oasis Central Ring Center Lane 1628, Jinshajiang Road, Retail 32,566 97%
Putuo District, Shanghai,
the PRC
R BR Hh B L T P [ T
GUILER 16287
Oasis Central Ring Center No. 1678, Jinshajiang Road, Retail 6,499 97%
Putuo District, Shanghai,
the PRC
AR B B L T P [ T
EUVLER 16785
Oasis Central Ring Center Lane 1628, Jinshajiang Road, Car Park 57,045 97%
Putuo District, Shanghai,
the PRC
AR B Hh B L i P [ S HL
GUILER 16287
Oasis Central Ring Center No. 1678, Jinshajiang Road, Car Park 4,048 97%
Putuo District, Shanghai,
the PRC
AR ER Hh B L i P [ S HL
EUVLER 16785
Transportation Hub of No. 1088, Luofen Road, Commerecial 29,389 72.64%
Lake Malaren Baoshan District, Shanghai,
the PRC
5 AT 2 40 A A Hh L i 1L [ [GES
RESY #1088
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Holding
GFA Proportion
Project Location Land Use (sqm) of SRE
ik i
JHH AW (AR T H A & (F-J5 k) P I e )
Retail Street of Lake Lane 989, Luofen Road and Commercial 72,943 72.64%
Malaren Lane 555, Luofen Road,
Baoshan District, Shanghai,
the PRC
5 TR I L E BV R [GES
HE T 159895 M AR IS #5555 F
Lake Malaren Golf Resorts Lane 9, Lake Malaren Road, Commercial 38,216 72.63%
Baoshan District, Shanghai,
the PRC
5 BRI T8 1 T < B RS )5 E EVEE L R [GES
3% T % 9 5%
Shenyang Richgate No. 118, Harbin Road, Commercial 245,252 100%
Shenhe District,
Shenyang City,
Liaoning Province, the PRC
T4 P 32 A K ] 7BV o [GES
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report

ABOUT THE ESG REPORT

The Group hereby releases the 2023 Environmental, Social and Governance
Report (“ESG Report”), in which we introduce our concepts and
practices of sustainability and social responsibility to stakeholders from
the environmental and social area. For details of the Group’s corporate
governance, please refer to the annual Corporate Governance Report.

Reporting Scope

The ESG Report covers the period from 1 January 2023 to 31 December
2023 (the “Reporting Period”).

The environmental key performance indicators (KPIs) disclosed during
the Reporting Period measure the performance of the Group’s commercial
properties including Lake Malaren Golf Club Shanghai (referred to as
the “Golf Course”), Shanghai Lake Malaren Obstetrics and Gynecology
Hospital (referred to as the “Obstetrics and Gynecology Hospital” or the
“Hospital”), Lake Malaren International Convention Centre (referred to
as the “International Convention Centre”), Shenyang Rich Gate Shopping
Mall (referred to as the “Shenyang Rich Gate”), and Shanghai Lake Malaren
North European Exotic Street (referred to as the “Exotic Street”). Unless
otherwise stated, other information and KPIs disclosed in the ESG Report
include the Company and our subsidiaries, covering the Group’s property
development and property leasing—the principal businesses of the Group—as
well as commercial properties.

Reporting Stan dards and Prin cip[ es

The ESG Report is prepared in accordance with Appendix C2
“Environmental, Social and Governance Reporting Guide” (the “ESG
Guide”) set out in the “Main Board Listing Rules” of The Stock Exchange of
Hong Kong Limited based on the following Reporting Principles:

Materiality: The Group identifies material ESG issues through stakeholder
engagement and materiality assessment. See details in the “Stakeholder
Engagement” and “Materiality Assessment” sections;

Balance: The ESG Report provides an unbiased picture of the Group’s

environmental and social performance;

Quantitative: The ESG Report discloses standards and methodologies
for the reporting of data about emissions and energy sources, as well as
the sources of conversion factors. See details in the “Low Carbon and
Environmental Protection” section;

Consistency: The environmental KPIs and their methodology are consistent
with those of the previous year.

BB - g LB

BN ESGH

A G R L B 2023 4F BRI ~ AL | IR S
(TESGH#R 1) » fEER AL & WK M - 17 7 45
B 7 A 50 A S5 T 14 AT R 2 5% R R AL & BUAE B
SEE - ARALEAEEREN  H2H
AR (RIS -

ESGHit 45 He [ %0 [ 5202341 H 1 H £20234E12
H318 ([AEHHE)

A TR 5 30 A0 906 58 119 5 05 o g R 6 A8 B L A
A S A T S ) 2 L i S T O R T R AR
FS AT BRI (PR o AT R BR3G )) - b vfg 5% B0
L B8 o (T [ s 2 B B e J el [ e ) - Lol %
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(M| SR a5 AH B 7 2 B R
PERFAG  FEE HWESGHH - #F I A 55 A0 B J7
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[~P-flir) © ESGHi it A fim A fay st 52 90 T A SR B BR 9%
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ESG MANAGEMENT ORGANISATIONAL

STRUCTURE ESG

The Group values the importance of sustainability to our operations. We

incorporated ESG factors into our business strategy and established a top-

down organisational structure to properly manage our ESG issues.

ESGH PRAH 5% 28 0%

A M A T R A R A R A I B
KESGH T4 A S A /&5 s rh > #5r T B
R AL AR R DL S N R ESGE
H o

Board of Directors The Board of Directors, as the highest ¢ Setting ESG management approach, strategy and
decision-making body for ESG work, objectives;
assumes full responsibility for the Company’s ¢ Reviewing the Group’s performance periodically
ESG strategy and reporting against ESG-related goals and targets;

v Evaluating, prioritising and managing material
ESG-related issues and the risks to the Company’s
business;

v/ Approving the annual ESG report.

HHG ESGLAFMY i i R IEHEAE - BESGHRIE v HIETESGHE BT & - WM HAE
M ERRIE 2 EAT v RESGAH B H B It st AL BRI

v ORRA B PR B A P S ESGAR B S H X
HA 2N m) SEH5 Y SRR 5

v EHAFEEESGHY -

Senior Management The Senior Management arranges the tasks ¢/ Implementing ESG risk management and internal
of the ESG Task Force according to the ESG control systems and reporting on major ESG
strategy established by the Board trends and related risks and opportunities to the

ESG Committee;

v’ Reporting on the progress of the Group’s ESG
work and the achievement of our ESG goals to the
Board;

v Sending the annual ESG report to the Board.

= A P MRYEE & 1 MESGRME A AKESGL v ATESGIRBR & HE 2 W #BH hl R 4% - MESG
1E/NARLBA Je AR Z: B TEIRESG 3= 208 34 DL e A BR o o A

e

v E W e R A SR I ESG AR R K
ESG H R R DL 5

v R AR EESGH Y

ESG Task Force The ESG Task Force is composed of ¢ Implementing the Board’s ESG strategy and
the General Management Department, policies;

Risk Control Department, Operation ¢ Carrying out ESG work according to the
Management Department, Cost and arrangement of the Senior Management;
Procurement Department, Human ¢ Preparingthe annual ESG report;

Resources Department and Finance ¢ Reporting ESG progress and annual ESG report to
Department the Senior Management.

ESG LA/ &R T - B RS ES - EE A v PATERGIESGR I BIBUR
B MATRES - AT EIREBFMB A v AR AR G 1) PEPH R ESG R UAE
EFIREEE N v EFEEESGIRY

v I A B E SR ESG LA i A1 4E JEESG

ek
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STAKEHOLDER ENGAGEMENT

We communicate with internal and external stakeholders through a variety
of channels to understand their opinions and suggestions on the Group’s
sustainability and strategy, and take the expectations and concerns of
stakeholders as an important reference for the Group’s ESG work.

Environmental, Social and Governance Report

BB - g LB

) 255 H B Dy 6 2

A 48 348 2 e A A48 BAL ;A A1 R ) 2 AH R O A AT
A TR S AR S TR A A B W Y
SRR o M AR B D7 B R R BR AR A A

LEEESGTAEMEES% o

Communication
Stakeholders Expectations and concerns Communication approach frequency
) % AH B 7 WK B W 5 2 W R
Government and Compliance operations Compliance inspection Many times a year
regulators Strictly implementing regulations Reporting
BURT Be B 55 e GRS AR —HELZ K
TR AT B R TAEREHR
Shareholders and Investment returns Annual reports, announcements Many times a year
investors Corporate governance and circulars
Information disclosure Annual general meetings
Investor meetings
Ji o B B G MR EEHRE - A K —HEZ IR
EEIR R K&
5 B9 5% HEE Rme
Employees Protection of employee rights and Employee satisfaction survey Many times a month
interests Regular meetings and training
Career development channel sessions
Healthy and safe working Employee care activities
environment WeChat Enterprise
Response to the normalisation of
the pandemic
[EHN HETE B THERS BLWEERE —HZK
et s i et Chop YrE|
B2 TAEBR B LRSS
JRE S 1 B AL LT
Customers Product quality and safety Satisfaction survey Many times a week
Protection of customer rights and Complaint channels
interests On-site communication
Compliance promotion
9] T W I E2/N
PRI F Wi B EE
GRIEH B
Suppliers Business ethics Business visits Many times a week
Win-win cooperation Routine meetings
Academic exchange meetings
B8 v [HE SR Er il e E2VN
L3 Rey(E H % &k
BT 32 U €
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MATERIALITY ASSESSMENT

We conducted a materiality assessment through the following steps to
identify material ESG issues to guide the Group’s ESG work:

Step 1:

Step 2:

Step 3:

The Group identified 12 related ESG issues in accordance with
the ESG Guide and based on our actual business and industry
characteristics;

We identified important internal and external stakeholders and
got their opinions on the importance of various ESG issues and
suggestions for our ESG work through online questionnaires.
We made an analysis from the two dimensions of “Impact on the
Company’s business development” and “Impact on stakeholders”
to form a materiality matrix according to the results of the
questionnaires;

The Group’s Senior Management and the ESG Task Force reviewed
the materiality matrix, took into consideration experts’ opinions to
determine the importance of each issue, and reported to the Board.

In 2023, the Senior Management discussed the materiality assessment results

in 2022. Considering that there are no material changes in the Company’s

business and operating environment, the materiality assessment results in

2022 were used in the ESG Report.

30
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RESPONSIBLE OPERATION

Quality and Safety

The Group strictly complies with all relevant laws and regulations, including

but not limited to the “Law on Protection of Consumer Rights and Interests
of the People’s Republic of China”, the “Law on the Administration of the
Urban Real Estate of the People’s Republic of China”, the “Regulations on
Urban Real Estate Development and Operation”, and the “Regulations on
%ﬂiw Control of Construction Projects”. A series of policies, systems and
operation guides have been formulated to standardise project construction

management and ensure the quality of all projects through regular inspection
and coordinated management.

BB - g LB

HEER

A B2 V) A T S R BR IS FRA R - B AR AEOR R
(e N R IEAN B 1 22 HE i ARl i) (P AR
U0 4k T R ) Ol Tl B RS
ARG Gt B TREE A BRI A > e
T — R ECR G ARG - HHEE A
TR N A~ B R DR T A I
HAVEE -

AN U N N U U N N U U N

Management systems, operation guides, etc.:

Engineering Technology Management Regulations

Operation Guide for Quality Inspection of Key Parts of Projects
Key Points for Quality Control of Construction Projects
Project Management Assessment Measures

Management Measures for Construction Files

Project Planning Management Regulations

Guidelines for On-site Management

Management Measures of Project Completion and Delivery
Red Lines for Project Quality and Safety Control

Project Evaluation Guidelines

Handbook of Standardised Safety and Civility Measures for

Construction Projects

Red Line System

To strengthen project management and strictly control the risks
associated with project quality and safety, we have released the
Red Lines for Project Quality and Safety Control. The project
management team of the Group will supervise the red lines in the
project implementation process. The constructor and supervisor of a
project involving red lines shall be held accountable according to the
contract, so as to prevent the occurrence of major quality and safety
problems. In doing so, the Group could ensure that projects are always
under control and proceed in an orderly way.

B ) B P AR R 515
(AR B filr B 2R 1)
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Project Implementation

During construction, we strictly monitored project progress and
clarify the implementation of various guidelines and management
measures, so as to ensure construction quality of the projects. Based on
the guiding principle of “modelling before large-scale construction”,
we complied with the “Construction Model Guide Management”,
stipulating that models are required for all important construction
procedures before large-scale implementation, and the models shall be
graded and controlled to avoid systematic risks in project quality and
improve the quality of projects.

In addition, in order to strengthen the risk management ability for
projects, we released “Operational Risk Forewarning Management
Measures for Development Projects” to conduct identification,
evaluation and early warning for the existing risks in aspects of quality,
safety and project progress of the projects. We actively adopted
efficient measures for projects triggering risk alert and supervised
those projects to formulate rectification plans, as well as complement
with the reward and punishment measures to further secure projects

proceeding in an orderly way.
Tripartite Inspection

To ensure project quality and safety and improve the risk
management capability, the Group engages a third-party company
to inspect projects every year to effectively identify related risks. The
evaluation team summarises the actual quality measurement, safety
and civilisation evaluation, evaluation of key quality items, closure
of previous problems, and excellent practices worth recommending.
It also provides suggestions for addressing the existing problems
and issues inspection reports. Meanwhile, the Group’s project team
will carry out supervisory inspections. For the problems found in
the inspections, the Group provides timely feedback to the general
contractors concerned, and urges them to correct/rectify related

problems and issue correction/rectification reports.

T

FEf THRE > A EARE I B R
B4 JEAR 5| B BRI RO VE BUI UL - AR
A LAE M T & o A BB
B PeAT ~ PR R 45 A BT
i TR AR 5| B4 B8 ) - B Br A B 2
TR R THI AR B Bt i ZEUABORR AR - SIS AR AR
EAT MR - AR R A 0E TR B
B o &JH TREIHHE & -

Ak i TE B AR R e > 3R
A T <A P R i 1R B )

BWIHATEE R - 22 EEFHR S AF
TE 0 JRBRAEAT A ~ REARANTEE o B
BT ERIHA - TR PR IUA U
Bt - BT R ) R G )
(7] Ry PC 5 48 P e A — 20 PR B JHL H A PP DI
HIHEAE -

=5

ORI H B B %A - R JE R A
71> S B AR E BN A =07 o A B H H
AT > A ek IH H Ja B o Al AL
AR EAEI - 223 RAG D
HCE B S TEAPAG T O YRR P A 1 O
AR ABAT HE A0 1) 18 55 W05 - Sl 387 A B e
R At o gkl H AR o 7] RF AR
TAETE F AR AT BB AR TAE - %
T 1A T % B G ] 4 I % [l AR 6L
7 o M EHRABIE - Bkl R O



2023 ANNUAL REPORT & = 4R4REHR

Environmental, Social and Governance Report

Completion Acceptance

Upon project completion, a completion acceptance team comprising
the designer, the general contractor, subcontractors and the supervisor
reported to government authorities for completion acceptance after
finishing the pre-acceptance. We sct stringent acceptance standards
for completion inspection. In addition to following completion
acceptance regulations issued by local governmental construction
authorities, we added 99 sub-items under 43 items to the home
inspection checklist, covering public space, entrance space, decoration,
doors and windows, kitchen space, living room parts, sanitation,
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and meter readings. A pre-delivery inspection and acceptance team
comprising a project company, marketing department and engineering
department examined houses prior to project delivery in accordance
with local administration requirements and the agreement with the
property management company.

CASE: SPECIAL PUBLICITY AND IMPLEMENTATION ON MASONRY ENGINEERING OF CHANGSHA PROJECT
Pl RYPEHHBETHESAER

During the construction of the Changsha Project,
the Group identified that the masonry engineering
of the project had isolated quality issues through the
inspection of a third party. After identification of
the issue, the operation management department
of the Group had great attention to it and stepped
in immediately. The department conducted special
publicity and implementation through preparation
of relevant materials for the main quality issue of
the masonry engineering and the key points of
construction technology, which solved the potential
quality hazards of the masonry engineering of the
project in a timely and effective manner.
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Customer Protection

We continuously provided quality products and services for the market and

upheld the concept of product responsibility for sustainable development.

We worked closely with suppliers to create value for customers and protect

their interests through the fine control of the whole value chain of real estate

development, with high-quality services in design, construction, sales and the

whole process.
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Optimisation of Brand Management

In addition, we adopted rigorous brand management and publicity
strategies, abided by relevant laws and regulations including the
“Advertising Law of the People’s Republic of China”, established
a news reporting system, standardised the contents of publicity
documents and materials of each business unit, and unified the
publicity wording. We issued the “Standardisation Management
Process for the Branding System of SRE Group”, “Notice on
Strengthening the Relevant Work of Brand Management” and other
documents, requiring all publicity materials to be reviewed and
approved internally before public release, so as to avoid misleading
customers due to exaggeration and false advertising, protect customers’
rights and interests, and maintain our brand image. We formulated
an internal work system and related procedures to properly manage
and protect intellectual property rights of the Group. Due to the
characteristics of our business, KPI B6.1-Percentage of total products
sold or shipped subject to recalls for safety and health reasons—is not
applicable to the Group.

Protection of Customers’ Rights and Interests

To avoid huge losses to customers caused by project delays due to
COVID-19, the Group clearly informed customers of the risks of
project delays in the sales contracts and made timely risk disclosure to
respect customers’ right to know and protect their interests.

In addition, in order to lower of the risk of construction delay, the
Group strictly controlled the progress of each construction. The
projects in 2023 were generally delivered on time. For the individual
projects with delayed delivery, the Group observed “putting
customers’ interests first” as always and minimised the delayed
timeline. At the same time, the Group also proactively negotiated with
customers by undertaking compensation and minimising the impact
caused by the delayed delivery on customers, so as to protect the basic

rights and interests of customers.
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. Improvement of Customer Experience o T 5 F it
Headquarters of 1. During the sales period of the residential projects, the Group has always paid attention
the Group to protection of existing customers’ rights and carried out a series of rewards activities for

improving customer experience, including festival greetings, sending birthday cards and others.

2. During the delivery period of the projects, the Group has regularly submitted construction
progress to existing customers and enhanced confidence of customers by explaining the
standardised criteria on construction quality through professional means.

3. During the Reporting Period, the Group conducted a comprehensive delivery assessment for

project delivery with customer perception and customer experience as the main starting point.

The assessment items covered indoor areas, public areas, facades, gardens, electromechanical,

etc. The Group is committed to providing customers with the best purchasing, delivery and

living experience.
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Golf Course 1. The Golf Course formulated the “Course Rules”, “Club Rules” and “Reservation Management
System”, in which it clarifies the course order and customer service measures. It regularly
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maintained the bunker, ecological grass area and other natural areas, so as to provide customers
with a comfortable golfing environment.

2. The Golf Course carried out a customer satisfaction survey annually to collect customers’
comments and opinions on each service part, which are classified, summarised and submitted
to the relevant departments for rectification and improvement.

3. During the Reporting Period, for the purposes of keeping cleanliness in the Club and
increasing comfort of members, the Golf Course carried out cleaning and maintenance in the
Club. For the purpose of improving the members’ satisfaction with hitting ball, the golf course
has maintained and improved.

4, The Golf Course renewed the category of self-service breakfast every week to meet the needs of
customers with different flavours. In addition, golf cart QR code ordering service was launched
to deliver food to the golf course for improving the satisfaction of the dining experience.

5. During the Reporting Period, the Golf Course received a total of 10 complaints from
customers, all of which have been resolved.
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Obstetrics and 1. Obstetrics and Gynecology Hospital cooperates with the main knife physicians of IPMCH

Gynecology Hospital and is committed to improving the satisfaction of maternity labour.

2. The Obstetrics and Gynaecology Hospital has established a customer return visit mechanism.
At the same time, it actively collects customer feedback from various channels, and analyses
and handles complaints or negative comments to avoid the recurrence of similar incidents.

3. Duringthe Reporting Period, the Obstetrics and Gynecology Hospital received nine customer
complaints, all of which have been satisfactorily resolved.
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Convention Centre 1. The Convention Centre has established a 24-hour front-office mechanism and a daily
department manager duty mechanism to respond to customer demands and feedback at any
time.

2. The Convention Centre carried out activities in conjunction with other commercial
properties in towns such as Exotic Street and Obstetrics and Gynaecology Hospital and
launched a series of products to enrich customer experience.

3. During the Reporting Period, the Convention Centre did not receive any significant
complaints from customers.
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Shenyang Rich Gate 1. During the Reporting Period, Shenyang Rich Gate took various measures to help the daily
operation of merchants and improve the satisfaction of merchants, including public account
publicity, internal purchase activities, main store business assistance, new opening merchant
publicity and operation guidance, etc.

2. In order to improve the consumption experience, Shenyang Rich Gate organised various types
of business activities, such as lunch collection for catering merchants and the collection of
retail merchants on the Women’s Day; concurrently, we expanded the atrium stage activities,
such as children’s English performance show and e-commerce PK competition.

3. Shenyang Rich Gate has regularly updated and maintained the equipment in the public area.
During the Reporting Period, the replacement of two elevators and the transformation of
peripheral cameras were completed.
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Exotic Street During the Reporting Period, the Exotic Street further improved various guiding signs to enhance

tourist experience. At the same time, the diversion of people and vehicles was implemented to reduce

traffic pressure and ensure the safety of tourists.
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CASE: CONSTRUCTION AND OPERATION OF PRIVATE DOMAIN OF TOWN COMPANY

S = GO TR B R

During the Reporting Period, Town Company further strengthened community operation and reached out to consumers.

Throughout the year, Town Company established and operated a total of 3 fan groups under the brand of Lake Malaren Town.

The operation staff irregularly releases promotional messages to merchants in the groups, and organises a series of fan activities

every holiday for customers. Since the establishment of the fan groups, the fan base has received enthusiastic response, with a

total of fans reaching over 1,000.
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Customer Privacy Protection

To strictly protect the privacy of customers, we laid down the
“Customer Information Management System”, and required all
business units to define a level of confidentiality for customer
information. All units must abide by rules about the levels of
confidentiality and relevant rights and responsibilities when requiring
access to such information. They can check customer information
only after obtaining the approval. Moreover, we set permissions
on customers’ electronic information and prohibited all business
units from retaining any form of paper information. Under special
circumstances, customer information can be printed only after
approval by the person in charge of a business unit. In addition,
we formulated the “Management Measures on Confidentiality”,
requesting employees to sign a confidentiality agreement when
signing their labour contract, in which we specified the confidentiality
content, rights and obligations, term of agreement and liability for
breach of contract, etc., so as to prevent leakage of our information.
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Anti-corruption

We comply with all relevant laws and regulations, including but not limited
to the “Company Law of the People’s Republic of China”, the “Tendering
and Bidding Law of the People’s Republic of China”, the “Regulation on
the Management of Tendering and Bidding of Construction Projects”, the
“Anti-Unfair Competition Law of the People’s Republic of China”, the
“Interim Provisions on Prohibiting Commercial Briberies”, and the “Anti-
Money Laundering Law of the People’s Republic of China”. Internally,
we established the “Code of Conduct for the Integrity for Employees”
and requested employees to sign the “Integrity Agreement” to prevent
misconducts like bribery, extortion, fraud and money laundering,

We included the “Performance Guarantee and Integrity Agreement” in
supplier bidding documents, requiring both parties to fulfil the integrity
commitment to prevent the occurrence of irregularities.

We strictly supervised each unit of the Group and focused on key
processes, such as bidding and tendering, supplies purchasing, financial
capital management, significant investment management, selection and
appointment of employees, project visa management, commercial operation
management, demolition and relocation management and marketing
management. We imposed penalties for violations of laws and regulations
and acts that could endanger our normal interests. In August 2023, the
Group issued the “Notice on Learning the Guiding Opinions of China
Minsheng Investment in Operation of Chaos Governance Working Group
on Punishing and Preventing Illegal and Criminal Acts of Staff in the
Group”, requiring all business units to organise all employees to learn the
spirit of documents and carry out self-inspection and self-correction.

The “System on the Management of Inspection and Reporting” and the
“Notice on Strengthening the Company’s Integrity Management” were
formulated. A clear reporting channel was set up. This means that all of the
Group’s employees and individuals from units with which the Group has
established business relations can blow the whistle on misconducts via a
dedicated email address. We kept confidential the personal information of
whistleblowers and the content reported.

We actively stepped up efforts on education and training in fighting
corruption, and called on and required the Board, the Senior Management
and employees at all levels to stick to their personal ethics and working
style of law abiding, integrity, honesty, self-discipline and dedication. We
established a complete anticorruption mechanism through institutional
prevention, behaviour restriction and ideological education.
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During the Reporting Period, we carried out several auditing works,
including 2 internal control audit projects, 4 resignation audit projects and
the internal control self-assessment projects of each unit of the Group, to
supervise each unit optimising its internal control and preventing corruption
manners. Furthermore, for better tracking the rectification situation of the
identified audit issues, the internal audit department of the Group further
refined the audit requirements and standardised the criteria of the audit
working paper.

Win-win Cooperation

A high-quality supply chain system is an important prerequisite for the
Group to provide quality products and services. We actively develop external
cooperation, expand cooperation fields amid diversified development, and
strengthen management and communication with suppliers. In 2023, we
continued to follow the “Bidding Management System of SRE Group” and
the “Supplier Management Measures of SRE Group”, and established the
Group’s power-responsibility system of procurement contract, in order to
standardise bidding management and facilitate the sustainable and healthy
business development across the Group.

We standardised the management system of “selecting, cooperating,
training and retaining” suppliers, conducted full lifecycle management on
suppliers, and maintained good communication with them, which provided
basic guarantees for the effect and efficiency of bidding, procurement and
cooperation.

o Access Mechanism

In order to ensure the fairness and impartiality, we called for bids on
the principle of “full competition, strict preview, source diversity,
manufacturer first, and no relationship”. When giving access to all
suppliers, we requested them to provide relevant basic information
and documentation to have a preview of their qualification. In
addition, based on the “Key Points for Investigation into Suppliers”
and “Investigation Rating Form”, we conducted on-site investigations
into relevant suppliers according to actual needs. Suppliers who were
qualified could be included in the Group’s supplier list.

Meanwhile, requirements in civilised construction and environment,
health and safety (EHS) were put forward for engineering suppliers.
The sustainable development concept with regard to safety and
environmental protection was integrated into all business parts to
further strengthen the management and control of environmental and
social risks facing suppliers.
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. Evaluation and Improvement

We conducted process evaluation and annual evaluation on suppliers
when cooperating with them, and summarised and analysed their
performance. According to the results of annual evaluation on
suppliers, we implemented hierarchical management on suppliers
given their scores in the process of duty performance evaluation. For
suppliers at different levels, we formulated different strategies for
partnership development and adjusted our procurement policies for
them. If a supplier did not perform well, we would propose plans and
requirements for improvement based on its actual performance, and
urge it to make rectifications within the prescribed time limit.

. Elimination Management

If a supplier was assessed as unqualified, we would suspend it from
bidding for one to three years. After the expiration, the supplier
could participate in the Group’s project bidding only after passing
the qualification examination again. If the supplier’s performance
was extremely bad, the cooperation might be permanently cancelled
depending on the situation. For unqualified suppliers who were still
performing contracts, we would strictly supervise their subsequent
contract performance, and raise their risk management level in

payment, quality and service.

By the end of the Reporting Period, the Group had 626 suppliers, which

were classified by region as follows:
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With the “Management Measures on Charitable & Public Welfare
Activities”, the Group held charity activities in many ways based on its
business characteristics, by combining the development of enterprise with
the community ecology and proactively co-organising activities with the
local government or public welfare organisations, in a bid to fulfil its due

social responsibilities as a corporate citizen.
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The Group provided strong support for the 2023 Putuo District Lake Malaren Town jointly held the 2023 Shanghai
Disabled and Health Integration Games Charity Hiking Activity
A 9 72023 B [ 58 f 5 4 B8 42 3K ) S SETA W/ NG B k2023 B EATE N SR EL IR E)

Convention Centre hosted large-scale government Obstetrics and Gynaecology Hospital participated in
free clinic activities the “Learn from Lei Feng” public welfare activity of
ik B O IR BRBUN K 36532 16 E) Luodian Party Branch
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LOW CARBON AND ENVIRONMENTAL fER T B2 R
PROTECTION

The Group is keenly aware of the impact of corporate operations on the T4 /= B B i S EE A H IR 2 > FREE
environment. We respond by implementing an environmental protection ‘& B2 /& B il ) B it B0 F7 48 T 6 B R VR
management system and environmental protection measures, striving to i fI%CR > DA i 4k 8 8 48 KT > $25F B L3R
increase the efficiency for the use of resources and energy. We have set Bk o FEAREEAE N o S BRI S BRI
environmental goals of “strengthening green operation level, raising staff's ~ HAE » [ERAE IS B) S BRIB M L2 -
environmental awareness, reducing resource consumption and achieving

compliance with emissions” to reduce the impact of business activities on

the environment.
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Use of Resources

The Group’s major areas of energy consumption comprise electricity
and domestic water consumed during construction and operation. With
the exception of surface water consumed by the Golf Course, the water
consumed by the Group comes from municipal water supplies.

We are committed to the concept of green building. Starting from the
design stage, we integrated environmental protection and health into the
development and construction of buildings, with a view to constructing
high-quality buildings with a high level of harmony between human and

nature.

We tried our best to control and reduce the impact of buildings on the
environment during construction and use, so as to create a healthy, suitable
and efficient living and working environment for our customers. We urged
project companies and general contractors to save resources during the
construction process, and included the requirement in the “Engineering
Assessment Management Measures”, which promotes the development
of a green industrial chain. Furthermore, constant efforts were made to
strengthen energy conservation management, carry out green operations, and
require all employees to actively participate in energy and water conservation
work.

We aim to reduce the use of resources by creating energy-saving office spaces
and promoting green offices, including but not limited to:

v Moving the headquarters of the Group from People’s Insurance
Mansion to Oasis Central Ring Centre at the end of August 2023,
adopting the split-type air-conditioning so that each space can be
controlled separately and energy can be saved with reasonable using
of air conditioners, and setting up a joint office area to share office
resources with the Group;

v Activating power saving mode for office equipment that is not in use,
buying electric equipment that reaches the required energy efficiency
level, and switching off electric equipment during non-working hours;

v Adjusting the air conditioning temperature in response to seasonable
change and adopting energy-saving lamps in a timely manner;

v Paying attention to water conservation in toilets, improving routine
maintenance and management of water facilities, and inspecting and
maintaining heating equipment on a regular basis to avoid water
waste;
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(4 Calling for e-working, choosing communication methods such ¢ SRR L > R R ERE NS

as telephone and email, and encouraging employees to use video Mo R B TSRS R RS W
conferencing system to reduce unnecessary business trips; DIET 2

(4 Standardising procurement, approval and issuance of office supplies, v/ K ED LS L PR IS - S R R > 5

controlling quantity of office supplies issued, encouraging recycling, e F B i > SR A - &
and establishing a waste paper collection system. SEIELS JBEAR A 7] ST i o
Golf Course With the “Management Measures for Conservation and Control of Surface Water used for

Sprinkling Irrigation”, the Golf Course regulated the water use for greening and increased the use
of water-saving methods such as sprinkling irrigation, micro irrigation and trickle irrigation. It
periodically observed and analysed the water consumption and adjusted the amount of irrigation
water depending on the weather. Surface water was used for spray irrigation. After being naturally
filtered through layers of sand and soil and the advanced purification system, water would flow
back to the lake, forming an energy-saving and environment-friendly mini-ecosystem, which could
effectively reduce the waste of water resources. In order to enhance energy management, the gold
course has newly formulated the “2023 Water Consumption Statistical Survey System”, actively
promoted new energy-saving technologies and new facilities, and set up a water work ledger to
improve energy utilisation and eliminate waste.

R BRI 780 308 VR T ) b R KB K P KA BRI ) L A kAL K o R T IO - TEVE SR K
T2 B K EEAT E VBN A AR R R SRS UL AR K B o M A MR
K s AR T VD T A5 R B T K RAUEAT A R > I > B E BEER D
BIARRRS AR /KEIRMIRE o By g el g » sk EoH il 17 20234 B Fi 7K
SRt I R > RN I B A R R AT R > RS K LA SR o 4R S REVE A 2
FAREH R -

Obstetrics and The Obstetrics and Gynecology Hospital continued to follow the “Water Saving Management

Gynecology Hospital System for the Hospital”, the “Electricity Saving Safety Management System for the Hospital”, the
“Environmental Sanitation Management System for the Hospital”, the “Energy Saving Measures
for Gas and Air Conditioning”, etc. to encourage all departments to save water and electricity and
rationalise the use of resources. In addition, we made a number of energy-saving improvements, such
as changing the staircase lights from long-lasting ones to voice-activated ones, modifying the lighting
scheme of the underground garage to reduce energy consumption, replacing ordinary incandescent
lights with led lights step by step, adjusting the boiler temperature and air conditioning temperature
in response to seasonal change, adjusting the bathroom valves to reduce water consumption, and
encouraging the repair of small electrical appliances instead of throwing them away directly.

e P R B T P R e 8 240 /K A B o 2 ) B8 B B 40 1) 9 2 2 T )~ R e BR 5 iy 22 A8 B o 2 )
Lo KBRS e 22 TRAL REF ) 4 > #RABAPHEEA MK ~ I > SR E U - thoh > M
HEAT T 2 AT RE O > 91 AR R R (R R O R PR - B RO T R M R
DREFE ~ B RS R S led U~ ARR SRk R AR IR E - A2 SRR - PR AR
] P AR AE K - S T /N RE AR A T DR B & 3855 o

Exotic Street It launched the “Initiative for Energy and Water Conservation”, calling on employees to save every

drop of water and every kilowatt-hour of electricity, and use resources rationally.

JE A S CHIRERI KB aRTE) - WP B THIZ K ~ 59— B > SHMH & -
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Convention Centre Carrying out boiler renovation and setting the corresponding water temperature in different seasons
as required to promote energy conservation and emission reduction. Posting water and electricity
saving slogans and operation rules to remind employees of saving water and electricity.

Tikrbb HEAT T BN SO > AR T B SR TE AN [R] 2 B A AR B 19 KR BE - R T (R A B mE e
5 F BT A4 P K P R A BRI > 2SR B T A K -
Shenyang Rich Gate Shenyang Rich Gate has built a green office operation and maintenance system for rationally using
Centre resources. In 2023, it connected with the merchants in the shopping malls and reduced the purchase

of office items through using the discarded office items from the merchants to replace the old items
in the new office area.

e E Y N R4 T O A BN R > SR A SR - 20234F B 35 0 5 86 R s
FREFEMEAYI S > B A Y WD BEA Y R o

Details of the Group’s use of resources during the Reporting Period are AREHRIIA > AEEEREF G FER TR -

shown in the table below.

Use of resources' BRI 2023
Diesel (MWh) LE3H (MWh) 293.72
Petrol (MWh) TRl (MWh) 188.91
Natural gas (MWh) KIRH(MWh) 4,562.90
Total direct energy consumption (MWh) BRI AL FH(MWh) 5,044.82
. Electricity (MWh) T (MWh) 18,113.70
Energy consumption
REUE S #E Heating (MWh) #4771 (MWh) 36,513.89
Total indirect energy consumption [H] 4 RE IR A8 7t (MWh) 54,627.59
(MWh)
Total energy consumption (MWh) RE VR TH FE AR & (MWh) 59,672.41
Energy consumption intensity REVR TN FERSE (MWh, H #C AR
(MWh/revenue of RMB1 million) LV ON)
Total water consumption (tonnes) JH 7K 485 (M) 214,891.00
‘Water consumption . I ]
Flk & Total water consumption intensity JFH 7K H e (MR B T AR
(tonne/revenue of RMB1 million) A)
Notes: i
1. Total energy consumption is calculated based on the amount of purchased 1. REVR TS AR AR BRI I B - RAFUN & - 58
electricity, natural gas, diesel and gasoline consumed, and is expressed in MWh T R AT S I UMW h (T
(kWh in 000s). Relevant conversion factors come from Appendix 1: default T FLIRE)MEAT 251 A R R DR 7 20 | 70 B K
value of fossil fuels and Appendix 2: default value of fuel intensity set out in B = Rup S (:UREASISEiE S ik =g i
the “Guide to Greenhouse Gas Accounting and Reporting for Public Building SR PR TR S B 4 D B R 1AL
Operators” released by the National Development and Reform Commission. AR B 2 b (BRI B M 2408 i o E ok
{H -
2. KPI A2.5-Total packaging material used for finished products and with 2. IBH] S S A A2 S S L BT P A S i RHI FE
reference to per unit produced—is not applicable to the Group and is therefore Jo A 2 B A R T AR ] O
not disclosed in this ESG Report. RHedE -
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Climate Change

We are concerned about the impact of climate change trends and the
evolving laws and regulations at home and abroad on our business
operations. The Group’s ESG Task Force has proactively identified the risks
and opportunities we face with regard to climate change and formulated the
corresponding countermeasures. It has been assessed that extreme weather
conditions, such as typhoons and heavy rains, would have a potential impact
on our business operations. Therefore, we established emergency procedures
and response mechanisms against extreme weather. For instance, the Exotic

Street, the Golf Course and the Obstetrics and Gynecology Hospital laid

BB - g LB

IR

FRAM B i SRt S AL B T R S - I T AR B R
T 5 S P TR B R B - AEFIESG T
A /N SRR i 1) 2 A1) 7 S A0 5 AL 7 T O TG B 119
JE\ B B A i E A B I R o ASETAY o e
R~ T 48 L i R SR S A 4 S A A AR
TBETEM L o RIIL > SH3 M K5 > oM e ar
THE SRR R B > RS - AR R
35 R ek R B S R E SRR TR~ UKED - Ut
M FEEMBENESEE - DR A A5 A

down and improved emergency plans related to heavy rain, hail, flood, power S Rl 3 # B B 1O o
failure, etc., in a bid to mitigate the impact of irresistible natural factors on

our business operations.

Headquarters of In response to extreme weather, the Group will issue a reminder to engineering projects. In summer

the Group of 2023, the Group issued the Notice on Safe Production in Severe Weather such as Flooding and
High Temperature, and in winter, the Group issued the Notice on Fire Safety in Winter to remind
all business units to intervene in time to eliminate potential safety hazards.

208 1) W s X SRR e 3 AR T A TR SCIR R - 20234F R B E R T CRA AT
PR S S R A TARRVE AN » & Z 8 M 1 BRI B0 4 22 By 22 & TARRY 78
) > PREE RS AR A SR T > THBREARPEA o

In winter, anti-freezing and heat preservation measures were adopted for areas with lower

4

ok

Shenyang Rich Gate
temperature, and measures such as electric heat tracing and heat preservation cotton cover were
adopted for pipelines to ensure that equipment and facilities were anti-freezing,

A2 7 41 i S A S SRR AT I Saf B T B R R A B o A A PR P R P B R PR A A
it > R A R T O o

A towing net is used in the golf course to cover the turf in the evening of winter to prevent freezing

i I3 4 1

Golf Course
at low temperature, and in the event of frost weather, the starting of games will be postponed; in
summer, the amount of greening irrigation is properly increased, and the customer flow is controlled
to about 100 people to reduce damage to the turf from stepping; in order to reduce the impact of
climate change on the maintenance of lawns, green exhaust fans are installed in the golf course in
hot weather during the yellow plum rainy season, and the guling mesh is covered in cold weather
to prevent freezing; In order to avoid thunder and lightning accidents, we adhered to the principle
of “safety is everything” in the golf course, installed two sets of thunder and lightning warning
equipment and multiple lightning rods, and required all employees to be clear about the specific
operation process of lightning warning, in order to effectively protect the safety of customers.

R0 T R Bk 3 A 2 0 WG {68 T 46 49 7 2 R DAY LR AR A vk 2 1 ROR SR B Bk 5 B
TR M A AT I R R RITE 100 A ZE A7 A D B R R I BRBE 15 % 5 Bl d
SRS ALBE FPR R A B R BRI TE B T 2R R AR RS B R PR - K%
P R o 25 2L B A 07 R 5 B S T o R T K BRI B R [ R — DI A S 3
BEWEHEEERM L MR ZORITA B TEEH EHE AR RERE > EHR
Wi P %A o

AR Bk
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Exotic Street

Giving timely reminders to tenants in the event of extreme weather conditions according to the

contingency plan. For example, tenants would be reminded of windy weather to take tables and

chairs/benches indoors in advance. In addition, the Town Properties purchased property insurance

for Town Assets in advance to reduce the loss of the Town Assets caused by extreme weather.

JEN

AR 8 T L 7 L i R SR 5 AR R R BRI o {91 0 R TR R SRR I T 7 P AT SR R AR

RS - B IL SR ECERAE o T3 AN/INEEUY) SR A /N RO S R B o el i R SR

U Rk -

The Group’s greenhouse gas emissions are mainly comprised of direct
emissions from the consumption of fossil fuels and indirect emissions
from the consumption of electricity and heating during construction and
operation. Various measures are taken to strengthen energy conservation and
emission reduction in order to reduce greenhouse gas emissions. The Group
standardised the use of company cars in accordance with the “Company
Car Management Measures” and encouraged employees to use public
transportation with limited subsidies, with a view to reducing greenhouse
gas emissions; the passage cars of the Golf Course used 100% pure electricity
generation to replace diesel and reduced greenhouse gas emissions caused by
diesel consumption.

Details of the Group’s greenhouse gas emissions during the Reporting Period
are shown in the table below.

FRAM 9 3 B = SRR PR O e T AR
A A RRE I AR A B B I A SR PR >
L2 #E 3 R 1 R AR RE TR ] 45 U A SRR P
T o BRAMRL AR PR I A TE A e - o B A WPk
DA ARG T 2 SRR 9 PR o FRAMMR B o 5 S
FHIRIL) RGO - BLETABSHLA N > 6 BRAR
HiR Ay I X B THMALZET A §d
2 S P o TR BRI5  % F HLER FH 100%
sigg g BAUSE » BD ST AR AR
f1 i 2% SRR PR

A NE U A > A 4R U 5 SRR DR O DL R S T
%o

Greenhouse gases i 2 S A 2023
Scope 1: Direct greenhouse gas emissions (tCO2e) W HEERE R PER
(Mg — SR L &) 1,026.82
Scope 2: Energy indirect greenhouse gas emissions 2 - BRI = R A PR
(tCO2¢) (M — S AL B i) 27,647.56
Total greenhouse gas emissions (tCO2e) 12 S Pk AR 28,674.38

Greenhouse gas emissions intensity

(tCO2e/revenue of RMBI million)

%
2 SR PR P (W S AL i

T E T A RIA)

(Mg — S fb e &)

&/

Note: Greenhouse gas emissions are expressed in carbon dioxide equivalent and
the calculation method and conversion factors come from the “Guide to
Greenhouse Gas Accounting and Reporting for Public Building Operators”
released by the National Development and Reform Commission.
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Control of Emissions

We controlled various emissions in strict compliance with relevant laws and
regulations, including but not limited to the “Environmental Protection
Law of the People’s Republic of China”, the “Law on the Prevention and
Control of Atmospheric Pollution of the People’s Republic of China”, the
“Law on the Prevention and Control of Environmental Pollution by Solid
Woaste of the People’s Republic of China”, the “Law on the Prevention and
Control of Water Pollution of the People’s Republic of China”, and the “Law
on Prevention and Control of Pollution from Environmental Noise of the
People’s Republic of China”.

° Exhaust Gas, Wastewater and Noise

The Group’s exhaust gas emissions are mainly from fuel combustion
during building construction and property operation, dust from
construction, and kitchen fumes. The wastewater discharge mainly
comes from non-domestic wastewater and domestic wastewater
produced during property operation.

As mentioned in the “Project Management Assessment Measures”,
the Group requested constructors to strictly control all emissions.
Meanwhile, we demanded control of dust, noise and water pollution
at construction sites as outlined in the “Operation Guide for Safe and

Civilised Construction Inspection”.

We strictly controlled the exhaust gas and wastewater generated

during our operations, such as:

. The Golf Course installed fume purifiers, with which the
cooking fume could be discharged to the roof through a special
flue;

. The Golf Course adopted a rain and sewage diversion system,
and added a sewage lift pump in 2023 to avoid excessive
discharge caused by siltation and backflow;

B The oily wastewater produced by kitchens of the Golf Course
was discharged after being treated by grease traps or oil-water
separators, and a pipeline maintenance unit was additionally
entered into in 2023 for regular cleaning and salvaging to

ensure the cleaning of grease traps and sewage pipes;

o Emission control measures adopted by the Exotic Street were
inspected by the property company on a regular basis;

BB - g LB
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. The Obstetrics and Gynecology Hospital monitored various
indicators of wastewater discharge and issued monthly reports
to ensure that wastewater discharge met a relevant standard;

. Catering exhaust fumes from Shenyang Rich Gate are
discharged from the public flues, and the public catering
exhaust flues are equipped with fume purifiers to ensure that
the exhaust gas meets the standards and avoid pollution to the
atmosphere;

. Waste water from Shenyang Rich Gate is discharged into
municipal pipelines after oil separation treatment underwent

by lift pumps set underground.
Waste

The Group’s solid waste mainly comprises non-hazardous waste, such as
carthwork and construction waste, and domestic waste, kitchen waste
and other harmless wastes generated during property operation, and some
hazardous waste from the Golf Course and the Obstetrics and Gynecology
Hospital. All wastes are classified and collected and then disposed of by the

entrusted qualified municipal sanitation unit.

Waste treatment, as an assessment item for safe and civilised construction,
has been included in the “Project Management Assessment Measures”. The
general contractors were required to comply with both national and industry
laws and regulations to dispose of all wastes.

Both the Golf Course and the Obstetrics and Gynecology Hospital have
set management processes for hazardous waste. The Golf Course identified
the waste generated from routine operations using the “Hazardous Waste
List”, and then entrusted a qualified unit to recycle and dispose of hazardous
waste, such as used pesticide containers.

In the “Medical Waste Disposal System” developed by the Obstetrics
and Gynecology Hospital, there are strict requirements for each step of
the disposal process, from registration, collection, handover, transfer,
storage to disposal by a qualified third party. The Hospital has also laid
down the “Responsibilities of the Person in Charge of the Medical Waste
Department”, the “Provisions on Rewards and Punishments for Medical
Waste Management in the Hospital”, and the “Prescribed Plan for the Loss
of Medical Wastes in the Hospital” as parts of a complete medical waste
management system.
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Details of the Group’s wastewater and hazardous and non-hazardous waste

generated during the Reporting Period are shown in the table below.

BB - g LB

AN > AR W AR PR - A E R
VIR BE Y RE A TR -

Amount
discharged/
generated in 2023
Indicator HEJi 5 1 20234 P i &
Wastewater discharged (tonnes) JoE 7K P Tk (WD) 58,788.00
Total hazardous wastes (tonnes) A F RS S AT (M) 6.10
Total hazardous waste intensity BRI PO
(tonne/revenue of RMB1 million) VPR SN PN
Total non-hazardous wastes (tonnes) A 2 5% ) 4 5 (M) 5,418.60
Total non-hazardous waste discharge density 375 B R B IO
(ton/million RMB1 million) LV SN N

The Environment and Natural Resources

The Golf Course, which uses pesticides and fertilisers in its routine

operation, laid down the “Management System for Ecological and

Environmental Protection” to protect the biodiversity around the course

and avoid any impact on the environment and natural resources. The

specific measures include:

4

4

Using environmental-friendly pesticides;

Strictly controlling the distribution and recycling of pesticides and
fertilisers;

Classifying and storing empty pesticide containers and fertilizer bags,
and handing them to professional agencies for handling;

Regularly collecting water and soil samples from the course for
professional testing and dealing with problems in time if any, as a
scientific reference for rational fertilising in the coming year;

Strengthening publicity and training on environmental protection,
and raising the environmental awareness of staff.
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The Golf Course is a place where human and nature coexist peacefully

KWk - A B3 RN R

In addition, the Golf Course has established a sophisticated water
purification system, in which water from sprinkler irrigation and rainwater
could flow back to the lake after being filtrated through multiple layers of
sand and soil. The optimised ecological environment makes the Golf Course
a habitat for the surrounding small animals like magpies. Due to the large
lake surface of the stadium and the long shoreline of the lake, there is always
a collapse of the shore embankments. Proactive repair is also performed in
the stadium to ensure clean environment and no impact on water resources.

In order to protect the environmental sanitation around Lake Malaren, the
International Convention Centre actively collects floating garbage around
Lake Malaren. During the peak season for camping, Town Company will
increase setting up waste separation bins along the streets of Lake Malaren
Town to meet the camping needs of nearby residents and tourists, so as to
disperse the waste pressure of the green space.

EMPLOYEE CARE

Employees’ Rights and Interests

The Group strictly complies with relevant laws and regulations, including
but not limited to the “Labour Law of the People’s Republic of China” and
the “Labour Contract Law of the People’s Republic of China”. We laid
down relevant policies and systems to protect employees’ rights and interests.

BEAN > TR R BRI E L T R 58 KB
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Employee management systems:

Management Measures on Recruitment of SRE Group Limited
Employee Dismissal Process of SRE Group

Employee Handbook of SRE Group

Management Measures on Staff Attendance and Leaves of SRE

AN N NN

Group

<

Management Measures on Staff Performance Assessment of SRE
Group
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Recruitment and Dismissal

As per the principles of “advance planning, extensive hunting and
stringent screening, matching of talents with posts, and fairness
and transparency”, the Group attracted talents by using both of
internal referral and external recruitment. With a talent pool,
relevant information of applicants hired is classified and filed. The
Group has built an online and offline dismissal process to ensures
that the rights and interests of employees and the Company are not
infringed. Dismissal interviews are conducted by the human resources
department with departing employees to gain their insights into the
Company.

By the end of the Reporting Period, the Group had a total of 919
employees, all of which were full-time employees. The workforce by
gender, age group and geographical region and the employee turnover
rate during the Reporting Period are shown in the table below:

BB - g LB
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Employee
Workforce turnover rate
REAE BERKLE
Gender Male Ftk 396 38.64%
PR Female ais 523 32.12%
<30 years old <305 133 64.66%

Age group B B
A b 415 30—49 years old 30-495%; 628 28.98%
>50 years old 2507 158 33.54%
Chinese mainland R K 898 34.41%
Geographical region Hong Kong, Macao and WA 3 66.67%

i [ Taiwan

Opverseas EZAN 18 55.56%

Note: Employee turnover rate = (number of employees who left in the
category during the Reporting Period/total workforce in the category at
the end of the Reporting Period) x 100%

AE R B SR AR = RE O ST R B R A
B BRI R 25 I L A
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Remuneration and Benefits

We followed the principles of “two equalities”, referring to internal
and external equalities, and “three matchings”, referring to the
assurance that individual remuneration matches the relative value
of the position and matches the ability, performance and potential,
and that the total remuneration matches the benefits of the Group,
aiming to provide employees with competitive remuneration. In
performance evaluation, the Group observed the principles of “fairness
and openness, objectivity and justice, open communication and
compulsory distribution”. Employees were assessed for their decision-
making ability, leadership, sense of responsibility, consciousness of
learning and innovation and other indicators. The performance
evaluation results were used as the basis for salary adjustment.

In 2023, the human resources department of the Group carried out
three-dimensional work of “fixing position, fixing preparation and
fixing remuneration”, which helped the Group and project companies
optimise personnel allocation, improve the remuneration system, and
realise reasonable allocation of the quantity and quality of human

resources.
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Group photo of the 2023 SRE Group Police and Enterprise Union Cup Basketball Competition
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Besides social insurance and the housing provident fund, employees
can enjoy a variety of benefits, including annual physical check-
ups, commercial insurance, heatstroke prevention allowance, meal
allowance, transportation allowance, communication allowance,
festival allowance as well as birthday benefits. We held various sports
competitions and encouraged employees to actively participate in

physical fitness activities.

In September 2023, SRE Group and Lake Malaren Town Company
held an internal basketball competition to help employees strengthen
their physical fitness while enhancing the cohesion of employees
within the Group; In December 2023, the Police Enterprise Union
Basketball Tournament was held at Oasis Central Centre. The
delegation of SRE Group and the Long March Police Station of Putuo
District carried out sports exchanges to deepen cooperation between

the police and enterprises.
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The staff birthday party (Q3 and Q4 2023) held by Meilan Lake Town Enterprise Management Co., Led.*
(3 B /N A 355 BE A BRZA 1) in November 2023
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Working Hours and Holidays

The Group developed the “Management Measures on Staff
Attendance and Leaves of SRE Group” in 2022 in accordance with
the State Council’s “Regulations on Working Hours of Employees”.
The Group carries out the labour standard system. If an employee
needs to work overtime. If employees need to work overtime, an
application shall be submitted in advance to the OA system. Upon
approval, the extended working hours beyond the statutory standard
working hours are deemed as overtime.

Employees of the Group are entitled to the leave stipulated by
national laws and regulations, and adjustments are allowed according
to the national and local laws and policies. The leave types include
statutory holidays, marriage leave, funeral leave, annual leave, sick
leave, maternity leave and work-related injury leave.

In 2022, the Group’s latest amendments on the “Management
Measures on Staff Attendance and Leaves of SRE Group” adjusted the
provisions on the time frame of maternity leave and parental leave and
added the provisions related to childcare leave. Branches updated their
employee handbook given the Group’s revised document to actively
implement the relevant provisions. Meanwhile, they also made some
localised adjustments according to actual conditions. For example,
since there is no regulation related to parental leave in Liaoning
Province, Shenyang Rich Gate should make timely adjustments after
the change of local policy.

Diversity and Non-discrimination

The Group prides ourselves on being an equal employer. All
departments, organisations and individuals are required to comply
with national and local laws and regulations, and are prohibited
from discriminating against any individual employees in matters of
recruitment, labour, salary, training, promotion and compensation
on the basis of race, gender, colour, age, background, ethnic tradition,
religion, physical fitness or nationality. The Golf Course actively
fulfilled its corporate social responsibility. As of the end of 2023, the
golf course recruited a total of 3 disabled persons, actively provided
employment opportunities for the disabled, practised the principle of
equal employment, and responded to the call of enterprises to help the

disabled.
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o Labour Standards

The Group resolutely eradicates child and forced labour in strict
accordance with the “Labour Law of the People’s Republic of China”,
the “Provisions on Prohibition of Child Labour” and other relevant
laws and regulations. We hired a third-party company to conduct
background surveys and compile reports on each employee to prevent
academic and age fraud, in a bid to further eliminate child labour.

Health Security

We strictly comply with laws and regulations on health and safety, including
but not limited to the “Production Safety Law of the People’s Republic
of China” and the “Law on Prevention and Treatment of Occupational
Diseases of the People’s Republic of China”. Rules and regulations about
health and safety are clarified in the “Employee Handbook”. We identified
possible health and safety risks and took control measures, increased efforts
on health- and safety-related education and training, and released the
“Notice on organising annual physical check-ups for staff” at the end of the
year organising physical check-ups for all the staff of the headquarters of the
Group and the operational units, so as to provide a healthy and safe working
environment for employees.

We adhere to the work safety guideline of “safety first, people orientation
and comprehensive management” and the principle of “ensuring safety
in production”, and have formulated the “Management Measures for
Production Safety in Construction Projects of SRE Group”, aiming
to establish and improve the project safety management and control
system, create a good production safety environment, improve the safety
management level of each project of the Group, and achieve the long-term
goal of “zero casualties” in work safety.

We ensured the complete closure of the construction site and the
identification of special operators. Level-3 safety education activities were
held for construction workers, pre-job safety production training was
organised for new workers and a pre-shift meeting before construction work
began was conducted by construction units under supervision. Actions were
taken to conduct regular special inspections to find potential safety hazards,
rationalise the placement of fire fighting equipment, and establish work-
related accident ledger and emergency management ledger. The Golf Course,
the Obstetrics and Gynecology Hospital, the International Convention
Center and the Exotic Street set up emergency response plans for each risk
point in their operation, and trained and educated employees on a regular
basis, with respect to self-cleaning, emergency response plans, and fire safety
education, etc.
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In summer of 2023, the Golf Course invited professionals from Luodian Red
Cross to provide heatstroke prevention and cooling training for all outdoor
staff and various departments to reduce the risk of heatstroke for outdoor
staff; On 2 November 2023, the Obstetrics and Gynaecology Hospital
conducted a fire safety management training to popularise the knowledge of
all personnel on fire safety.
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CASE: FIRE DRILL SUCCESSFULLY HELD IN RETAIL STREET IN CONJUNCTION WITH JIAWU PROPERTIES
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Prior to the 6th Import Expo and the 32nd National Fire
Protection Day, in order to popularise fire prevention
knowledge, we implemented fire protection responsibilities
and prevent safety risks, effectively improved fire safety
awareness and emergency response capabilities of employees
and merchants, and improved the emergency cooperation
ability among various departments of the project and the
emergency response ability to respond to emergencies.
At 9: 00 a.m. on 9 November, the Retail Street of Lake
Malaren Town and Jiawu Properties jointly held a safety risk
prevention training and fire safety emergency evacuation and
fire drill with the theme of “prevention first, life first”.
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Talent Training

The Group provides employees with a clear career path. Training has been
organised to consistently improve the all-round competence of employees.
We are consistently building up a talent echelon. Depending on the focus of
our strategic development and status quo of our operation and management,
we offer a dual-track career path with management positions and positions
of skilled professionals, instead of a single management track, through
training and work practice. The goal is to ensure and promote the realisation
of our strategic objectives.

In order to help new employees grasp their job procedures and quickly
integrate into the Company, we train new employees in the fields of policy
publicity, corporate culture, work procedures, business planning, etc. The
Group launched several internal training programmes, including “SRE
Gathering”, “Corporate Culture Training” and “General Training”, to
clarify employees’ career development path and help them set a career
development goal:
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o SRE Gathering: Sharing the frontier dynamics of the industry based

on industry trends to enhance employees’ industry acumen;

. Corporate Culture Training: Strengthening emotional ties, o
optimising the working atmosphere, and boosting employees loyalty
and sense of belonging through corporate culture building;

o General Training: Improving professional competence through o
general training, such as workplace etiquette and time management.

The Group also dispatched both staff and leadership to take part in external
training, aiming to improve management capabilities and enable employees
to access the latest industry trends. Our departments, subsidiaries and
branches held inhouse training and sharing activities to help employees

Environmental, Social and Governance Report
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enhance their professional competence.

Headquarters of
the Group

£ E

On 1 June 2023, during the training session of the Directors and the senior management of SRE
Group, it explained in a professional way on issues such as the confidentiality system and information
disclosure responsibility of listed company.
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Shenyang Rich Gate

i B 4 IR

In order to help staff have a better understanding and idea to use the 2023 new online Haiding
System( 4 R L), a special training activity on usage of the new system was held.

F B Bl B TR G 0 AR I S 2023 4F BT L AR 9 R AT > BRAT TR R AL Y I B
il o

Obstetrics and

Gynecology Hospital
S P e

The Hospital organised diagnosis and identification of ectopic pregnancy, first aid drill for amniotic
fluid embolism and other professional skills training monthly in 2023.
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Convention Centre

With an aim to improve service awareness, staff training and department training on professional
technique were conducted in 2023.
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Golf Course In order to improve business capabilities and professional qualities of the staff of Golf Course, staff
training on service manners, grooming and office automation were conducted in 2023.
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CASE: TRAINING ON INSURANCE CLAIMS OF SHANGHAI LAKE MALAREN TOWN
S+ /NG ) B O B LI s G )

On 24 July 2023, in order to secure the property of the corporate,
Meilan Lake Town Enterprise Management Co., Ltd. specially invited
Ms. Chen from Ping An Insurance conducting a special training activity
on “insurance claims” to further enhance the professional knowledge
of the staff of Shanghai Lake Malaren Town. The relevant responsible
personnel of each project and the finance department of Shanghai Lake
Malaren Town joined this training.

During the training, Ms. Chen from Ping An Insurance explained
property insurance, liability insurance and life insurance through

interactive multimedia teaching and interaction with the attendees
and analysed scenario of claims management that may be encountered. Attendees have a more comprehensive understanding
on the classification of insurance, targets of the insurance and common claims management scenario through explaining and

interacting.
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The percentage of employees trained and the average training hours — ASHEHI A - A4 18] 2z R 1) 70 A 5 201 )
completed per employee by gender and employee category during the — HIZ i B 7770 LA 45 44 18 B 56 iU 9l 197

Reporting Period are shown in the table below: RF N~ R PR
Average
Percentage training hours
of employees completed per
trained employee

ZEIMEE AR ER
Hal ZINEE R

Gender Male DY 38% 18
R Female ec 62% 9.8
Senior Management 1 A Y 1% 3
I?ﬁmﬁplg ;uent category Middle Management T A% P 2% 83
Primary-leave staff By PN = 96% 13.6

Notes: Percentage of employees trained = Number of employees trained in the — #F @ ZAIMEE B4 = MR R BHE B 290N

category/total number of employees trained during the Reporting Period x BRI B 100%

100%

Average training hours completed per employee = total training hours 544 IR B P2 32 IR = REHR A A w2 35 0 A &
completed by employees in the category/number of employees in the f1) A2 IR w2 80 A 5L A

category during the Reporting Period
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DIRECTORS

Executive Directors

Mr. Xu Ming, aged 45, was appointed as an executive Director on 29 April
2021. Mr. Xu also served as the Company’s vice president and vice chairman
of the board of directors (in charge of the strategic investment department
and asset management department, and co-managed the human resources
department), and was promoted to chairman of the board of directors, and
the chairman of nomination committee and investment committee on 3
August 2024. Mr. Xu has been appointed as the Company’s Process Agent
and Authorised Representative with effect from 29 August 2024. Mr. Xu
has served as President of China Minsheng Jiaye Investment Co., Ltd. (the
Company’s controlling sharcholder) since July 2024. Mr. Xu obtained a
bachelor’s degree in administration management from Zhejiang University
in 2001. From 2001 to 2006, Mr. Xu served as the assistant HR manager
in Shanghai Sansheng Hongye Investment (Group) Co., Ltd. From 2006
to 2009, he worked as the assistant HR director of Yanlord Land Group
Ltd. From 2009 to 2012, he was the general manager of human resources of
Sino-Singapore Nanjing Eco Hi-tech Island Development Co., Ltd. From
2012 to0 2018, he worked in Fosun Hive (formerly known as Fosun Property
Holdings Co., Ltd.) as the senior director of human resources, co-general
manager of human resources and assistant president and general manager of
human resources. From 2018 to 2021, he served as the executive president of
Fosun Education Group, the co-president of Fosun IRG and the managing
director of Yuyuan Strategic Investment Center. Since April 2021, Mr. Xu
has been in charge of the holding and operating projects of the Group. Mr.
Xu won the honour of “Top Ten HR Managers in the Yangtze River Delta”
in 2015. Mr. Xu has rich experience in human resources management,

corporate managcment, equity investment and asset management.
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Mr. Kong Yong, aged 51, joined the Group as a vice president in October
2020 and was appointed as an executive Director and acting chief executive
officer on 19 January 2021. He is also a member of the Investment
Committee and an authorised representative of the Company. Mr. Kong
graduated from the school of management of Anhui University in 1996
with a major in real estate operation and management. From 1998 to 2014,
Mr. Kong worked in real estate sales and sales management departments
of Hefei Yide Real Estate Planning Company (A A 248 7 3R 1) 20
A]), Tongling Runfeng Real Estate Co., Ltd. (B P P M SRR A AD),
Guangdong Dingfeng Real Estate Group Co., Ltd. (J?E:%#ﬁ% I b 75 4 3]
A PR F]) and Wanda Group Co., Led. (%% £E [ 24 7). From 2014 to
2016, Mr. Kong served as project general manager of Beijing Jinhao Real
Estate Company (LI & ZEHEE 28 F]). From 2016 to 2017, Mr. Kong
was project general manager of Anhui Huichuang Real Estate Company
(L BUBUA L 7E 22 7). Mr. Kong was general manager of Lai Fung Group
Linquan Project Company (& 45 F [ifi SR JE H 2 7)) from 2017 to 2018,
From 2018 to September 2020, Mr. Kong was deputy director of Wanxin
Group (# #72E M) in the Fujian region and general manager of Zhangzhou
City Company (1% 1 317 22 7). Mr. Kong has extensive experience in real

estate development, construction and real estate operation management.

Directors and Senior Management
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Mr. Qin Guohui, aged 47, was appointed as an Executive Director and
chairman of the Board of the Company on 11 July 2023. He has also
served as the chairman of the Nomination Committee and the Investment
Committee and an authorised representative of the Company. Mr. Qin has
resigned as the chairman of the Board and has ceased to be the chairman
of each of the Nomination Committee and Investment Committee of
the Company, but remains as an executive director of the Company with
effect from 3 August 2024. Mr. Qin ceased to act as the Company’s Process
Agent and Authorised Representative with effect from 29 August 2024.
He has been serving as the secretary of the board of directors and the vice
president of China Minsheng Investment Corp., Led. (112 [ AE # & [ 73
HIRAFD, a controlling shareholder and ultimate holding company of the
Group since June 2022 and concurrently as the vice chairman of the board
of director from August 2023. Prior to that, Mr. Qin served the position
of assistant to the general manager and legally responsible person of the
legal and compliance department of China Pacific Insurance (Group) Co.,
Led. (B RSV DR B (4R B B4 A1 BR A 7, a company listed on the
Hong Kong Stock Exchange with stock code: 2601) from August 2007 to
August 2012. He served as the general manager of the legal compliance and
risk management department and legally responsible person of BOCOM
MSIG Life Insurance Company Limited (B AR R N RO B A PR A
A, currently known as LERNF IR A BRA A, a subsidiary of Bank of
Communications Co., Ltd. (3 #HER1T K (5 A R A A, a company listed
in Hong Kong Stock Exchange with stock code: 03328) from August

2012 to August 2015. He was the managing director of Shanghai Baomao

Investment Group Co., Ltd. (L@gﬁﬁ B A BRA A, currently
known as B 1% B AR B A BR A F]) from August 2015 to November
2018. He served as the legal director of YANGO Holdings CO., Ltd. (K5t
e BRZA 7)) and the vice president of YANGO Investment Group Co.,
Led. (BBOEEA LA BR 2 A]) from November 2018 to June 2022. Mr.
Qin obrtained a bachelor’s degree in economic law from Peking University
in June 1999. He obtained a master’s degree and a doctor’s degree in civil
and commercial law from the China University of Political Science and
Law in June 2002 and June 2005, respectively. Mr. Qin obtained his lawyer
qualification from the Ministry of Justice of the People’s Republic of China
(P AR AL AN A VA EB) in 1999 and was qualified to practice as a
securities professional and funds professional from the relevant industry
associations in the PRC in 2004 and 2005, respectively. Mr. Qin has

extensive experience in legal compliance and corporate governance.
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Mr. Hong Zhihua, aged 63, was appointed as an Executive Director and
chairman of the Board of the Company on 23 October 2020. He was
also the chairman of the Nomination Committee and the Investment
Committee and an authorised representative of the Company. Mr. Hong
has served as a consultant to China Minsheng Investment Corporation
Ltd. (the controlling sharcholder and ultimate holding company of the
Company) since September 2022. Mr. Hong obtained a diploma in
management from Shanghai University in 1997, a master’s degree in
business administration from La Trobe University in Australia in 1998
and a doctoral degree in business administration from the University of
South Australia in 2006. Mr. Hong worked as secretary of Youth League
Committee at the Shanghai Bureau of Transportation (- ¥ 3¢ % i 7))
from 1979 to 1993. From 1993 to 2005, Mr. Hong served as deputy head
of Shanghai Pudong Economic and Trade Bureau (- 1 I 5#0# [ 48 7 &
2 ), deputy director of Shanghai Pudong New Area Cooperation Office
(| 36 Y TR B 1 A 25, vice president of Shanghai Waigaoqiao
Group Co., Led. (51 mif (2 18) 4 B2 7)), chairman of the board of
directors of Shanghai Waigaogiao New Development Co., Ltd. (L5 NE]
4 3% J A FR 22 1), and vice president of Shanghai Lujiazui (Group) Co.,
Led. (5 7R 58 W5 (4R B A R 22 5]). Mr. Hong served as executive director
and executive vice president of Yanlord Land Group Limited from 2005 to
2016. Mr. Hong served as executive director of Sino-Singapore Nanjing Eco
Hi-Tech Island Development Co., Led. (H1#7 g 5t A REFHE B B EE A B
23] from 2009 to 2015. Mr. Hong successively served as the executive vice
president of China Minsheng Jiaye Investment Co., Ltd. from October 2020
to December 2020, and served as the chairman and president from January
2021 to September 2022. Since 2016, Mr. Hong has been the chairman of
the board of directors of Kangyao Urban Comprehensive Development
(Shanghai) Co., Led. (M #5745 B %% (L) A BR2S 7). Mr. Hong was
awarded the title of economist by the Shanghai Bureau of Transportation in
1985. Mr. Hong has extensive experience in urban construction, corporate
management, real estate development and operations. Mr. Hong had
resigned as an Executive Director, the chairman of the Board, chairman of
the Nomination Committee and the Investment Committee and authorised
representative of the Company on 11 July 2023.
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Mr. Jiang Qi, aged 41, was appointed as an executive Director on 13 July
2018. Mr. Jiang graduated from California Polytechnic State University
(POMONA) with a bachelor’s degree in business administration in
2007. Mr. Jiang has many years of work experience in human resource
administration, construction site management and marketing and planning.
Mr. Jiang joined SRE Investment Holding Ltd. in 2007, and served as
general manager assistant and deputy general manager of Shenyang Lixiang
New Town Property Co., Ltd., a subsidiary of SRE Investment Holding
Lted., from July 2007 to April 2009. He worked as the deputy general
manager of Shanghai Shuo Cheng Real Estate Limited from May 2009 to
August 2012; he was the head of the preparatory working group for Haikou
Westin Hotel from August 2012 to June 2013. From September 2013 to
December 2017, he served as the deputy general manager in Guo Kai Chuan
Sha (Shanghai) Urban Investment Development Co., Ltd. (BB )11 ( 1
Vg ) W B 9 R A B /A 7)), a subsidiary of SRE Investment Holding
Limited.

Mr. Lu Jianhua, aged 57, was appointed as a non-executive Director on 20
July 2021. He is also a member of Investment Committee of the Company.
Mr. Lu graduated from Shanghai Polytechnic University in computer
applications profession in 1993, graduated from East China Normal
University in real estate operation and management profession in 1997 and
graduated from Party School of The Central Committee of Communist
Party of China* (F' 3 f7 S B A% B #5222 Bt ) in economics and management
profession (on-job postgraduate study) in 2003. He worked at the secretariat
and the administration office of the General Office of Shanghai Municipal
People’s Government from 1984 to 1994. From 1994 to 1995, he worked as
general manager at the Shanghai Housing System Reform Office* (1 Tl
A3 5 B2 BICH 22 %), He successively served as deputy director in various
offices and in the engineering department responsible for managing general
work at the construction supervisory department of Shanghai Pudong
International Airport from 1995 to 2000. He worked as manager of No.2
Engineering Department and deputy general manager of the subsidiary,
A W responsible for managing general work at the construction
supervisory department of the Shanghai Maglev Project* (| ¥ % ¥ L
) from 2000 to 2004. From 2004 to 2020, he successively worked as vice
president, secretary of the disciplinary committee and deputy secretary of
the party committee at CITIC Pacific (China) Investment Co., Ltd.. He
was vice chairman and vice principal of Xianda College of Economics and
Humanities Shanghai International Studies University from December
2020 to June 2021. Mr. Lu has been vice president of China Minsheng Jiaye
Investment Co., Ltd. (the controlling shareholder of the Company) since
July 2021, and has transferred from vice president to chairman and president
since September 29, 2022. Mr. Lu has been appointed as a non-executive
director and vice chairman of the board of directors of Yida China Holdings
Limited, a company listed on the Stock Exchange (stock code: 3639) since
29 September 2021. Mr. Lu has extensive management experience in
construction and real estate industries.
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Mr. Pan Pan, agcd 38, was appointcd as a non-executive Director on 29
March 2022. Mr. Pan obtained a bachelor’s degree in economics from the
Renmin University of China in July 2007 and obtained a master’s degree
in economics from the Central University of Finance and Economics in
China in January 2013. Mr. Pan has served as the vice president of CMIG
Futurelife Holding Group Co., Led. (H AR A 4R B A FR 2 ) since
September 2022. Currently, he is also a director of Suzhou Yangtze New
Materials Co., Ltd., a company listed on the Shenzhen Stock Exchange (stock
code: 002652.SZ) (BRI 45 T VLB B M BB A A PR 7)) and an executive
director of CM Luxembourg Investment S.A. (1 R £k £ 23 A]). Prior
to that, Mr. Pan successively served as the deputy head of the president’s
office and deputy general manager of the asset operation center of China
Minsheng Investment Co., Ltd from November 2015 to August 2022. He
was a deputy general manager of the investment management department of
Xinhua Jiayuan Seniorlife Enterprise Management (Beijing) Co., Led. (7
e 5% [ 2 M (AL ) B A D, formerly known as 7 3 5% [/ 7 4
FEMARAA), a subsidiary of New China Life Insurance Company
Led. (B3 NS5 AR BRI A3 A FR 22 7)) (a company listed on the Hong Kong
Stock Exchange with stock code: 1336) from February 2015 to October
2015. He served as the secretary to the supervisory board chairman of New
China Life Insurance Company Ltd from August 2010 to June 2014. He
served the position of chief accountant secretary of Sinochem Group Co.,
Led. (B LS 22 F]) from October 2007 to July 2010. He served
as a director of China Minsheng Jiaye Investment Co., Led. (7R3 34
EAT B A]) from December 2019 to July 2023. Mr. Pan has extensive

experience in investment management and corporate finance.
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Independent Non-executive Directors

M. Zhuo Fumin, aged 72, was appointed as an independent non-executive
Director on 30 November 2010. He is also a member of the Audit
Comnmittee, the Nomination Committee and the Remuneration Committee
of the Company. Mr. Zhuo graduated from Shanghai Jiaotong University of
Engineering Science (Now is Shanghai University Of Engineering Science)
in 1983 and obtained a master’s degree in economics from Fudan University
in 1997. Mr. Zhuo served as the assistant officer and the head of the
administrative office of the Shanghai Economic System Reform Committee.
Subsequently, Mr. Zhuo held various senior positions at Shanghai Industrial
Investment (Holdings) Co., Ltd,, including the chief executive officer and
the vice chairman of Shanghai Industrial Holdings Limited, a company
listed on the Stock Exchange (stock code: 363) and the chairman and
an executive director of SIIC Medical Science and Technology (Group)
Limited. Mr. Zhuo was devoted to private equity investment since 2002, and
was the chairman and the chief executive officer of Vertex China Investment
Co., Ltd., a wholly owned subsidiary of Vertex Management Group which
is a global venture capital fund management company. Mr. Zhuo is the
founder and chairman of SIG Capital Limited and was a managing partner
of GGV Capital (venture capital fund). Currently, Mr. Zhuo is a chairman
and managing partner of Vstar Capital. From September 2015 to September
2021, Mr. Zhuo was an independent director of Arcplus Group Plc, a
company listed on the Shanghai Stock Exchange (stock code: 600629). From
January 2016 to November 2021, Mr. Zhuo was an independent director
of Focus Media Information Technology Co., Ltd., a company listed on the
Shenzhen Stock Exchange (stock code: 2027). From September 2016 to
September 2022, Mr. Zhuo was an independent director of Shanghai Shine-
link International Logistics Co., Ltd., a company listed on the Shanghai
Stock Exchange (stock code: 603648). From March 2016 to June 2023, Mr.
Zhuo was an independent non- executive director of Sinopharm Group
Co. Ltd., a company listed on the Stock Exchange (stock code: 1099).
From October 2009 to June 2023, Mr. Zhuo was a non-executive director
of Besunyen Holdings Company Limited, a company listed on the Stock
Exchange (stock code: 926). From May 2018 to June 2024, Mr. Zhuo was
an independent director of Dazhong Transportation Group, a company
listed on the Shanghai Stock Exchange (stock code: 600611). Currently, Mr.
Zhuo was appointed as an independent director of Daqo New Energy Corp.,
a company listed on the New York Stock Exchange (stock code: DQ) since
October 2009.
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Mr. Ma Lishan, aged 72, was appointed as an independent non- executive
Director on 31 March 2016. He is also the chairman of the Remuneration
Committee and a member of the Audit Committee, Nomination
Committee, and the Investment Committee of the Company. He has
extensive experience in corporate operation and management. Mr. Ma
graduated from Beijing Foreign Studies University in the People’s Republic
of China in 1975. Mr. Ma served in various senior managerial positions
such as chairman, executive director and general manager in certain large-
scale sole proprietorships and joint ventures under China Oil & Foodstuff
Corporation. From January 1996, Mr. Ma served as an executive director
of China Foods Limited (' £ i AR 2 7), a company listed on the
Stock Exchange (stock code: 506) and has concurrently served as a managing
director since June 2003. In 2000, Mr. Ma was appointed as the vice
president of China Oil & Foodstuff Corporation (COFCO). From June
2008 to January 2009, Mr. Ma was an executive director of Sino Resources
Group Limited (now known as Elife Holdings Limited), a company listed
on the Stock Exchange (stock code: 223). From September 2010 to August
2012, he was the executive director, chief executive officer and chairman of
Hao Tian Resources Group Limited (now known as Hao Tian Development
Group Limited), a company listed on the Stock Exchange (stock code:
474). From March 2008 to June 2023, Mr. Ma served as an independent
non-executive director and a non-executive director of Silver Base Group
Holdings Limited (a company previously listed on the Stock Exchange,
stock code: 886 but was delisted on 4 December 2023) (in liquidation).
Mr. Ma was appointed as an independent non-executive director of Sunac
China Holdings Limited, a company listed on the Stock Exchange (stock
code: 1918) since 20 August 2009. Mr. Ma was appointed as an independent
non-executive director of China Minsheng Drawin Technology Group
Limited (now known as China Minsheng DIT Group Limited), a company
listed on the Stock Exchange (stock code: 726) since 28 June 2016 and an
independent non-executive director of Huarong International Financial

Holdings Limited (stock code: 993) since 19 August 2016.
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Mr. Chui Man Lung, Everett, aged 60, was appointed as an independent
non-executive Director on 1 December 2022. He is also the chairman of the
Audit Committee and a member of the Remuneration Committee of the
Company. Mr. Chui graduated from the University of Southampton and
was awarded the degree of BSc (Social Sciences) in Business Economics &
Accounting. Mr. Chui is a fellow member of the Hong Kong Institute of
Certified Public Accountants and the Association of Chartered Certified
Accountants. Mr. Chui is also a fellow member of The Institute of
Chartered Accountants in England and Wales. Mr. Chui became a qualified
professional accountant in 1991 when he worked in the audit department
of KPMG Peat Marwick until his departure in 1993, during which period
he took part in the auditing of listed companies and listing applicants and
restructuring. Mr. Chui has been the founding partner of Cen-1 Partners
Limited since 2008 and has been the founding partner of WKI Group
Limited (% A8 4R M 47 PR\ 7) since 2012, both of which mainly provide
professional advisory services to listed and private companies in Hong Kong,
Mainland China and other parts of Asia. Mr. Chui served as the financial
controller and the company secretary of Yau Lee Holdings Limited (7
FIEE A R T) (a company listed on the Main Board of The Stock
Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”), stock code: 406)
from February 1995 to June 2008. Mr. Chui served as an independent
non-executive director of Cosmopolitan International Holdings Limited
(VY i B 22 A R B]) (a company listed on the Main Board of the
Stock Exchange, stock code: 120) from March 2002 to March 2003; an
independent non-executive director of Duoyuan Printing, Inc. (a company
previously listed on the New York Stock Exchange) from October 2010 to
March 2013; an independent non-executive director of Mingyuan Medicare
Development Company Limited (%41 5 35 A R 7)) (a company
previously listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange, stock code: 233
but was delisted on 22 January 2020) from September 2015 to May 2016;
an independent non-executive director of China Ocean Fishing Holdings
Limited (" Bl 3495 2 A FRZA F]) (now known as China Ocean
Group Development Limited (7" B £ 48 I 3 & 47 B2 A])) (a company
listed on the GEM of the Stock Exchange, stock code: 8047) from May 2015
to May 2017; an independent non-executive director of New Sports Group
Limited (#1## & & B A A7) (now known as Glory Sun Land Group
Limited (B #7 & 14 45 FRA 7)) (a company listed on the Main Board
of the Stock Exchange, stock code: 299) from September 2013 to January
2017; an independent non-executive director of Taung Gold International
Limited (<053 IR/ A]) (a company listed on the Main Board of
the Stock Exchange, stock code: 621) from April 2010 to October 2017; an
independent non-executive director of Million Stars Holdings Limited (&5
RRERABRAF]) (a company listed on the GEM of the Stock Exchange,
stock code: 8093) from February 2017 to January 2018; an independent
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non-executive director of Up Energy Development Group Limited (7K
HE VR 55 S AL M A B2 F) (a company previously listed on the Main Board
of the Stock Exchange with stock code: 307 but was delisted on 5 January
2022) from June 2016 to August 2018; an independent non-executive
director of EcoGreen International Group Limited ("1 B F 4 B A R
23 7]) (a company listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange, Stock
Code: 2341) from November 2022 to March 2024. Mr. Chui is currently
serving as the company secretary of Vital Innovations Holdings Limited (4
RANEHZE A BRZ F) (a company listed on the Main Board of the Stock
Exchange, Stock Code: 6133) since 16 August 2014; the company secretary
of Lingbao Gold Group Company Ltd. (HEEHSEERGERAA)
(a company listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange, Stock Code:
3330) since 8 May 2019; an independent director of Jianzhi Education
Technology Group Company Limited (A% H B & EA R A A)
(a company listed on NASDAQ), Stock Code: JZ) since August 2022; An
independent non-executive director of Welife Technology Limited (a
company listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange, Stock Code:
1703) since 22 May 2024. Mr. Chui has extensive experience in finance,
auditing and corporate governance.

Senior Management

M. Fang Kun, aged 40, joined the Group as the director of operations on
10 November 2020 and was appointed as vice president of the Group on
20 July 2021. Mr. Fang graduated from Tongji University in 2007 with a
bachelor’s degree in civil engineering (construction). Mr. Fang has 4 years of
design management experience in Shanghai Tianhua Architecture Planning
& Engineering Ltd., a premium design institute in the industry, and 10 years
of experience in comprehensive real estate investment and development
management in a leading property developer. He served as project general
manager of Shanghai Vanke Real Estate Co., Ltd., general manager of
Hangzhou region at (Zhejiang-based) Boee Group, and vice president of
Shanghai Fusheng Qianlong Investment Management Co., Ltd., a subsidiary
of (Fujian-based) Fusheng Group.

Directors and Senior Management
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Mr. Yang Lei, aged 52, was appointed as the Chief Financial Officer of
the Group on 23 October 2020. Mr. Yang graduated from Heilongjiang
University in 1993 and obtained a bachelor’s degree in accounting. Mr.
Yang then obtained a postgraduate certificate in business administration
from Dongbei University of Finance and Economics in 2003. Mr. Yang
was certified as an accountant and a senior accountant in 1997 and 2006
respectively. Mr. Yang was project manager and practicing rcgistcrcd
accountant at Liaoning Tianjian Accounting Firm Dalian Branch (s
KRAge G w1 il 75 T K53 BT from 1993 to 1996. M. Yang was head of
finance department of Dalian Free Trade Zone Real Estate Development
Corporation (K LRFL 7 7 B 55 A28 F]) from 1996 to 1998. Mr.
Yang served as chief financial officer, chief supervisor and group deputy
general manager of Dalian Dongte Enterprise (Group) Co., Led. (KHH S 4F
FEEEEDARAF]) from 1998 to 2007. From 2007 to October 2020,
M. Yang has been the assistant to the chairman of the board of directors
and group vice president at Dalian Shunhe Group (JZHEAN 48 H).

Mr. Chu Hoe Tin, aged 41, was appointed as the Company Secretary of the
Company on 1 July 2019. He has over 17 years of professional experience
in accounting, auditing, taxation and company secretarial work. Mr. Chu
graduated with a Bachelor of Arts (Hons) in Accounting from Napier
University, United Kingdom in 2007 and obtained the degree of Master of
Corporate Governance from Hong Kong Metropolitan University in 2018.
He is also a fellow member of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants and a member of The Hong Kong Chartered Governance
Institute. He has been an independent non-executive director of TBK &
Sons Holdings Limited, a company listed on the Stock Exchange (stock
code: 1960) since 30 September 2019.
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The directors of the Company (the “Directors”) have pleasure in presenting
the annual report together with the audited consolidated financial
statements of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2023.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The Group are mainly engaged in real estate development and investment in
Mainland China, on projects located in gateway cities of developed markets.
The principal activities of its principal subsidiaries, joint ventures and
associates are respectively set out in notes 51, 25 and 24 to the consolidated
financial statements.

SEGMENTAL INFORMATION

Details of the Group’s revenue and profit or loss by principal activity and
geographical area for the year ended 31 December 2023 are set out in note 8
to the consolidated financial statements.

RESULTS AND DIVIDENDS

Details of the Group’s results for the year ended 31 December 2023 are set
out in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive
income. No interim dividend was declared by the board of the Directors (the
“Board”). The Board does not recommend the payment of final dividend for
the year ended 31 December 2023 (2022: Nil).

BANK LOANS, OVERDRAFTS AND OTHER
BORROWINGS

Details of bank loans, overdrafts and other borrowings of the Group are set
out in note 36 to the consolidated financial statements.

RESERVES

Movements in the reserves of the Group and the Company during the year
are respectively set out in the consolidated statement of changes in equity
and in note 52 to the consolidated financial statements.

DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES

As computed in accordance with the Companies Act 1981 of Bermuda, the
Company does not have retained profits for distribution to sharcholders as
at 31 December 2023 (2022: Nil). The share premium account with balance
of approximately RMB5,046 million (2022: RMBS5,046 million) may be

distributed when certain conditions are met.
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SHARE CAPITAL

There was no movement in share capital during the year. Details of the share
capital of the Company are set out in note 40 to the consolidated financial
statements.

FINANCIAL SUMMARY

A financial summary of the Group is set out on page 7 of this annual report.

BUSINESS REVIEW

The information on business review of the Group for the year ended 31
December 2023 is provided in the Chairman’s Statement and Management
Discussion and Analysis of this annual report.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There are no provisions for pre-emptive rights under the Bye-laws of the
Company or the laws of Bermuda which would oblige the Company to offer

new shares on a pro-rata basis to existing sharcholders.

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF LISTED
SECURITIES

Neither the Company nor its subsidiaries purchased, redeemed or sold any
of the Company’s listed securities (including sales of treasury shares (as

defined in the Listing Rules)) during the year ended 31 December 2023.

Asat 31 December 2023, the Company did not hold any treasury shares.

DISCLOSURE REQUIREMENTS UNDER RULE
13.21 OF THE LISTING RULES

References are made to the announcements of the Company dated 27
March 2022, 11 January 2023, 28 April 2023, 30 June 2023, 23 August
2023, 29 December 2023 and 18 September 2024.

The Group provided guarantees to the syndicated bank loan for Shanghai
Jinxin Real Estate Co., Led.* (_F1 40 ' A BR 2 7)) (“Jinxin”), a joint
venture of the Group. In addition, the continuous default of the aforesaid
syndicated bank loan resulted in the relevant lenders having the right to
demand, and the relevant lenders have demanded, the Group to fulfill its
guarantee obligation to repay the loan, including an outstanding principal
of approximately RMB4,451.8 million and related interests and bank fees of
approximately RMB421.1 million as at 31 December 2023, and the relevant
lenders will also have the right to apply for court’s forcible execution,
including but not limited to dispose of the Group’s equity investment in
Jinxin which were pledged as collateral of Jinxin’s syndicated bank loan. The
relevant lenders of Jinxin applied for the court to enforce their above rights
during the year ended 31 December 2023.
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Details of the aforesaid breach of loan agreement and the related financial
influence of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2023 are set out in
notes 4, 25, 38 and 48 to the consolidated financial statements of this annual

repor t.

FIXED ASSETS AND INVESTMENT PROPERTIES

Details of the movement in fixed assets and investment properties of the
Group are respectively set out in notes 20 and 22 to the consolidated

financial statements.

RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

Details of the related party transactions (which also include connected
transactions) of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2023 are set out
in note 48 to the consolidated financial statements. Save as the transaction
disclosed under the paragraph headed “Connected Transactions” below, the
related party transactions as set out in note 48 to the consolidated financial
statements do not fall under the definition of “connected transaction” or
“continuing connected transaction” in Chapter 14A of the Rules Governing
the Listing of Securities on the Stock Exchange (the “Listing Rules”). The
Company has complied with the disclosure requirements in accordance with
Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.

CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS

Details of the related party transactions (which also include connected
transactions) of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2023 are set
out in note 48 to the consolidated financial statements. The related party
transactions as set out in note 48 to the consolidated financial statements
do not fall under the definition of “connected transaction” or “continuing
connected transaction” in Chapter 14A of the Rules Governing the Listing
of Securities on the Stock Exchange (the “Listing Rules”). The Company has
complied with the disclosure requirements in accordance with Chapter 14A
of the Listing Rules.

CONSULTING PROFESSIONAL TAX ADVISERS

The Company is not aware of any relief on taxation available to the
Shareholders by reason of their holdings of the Company’s securities.

Sharcholders of the Company are recommended to consult professional
advisers if they are in any doubt as to the tax implications of purchasing,
holding, disposing of, dealing in or the exercise of any rights in relation to
the Company’s shares.
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DIRECTORS

The directors who held office during the year and as of the date when the
annual report was published are:

Executive Directors

Mr. Xu Ming (Chairman) (served as Chairman on 3 August 2024)
M. Qin Guohui (Chairman) (appointed on 11 July 2023
and ceased as Chairman on 3 August 2024)
Mr. Hong Zhihua (Chairman) (resigned on 11 July 2023)
Mr. Kong Yong (Acting Chief Executive Officer)

Mr. Jiang Qi
Non-Executive Directors

Mr. Lu Jianhua
Mr. Pan Pan

Ind epen dent Non-Executive Directors

Mr. Zhuo Fumin
Mr. Ma Lishan
Mr. Chui Man Lung, Everett

The Company had received confirmation from each of the independent
non-executive Directors of their independence pursuant to Rule 3.13 of the
Listing Rules and considered all independent non- executive Directors to be
independent.

In accordance with Bye-laws 86(2), 87(1) and 87(2) of the Bye-laws of the
Company, Mr. Jiang Qi, Mr. Qin Guohui, Mr. Lu Jianhua, Mr. Pan Pan and
Mr. Zhuo Fumin will retire at the forthcoming annual general meeting of
the Company, and being eligible, will offer themselves for re-election.

Biographical details of the Directors are set out on pages 60 to 70 of this
annual report.
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CHANGE IN INFORMATION OF DIRECTORS WG R s E)

Pursuant to Rule 13.51B(1) of the Listing Rules, changes in the information MR # E i #LRAIZE 13.51B (1) » B R 20234F 1
of the Directors since the disclosure made in the Interim Report 2023 and #5717 H 3 57 A2k K B 2= A2 Al A AR R H I -

up to the date of this annual report of the Company are set out below: HEER B T
Name of Director(s) Detail(s) of Change
WHEH SE) S
Mr. Xu Ming He was promoted to chairman of the board of directors, and the chairman of nomination

committee and investment committee on 3 August 2024, and has been appointed as the authorised
representative of the Company for accepting service of process and notices on behalf of the
Company in Hong Kong (“Process Agent”) and an authorised representative (the “Authorised
Representative”) of the Company for the purpose of Rule 3.05 of the Listing Rules with effect from
29 August 2024. He has served as President of China Minsheng Jiaye Investment Co., Ltd. (the
Company’s controlling shareholder) since July 2024.

WS WR2024F8 A3 H FHEE R G T > U RIRAZ A G RIXERZ G LN WO ERES
AN IR ME AR AAERA L R A A s H O AR ST B n (M AR P AR ) A Bt
ETHLAEE 3 050k T AL R HER R (HRHER R » H20244E8 H29H AR - 1% A
20244F7 7 REHE AT P [ 53 AR G A IR A A (A R IR IBOR) #E K -

Mr. Qin Guohui He has resigned as the chairman of the Board and has ceased to be the chairman of each of the
Nomination Committee and Investment Committee, but remains as an executive director with
effect from 3 August 2024. He has ceased to act as the Process Agent and one of the Authorised
Representatives with effect from 29 August 2024.

ZBE A WEBmEEHFGER > UAHIEERAZEGIRERZEGEAZER - BNHABAT
#H > H20244F8 A3 H AL o MO A FHEEEREFAIMA R P — 22 HRE - 3
202448 29 HBAE Y -

Mr. Chui Man Lung He was appointed as an independent non-executive director of Welife Technology Limited (a
company listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange, Stock Code: 1703) on 22 May 2024.

RS EAE TR 202445 H 22 H HE 22 A 5 #E T AR 8 BHA IR W (B 52 Bir EAR B A =] > B ARk
1703) A9 B JF AT

Mr. Zhuo Fumin He has retired as an independent director of Dazhong Transportation Group, a company listed on
the Shanghai Stock Exchange (stock code: 600611).
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DIRECTORS’ EMOLUMENTS

The fixed annual remuneration of the executive Directors is determined by
the Remuneration Committee of the Company. Each executive Director
is also entitled to an annual management bonus under the relevant service
contract, the amount of which is to be determined by the Board from time
to time, provided that the aggregate management bonus payable to all
executive Directors for a financial year shall not be more than 10% of the
Company’s net profit after taxation and non-controlling interests as shown
in the audited consolidated financial statements of the Company for the

relevant year.

Details of Directors’ emoluments are set out in note 15 to the consolidated
financial statements.

DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS

None of the Directors who are proposed for re-election at the forthcoming
annual general meeting of the Company has a service contract with any
member of the Group which is not determinable within one year without
the payment of compensation other than statutory compensation.

DIRECTORS’ INTEREST IN TRANSACTIONS,
ARRANGEMENTS OR CONTRACTS

No transaction, arrangement or contract of significance to which the
Company, or any of its holding company, subsidiaries or fellow subsidiaries
was a party, and in which a Director, or an entity connected with a Director,
of the Company had a material interest (direct or indirect), subsisted at the
end of the financial year or at any time during the year ended 31 December
2023.

CONTROLLING SHAREHOLDERS’ INTEREST IN
CONTRACTS OF SIGNIFICANCE

Save as disclosed in the section headed “Connected Transactions” above,
neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries had entered into any
contract of significance with the Company’s controlling shareholders or
their subsidiaries, or any contract of significance for the provision of services
to the Company or any of its subsidiaries by the Company’s controlling
shareholders or their subsidiaries, during the year ended 31 December 2023.
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MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS

The Company has not entered into any contract with any individual, firm
or body corporate to manage or administer the whole or any substantial part
of any business of the Company during the year ended 31 December 2023.

DIRECTORS’ RIGHTS TO ACQUIRE SHARES OR
DEBENTURES

Save as disclosed in the section of Share Option Scheme of this report, at
no time during the year was the Company or any of its subsidiaries a party
to any arrangements to enable the Directors to acquire benefits by means of
the acquisition of shares in, or debt securities (including debentures) of; the
Company or any other body corporate.

DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVES’
INTERESTS IN SHARES, UNDERLYING SHARES
AND DEBENTURES

As at 31 December 2023, the interests and short positions of the Directors
and the chief executive of the Company in the shares, underlying shares
and debentures of the Company or its associated corporations (within the
meaning of Part XV of the Securities and Futures Ordinance (the “SFO”)),
as recorded in the register required to be kept under section 352 of the SFO,
or as otherwise notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant
to the Model Code for Securities Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers
(the “Model Code”) as set out in Appendix C3 to the Listing Rules were as
follows:

Long position in shares of the Company (the “Shares”) and
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underlying Shares H
Approximate
Personal Family Corporate percentage of
Name of Director interests interests interests Total shareholding
T HE Z
HAEA I8 N\ HE %5 K IGHE AR AL £ At R ONER e
Lu Jianhua 2,258,000 - - 2,258,000 0.011%
o 22 2 2,258,000 - - 2,258,000 0.011%
Zhuo Fumin - 160,000* - 160,000 0.0008%
HARR - 160,000* - 160,000 0.0008%

* These Shares were held by Madam He Peipei, the spouse of Mr. Zhuo Fumin.
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Save as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2023, none of the Directors or
chief executives of the Company, nor any of their close associates had any
interests or short positions in the shares, underlying shares and debentures
of the Company or any of its associated corporations (within the meaning of
Part XV of the SFO) which were required to be recorded in the register kept
by the Company under section 352 of the SFO or as otherwise notified to
the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to the Model Code.

SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS’ INTERESTS

As at 31 December 2023, so far as is known to any Director or chief
executive of the Company, the following persons, other than a Director or
chief executive of the Company, had interests or short positions in the shares
or underlying shares of the Company as recorded in the register required to
be kept under the section 336 of the SFO:
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T ey 2 5 A

Long position in Shares

Number of Approximate Number of Approximate
issued percentage of issued percentage of
Name of Shareholders Capacity/Nature of interest Notes ordinary Share sharcholding ordinary Shares sharcholding
8T 17)¢ >4 CH#fT fliHEZ
TR AH G/ Wt Wit LEREA WA LEkEA BHH A
(Sub-total) (Sub-total) (Total) (Total)
(hih) (i) (45H) (5t
China Minsheng Investment Corp, Led. * Interest in controlled corporation i 15,488,251,128 75.31%
B R A B R A PR S T 0
China Minsheng Jiaye Investment Co, Ltd.*  Interest in controlled corporation i 15488,251,128 7531%
MREEREHARAF TS e i A
Jiaxin Investment (Shanghai) Co., Ltd. * Interest in controlled corporation iv 15,488,251,128 75.31%
ARG (B HRAR S T 0
Jiasheng (Holding) Investment Limited Interest in controlled corporation iv 15,354,159,128 74.66%
ERHERREARAT S T 0
Jiashun (Holding) Investment Limited 15,354,159,128 74.66%
FIREER REHRAT
Beneficial owner iv 12,500,000,000 60.78%
i3 ZUN
Interest in controlled corporation i, i, vi 2,854,159,128 13.88%
TS e i
Zhi Tong Investment Limited Partnership ~ Beneficial owner i, i, iii 1,987,261,390 9.66%
i3 ZUN
Jia Yun Investment Limited 2,854,159,128 13.88%
Person having a security interest vi 866,897,738 422%
in Shares
TR b A A A A L
Interest in controlled corporation i, iif 1987,261,390 9.66%
TS e i
ShiJian 2867,166,119 13.94%
ke
Beneficial owner 13,006,991 0.06%
i3 ZUN
Interest in controlled corporation v 2,854,159,128 13.88%
TS Ve i
§i Xiaodong 2,854,161,452 13.88%
ABER
Beneficial owner 2324 0.00%
i3 ZUN
Interest in controlled corporation v 2,854,159,128 13.88%
TS e i
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Number of Approximate Number of Approximate
issued percentage of issued percentage of
Name of Sharcholders Capacity/Nature of interest Notes ordinary Share sharcholding ordinary Shares sharcholding
o fhiRHEZ C#fT flilHEZ
Tk 4 18 Sh /Wt T 53 LEkYA BAER LERYA WaER
(Sub-total) (Sub-total) (Total) (Total)
(G (IvGH) (a3t (Bzt)
SRE Investment Holding Limited 2,854,159,128 13.88%
FERERRARAT
Beneficial owner vi 866,897,738 422%
jEcE 2N
Interest in controlled corporation ii, iii 1,987,261,390 9.66%
TRV B £
Starite International Limited Interest in controlled corporation ii, iii 1,987,261,390 9.66%
EREBAHRAT TRV B A £
Zuo Xin Nominee for another person ii, iii 1,987,261,390 9.66%
(other than a bare trustee)
£ Eln—AEiRaA
(B EABRID)
Jiabo Investment Limited Interest in controlled corporation i, i, vi 2,854,159,128 13.88%
AHRERRAT TRV B A £
Jiazhi Investment Limited Interest in controlled corporation ii, iii 1,987,261,390 9.66%
TRV B £
Notes: Bi3E -
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China Minsheng Investment Corp., Ltd. holds a 67.26% direct interest in
China Minsheng Jiaye Investment Co., Ltd. Pursuant to Part XV of the SFO,
China Minsheng Investment Corp., Ltd. and China Minsheng Jiaye Investment
Co., Ltd. are respectively deemed to be interested in the Shares directly held or
interested in by (a) Jiashun (Holding) Investment Limited (12,500,000,000
Shares), (b) Zhi Tong Investment Limited Partnership (1,987,261,390
Shares), (c) Jia Yun Investment Limited (866,897,738 Shares) and (d) Jiayou
(International) Investment Limited (134,092,000 Shares).

Jia Yun Investment Limited is held by Jiabo Investment Limited, which is
100% indirectly owned by China Minsheng Jiaye Investment Co., Ltd. through
Jiashun (Holding) Investment Limited. Jia Yun Investment Limited holds a
60% direct interest in Jiazhi Investment Limited, which is a general partner
of Zhi Tong Investment Limited Partnership. Accordingly, each of Jia Yun
Investment Limited and Jiazhi Investment Limited is deemed to be interested
in the Shares held by Zhi Tong Investment Limited Partnership under Part XV
of the SFO.

O RA A B T IR A B R R B A
BIRAEH67.26%H M4 o MEESF LHE
BB EEXVER - H B RA: & R A R /) S rp
[R5 ERCE A BRA ) 45 BB 2 2 (a) 3 B (PE 1)
P& A R (12,500,000,000 8 B4 > (b) Zhi
Tong Investment Limited Partnership (1,987,261,390
& B #y) > (c) Jia Yun Investment Limited
(866,897,738 JKc33) & (d) Jiayou (International)
Investment Limited (134,092,000 [ 173) B #R54
oA HE g 1 ROy R A R A o

Jia Yun Investment Limited H 5% 8080 & H R A
(Pl o B SE G A PR w2 0 A (2 )
WEHRA A MR 100%) F5H ° Jia Yun
Investment Limited ¥ Jiazhi Investment Limited
160% H 4% # 45 > 1 Jiazhi Investment Limited
%5Zhi Tong Investment Limited Partnership
WEBN - HIL > WRIEE S LY & RAIEXV
# > Jia Yun Investment Limited ¢ Jiazhi Investment
Limited % H # % 4 4 Zhi Tong Investment Limited
Parcnership A #9073 A 1 2
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iii.

vi.

The remaining 40% interests in Jiazhi Investment Limited is held by Starite
International Limited, which is wholly-owned by Zuo Xin (as a nominee
and representative of SRE Investment Holding Limited). Therefore, Starite
International Limited, Zuo Xin and SRE Investment Holding Limited are
deemed to be interested in the Shares held by Zhi Tong Investment Limited
Partnership under Part XV of the SFO.

These Shares are held by Zhi Tong Investment Limited Partnership. Jiazhi
Investment Limited is a general partner of Zhi Tong Investment Limited
Partnership and is held as to 60% by Jia Yun Investment Limited and 40% by
Starite International Limited. Jia Yun Investment Limited is also a limited
partner of Zhi Tong Investment Limited Partnership.

These Shares are held or deemed to be interested in by Jiashun (Holding)
Investment Limited. Jiashun (Holding) Investment Limited is 100% directly
owned by Jiasheng (Holding) Investment Limited, which is 100% directly
owned by Jiaxin Investment (Shanghai) Co., Ltd. A 100% interest in Jiaxin
Investment (Shanghai) Co., Ltd. is directly owned by China Minsheng Jiaye
Investment Co., Ltd., which is, in turn, 67.26% owned by China Minsheng
Investment Corp. Ltd. Therefore, according to Part XV of the SFO, Jiasheng
(Holding) Investment Limited, Jiaxin Investment (Shanghai) Co., Ltd., China
Minsheng Jiaye Investment Co., Ltd. and China Minsheng Investment Corp.
Ltd. are deemed to be interested in the Shares held by Jiashun (Holding)
Investment Limited.

As each of Mr. Shi Jian and Ms. Si Xiao Dong has one-third or more of the
voting rights at sharcholders’ meetings of SRE Investment Holding Limited,
they are deemed to be interested in all the Shares interested in by SRE
Investment Holding Limited under the SFO.

The 866,897,738 Shares held by SRE Investment Holding Limited are charged
to Jia Yun Investment Limited. SRE Investment Holding Limited retains the
voting rights attached to the Shares. China Minsheng Investment Corp., Ltd.
has confirmed to the Company that if the enforcement of the share charge
will result in the Company failing to meet the public float requirement, China
Minsheng Investment Corp., Ltd. will use its best efforts to assist the Company
in maintaining or restoring its public float to comply with Rule 8.08(1)(a) of
the Listing Rules, such as to sell its Shares in the open market.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2023, none of the Directors nor

the chief executives of the Company was aware of any other person (other

than a Director or chief executive of the Company) or corporation who had

an interest or short position in the Shares or underlying Shares which were

required to be recorded in the register kept by the Company under section
336 of the SFO.

jii.

Vi.

Report of the Directors
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Jiazhi Investment Limited# 40%HE 4 Hi /2 1
B R B2 wl R o R R B W R A Wy
WES b EREERCA A R AR A A 3R
BEBER o B - M S K& R XV
oo BB BEABRAR - 20T K b E R AR
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Partnership$F47 (1 B 3 vh AT HE45 o

75 By B Zhi Tong Investment Limited
Partnershipf 47 © Jiazhi Investment Limited 2 Zhi
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SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on information that is publicly available to the Company and within
the knowledge of the Directors, as at the date of this report, 5,940,942,332
Shares (representing approximately 28.90% of the issued share capital of
the Company) were held by the public. Accordingly, the Company is in
compliance with the public float requirement under Rule 8.08(1)(a) of the
Listing Rules.

SHARE OPTION SCHEME

The Company has not adopted any share option scheme currently.

COMPETING INTERESTS

None of the Directors has interest in any business which competes or is
likely to compete, either directly or indirectly, with the businesses of the
Group.

MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

The Group’s customers from whom the revenue of continuing operations
was derived are widely dispersed. No customer nor a single group of
customers under common control of continuing operations contributed
10% or more of the Group’s revenue for the years ended 31 December
2022 and 2023. For the year ended 31 December 2023, less than 30% of
the Group’s revenue was attributable to the Group’s five largest customers
combined.

For the year ended 31 December 2023, less than 30% of the Group’s
purchases was attributable to the Group’s five largest suppliers combined.

COMPLIANCE WITH LAWS AND
REGULATIONS

As far as the Board and the management are aware, the Group has complied
with the relevant laws and regulations that have significant impact on the
operations of the Group. During the year ended 31 December 2023, there
was no material breach of or non-compliance with the applicable laws and
regulations by the Group.
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KEY RISKS AND UNCERTAINTIES

The Group’s financial condition, results of operations, and business
prospects may be affected by a number of risks and uncertainties directly or
indirectly pertaining to the Group’s business. Descriptions of such risks and
uncertainties facing the Group can be found in the Chairman’s Statement
section and Management Discussion and Analysis section set out on pages 8
to 26 and the audited financial statements set out on pages 113 to 119 of this
annual report. Such descriptions forms part of this report of the Directors.

AUDIT COMMITTEE

The audited annual consolidated financial statements for the year ended
31 December 2023 has been reviewed by the Audit Committee of the
Company.

PENSION SCHEME

Details of the Group’s pension schemes are set out in the section of employee
benefits of Note 5 to the consolidated financial statements.

AUDITOR

The consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2023
have been audited by SHINEWING (HK) CPA Limited Certified Public
Accountants. A resolution for their re-appointment as the auditor of the
Company for the ensuing year is to be proposed at the forthcoming annual
general meeting of the Company.

On 18 September 2023, the former auditor of the Company,
PricewaterhouseCoopers, has retired and SHINEWING (HK) CPA
Limited was appointed as the auditor of the Company on the 4 March 2024.

Save as disclosed above, there has been no change in the auditor of the
Company during the past three years.

Report of the Directors
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PERMITTED INDEMNITY PROVISION

The Bye-laws of the Company provides that the Directors shall be
indemnified and secured harmless out of the assets and profits of the
Company from and against all actions, costs, charges, losses, damages
and expenses which they may incur or sustain by reason of any act done,
concurred in or omitted in or about the execution of their duty, or supposed
duty, in their offices, provided that such indemnity shall not extend to any
matter in respect of any fraud or dishonesty.

CLOSURE OF REGISTER OF MEMBERS

The register of members of the Company will be closed from Wednesday,
9 October 2024 to Tuesday, 15 October 2024 (both days inclusive), for the
purpose of determining the entitlement of the shareholders of the Company
to attend and vote at the annual general meeting of the Company. No
transfer of shares during the said period will be registered. In order to qualify
to attend and vote at the meeting, all completed transfer forms, accompanied
by the relevant share certificates, have to be lodged with the Company’s
branch share registrar in Hong Kong, Tricor Tengis Limited, at 17/F, Far
East Finance Center, 16 Harcourt Road, Hong Kong for registration, not
later than 4:30 p.m. on Tuesday, 8 October 2024.

On behalf of the Board
Xu Ming
Chairman

Hong Kong, 21 September 2024
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The Company firmly believes that good corporate governance is
fundamental in ensuring that the Company is well managed in the interests
of all of its sharcholders. The Board and senior management are committed
to maintaining a high standard of corporate governance which provides a
good management framework and a solid foundation for achieving a high
standard of accountability and transparency.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICES

The Board had reviewed its corporate governance practices and confirmed
that save as otherwise disclosed below, the Company has complied with
all principles and code provisions of the Corporate Governance Code and
Corporate Governance Report (the “CG Code”) as set out in Appendix C1
of the Listing Rules throughout the year ended 31 December 2023.

MODEL CODE FOR SECURITIES
TRANSACTIONS BY DIRECTORS

The Company has adopted the Model Code as set out in Appendix C3 to
the Listing Rules. Specific enquiry has been made of all Directors and all of
them have confirmed that they have complied with the required standard set
out in the Model Code throughout the year ended 31 December 2023.

BOARD OF DIRECTORS

Throughout the year ended 31 December 2023, the Company has complied
with the Board’s practices and procedures as set out in the Listing Rules.

BOARD COMPOSITION

As at 31 December 2023, the Board consists of nine Directors, including
four executive Directors, namely Mr. Qin Guohui, Mr. Kong Yong, Mr.
Xu Ming and Mr. Jiang Qi; two non-executive Directors, namely Mr. Lu
Jianhua and Mr. Pan Pan; and three independent non-executive Directors,
namely, Mr. Zhuo Fumin, Mr. Ma Lishan and Mr. Chui Man Lung, Everett.

Save as disclosed in the above section “Directors and Senior Management”,
there is no financial, business, family or other material/relevant relationship
amongst the Directors.
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Role of the Board

The Board, which is accountable to the sharcholders for the long- term
performance of the Company, is responsible for directing the strategic
objectives of the Company and overseeing the management of the business.
The Directors are charged with the task of promoting the success of the
Company and making decisions in the best interests of the Company.

The Board formulates, approves and monitors Group-wide strategies
and policies, evaluates the performance of the Company, and supervises
the management of the Company. The management of the Company is
responsible for the day-to-day operations of the Group under the leadership
of the Chief Executive Officer of the Group.

Board Independence

The Company recognises the importance of Board independence to good
corporate governance and Board effectiveness. The Board has established
a mechanism to ensure that the independent views and opinions of any
Director of the Company are communicated to the Board to enhance the

objectivity and effectiveness of decision making

The Board, through its Nomination Committee and Remuneration
Committee, reviews annually the governance structure and the following

mechanisms to ensure its effectiveness:

1. Three out of the nine Directors are independent non-executive
Directors, which meets the requirement under the Listing Rules
that the Board must have at least three independent non-executive
directors and that the independent non-executive directors appointed
must make up at least one-third of the Board.

2. The Nomination Committee and Remuneration Committee will
assess the independence, qualifications and time commitment of
candidates before they are nominated as new independent non-
executive Directors and will also assess the continued independence
and time commitment of existing independent non-executive
Directors on an annual basis. Under Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules,
all independent non-executive directors are required to confirm in
writing annually their independence and to disclose the number and
nature of their positions and other material commitments in a listed

company or organisation.
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3. The Nomination Committee and Remuneration Committee will
conduct annual performance reviews on independent non- executive
Directors to assess their contributions.

4, External independent professional advice is available to individual
Directors upon request.

5. All Directors are encouraged to express their independent views and
constructive doubts freely at Board/Board Committee meetings.

6. No performance-related equity compensation will be paid to
independent non-executive directors.

7. Directors (including independent non-executive directors) who have
a material interest in contracts, arrangements or other proposals shall
not vote on or be counted in the quorum for any resolution of the
Board on a matter.

8. The chairman of the Board meets annually with the independent non-
executive Directors in the absence of the executive and non-executive
directors.

Chairman and Chief Executive Officer

The Chairman of the Company is responsible for formulating, developing
and reassessing the Group’s strategies and policies and for all Board matters.
The Chief Executive Officer of the Group is responsible for the execution
of the Group’s business strategies and plans. The positions of the Chairman
of the Company and the Chief Executive Officer of the Group were Mr.
Qin Guohui and Mr. Kong Yong respectively which were held by separate
individuals so as to maintain an effective segregation of duties as at the date
of this annual report.

Ind epen dent Non-Executive Directors

As at 31 December 2023, the Board had 9 members with 3 of them being
independent non-executive Directors. This satisfies both the requirements
of having at least 3 independent non-executive Directors under Rule
3.10(1) of the Listing Rules, as well as of having independent non-executive
Directors representing at least one-third of the Board under Rule 3.10A of
the Listing Rules. The independent non-executive Directors were expressly
identified in all corporate communications pursuant to the Listing Rules.
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The functions of independent non-executive Directors include:

° expressing an independent view and judgement at Board meetings;

. taking the lead to identify potential conflicts of interests if any;

° serving on Board committees if invited; and

o scrutinising the Company’s performance and monitoring performance
reporting.

The independent non-executive Directors have made a positive contribution
to the development of the Company’s strategy and policies through
independent, constructive and informed comments. They gave the Board
and the Board committees the benefit of their skills, expertise, varied
backgrounds and qualifications through regular attendance and active
participation.

Corporate Governance Function

The Board is collectively responsible for performing the corporate
y resp g

governance duties including:

(a)  to develop, review and implement the Company’s policies and

practices on corporate governance;

(b)  to review and monitor the training and continuing professional

development of the Directors and senior management of the

Company;

to review and monitor the Company’s policies and practices on
compliance with legal and regulatory requirements;

to develop, review and monitor the code of conduct applicable to
employees and the Directors; and

(e)  to review the Company’s compliance with the CG Code and its
disclosure in the Corporate Governance Report.

Meetings

The Board meets at least four times a year at approximately quarterly
intervals. In 2023, the Board held seven meetings to review the financial
performance, annual results, significant projects, operating report, change
of auditor and other significant matters of the Group. The Bye- laws of the
Company provides for the convening of the Board or Board committee
meetings by way of telephonic or similar communications.
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The attendance records of the Directors at the Board meetings, the Board EHPEE2023F 12031 B 1 B BUFEJE R A
committee meetings and the annual general meeting of the Company for the NAEREGOR  EREZETORABRESE

financial year ended 31 December 2023 are set out below: Kerd A sk T -
Attendance/Number of Meetings (during Director’s tenure)
R G (R & SR
Annual
Audit Nomination Remuneration Investment General
Board Committee Committee Committee Committee Meeting
TR 5

HHE  HHUZRE  RUZAG  FMZAE  REZRG BEXE

Executive Directors HiTHE
Mt. Qin Guohui FEFEEE (Note 1) 2/3 0/0 0/0 1/1
(5D
Mr. Hong Zhihua WEERE (Note 2) 4/4 2/2 1/1
(3E2)
Mr. Kong Yong fLEEAE 717 1/1 1/1
Mr. Xu Ming RWEE 717 1/1
Mr. Jiang Qi Hm et 7/7 1/1
Non-executive Directors FHITEH
M. Lu Jianhua JiE 0 6/7 0/1 1/1
M. Pan Pan BRI 717 1/1
Independent non-executive BIHAGTESF
Directors
Mr. Zhuo Fumin RRRAEE 717 8/8 22 1/1 1/1
Mr. Ma Lishan Bl 717 8/8 22 1/1 1/1 1/1
Mr. Chui Man Lung, Bverett R HEE 717 8/8 1/1 1/1
Notes: F5E -
1. M. Qin Guohui was appointed as an Executive Director on 11 July 2023. 1. Z R SEAE R 20237 H 11 HERAT B AT #
$ °
2. Mr. Hong Zhihua resigned as an Executive Director on 11 July 2023. 2. LR HESE AR 2202347 H 11 H BHEEUATE S -

Board papers are circulated and the Company Secretary attends all regular WO SR SR A RV R S
Board meetings to advise on corporate governance and statutory compliance £ FE R HE e ok I R BRI A SRR
when necessary. In addition, the Company maintains a procedure for ~ KiEE G FHIR LR o 740 > KA FHIE
the Directors to seek independent professional advice in appropriate 3 H 7E 8 & 1% DL FEOR B 7 FEE AN B R LR

circumstances. F o
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BOARD COMMITTEES

The Board has established 4 committees, namely Audit Committee,
Nomination Committee, Remuneration Committee and Investment
Committee. These committees perform their distinct roles in accordance
with their respective terms of reference and assist the Board in supervising
certain functions of the senior management. The respective terms of
reference are available on the websites of the Company and the Stock
Exchange. The Company has provided sufficient resources to the Board
committees to perform their duties.

Audit Committee

The Company has established its Audit Committee. During the financial
year ended 31 December 2023, the Audit Committee of the Company
comprised three members as follows:

Independent Non-Executive Directors

Mr. Chui Man Lung, Everett — Chairman

Mr. Zhuo Fumin — Member

Mr. Ma Lishan — Member

The major duties of the Audit Committee of the Company include:

. to consider and recommend the appointment, re-appointment and
removal of external auditor;

. to approve the remuneration and terms of engagement of external
auditor, any questions of resignation or dismissal of external auditor;

. to review and monitor external auditor’s independence and objectivity
and the effectiveness of the audit process in accordance with
applicable standards;

. to discuss with external auditor the nature and scope of the audit and

reporting obligations before the audit commences;
. to develop and implement policy on the engagement of external
auditor to supply non-audit services and to make recommendation of

any measures fOl‘ improvements to bC taken;

. to review the interim and annual financial statements and the interim
and annual reports before submission to the Board;
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. to review the Group’s financial controls, risk management and
internal control and ensure that the management has exercised due
diligence in discharging its duty to have effective risk management
and internal control systems;

o to consider major investigation findings on risk management and
internal control matters as delegated by the Board or on its own
initiative and managcmcnt’s response;

. to review and consider the adequacy of resources, qualifications and
experience of staff of the Group’s accounting and financial reporting
function, their training programmes and budget, and the changes in
the nature and extent of significant risks;

. to consider any significant or unusual items that are, or may need to
be, reflected in reports and accounts and to give due consideration
to any matters that have been raised by the staff responsible for the
accounting and financial reporting function, compliance officer or
auditors;

. to review the internal audit programme, ensure co-ordination between
the internal and external auditors, and ensure that the internal audit
function is adequately resourced and has appropriate standing within
the Group and to review and monitor the effectiveness of the internal
audit function;

. to review the external auditor’s management letter, any material
queries raised by the auditor to management in respect of the
accounting records, financial accounts or systems of control and
management’s response and to ensure that the Board will provide a
timely response to the issues raised; and

. to review the Group’s financial and accounting policies and practices.

The Audit Committee of the Company has explicit authority to investigate
into any matter under the scope of its duties and the authority to obtain
independent professional advice. It is given full access to reasonable resources
and assistance from the management to discharge its duties properly.
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In 2023, the Audit Committee of the Company held four meetings to,
among other things, review the annual results of the Group, change of
auditor and review other significant matters. The Audit Committee of the
Company had reviewed the Group’s significant internal control and financial
matters, and discussed with the management of the Company and the
external auditors. The Audit Committee of the Company had also reviewed
the audit plans and findings of the external auditors, the independence of
the external auditors, the Group’s accounting principles and practices, the
Listing Rules and statutory compliance, financial reporting, internal control
and risk management. The attendance record of each committee member is
shown on page 89 in the section of Meetings of this report.

The Audit Committee of the Company had met with the external auditors
eight times during the financial year ended 31 December 2023. There
was no disagreement between the Board and the Audit Committee of the
Company regarding the selection and appointment of external auditors. The
Audit Committee of the Company is satisfied that the external auditors are
able to meet the audit obligations of the Company.

Nomination Committee

The Company has established its Nomination Committee. During the
financial year ended 31 December 2023, the Nomination Committee of the
Company comprised three members as follows:

Executive Directors
Mr. Xu Ming — Chairman (served as Chairman on 3 August 2024)
Mr. Qin Guohui — Chairman (appointed on 11 July 2023
and ceased as Chairman on 3 August 2024)
Mr. Hong Zhihua — Chairman
(resigned on 11 July 2023)

Independent Non-Executive Directors
Mr. Zhuo Fumin — Member
Mr. Ma Lishan — Member

The major duties of the Nomination Committee of the Company include:

. to identify individuals suitably qualified to become Board members
and select or make recommendations to the Board on the selection of
individuals nominated for directorships;

. to review the structure, size and composition (including the diversity
of skills, knowledge, experience and perspectives) of the Board at least
annually and make recommendations on any proposed changes to the
Board to complement the Company’s corporate strategy;
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. to develop and review, as appropriate, the Board’s diversity policy
(“Board Diversity Policy”) and any measurable objectives for
implementing the Board Diversity Policy as may be adopted by the
Board from time to time and to review the progress on achieving the

objectives;

. to develop and review, as appropriate, the policy for nomination of
Directors; to set out the process and criteria to select and recommend
to the Board candidates for directorship;

. to assess the independence of the independent non-executive
Directors, with regard to the requirements under the Listing Rules;
and

o to make recommendations to the Board on the appointment or re-

appointment of Directors and succession planning for Directors in
particular the Chairman and the Chief Executive Officer.

In 2023, the Nomination Committee of the Company held two meeting.
The Nomination Committee of the Company had reviewed the
structure, size, composition and diversity of the Board, and considered the
appointment of Directors of the Company. The attendance record of each
committee member is shown on page 89 in the section of Meetings of this

l'CPOl’t.

The Company had also assessed the independence of all the independent
non-executive Directors and considers that all of them are independent
under Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules, having taken into account (i) their
annual confirmation on independence as required under the Listing Rules,
(ii) the absence of involvement in the daily management of the Company
and (iii) the absence of any relationships or circumstances which would

interfere with the exercise of their independent judgment.
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Board Di versity Polic_r

The Board adopted the Board Diversity Policy on 29 August 2013 and
amended it on 19 December 2018 and 31 March 2023, setting out the
approach to achieve diversity within the Board. In assessing the Board
composition, the Nomination Committee of the Company would take into
account various aspects set out in the policy, including but not limited to
gender, age, cultural and educational background, ethnicity, professional
qualifications, skills, knowledge, industry and regional experience, and any
other factors that the Board may consider relevant and applicable from time
to time. In identifying and selecting suitable candidates for directorships, the
Nomination Committee of the Company would consider the candidate’s
character, qualifications, experience, independence and other relevant
criteria necessary to complement the corporate strategy and achieve board
diversity, where appropriate, before making recommendation to the
Board. The current Board is considered well-balanced and of a diverse mix
appropriate for the business of the Group. Selection of candidates would be
based on the Company’s director nomination policy and would also take
into account the Board Diversity Policy. The Nomination Committee of the
Company would discuss and agree on measurable objectives for achieving
diversity on the Board, where necessary, and recommend them to the Board
for adoption. The Nomination Committee of the Company would also
monitor the implementation of the Board Diversity Policy by conducting
periodic review as appropriate and recommend revisions, if any, to the Board
for consideration and approval.

Traditionally, there has been a lack of female talent in the construction
industry due to cultural influences. However, the Company still managed
to attract female talent and kept a gender ratio at approximately 1:1 (male-
to-female ratio) in 2023. In order to achieve diversity on the Board, the
Company is considering adding female directors to the Board by December
2024.

The nomination procedures for the Directors can be accessed on the website

of the Company.
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Director Nomination Policy

The Group adopted a director nomination policy (the “Director
Nomination Policy”) on 19 December 2018 and amended it on 31 March
2023. A summary of this policy is disclosed as below.

1. Introduction

1.1

12

2.1

22

The Company has the Board Diversity Policy in place in
compliance with the Listing Rules. This director nomination
policy (“Procedures”) aims at applying the principles of the
Board Diversity Policy and other provisions under the Listing
Rules to improve transparency around the process and criteria
adopted by the Nomination Committee of the Company in
selecting and recommending candidates as Directors of the

Company.

These Procedures shall be reviewed by the Nomination
Committee of the Company at least annually to ensure full
compliance with the Listing Rules, the Company’s Bye-laws
(“Bye-laws”) and applicable laws of Bermuda.

Applicable Bye-laws

According to Bye-law 86.(2) of the Bye-laws, the Directors shall
have the power from time to time and at any time to appoint
any person as a Director either to fill a casual vacancy on the
Board or as an addition to the existing Board.

The Board shall give due consideration to the recommendation
of the Nomination Committee of the Company applying the
following procedures when approving any appointment of
Directors.
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3. Procedures for Nomination of a Director
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Any Director may nominate a person for appointment, election or

re-clection as a Director by the Board or at the general meeting upon

first obtaining the following information:

(a)

a written consent given by the candidate (“Candidate”) to
be appointed, elected or re-elected (as the case may be) as a
Director stating his consent for acting as a Director and the
supply and disclosure of his information as required under the
Listing Rules and other applicable laws and regulations;

details of the character, qualifications, background, experience
and other business interests of the Candidate for the purpose
of Rules 3.09, 3.10 and 3.12 of the Listing Rules, together with
supporting documents evidencing the same (if applicable);

(for a Candidate who may be nominated as a non- executive
Director or independent non-executive Director) details
assessing the Candidate’s independence under Code Provision
B.2.3 of the CG Code, and Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules,
together with supporting documents evidencing the same (if

applicable);

details of the Candidate’s information, together with
supporting documents evidencing the same (if applicable), as
required to be disclosed under Rule 13.51(2) of the Listing
Rules;

(for a Candidate who may be nominated as an independent
non-executive Director at a general meeting) explanation from
the Candidate for information required under Code Provision

B.3.4 of the CG Code;

(for a Candidate who may be nominated to be appointed as
a member of the Audit Committee of the Company) details
assessing the Candidate’s independence under Code Provision
D.3.2 of the CG Code, together with supporting documents

evidencing the same; and

up-to-date contact details of the Candidate.
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4. Criteria for Nomination of a Director

4.1

42

43

Upon obtaining the information listed in paragraph 3 above,
the Nomination Committee of the Company shall review
whether the Candidate is qualified to be appointed, elected or
re-clected into the Board under the relevant Listing Rules and
CG code provisions.

Upon fulfilment of the condition set out in paragraph 4.1, the
Nomination Committee of the Company shall consider the
following factors in assessing the suitability of the Candidate
for directorship:

(a)  reputation for integrity;

(b) accomplishment and experience in the property
development sector;

(c) commitment in respect of available time and relevant
interest;

(d)  whether (and how) the Candidate can contribute his/her

perspectives, skills and experience to the Board;

(e)  the Board Diversity Policy and any measurable objectives
adopted by the Nomination Committee of the Company
for achieving diversity on the Board, including but
not limited to gender, age, cultural and educational
background, ethnicity, professional experience, skills,
knowledge and length of service; and

(f)  such other perspectives appropriate to the Company’s
business.

These factors are for reference only, and not meant to be
exhaustive and decisive. The Nomination Committee of the
Company has the discretion to nominate any person, as it
considers appropriate.

Upon the Candidate’s fulfilment of the above criteria, the
Nomination Committee of the Company shall convene a
meeting to discuss and consider the recommendation of the
Candidate to the Board for appointment as a Director.
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Appointment, Re-election and Removal of Directors

Pursuant to the letters of appointment, all non-executive Directors are
appointed for a term of three years subject to retirement by rotation and re-
election at the annual general meeting of the Company in accordance with
the Bye-laws of the Company.

Pursuant to the letters of appointment, all independent non-executive
Directors are appointed for a term of two years subject to retirement by
rotation and re-election at the annual general meeting of the Company in
accordance with the Bye- laws of the Company.

The procedures and processes of appointment, re-election and removal
of the Directors are laid down in the Bye-laws of the Company.
Recommendations for appointments and re-appointments of the Directors
and appointments of the members of various Board committees are made by
the Nomination Committee of the Company to the Board for consideration
and appointment. Any Director appointed by the Board shall hold office
only until, and shall retire on, the next following annual general meeting of
the Company. The Bye-laws of the Company provides that at each annual
general meeting of the Company, one-third of the Directors for the time
being (or, if the number is not three or a multiple of three, the number
nearest to but not less than one-third) shall retire from office by rotation.
If the Directors obliged to retire who then wish to retire and not offer
themselves for re-election account for less than one- third, those who have
been longest in office since their last re- election or appointment shall retire
to make up for the shortfall. Each Director should retire at least once every
three years. A retiring Director is eligible for re-clection by the sharcholders
at the annual general meeting of the Company.

Mr. Jiang Qi, Mr. Lu Jianhua, Mr. Pan Pan and Mr. Zhuo Fumin will be
retiring pursuant to the bye-law 87 of Bye-laws of the Company at the
forthcoming annual general meeting of the Company. The retiring Directors
are cligible for re-clection at the forthcoming annual general meeting of the
Company.

98

ZM > BEREREF

BMBALE > T R EFAEM ISR =4
7 ZEAR SR A 2% w4 I AR 24w SR AR R b
i (EL AR AT B i AT o

BIMEALE > AR R ERENY AW
A SRR A 2 ) A U AR 2 ) RO AR
& b (AR AT S B AT o

TAL - HIELRREFORF LRRRR AL
AR - ZAE R EHR R ER K ZLANE
LB GNBHBALFRS Z B GF TS
WHERTEBRIT  EEFGTRILLME
F o HAR W B AL AN i BORE A R BT
Fyik o ARFIMABE - =02 — AL
(i H N B0l IF =2 = AR - HI AR et
AN DI =03 2 —) ZUR AR A 7 4% B U 4R R &
FER R AE o bR AR HOHE I A AR AR T A
FRERNEFON=Tr2— Al HE—K
FOIR N ZATRAL M R R A E IR - A E
ROEZAFRE W - BEERAERRAL
AR A g b b BOR T o

AEET AR~ ERIEESEAE R R RS
PR AR AR 2% W) A I 55 8 7 I AR ) Jid FB R
BAERG LIRE - BIEEFAERRAL AE
Ji BB AR 4 K b M o



2023 ANNUAL REPORT —- % . =Z4E4EH; D
]

Corporate Governance RCpOI’t
(e S-Sk

. ~ . # = | = g
Remuneration Committee FrWZE A &

The Company has established its Remuneration Committee. During the ~ A A E ML AL 7 #iZ& B & - 8220234
financial year ended 31 December 2023, the Remuneration Committee of 12931 H IF B EL4AEFE - KA A FHWMZE B &t =

the Company comprised three members as follows: Z N B AR
Independent Non-Executive Directors B IEPUTESR
Mr. Ma Lishan — Chairman FBorieAd - £%
Mr. Zhuo Fumin — Member AR R SEA - A
Mr. Chui Man Lung, Everett — Member WICHESEE - A

The major duties of the Remuneration Committee of the Company include: A2y F i 25 B & (1) & 2R E A5 -

to make recommendations to the Board on the Company’s policy
and structure for all remuneration of the Directors and senior
management of the Company;

to review and approve the management’s remuneration proposals
with reference to the Board’s corporate goals and objectives;

to make recommendations to the Board on the remuneration

packages of individual executive Directors and senior management;

to make recommendations to the Board on the remuneration of non-
executive Directors;

to consider salaries paid by comparable companies, time commitment
and responsibilities and employment conditions elsewhere in the

Group;

to review and approve compensation payable to executive Directors
and senior management for any loss or termination of office or
appointment to ensure that it is consistent with contractual terms and
is otherwise fair yet reasonable and not excessive;

to review and approve compensation arrangements rclating to
dismissal or removal of the Directors for misconduct to ensure
that they are consistent with contractual terms and are otherwise
reasonable and appropriate;

to ensure that no Director or any of his associates is involved in
deciding his own remuneration; and

To review and/or approve and/or recommend to the Board matters
relating to share schemes as set out in Chapter 17 of the Rules
Governing the Listing of Securities on The Stock Exchange of Hong
Kong Limited.
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The Remuneration Committee of the Company should consult the
Chairman of the Company and/or the Chief Executive Officer of the Group
about their remuneration proposals for other executive Directors and have
access to independent professional advice if necessary.

In 2023, the Remuneration Committee of the Company held one meeting,
The Remuneration Committee of the Company had reviewed the
Company’s remuneration policies and the remuneration packages of the
Directors, reviewed and recommended the remuneration of the Directors,
and reviewed other significant matters. No Director should involve in
deciding his own remuneration. The attendance record of each committee
member is shown on page 89 in the section of Meetings of this report.

Details of the Directors’ and senior management’s remuneration are set
out in notes 15 and 48(b)(x) to the consolidated financial statements. In
addition, pursuant to the Code Provision E.1.5 of the CG Code, the annual
remuneration of other members of the senior management (other than the
Directors) by bands for the year ended 31 December 2023 is set out below:

A ) I 2 B I A A AT 0
o i R AS O3 ] S B A S AT BURRR -
A TR ZE B I A SR R

AN T HINZE B R 2023 4E BT — IRk o A
N 7T ZE B B O3 R AL R B R K G
(0 37 T 5 98 > 2 B0 S i sk A S A T o R R
HhERFE - EFAESHER LY S5
B o R 25 B & B A R T BRI A i
89E [Erak] —Hi -

T I A SR TN R SRR A DR B
FEEE15548(b)(x) o BLAb > RIEM AR
ZSFRIMESCE. LS - BB 20234F12 31 H IE4FE
JE v R T A oAt i B (FE S BR AN $ 4RI Y
FEEFHMA T

Number of
employees
1PN

RMBO to RMB1,000,000 ANERH06E A R ¥1,000,000 JC 3
RMB1,000,001 to RMB3,000,000 N K #1,000,00176 % A K #3,000,0007C 0

Partial of annual remuneration which was not approved or paid as of the date
of approval of this report was not included in amounts above for the year

ended 31 December 2023.
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Investment Committee

The Company has established its Investment Committee. During the
financial year ended 31 December 2023, the Investment Committee of the
Company comprised four members as follows:

Executive Directors
Mr. Xu Ming — Chairman (served as Chairman on 3 August 2024)
Mr. Qin Guohui — Chairman (appointed on 11 July 2023
and ceased as Chairman on 3 August 2024)
Mr. Hong Zhihua — Chairman (resigned on 11 July 2023)
Mr. Kong Yong — Member

Non-Executive Director

Mr. Lu Jianhua — Member

Independent Non-Executive Director

Mr. Ma Lishan—Member

The major duties of the Investment Committee of the Company include:

o to review the management’s recommended investment opportunities,
objectives, strategies, policies and guidelines that direct the investment
of the portfolio;

. to review the management’s recommended portfolio financial

goals and requirements, including asset allocation, risk tolerance,
investment time horizon and capital adequacy;

o to review and evaluate the performance of the investment portfolio
regularly to assure adherence to policy guidelines and monitor
progress toward achieving investment objectives; and

. to review the shares purchase, redemption or other share acquisition
activities conducted by the Company.

In 2023, the Investment Committee of the Company held one meeting,
The Investment Committee of the Company reviewed the appointment of
Investment Committee member. The attendance record of each committee
member is shown on page 89 in the section of Meetings of this report.
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DIRECTORS’ TRAINING AND COMMITMENT

Upon appointment, each Director receives appropriate induction training
and coaching to develop individual skills as required. The Directors are also
provided with updates on the relevant new laws, regulations and changing
commercial risks in the Group’s operating environment through regular
presentations and meetings. They also have the opportunity to visit the
Group’s operational facilities and meet with management to gain a better
understanding of business operations and governance practices.

The Directors have confirmed that they have complied with the Code
Provision C.1.4 of the CG Code on directors’ training. During the
financial year ended 31 December 2023, the Directors have participated
in continuous professional development by attending seminars, in-house
briefing or reading materials to develop and refresh their knowledge and
skills and provided their records of training to the Company.

Mr. Qin Guohui took relevant training provided by a firm of solicitors
qualified to advise on Hong Kong law on 14 July 2023 in respect of the
obligations as a director of a listed issuer and the possible consequences of
making a false declaration or giving false information to the Stock Exchange.

DIRECTORS’ AND OFFICERS’ LIABILITY
INSURANCE

The Company has arranged appropriate liability insurance to indemnify its
Directors and officers for their liabilities arising out of corporate activities.
The insurance coverage is reviewed on an annual basis. During the financial
year ended 31 December 2023, no legal action was made against any of the
Directors and officers in relation to duties performed for the Company.

COMPANY SECRETARY

The company secretary of the Company is an employee of the Company,
and is responsible for facilitating the procedures of the Board and advising
the Board on corporate governance matters. During the year under review,
the Company Secretary of the Company has taken not less than 15 hours of
relevant professional training,
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DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The responsibility of the Directors is to prepare the financial statements,
while the responsibility of the auditors is to express an opinion on the
Group’s consolidated financial statements based on their audit, for
particulars please refer to the “Independent Auditor’s Report” section of this
annual report. The Board should ensure that such financial statements give
a true and fair view of the state of affairs of the Group and of the results and
cash flows for the relevant financial period. In regard to this, the Directors
have selected suitable accounting policies and applied them consistently,
made judgements and estimates that are prudent, fair and reasonable and
prepared the financial statements on a going concern basis. Besides, the
Directors are also responsible for ensuring that the Group operates an
efficient financial reporting system, keeps proper accounting records which
disclose with reasonable accuracy at any time the financial position of the
Group and the Group has employed sufficient qualified staff to assist the

preparation of financial statements.

GOING CONCERN AND MITIGATION
MEASURES

As a result of the matters described in the section headed “Basis for
disclaimer of opinion” in the “Independent Auditor’s Report” on pages
108 to 111 of this annual report, the Company’s independent auditor,
SHINEWING (HK) CPA Limited (the “Auditor”), issued a disclaimer of
opinion on the consolidated financial statements of the Group.

The Directors have carefully considered the Group’s expected cash flow
projections for the next 12 months from 31 December 2023 and have given
due consideration to the matters that give rise to material doubt as to its
ability to continue as a going concern, and accordingly, have proactively
come up with debt solutions to alleviate the liquidity pressure, details of
which are set out in note 4 “Going concern basis” to the consolidated
financial statements as contained in this annual report. In the Directors’
opinion, in view of such plans and measures, the Group will have adequate
working capital and meet its financial obligations as and when they fall
due within the next 12 months from 31 December 2023. Accordingly,
the Directors consider that the preparation of the consolidated financial
statements as at 31 December 2023 on a going concern basis is appropriate.

The Board has discussed the going concern issue with the Group’s
management and is sincerely satisfied that with the orderly implementation
of the plans and measures regarding debt solutions, it is appropriate to
prepare the consolidated financial statements on a going concern basis.
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The Audit Committee has discussed with the Board and the Group’s
management regarding the going concern issue, and with the orderly
implementation of the plans and measures regarding debt solutions,
agreed with the position taken by the Group’s management and the Board
regarding the accounting treatment adopted by the Company.

The Audit Committee also discussed and understood the concerns of the
Auditor that uncertainties exist as to whether the Group’s management
will be able to achieve its plans and measures. There is no disagreement by
the Board, the Group’s management nor the Audit Committee with the
position taken by the Auditor regarding the going concern issue.

RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL
CONTROL

The Board has overall responsibilities for maintaining sound and effective
internal control system of the Group. The Group’s system of internal
control includes a defined management structure with limits of authority
designed to help the business achieve its objectives, to safeguard assets
against unauthorised use or disposition, to ensure the maintenance of proper
accounting records for the provision of reliable financial information for
internal use or for publication, and to ensure compliance with relevant
legislation and regulations. The system is designed to provide reasonable, but
not absolute, assurance against material misstatement or loss and to manage
rather than eliminate risks of failure in operational systems and achievement
of the Group’s objectives.

During the year ended 31 December 2023, the Board examined the
effectiveness of the risk management and internal control system of the
Group through the Audit Committee of the Company on an annual basis,
including financial, operational compliance and risk management aspects,
and considered that the risk management and internal control system is
effective and adequate and the Group has complied with the code provisions
on risk management and internal control of the CG Code.

AUDITOR’S REMUNERATION

During the year, the auditor of the Company, SHINEWING (HK) CPA
Limited, Certified Public Accountants charged RMB2,510,000 for annual

audit services and no non-audit services were rendered.

Renumeration that should be paid to the former external auditor of the
Company, PricewaterhouseCoopers, for the audit services and non-audit
services for the year ended 31 December 2023 is nil.
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INVESTOR RELATIONS

The Company uses a number of formal communications channels to
account to its shareholders and investors for the performance of the
Company. These include: (i) the publication of interim and annual reports;
(ii) annual general meetings or extraordinary general meetings of the
Company providing a platform for sharcholders of the Company to express
their opinions and exchange views with the Board; (iii) updated and key
information of the Group available on the website of the Company; (iv)
the Company’s website offering a communication platform between the
Company and its shareholders and investors; and (v) the Company’s share
registrar in Hong Kong serving the sharcholders of the Company regarding
all share registration matters.

The Company aims to provide its sharcholders and investors with high
standards of disclosure and financial transparency. The Board is committed
to providing clear and detailed information of the Group to sharcholders
of the Company in a timely manner and on a regular basis through the
publication of interim and annual reports and/or dispatching circulars,
notices, announcements and other corporate communications.

Investors who have any queries may contact the company secretary of the
Company whose contact details are available on the Company’s website.

CHARTER DOCUMENTS

On 30 June 2022, the shareholders of the Company approved at the AGM
a proposal to amend the Company’s Bye-laws (the “Amendment”) to bring
the existing Bye-laws into compliance with

(i) the core sharcholder protection standards as set out in Appendix Al of
the Listing Rules effective 1 January 2022 and (ii) the relevant applicable
laws of Bermuda, and to make other amendments to the Bye-laws, including
expressly providing for the flexibility for the Company to hold its general
meetings in the form of physical meetings, hybrid meetings or electronic
meetings, and other consequential and housckeeping amendments. Details
of the Amendment are set out in the Company’s circular dated 29 April
2022.

The latest Memorandum of Association and Bye-laws of the Company are
available on the websites of the Company and the Stock Exchange.
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SHAREHOLDERS’ RIGHT TO CONVENE
AND PUT FORWARD PROPOSALS AT
EXTRAORDINARY GENERAL MEETINGS

Pursuant to the Bye-laws of the Company, members of the Company
holding at the date of deposit of the requisition not less than one- tenth of
the paid up capital of the Company carrying the right of voting at general
meetings of the Company shall at all times have the right, by written
requisition to the Board and the Company Secretary of the Company at the
principal place of business set out in the section of Corporate Information
of this annual report, to require an extraordinary general meeting of the
Company to be called by the Board for the transaction of any business
specified in such requisition; and such meeting shall be held within two
months after the deposit of such requisition. If within twenty-one days
of such deposit the Board fails to proceed to convene such meeting, the
requisitionists themselves may do so in the same manner.

DIVIDEND POLICY

The Board has approved and adopted a dividend policy on 19 December
2018 (the “Dividend Policy”).

The aim of the Dividend Policy determined by the Board is to allow
shareholders of the Company to participate in the Company’s profits whilst
retaining adequate reserves for the future growth and development of the
Group. In considering any dividend payout, the Board shall consider the

following:
. the Company’s actual and expected financial performance;
. retained earnings and distributable reserves of the Company and each

of the members of the Group;

, . . . .
. the Group’s expected working capital requirements, capital
expenditure requirements and future expansion plans;

. the Group’s liquidity position;

. general economic conditions, business cycle of the Group’s business
and other internal or external factors that may have an impact on the
business or financial performance and position of the Company; and

o other factors that the Board deems relevant.

The payment of dividend by the Company is also subject to compliance
with applicable laws and regulations including the laws of Bermuda and the
Company’s Bye-laws. The Board will continually review the Dividend Policy
from time to time and there can be no assurance that dividends will be paid
in any particular amount for any given period.
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TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF SRE GROUP LIMITED
(incorporated in Bermuda with limited liability)

DISCLAIMER OF OPINION

We were engaged to audit the consolidated financial statements of SRE
Group Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries (the “Group”) set out
on pages 113 to 312, which comprise:

o the consolidated statement of financial position as at 31 December
2023;
o the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive

income for the year then ended;

o the consolidated statement of changes in equity for the year then
ended;

. the consolidated statement of cash flows for the year then ended; and

. the notes to the consolidated financial statements, which include

material accounting policy information.

We do not express an opinion on the consolidated financial statements of
the Group. Because of the potential interaction of the multiple uncertainties
and their possible cumulative effect on the consolidated financial statements
as described in the “Basis for Disclaimer of Opinion” section of our report,
it is not possible for us to form an opinion on these consolidated financial
statements. In all other respects, in our opinion the consolidated financial
statements have been properly prepared in compliance with the disclosure
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

SHINEWING (HK) CPA Limited
17/F., Chubb Tower, Windsor House
311 Gloucester Road, Causeway Bay, Hong Kong
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BASIS FOR DISCLAIMER OF OPINION

108

As described in Note 4 to the consolidated financial statements, the
Group incurred a net loss of approximately RMB1,597,018,000 for
the year ended 31 December 2023 and, as at 31 December 2023, the
Group had net current liabilities of approximately RMB71,716,000.
As at 31 December 2023, as described in Note 4 and 36 to the
consolidated financial statements, the Group’s current liabilities
included approximately RMB1,261,034,000 of bank and other
borrowings, out of which approximately RMB1,218,538,000 were
defaulted and became immediately repayable if requested by the
lenders. As at 31 December 2023, however, the Group’s cash and cash
equivalents was approximately RMB126,455,000 only. As described in
Note 4 to the consolidated financial statements, the defaults of these
borrowings were triggered by (1) the deterioration of the financial
conditions of its ultimate holding company; (2) the detention and
arrest of two former executive directors of the Company by the
authorities in the People’s Republic of China; (3) the default of a
joint venture namely Shanghai Jinxin Real Estate Co., Ltd. (“Jinxin”)
syndicated bank loan guaranteed by the Group. As at 31 December
2023, the Group is required to fulfill its guarantee obligation in
relation to Jinxin and to repay the loan, including an outstanding
principal of approximately RMB4,451,800,000 and related interests
and bank fees of approximately RMB421,070,000, and the relevant
lenders have the right to apply for court’s forcible execution.

Further as described in Note 4 to the consolidated financial
statements, the Group entered into a disposal agreement on 8
April 2024, to which the purchaser (the “Purchaser”) conditionally
agreed to acquire and the Group conditionally agreed to (i) dispose
of entire interest in Jinxin at a consideration of approximately
RMB800,000,000; and (ii) assign the rights to the Purchaser in
relation to the debts as originally owed by Jinxin to the Group at a
consideration of approximately RMB2,610,000,000 (the “Disposal”).
In May 2024 and June 2024, the Company held the first and the
adjourned special meeting for the purpose of approving the Disposal
but was not successful due to lack of quorum during the special
general meeting or requested by certain shareholders of the Company
to further adjourn the special general meeting. On 13 June 2024, the
Company announced to further adjourn the special general meeting
for approving the Disposal to a date, time and venue to be determined
by the board of directors of the Company (the “Further Adjourned
SGM?”). As of the date of this report, the arrangement of the Further
Adjourned SGM was not yet determined by the board of directors of
the Company.
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Pursuant to the sales and purchase agreement in relation to the
Disposal (the “Disposal Agreement”), the conditions precedent
under Disposal Agreement shall be fulfilled on or before 15 June
2024 (the “Proposed Effective Date”), or else the Group shall pay the
Purchaser liquidated damages which was calculated as described in
Note 4 to the consolidated financial statements. As of the date of this
report, the Group has not reached any agreement with the Purchaser
in relation to the extension of the Proposed Effective Date or pay
the liquidated damages as described in Note 4 to the consolidated
financial statements or receive any notification from the Purchaser for
termination of the Disposal Agreement.

The above events or conditions, along with other matters as set forth
in Note 4 and Note 53 to the consolidated financial statements,
indicate that material multiple uncertainties exist that may cast
significant doubt on the Group’s ability to continue as a going
concern.

The directors of the Company have been formulating a number of
plans and measures to mitigate the liquidity pressure arising from
the guarantee granted by the Group for Jinxin’s defaulted syndicated
bank loan, and the Group’s other defaulted borrowings, to improve
the financial position of the Group, and to remediate the delayed
repayments to financial institutions, which are set out in Note 4 to
the consolidated financial statements. The consolidated financial
statements have been prepared on a going concern basis, the validity
of which depends on the outcome of these plans and measures, which
are subject to multiple uncertainties as disclosed in Note 4 and Note
53 to consolidated financial statements.

As a result of these multiple uncertainties, the potential interaction
of these uncertainties, and the possible cumulative effect thereof, we
were unable to form an opinion as to whether the going concern basis
of preparation is appropriate.

Should the Group be unable to achieve the above-mentioned plans
and measures and operate as a going concern, adjustments would have
to be made to write down the carrying values of the Group’s assets
to their recoverable amounts, to provide for any further liabilities
which might arise, and to reclassify non-current assets and non-
current liabilities as current assets and current liabilities, respectively.
The effects of these adjustments have not been reflected in these
consolidated financial statements.

Independent Auditor’s Report
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As described in Note 25, Note 38 and Note 48 to the consolidated
financial statements, as at 31 December 2023, the Group’s equity
investment in Jinxin was approximately RMB797,300,000, the
Group’s provision for losses due to default of Jinxin’s syndicated
bank loan and execution of the financial guarantee contract was
approximately RMB236,960,000, and the Group had carrying
amount of other receivables due from Jinxin of approximately
RMB756,014,000 (after net off the allowance for impairment losses
of approximately RMB318,087,000), loans receivable due from Jinxin
of approximately RMB578,523,000 (after net off the allowance for
impairment losses of approximately RMB244,618,000), and interests
receivable due from Jinxin of approximately RMB213,346,000
(after net off the allowance for impairment losses of approximately
RMB89,960,000) (the “Jinxin Balances”).

When the Group measured the losses in relation to Jinxin Balances
(collectively referred as “Losses Arising From Jinxin”), multiple
scenarios were considered to estimate the amount of the losses based
on several key assumptions, including the probability of successful
extension of Jinxin’s syndicated bank loan, the value of equity
investment in Jinxin and the property held by Jinxin which were
both pledged as collateral for the Jinxin’s syndicated bank loan,
the probability of successful disposal of such assets, the estimated
recoverable amount from the disposal, and the estimated final
settlement amount by foreclosing such assets under collateral in the
event that the Disposal fails to proceed. During the year ended 31
December 2023, based on these key assumptions, the Group (a) did
not make any impairment losses or reversal of impairment losses
on its equity investment in Jinxin; (b) made impairment losses on
financial guarantee contracts relating to Jinxin’s syndicated bank
loan amounting to approximately RMB30,960,000; and (c) made
impairment losses on receivables due from Jinxin amounting to
approximately RMB622,223,000. The Losses Arising From Jinxin
comprise of (a), (b) and (c) above, and the relevant details was also set
out in Note 25, Note 38, Note 48 and Note 53 to the consolidated

financial statements respectively.

In addition, there are material uncertainties related to the possible
consequences arising from the default of Jinxin’s syndicated bank loan
guaranteed by the Group, we were unable to assess the reasonableness
of certain key assumptions impacting the estimated losses calculation,
including the probabilities of successful extension of Jinxin’s
syndicated bank loan and disposal of the assets under collateral, as
well as the estimated disposal price, and the estimated final settlement
amount by foreclosing the assets under collateral in the event that the

Disposal fails to proceed.
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Given the probability assessment is not appropriately supported,
the other material uncertainties mentioned above and the basis
for independent auditor’s disclaimer of opinion for the Group’s
consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31 December
2022, it is not practicable for us to quantify the misstatement or
perform other alternative audit procedures to satisfy ourselves as to
whether the Group’s Losses Arising From Jinxin for the year ended
31 December 2023, the Jinxin Balances as at 31 December 2023,
and their associated tax impact together with the related opening
balances were subject to any further adjustments which might have
a material consequential effect on the consolidated statement of
profit or loss and other comprehensive income for the year ended 31
December 2023, the consolidated statement of financial position as at
31 December 2023 and the related disclosures in these consolidated
financial statements.

OTHER MATTER

The consolidated financial statements of the Group for the year ended 31
December 2022 were audited by another auditor who expressed disclaimer
of opinion on those financial statements on 25 August 2023.

RESPONSIBILITIES OF DIRECTORS AND THE
AUDIT COMMITTEE FOR THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation of the
consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair view in accordance
with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards (“HKFRSs”) issued by the
Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants (‘HKICPA”) and
the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, and
for such internal control as the directors determine is necessary to enable the
preparation of consolidated financial statements that are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors are
responsible for assessing the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern,
disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the going
concern basis of accounting unless the directors either intend to liquidate
the Group or to cease operations, or have no realistic alternative but to do so.

The Audit Committee is responsible for overseeing the Group’s financial
reporting process.

Independent Auditor’s Report
M85 3 A2 BRI R

B n] REME B AL I AR A R - b
Fri i A E R AT ENE - st &HE
B E20224E 12 H31 H IR4EFEE R A B IS
R SR B AR R L > JR
M4 12 2 AL B R o A T LAt B AR ) AL AR
7o UAERMEN BHEBEE2023412
A31H IEEER 40 E AR EEE - 1722023
12431 H a0 ER ~ FHAH BB 52 28
78 [7) K B 340 45 i I 5 LT AT AT — 45
AEE > M RZ R T BE e B A 220234 124
318 14 BE R A DR R 25 B HA 4 A M s
K Jiv20234E12 A 31 H B4 0F 5 IR Il 36 2

D U5 i R 0 A R R A A R AR SR
2 .

HoAfth I8

AL E20224E12H31 H IF4FE 2 4 0BT Es
Wt 5 — Az > Hh202348 H25 H
PEMHRERRAERER -

Y T Y SR R R £ S
ARG AR

BArE R HARRBTEGMA G (FiE
B wt AT 8 ) A8 B s B S i R RN (T
T B o R ) 1) R A o O R AR B B 48 B R
SE i BRI O B A DR B R R - B R
I 2oy {8 F B 5 ik 3R ) A AN AR AE R TR HGRTR ER
S R T 2R ) R G R R T R Y R R4 A B

==
H °

e BA O B ok i > EFE AN BE
B R A AR RO RE Ty o Sl TE T DU T R B
ACEAR o DL B R A A e R
ARIEIE . RIEERFEN BEMEER
IR A8 SO A B R BT R -

BEAEGAREE HEMNWEERBE o

111



L]

SRE GROUP LIMITED |- ¥ 4 |8 45 i 23 )

Independent Auditor’s Report
15 37 A2 B e

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE
AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

Our responsibility is to conduct an audit of the Group’s consolidated
financial statements in accordance with Hong Kong Standards on Auditing
issued by the HKICPA and to issue an auditor’s report, solely to you,
as a body, in accordance with Section 90 of the Companies Act 1981 of
Bermuda, and for no other purpose. We do not assume responsibility
towards or accept liability to any other person for the contents of this report.
However, because of the matters described in the “Basis for Disclaimer of
Opinion” section of our report, it is not possible for us to form an opinion

on these consolidated financial statements.

We are independent of the Group in accordance with the HKICPA’s Code
of Ethics for Professional Accountants (the “Code”), and we have fulfilled

our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the Code.

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in this independent auditor’s
report is Cheung Wang Kei.

SHINEWING (HK) CPA Limited
Certified Public Accountants

Cheung Wang Kei

Practising Certificate Number: P07788

Hong Kong,
21 September 2024
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Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss and Other Comprehensive Income
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For the year ended 31 December 2023
HWE20234F 1231 H L4

Year ended 31 December
BE12H31H L4

NOTES 2023 2022
! 20234F 20224
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR T T AR ¥ET T
(Restated)
(#E 51
Revenue A 7&8 598,601 275,916
Cost of sales BB AR (555,302) (144,925)
Gross profit B 43,299 130,991
Other income HAbg A 9 369,187 70,559
Other gains and losses HoAt i 2 K 548 10 (138,024) (114,137)
Selling and marketing expenses B T2 B LA (24,366) (24,604)
Administrative expenses A (75,026) (134,722)
Impairment losses on financial assets, 4 A 7 V(B s 1
net of reversal (0 BR A [a) 11 (843,870) (36,910)
Impairment losses on financial BB PR A 40 S (E s 4R
guarantee contract 38 (30,960) (206,000)
Operating loss =g 3] (699,760) (314,823)
Finance income BB 12 629 434
Finance costs B AR 13 (369,695) (130,567)
Finance costs — net AR AR — %8 (369,066) (130,133)
Share of results of associates JREAG Hh 5 A 3 2 264 9,889 13,467
Share of results of joint ventures EAE GBI Er B4 (649,878) (77,425)
Loss before income tax Jit 458 i s 4R (1,708,815) (508,914)
Income tax credit Fr S Bk 16 111,797 250,977
Loss for the year ENEE 14 (1,597,018) (257,937)
Other comprehensive (expense) oAb 25 A (B S2) W s -
income, net of tax MERB &
Item that may be reclassified to profit or TELLGE A ] T BETE A 70 2
loss in subsequent periods: Ha iy HH -
Exchange differences on translation of B AN SE T 1 B 50 2= AR
foreign operations . (8,104) 50,452
Changes in the fair value of financial AN e E R 2 B S B 5T
assets at fair value through other A AR Al ([BA2A f
comprehensive income (“FVTOCI”), (EEFr = H L85 A
net of tax Hophr £ Wi ai ) 19
LR 04 7
SEH) > FERFLIHE (8,560) =
Other comprehensive (expense) AR JE H A 45 A (B ) W% -
income for the year, net of tax BB & (16,664) 50,452
TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE EXPENSE  4F B £ BH 32 S 80
FOR THE YEAR (1,613,682) (207,485)

113



L]

SRE GROUP LIMITED |- ¥ 4 |8 45 i 23 )

Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss and Other Comprehensive Income

CLREE VRN Sl E 8

For the year ended 31 December 2023

HWE20234F 1231 H L4
Year ended 31 December
BE12A31H L4
NOTE 2023 2022
B 5 20234 20224F
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥ Tt AR ¥ET T
(Restated)
(K& 5)
(Loss) profit for the year attributable to: AN (e 18) 1) T B I
Owners of the Company AN m] R (1,618,018) (267,764)
Non-controlling interests e JB BB R 4 21,000 9,827
(1,597,018) (257,937)
Total comprehensive (expense) income AR AR (BR 30 Wi g 0
for the year attributable to: SR
Owners of the Company AN ] R (1,634,682) (217,312)
Non-controlling interests I 52 5 e TR % 21,000 9,827
(1,613,682) (207,485)
Losses per share attributable B O 7 A ) e R 2 g
to owners of the Company e 15
— Basic = AR 18 RMB(0.079) RMB(0.013)
AR#(0.079)70 AR (0.013)7T
- Diluted — fif 18 RMB(0.079) RMB(0.013)

N (0.079)70 AR #$(0.013)7T

The above consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive
income should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes to the

consolidated financial statements.
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position

LR NI S

As at 31 December 2023

JA20234FE12H31H
31 December 31 December 1 January
NOTES 2023 2022 2022
20234 20224 20224
i 12A31H 12/31H 1H1H
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARWF AR NI ST
(Restated) (Restated)
i«« E ﬂ é.(« E ﬁj
NON-CURRENT ASSETS FRE G
Financial assets at FVTOCI DARME(E n+i AR
FEA S A g 2
GG 19 28,542 39,955 39,955
Property, plant and equipment VER LTl 20 298,034 309,531 325,856
Right-of-use assets G 21 243,878 254,118 260,652
Investment properties Gy 22 3,966,000 4,075,400 4,154,300
Goodwill [k 3 23 - - -
Investments in associates RSy BE 24 971,803 965,065 951,598
Investments in joint ventures ReEELEZHE 25 2,507,015 2,857,743 2,890,109
Deferred tax assets ARG = 37 24,882 9,051 252,391
Other non-current assets Hoft e i h e - - 85,074
8,040,154 8,510,863 8,959,935
CURRENT ASSETS E G
Inventories of properties VELS 26 2,015,627 2,435,004 2,443,410
Other inventories Hibfr & 1,674 1,091 1,041
Trade receivables TR 27 58,012 44713 25,013
Other receivables HAb K 28 1,736,992 1,601,892 1,273,824
Prepayments and other current assets TN A R A B & 29 33,587 27,968 27,705
Financial assets at fair value through PR B R S B
profit or loss (‘FVTPL”) ANEWRG (A A EETR
B HES 8 AR BRG]
ZEMERE 19 37,834 = =
Prepaid income tax NPT B 4,040 4,549 4360
Other financial assets at amortised e B A B R
cost B 30 1,135,606 1,180,358 1214,271
Restricted bank deposits PR ﬁ'] PEBRAT T30 31 4,240 4,380 37,364
Bank balances and cash WATH B RS 31 126,455 100,699 70,521
5,154,067 5,400,654 5,097,509
Assets classified as held for sale NEERANEEE 32 - 19,091 23,031
5,154,067 5,419,745 5,120,540
CURRENT LIABILITIES B A
Lease liabilities &A% 21 3,047 4,141 3,187
Trade payables JEAT IR ) 33 350,058 457,307 484,810
Other payables and accruals A 3R X e H 34 2,569,699 2,151,819 2,010,092
Contract liabilities A AR 35 222,625 133,640 71,925
Bank and other borrowings AT R A K 36 1,261,034 1,109,278 896,749
Provision for losses due to the default A A BERERITE
of ajoint venture’s syndicated bank loan TR ST R B R
and execution of the financial AR N RS
guarantee contract ﬁxﬁ 38 236,960 206,000 =
Tax payable FERBLA 582,360 605,325 886,778
5,225,783 4,667,510 4,353,541
NET CURRENT (LIABILITIES) ASSETS ) (&) G (71,716) 752,235 766,999
TOTAL ASSETS LESS CURRENT BEERRBAR
LIABILITIES 7,968,438 9.263,098 9,726,934
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As at 31 December 2023
12023412331 H

31 December 31 December 1 January
NOTES 2023 2022 2022
20234 20224 20224
Wit aE 12A31H 12318 1H1H
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARW Tt ANRE#T T INEL S
(Restated) (Restated)
(g e %)) (48 e 5)
NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES FRE ALK
Lease liabilities HERE 21 27,078 28916 31,409
Bank and other borrowings AT R 36 3,830,241 3,343,339 3,344,629
Deferred tax liabilities IEAERLIE A 15 37 1,181,625 1,339,621 1,580,800
Financial liabilities at FVTPL A /A REEFEH ﬁ:?@j
RIAEBBRENSEMAR 39 267,252 275,298 286,687
5,306,196 4,987,174 5,243,525
NET ASSETS B E 2,662,242 4275924 4,483,409
CAPITAL AND RESERVES A B feb
Issued share capital and share ELBAT I AR B A 5k
premium 40 6,747,788 6,747,788 6,747,788
Other reserves HAb A 41 241,094 235,224 179,101
Accumulated losses AatEE (4,625,902) (2,985,350) (2,711,915)
Equity attributable to owners of 57 A A T PR R M
the Company ) 2,362,980 3,997,662 4214974
Non-controlling interests B R A 299,262 278,262 268,435
TOTAL EQUITY i A0t 2,662,242 4275924 4,483,409

The above consolidated statement of financial position should be read in gl A S S IR D00 3% L B B S R R B
conjunction with the accompanying notes to the consolidated financial FE— OB A o

statements.

The consolidated financial statements on pages 113 to 312 were approved RSB 113F 3128 9 A OF B R 28 202449
by the Board of Directors on 21 September 2024 and were signed by the H21BESH e WHU FTEFRREFE

following Directors on its behalf: 5
Xu Ming Kong Yong
] Ly
Chairman Acting Chief Executive Officer
FFE CRE T AR %
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Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity
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For the year ended 31 December 2023

2023 F 12031 H IL4FEE
Attributable to owners of the Company
A2 IR
Issued Attributable
share capital to owners Non-
and share Other  Accumulated of the controlling
premium reserves Josses Company interests Total
CETRAR 5t I Je vl
B A i oAl it ZihEE  RAER Bt SR i

RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
AR®FE  ARETE ARG ARWTE  ARETT  ARET

(note 40) (note 41)
(H3E40) (R 3E41)
At 1 January 2022 2022417 1H 6,747,788 179,101 (2711,915) 4214974 268435 4,483,409
(Loss) profit for the year AE N () A - - (267,764) (267,764) 9,827 (257,937)
Other comprehensive income Hofto%5 A lcgi - 50,452 - 50,452 - 50,452
Total comprehensive income SRR AR (50
(expense) for the year k] - 50,452 (267,764) (217312) 9,827 (207,485)
Appropriation to reserve N1 - 5,671 (5.671) - - -
At31 December 2022 120224 12431 H
and 1 January 2023 K2023E1H 1A 6,747,788 235,224 (2,985,350) 3,997,662 278,262 4275924
(Loss) profit for the year A (5 18) F1 - - (1,618,018) (1,618,018) 21,000 (1,597,018)
Other comprehensive Holtodr e (50 e da
(expense) income - (16,664) - (16,664) - (16,664)
Total comprehensive (expense) ~ 4FREA7 & (W30 i
income for the year ki - (16,664) (L618,018)  (1,634,682) 21,000 (1,613,682)
Appropriation to reserve N1 - 22,534 (22,534) - - -
At 31 December 2023 *20234 12310 6,747,788 241,094 (4,625,902) 2,362,980 299,262 2,662,242

The above consolidated statement of changes in equity should be read in £l & HE £ 53 ) 2 & BRL & (F BA B ik 2 il Bt Bt

conjunction with the accompanying notes to the consolidated financial = — B °

statements.
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows

’ 1 Nyl = R
HHBERER
For the year ended 31 December 2023
HWE20234F 1231 H L4

Year ended 31 December

BE12H31H L4
NOTE 2023 2022
B 5 20234 20224
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥T T AR¥T oo
OPERATING ACTIVITIES KBNS
Cash from operations R B SRS TG ) B4 42 265,588 46,599
Interest paid EfFLE (185,497) (59,382)
Income tax paid ENRGE (81,633) (34,856)
Income tax refunds received O YR T 15l 2R 7 - 6,352
NET CASH USED IN OPERATING TR A8 7 16 ) 2 B 4 5 A
ACTIVITIES (1,542) (41,287)
INVESTING ACTIVITIES BEW B
Purchase of financial assets at FVTPL WEE DA B (R B L
B AW S 2 S REE (40,000) -
Proceeds on disposal of financial assetsat i LAZ S8 (B 15 HOH 5
FVTPL Bet AR IR g 2 S REE
Z g kA 2,500 =
Placement of restricted bank deposits 17 A R il 1 SR AT 77 2K (771) -
Withdrawal of restricted PR M ERAT A7 3K
bank deposits 911 =
Bank interest received LR TRLE 629 -
Purchase of property, plant and BEEY)E ~ WA M A
equipment (870) (534)
Proceeds from disposal of subsidiaries BTN E R — S
and a joint venture, net of cash 2 AR EIE > FUBRIE
disposed B2 BlE IS0 - 12,827
Proceeds from disposal of an associate iz B — W R
I #5 3KE 2,292 8,400
Advance to a joint venture T — &2 FKIH (181,785) (194,764)
Capital injection to a joint venture BH—HAEEMEZTFER (552,475) -
Advance from an associate A& — [ W o 3 2 BOR - 36,941
Advance from a joint venture A H— s E R
partner % ¢ - 54,500
NET CASH USED IN INVESTING R BUE T B) 2 Bl
ACTIVITIES (769,569) (82,630)
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For the year ended 31 December 2023

A 2023412031 H IL4ERE

Year ended 31 December

BE12H31H IL4E)E
2023 2022
20234 20224F
RMB’000 RMB’000

AR T PN

FINANCING ACTIVITIES % 3 )
Decrease in restricted cash IR 1 P B < il - 34,704
Principal elements of lease payments FHE A A 5 (2,932) (1,063)
Interest paid on lease liabilities A ECATFIE (2,092) (46)
Advance from an associate A& 18— [ B A 6 2 BAGK 15,588 -
Proceeds from short-term borrowings B A5 5 30 1 3K 219,421 180,000
Repayments of short-term borrowings SR A A R (67,808) (59,500)
Proceeds from long-term borrowings HBAGRIIE K 794,047 -
Repayments of long-term borrowings R R IE (159,357) -
NET CASH FROM FINANCING 2 Rl B 2 B4 i A
ACTIVITIES 796,867 154,095
NET INCREASE IN CASH AND CASH Bl Bl EW 2
EQUIVALENTS el 25,756 30,178
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT Bl KB &% EY) -
BEGINNING OF YEAR FHIEREH 100,699 70,521
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS B R EEEY
AT END OF YEAR, represented ARG - UISRITHE R
by bank balances and cash YSEEEZN 126,455 100,699

The above consolidated statement of cash flows should be read in %l & 1F 51 4 Ui 1 25 JE B 5 (R A 55 2 B A BfT

conjunction with the accompanying notes to the consolidated financial & — 1 Bl o

statements.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

o DF S 5 e i

For the year ended 31 December 2023
HWE20234F 1231 H L4

1.

120

GENERAL INFORMATION

SRE Group Limited (the “Company”) was incorporated in Bermuda
with limited liability on 11 August 1999 as an exempted company
under the Bermuda Companies Act 1981. The shares of the Company
are listed on the Main board of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong
Limited (the “SEHK”). The address of the registered office of the
Company is Clarendon House, 2 Church Street, Hamilton HM
11, Bermuda. The addresses of the principal place of business of the
Company in the People’s Republic of China (the “PRC”) and Hong
Kong are Shanghai Headquarter address and Suite 2806A, 28/F
Central Plaza, 18 Harbour Road, Wanchai, Hong Kong, respectively.

The Company and its subsidiaries (collectively referred to as
the “Group”) are mainly engaged in real estate development and
investment in the PRC, on projects located in gateway cities of
developed and developing markets. Details of the principal activities
of its subsidiaries are set out in note 5S1.

As at 31 December 2023, the Company’s parent company is China
Minsheng Jiaye Investment Co., Ltd. (“China Minsheng Jiaye”), and
its ultimate holding company is China Minsheng Investment Corp.,
Ltd. (“China Minsheng Investment”).

The consolidated financial statements are presented in Renminbi
(“RMB”), which is the functional currency of the Company and its

major subsidiaries.

— & B

FEREHARA A (AL D R19994F
SHIIHMRET &2 — N\ —Fouik
NE MR B Z A AT o AR
A A TE A s WA 28 2 T A B W) (1
) EMR BT o A A g M E
ik A5 Clarendon House, 2 Church Street,
Hamilton M 11, Bermuda ° 245/ & & H 3¢
N BRI (1 [ ) R A s 19 3 2 484
R B B L v AR ik R A R AT R
1855 BR B 728 #52806A % ©

AN T BT F (AR A SR ) = 2t
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o DF A 5 e i

For the year ended 31 December 2023
HWE20234F 1231 H L4

APPLICATION OF NEW AND 2. TR aT 7 ol B 5 e ol e
AMENDMENTS TO HONG KONG (7 8 S 265 i oty 4 A 1) e 3y o
FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS A 5 5T
(“HKFRSs”)
New and amendments to HKFRSs that are mandatorily R AAE BE 55 i) A A B AT B v
effective for the current year o W E R T
In current year, the Group has applied the following new and AR > AREEEC R 8 H i
amendments to HKFRSs issued by the Hong Kong Institute of o wh Rl (T s g 5Bl 2 € 1) 28 i 19 8
Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA”), for the first time, which T v S o AR ) R SRR BT > 5%
are mandatorily effective for the annual period beginning on or after SHETT AR A OF B R 1T S R B 2023
1 January 2023 for the preparation of the consolidated financial E1A 1 H 82 45 B G 19 4F B2 3 ) o ) AR
statements: B
HKEFRS 17 (including the Insurance Contracts T s B 755 e 5 YEE R 449
October 2020 and February 1755 (B4
2022 Amendments to HKFRS 2020410 H &
17) 20224F2 H
T v 5 e R
179 ZAEHT)
Amendments to HKAS 1 and Disclosure of Accounting s e e Bl 5 195 X (v
HKEFRS Practice Statement 2 Policies B U 5 i e H Wi
BB N2 BT
Amendments to HKAS 8 Definition of Accounting HUsERHERIZEsIE Erat i E g
Estimates BwT EFE
Amendments to HKAS 12 Deferred Tax related to T aEIELE Ry HE—-X4
Assets and Liabilities BwT LN B
arising from a Single REEHH
Transaction 4 A S TH
Amendments to HKAS 12 International Tax Reform- T e et 1295 R T O
Pillar Two Model Rules BwT -XH =
AR
The application of the new and amendments to HKFRSs in the A S A B JRE B T A s B A e R R
current year had no material impact on the Group’s financial e JU) B9 06 T B A 4R T T A AR BE B AT AR
positions and performance for the current and prior years and/or on Y B 5 AR UL e R B e w5 5 5 ) A
the disclosures set out in these consolidated financial statements. E e AET S R T N2

121



D SRE GROUP LIMITED _t- 8 4 H 45 FiL 24 #]

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

B OF B 55 R Bt G
For the year ended 31 December 2023
HWE20234F 1231 H L4

2. APPLICATION OF NEW AND
AMENDMENTS TO HONG KONG
FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS

(“HKFRSS”) (continued)

New and amendments to HKFRSs issued but not yet

effective

The Group has not early applied the following amendments to
HKFRSs that have been issued but are not yet effective:

Amendments to HKFRS 10
and HKAS 28

Amendments to HKFRS 16

Amendments to HKAS 1

Amendments to HKAS 1

Sale or Contribution of Assets
between an Investor
and its Associate or Joint
Venture!

Lease Liability in a Sale and
Leaseback?

Classification of Liabilities as
Current or Non-current and
related amendments to Hong
Kong Interpretation 5
(2020F

Non-current Liabilities with

Covenants’
Amendments to HKAS 7 and Supplier Finance
HKFRS 7 Arrangements’
Amendments to HKAS 21 Lack of Exchangeability’
Amendments to HKFRS 9 Amendments to the
and HKFRS 7 Classification and
Measurement of Financial
Instruments*
Annual Improvements to Volume 11*
HKFRSs
HKFRS 18 Presentation and Disclosure in
Financial Statements®
HKEFRS 19 Subsidiaries without Public
Accountability: Disclosures’
1 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after a date to be
determined

2 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2024

3 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2025

4 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2026

S Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2027

122

W FH 9T wT A v Bt 5 e o e
(7 ¥ S 5 e o i SO0 ) I S v

& 5T ()

AT (1 i A A 3¢ 2 B T 2 i 7
T H o EE Je B3E Jl 1y 15 5T

A5 [ 51 e 4 LR S 47 A A L B R A
B2 A s s i e R A BT

T s I it 15 ME HIJ
105 LA e H!
RS589 2 1B RT

i S 5 i o v L
F16IRZAERT

A G RHERIE 198
27T

A G RIS 198
27T

A g ah eI 7 5%
Lo 7 s P s e
Q75 B RT

A E RN 2158

ZNEwT

8 S 5 i o v L
S9N A v S
e HER 7982
(‘51

G H B
ARG B
2 [ B e
kB!

B In f 9 B A

%z

B & 7K 25 i B 5k
T B R Fr it
Pt FEFE ST
(2020%F) Z
HHEIE T2

Bt 525t 19 F i B
=&

LI 7l 2

= A LR
st B TAAT

Vig- V'&ip o4
T

M B RE RN E1

AE I e

T s S T e
H518%%

T s S T e
195

MRz 2 R
w

HRIZFEENE
ERALIRE/7 d

1 A 1% i S 1A ) 2 A B 4 ) 4 2 U )

EELY

2 20244 111 H B2 AR B A A 47 B3 TH]

Ak

3 202541 H 1 H 3% 2 15 BH 4R 1 47 B 1 1]

ARk

4 R20265F 1 H 1 H 82 1% BH 4R 1 47 B2 101 )

EELY

5 20274 17 1 R B2 1% BA 4 109 47 B2 39 [H]

Ak



2023 ANNUAL REPORT & = 4R4REHR

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

APPLICATION OF NEW AND
AMENDMENTS TO HONG KONG
FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS
(“HKFRSS”) (continued)

New and amendments to HKFRSs issued but not yet
effective (continued)

HKFRS 18 sets out requirements on presentation and disclosures
in financial statements and it will replace HKAS 1 Presentation
of Financial Statements. The new HKFRS 18 introduces new
requirements to present specified categories and defined subtotals in
the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive
income; provide disclosures on management-defined performance
measures in the notes to the consolidated financial statements and
improve aggregation and disaggregation of information to be disclosed
in the consolidated financial statements. Minor amendments to
HKAS 7 Statement of Cash Flows and HKAS 33 Earnings per
Share are also made. HKFRS 18 will be effective for annual periods
beginning on or after 1 January 2027, with early application
permitted. The application of the new standard is not expected to
have material impact on the financial position of the Group but is
expected to affect the presentation of the consolidated statement
of profit or loss and other comprehensive income and consolidated
statement of cash flows and disclosures in the future consolidated
financial statements. The Group will continue to assess the impact of
HKFRS 18 on the Group’s consolidated financial statements.

Except as described above and the other amendments to HKFRSs
mentioned below, the directors of the Company anticipate that the
application of all other amendments to HKFRSs will have no material
impact on the consolidated financial statements in the foreseeable
future.

o DF A 5 e i

For the year ended 31 December 2023
HWE20234F 1231 H L4

VB FH 7 wT A v B 5 e o5 e B
(T ¥ S 25 e o i SO0 ) I S e
SR EET ()

A i 1 fif AR A3 2 ] 2 1 R

T o B 5 i ) 18R S I B Rk
B e E o AR o e
BB E 2 2T - AT i B
HHE RIS 1858 5| ATR &R & 1R 2 S HA AR &
Wit 7 b 2 5146 RE U B 2/t B 8
E 3 ARG B R M Rk P A HERE S 2 Y
KBt E R AR N BOE R AR B R
T B R B9 A BF S SRR - ST B
o AR T A v e Rt e RIS 33 R AR I A
IRAE A BAE AT o 7 v 5 i e HIU 265 18
SEAFIR20274F 17 1 H B AR B 4R O 4F 2 3
[IAE2 > 3 SO RFERATRE ) o 8 F1) B e B
B AR G B B IR DL I R
A& R B G H i LA G s %
Je di i B g B 3R A 22 51 DA A A B 5
FM PR o AN I 51 A AT A 7 o A
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2. APPLICATION OF NEW AND
AMENDMENTS TO HONG KONG
FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS
(“HKFRSS”) (continued)

New and amendments to HKFRSs issued but not yet

effective (continued)

(a) Amendments to HKFRS 10 and HKAS 28 Sale or
Contribution of Assets between an Investor and its
Associate or Joint Venture

The amendments to HKFRS 10 and HKAS 28 deal with
situations where there is a sale or contribution of assets between
an investor and its associate or joint venture. Specifically, the
amendments state that gains or losses resulting from the loss
of control of a subsidiary that does not contain a business in a
transaction with an associate or a joint venture that is accounted
for using the equity method, are recognised in the parent’s
profit or loss only to the extent of the unrelated investors’
interests in that associate or joint venture. Similarly, gains and
losses resulting from the remeasurement of investments retained
in any former subsidiary (that has become an associate or a joint
venture that is accounted for using the equity method) to fair
value are recognised in the former parent’s profit or loss only
to the extent of the unrelated investors” interests in the new
associate or joint venture.

The effective date of Amendments to HKFRS 10 and HKAS
28 has not yet been determined. However, earlier application is
permitted. The amendments should be applied prospectively.

The application of the amendments is not expected to have
significant impact on the Group’s consolidated financial
statements.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

APPLICATION OF NEW AND
AMENDMENTS TO HONG KONG
FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS
(“HKFRSS”) (continued)

Amendments to HKFRSs issued but not yet effective

(b)

(continued)

Amendments to HKAS 1 Classification of Liabilities as
Current or Non-current and related amendments to Hong
Kong Interpretation 5 (2020); Amendments to HKAS 1 -
Non-current Liabilities with Covenants

Amendments to HKAS 1 Classification of Liabilities as Current
or Non-current issued in 2020 (the “2020 Amendments”)
clarify the requirements on determining if a liability is current
or non-current, in particular the determination over whether
an entity has the right to defer settlement of the liability for at
least 12 months after the reporting period. The amendments
specify that an entity’s right to defer settlement must exist at
the end of the reporting period. Classification is unaffected
by management’s intentions or expectations about whether
the entity will exercise its right to defer settlement. The
amendments also clarify the classification of liabilities that will
or may be settled by issuing an entity’s own equity instruments.

Amendments to HKAS 1 Non-current Liabilities with
Covenants issued in 2022 (the “2022 Amendments”) further
clarify how an entity determines the current or non-current
classification of a liability when its right to defer the settlement
is subject to compliance with covenants.

The amendments require additional disclosures by an entity
that classifies liabilities arising from loan arrangements as non-
current when it has a right to defer settlement of those liabilities
that are subject to the entity complying with future covenants
within twelve months.

2

o DF A 5 e i

For the year ended 31 December 2023
HWE20234F 1231 H L4
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APPLICATION OF NEW AND
AMENDMENTS TO HONG KONG
FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS
(“HKFRSs”) (continued)

2

3.

126

Amendments to HKFRSs issued but not yet effective

(continued)

(b) Amendments to HKAS 1 Classification of Liabilities as

Current or Non-current and related amendments to Hong
Kong Interpretation 5 (2020); Amendments to HKAS 1 -
Non-current Liabilities with Covenants (continued)

The amendments are effective for annual periods beginning
on or after 1 January 2024 and shall be applied retrospectively.
Earlier application is permitted. However, an entity that applies
the 2020 Amendments early is also required to apply the 2022
Amendments, and vice versa.

Based on the Group’s outstanding liabilities as at 31 December
2023, the application of the amendments will not result in
change in the classification of the Group’s liabilities.

RECLASSIFICATION OF PRIOR YEAR
FIGURES

(a)

In the Company’s consolidated financial statements for the year
ended 31 December 2022 (the “2022 Financial Statements”),
upfront payments for land use rights related to inventories of
properties (i.e. comprise of properties held for development
(“PFD”), properties under development for sales (“PUD”) and
properties held for sales (“PFS”)) was disclosed separately in the
consolidated statement of financial position under prepaid lease
payments and released to profit or loss when the Group’s PFSs
were delivered to the buyers.

During the year ended 31 December 2023, the management of
the Company have included its prepaid lease payments related
to PFD, PUD and PFS under inventories of properties in its
consolidated statement of financial position in view that these
upfront payments for land use rights were for the purpose
of development of properties for sale and such disclosure
presentation would enable its sharecholders to better understand
the actual carrying value of its PFD, PUD and PES at the end
of the reporting period. To conform with the current year’s
presentation in its consolidated statement of financial position,
the relevant comparative figure for the year ended 31 December
2022 in relation to its inventories of properties have been re-
presented and have included prepaid lease payments related to
PFD, PUD and PFS.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

3. RECLASSIFICATION OF PRIOR YEAR
FIGURES (continued)

The reclassification adjustments does not have any impact on
the Group’s net assets as at 31 December 2022 and 1 January
2022. The effect of these reclassification adjustments on the
consolidated statement of financial position as at 31 December
2022 and 1 January 2022 are as follows:

o DF A 5 e i

For the year ended 31 December 2023
HWE20234F 1231 H L4

3. HFABUBESEHRT @

bl B S 43 R AR AR iR 2022
120310 }20224F1H1HZ E&E
FHEAGERATM YR - Z%H
T SE TR E R 20224E 12 31 H M
20224F1 H 1 H & bF A5 i 3k 2 5 28
L/(I N

Asat Asat
31 December 31 December
2022 2022
J#20224F J20224F
12H31H 12/31H
(originally
stated) Adjustments (restated)
(J5.51) Gk (K& 51)
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ANRHET T INERL S B ANRHETIT
Prepaid land lease payments FEAT i AH B A5 3K 722,609 (722,609) -
Inventories of properties L Vet 1,712,395 722,609 2,435,004
Asat Asat
1 January 1 January
2022 2022
J420224F JA20224F
1H1H 1H1H
(originally
stated) Adjustments (restated)
(J531) iR (K== 1)
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARHET T ANR¥FIT PN o
Prepaid land lease payments FEAT L A B AT K 732,226 (732,226) -
Inventories of properties YEGEE 1,711,184 732,226 2,443,410
In the 2022 Financial Statements, net foreign exchange loss (b) TA20224F BAB K > BRAT IS K BB

related to its bank borrowings amounting to approximately
RMB86,563,000 was disclosed under finance costs in
its consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income. During the year ended 31 December
2023, the management of the Company have included the
exchange loss related to its bank borrowings under others gains
and losses and is of the view that such disclosure presentation
would enable the shareholders to understand better the
composition of its other gains and losses. To conform with the
current year’s presentation, the relevant comparative figure of
other gains and losses for the year ended 31 December 2022
had also included net foreign exchange loss related its bank
borrowings amounting to RMB86,563,000.

SRR R A N R 86,563,000 E
RHEA B S R HMsE Al s R
BARS AR T P 5 o i E 2023412
A31H 4R > A /& H 8 e i
B ERAT A6 O B 2 B 4R A =
e 55 KRR IE T > 5B A B4 R
51 i T A B AR 3 HLH b U 55 K s
BZHMEEL TR - BFEAE
B 25 HE20224E12A31H 1k
AR 2 HAhlk 65 K G R 2 A8 B H R
HTEAE ORI RAE R
[iEE 54,48 25 15 48\ R #586,563,000C ©
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For the year ended 31 December 2023
HWE20234F 1231 H L4

3. RECLASSIFICATION OF PRIOR YEAR 3.
FIGURES (continued)

Lt E R AR R
20224F12 A 31 HIF4E 2 A &

The reclassification adjustments does not have any impact on

the Group’s loss for the year ended 31 December 2022. The

effect of these reclassification adjustments in the consolidated #E AT AT 5 2 o B%5E B A R A
statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income for BB FE2022F12H 31 H ILFEFEA O
the year ended 31 December 2022 are as follows: o K HoAh &5 Al i R 2 2 2D
T
For the year ended 31 December 2022
BE20224F12H31 H IE 4R
As originally
stated Adjustments As restated
i3] ] KHEF
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ANR¥FIo ANBRWF o0 ANR¥FI0
Other gains and losses HoAth e 25 M k548 (27,574) (86,563) (114,137)
Finance costs A A (217,130) 86,563 (130,567)
4. BASIS OF PREPARATION 4. ML
The consolidated financial statements have been prepared in o OF B 5 R © AR R A Vs € Bl € A A
accordance with HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA. For the purpose F4 7 T B 5 S MR A R o LA RS F B
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of preparation of consolidated financial statements, information
is considered material if such information is reasonably expected
to influence decisions made by primary users. In addition, the
consolidated financial statements include applicable disclosures
required by the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on the The
Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Listing Rules”) and by
the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared on the
historical cost basis, except for the investment properties and certain
financial instruments that are measured at fair values, at the end of
cach reporting period, as explained in the accounting policies set out
in note S.

TSR 5 o A B SR 8 L%
o 5 AR B3R RN 5 B R B
Koo BAh - &P B HGR A B IS 5
Zy BT A BR2x w1 25 B AR B (T T A D)
B A s % v A 91 BT R RE 908 T 4 6

B I B R R R R S AR R R R
AR IR A R EER R BEY
Lot T m THRERSN - SR RESEri iy
B R BORIEE -
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BASIS OF PREPARATION (continued)

The Group incurred a net loss of approximately RMB1,597,018,000
for the year ended 31 December 2023 and, as at 31 December
2023, the Group had net current liabilities of approximately
RMB71,716,000.

As at 31 December 2023, the Group’s current liabilities included
approximately RMB1,261,034,000 (2022: RMB1,109,278,000)
of bank and other borrowings, out of which approximately
RMB1,218,538,000 (2022: RMB1,085,370,000) were defaulted and
became immediately repayable if requested by the lenders. As at 31
December 2023, however, the Group’s cash and cash equivalents was
approximately RMB126,455,000 (2022: RMB100,699,000) only.

The defaults of these borrowings were triggered by (1) the
deterioration of the financial conditions of China Minsheng
Investment, the ultimate holding company of the Group since
2018; (2) the arrest of Mr. Peng Xinkuang, a former executive
director and the former chief executive officer and chairman of the
board of directors of the Company, and the detention of Mr. Chen
Donghui, a former executive director of the Company, by the relevant
authorities in the PRC in January and February 2020; and (3) the
default of a joint venture namely Shanghai Jinxin Real Estate Co.,
Led. (“Jinxin”) for its syndicated bank loan guaranteed by the Group.
In addition, the continuous default of Jinxin’s syndicated bank loan
resulted in the relevant lenders having the right to demand, and the
relevant lenders have demanded, the Group to fulfill its guarantee
obligation to repay the loan, including an outstanding principal of
approximately RMB4,451,800,000 (2022: RMB4,451,800,000) and
related interests and bank fees of approximately RMB421,070,000
(2022: RMB279,800,000) as at 31 December 2023, and the relevant
lenders will also have the right to apply for court’s forcible execution,
including but not limited to dispose of the Group’s equity investment
in Jinxin which were pledged as collateral of Jinxin’s syndicated bank
loan. The relevant lenders of Jinxin applied for the court to enforce
their above rights during the year ended 31 December 2023.

o DF A 5 e i

For the year ended 31 December 2023
W E20234FE 1231 H IL4EE

A L HE ()

BE20234F 1231 H IE4FFE > AREEE
AR AR ¥1,597,018,0007C » 1 i
20234F 1231 H - A4S A 15 s & 65
#NRM71,716,0007C °

R2023F12H31H > AEERB A
FHERAT B A A A N R ¥ 1,261,034,000
J6(20224F + ARH51,109,278,00070) > H:
AN R H1,218,538,0007T (20224 = A
K #1,085,370,00070) . 78 £ 3 28 57 B A%
(IR NESR) o SR > R20234F12
H 318 A4 0B 4 K B4 S E Y R4
B N ¥126,455,00078(20224F : AR
100,699,0007G) °

i B % S i BRI T A 114 D TR (1) 4 4
B B I ) A R AR A 201845 H BB IR
BLEAL 5 (2)A20204F 1A K2 > AR
AATRATES - AT THRAE R EF G

8200 W 5 A P I AH B A B A A > A
7S A BUAT S R RORR ST AR AR B B s
G)ALEBERNAEECEER LS 0E
EHRR A (T4 ]) 87 ERAT B HEL o
BEAN > Aot SR (B BR AT 0 2 A 40 B
MBS A A HEE R AMBESERADE
RASEE BT HIERETERER
AHER2023F 1231 H W R EREARLEL
N R #4,451,800,0007C (20224F © AR
4,451,800,0007C) K AH BRI S B $R 47 T4
HH N ¥421,070,0007T (20224F © AR
#279,800,00070) > 1fi FH BE B A TR G A
R R S e e AT LR (RO PR B
A A 4o SR B SR AT B2 SR T 110 A 4 13
RO I IR - 8% 20234F12 31 H
IEAF > Gt AR B BRSO 1) 32 B HR o T
AT H B HER] o
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BASIS OF PREPARATION (continued)

On 8 April 2024, the Group entered into a disposal agreement,
to which the purchaser (the “Purchaser”) conditionally agreed
to acquire and the Group conditionally agreed to: (i) dispose
of entire interest in Jinxin at a consideration of approximately
RMB800,000,000; and (ii) assign the rights to the Purchaser in
relation to the debts as originally owed by Jinxin to the Group at a
consideration of approximately RMB2,610,000,000 (the “Disposal”).
The Purchaser namely Zhongchong Investment Group Co., Ltd.
(PR BE LM A R A, is a limited liability company established
in the PRC and held 63.7% equity interest in its joint venture partner
of Jinxin namely Zhongchong Binjiang Industrial Development Co.,
Led. (1 RS2 BT S R AR/A ). On 29 May 2024, the
Company held a special general meeting (the “Original SGM”) for
the purpose of approving the Disposal. During the Original SGM, the
board of directors of the Company announced that due to the lack of
quorum was present within thirty minutes from the time appointed
for the Original SGM, the Original SGM was adjourned and the
board of directors of the Company announced that the adjourned
special general meeting will be held on 13 June 2024 (the “Adjourned
SGM”). On 13 June 2024, the Company held the Adjourned SGM
which certain shareholders requested to further adjourn the special
general meeting to a date, time and venue to be determined by
the board of directors of the Company (the “Further Adjourned
SGM?”). As of the date of this report, the arrangement for the Further
Adjourned SGM was not yet determined by the Company.

Pursuant to the sales and purchase agreement in relation to the
Disposal (the “Disposal Agreement”), the Disposal Agreement
shall become effective upon the Company having completed the
announcement and approval procedures in respect of the transactions
contemplated under the Disposal Agreement in accordance with the
Listing Rules and obtained sharcholders” approval for the Disposal
Agreement and the Disposal (the “Conditions Precedent”). Under
the Disposal Agreement, the Conditions Precedent shall be fulfilled
on or before 15 June 2024 (the “Proposed Effective Date”), or else
the Group shall pay the Purchaser liquidated damages calculated
as follows: (i) in the event of a delay of up to and including 30 days
after the Proposed Effective Date, the Group shall pay the Purchaser
liquidated damages calculated at 0.01% per day with reference to
RMB2,000,000,000; (ii) in the event of a delay of over 30 days after
the Proposed Effective Date, the Group shall pay the Purchaser
liquidated damages calculated at 0.03% per day with reference to
RMB2,000,000,000; and (iii) in the event of a delay of more than
90 days, the Purchaser shall have the right to unilaterally terminate
the Disposal Agreement, in which case the Group shall return all the
amount received from the Purchaser, as well as pay the Purchaser
liquidated damages calculated at 5% with reference to the total
consideration as set out in the Disposal Agreement. As of the date of
these consolidated financial statements, the Group has not reached
any agreement with the Purchaser in relation to the extension of the
Proposed Effective Date or pay the liquidated damages as set out
above or receive any notification from the Purchaser for termination

of the Disposal Agreement.

4 B HE ()

R20244F4H8H » AREEEFT T — M
Bk > B > B (T8 7 ) A iR =
Wl > MALEMAERARE : HEES
AT - FAE % 5 A\ R 800,000,000
IG5 M (id) ) B 7 A B R G i A0 B
RASEBERER R > R4 B N
2,610,000,0007C ([ & =FIE]) - HJ7 (RI
EWEE AR AT B R B AT
HAERAR > FHEOEECEBEW
i S TLE ESRA R A A 63.7% M
HE o JA20244FES H29H » A/ FI BT IR
R I R (DA SR kB 1) DAL ofe o
HIH o PIRBRAFR K€ b > ARAFESH
ErE AT A TE R R AR AR 4 E SR AT
I P B = 40 8 TR R AT 2 49k E N B
i R HAER K G E T ER o AR
IR E A B AR R OK € 2 & 20244F
6 13 H (TR AR BI K & s 6 |) 8247
2024 F6H 13 H » AR\ A 84T T BSR4 R
KA g > 17 25 T R B R i — 5 R
PRI KGR Em AN EEGHEERN
H3 ~ IRp ] B 2 (TR s AR Al oK & — 245
FEEr ) o BB H W > AT MR
TE R AR R K G — 2 G i e BE o

WEAR B EEEYEE W® (L&
W) o B B R A AR A FAR R L R
SEA BB R IE N REHEAT RS S A
R EAMAR A o Nk R
=TS B AL M ([ Pt ) A AR 3K -
HRYE & ok - JC R ZE R 20244F 6 H
ISH (THesk A% H D) s 2 M2 > &
B A 48 (3 1 ) B O A 4R DA O A EFHE
BB S 0 ()88 ek A sk H W%
ANEH30F (BHEH) » AREBEDA
K #52,000,000,000 70 £ F #3% & H 0.01%
6] B 7 SO A s (40) i SE A A ek ok
H WS BEE30H > AEEEL AR
2,000,000,000 7T £ 5E #¥% &F H 0.03% [ &
AP EA A M (i) MBS0 H >
By A RE O A L A R o e E
™o AR W ZEIR R A E O U B ) BT A 3K
TH > 5 1) B S AT A HS B T e T AR AE
SHMER & - BMEZE S MBREH
HA > AR S [B] 1 R R AR R H A Y A R B
B AT A bk > IR R SO B Rk ki
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BASIS OF PREPARATION (continued)

The above events or conditions indicate material multiple
uncertainties exist that may cast significant doubt on the Group’s
ability to continue as a going concern.

In view of such circumstances, the directors of the Company have
given careful consideration to the future liquidity and performance of
the Group and its available sources of financing in assessing whether
the Group will have sufficient funds to fulfill its financial obligations
and continue as going concern.

The Group has formulated the following plans and measures to
mitigate the liquidity pressure arising from the default of Jinxin’s
syndicated bank loan:

(1) The Group communicated with the relevant lenders of
Jinxin’s syndicated bank loan on 29 June 2023 and 19 June
2024 secking the relevant lenders’ support including but not
limited to a further extension for the repayments of principals
and overdue interests of the Jinxin’s syndicated bank loan,
so that Jinxin and guarantors have more time to explore any
other feasible means to arrange financing plans for Jinxin.
The Group is also in negotiation with the other sharcholder
of Jinxin for the arrangement of providing additional
shareholders’ financing to Jinxin for interest repayments. For
the enforcement of settlement judgement, the Group will
continue to communicate with the relevant lenders for its plans
and measures from time to time, including but not limited
to restructuring of the syndicated bank loan, guidance from
relevant government bodies and future development plan of
the Jinxin’s project and so on, so that to persuade the relevant
lenders to suspend or cease the enforcement of settlement
judgement and grant more time and extend the repayment date
of Jinxin’s syndicated bank loan. Neither the relevant lenders
of Jinxin’s syndicated bank loan nor the other sharcholder of
Jinxin have responded to these communications.

(2) The Group and its ultimate holding company has
communicated with relevant government bodies to seek
support for Jinxin’s and the Group’s various efforts in
restructuring the syndicated bank loan, and to seck extension of
the repayment from 26 December 2022 to 31 December 2024.
The Group has not received response to such communication
yet.

o DF A 5 e i

For the year ended 31 December 2023
W E20234FE 1231 H IL4EE

45 I 5 5

e A LB S A A 22 TR RO
IR > A BB S A 4 Jp AR A A9 BE 0 A A
Ekﬁﬂﬁ °

BN ZENIL > AN A E BT EAE
A1 T8 B 4 B AT HL S AT 4 A
ROEFEVERC B > IS A B R
AR B < S B A K LT AU o

% 4 B BT LA s B DA o
G 0 L AT S 40T 7S 2 LB B
JE S

(1)

ALEER202346 29 H 202446
H 19 B B 40 81 [ SR 17 & 3K 10 AH
BN > R A B BN S
¥ EEH AR R i — 2 ik AR
G0 8 1 AR AT BE B AR 4 K g A
B DUV S0 KSR A 2 R H]
BT HAb ] 7 X B &0 T HE
Al b o A2 [ IR OE B 40 HiAh
T Tk 7 22 O i) 4 0 i A AN % SR
Rl DA AE 5 R B o AT AN P
T AN A [ M 28 A ST 3 I 15 e
N RS S PN O R EPN
BRI R AH G [ SR AT 3K~ AR B BT
HERERYFE 5| M40 TH H Y ok 3k 5% 8
FHEAE > DL AR B R N 5
{50 1B AT 0 AR ) R S A T o 22 R )
T HE S 40 8 [ SR AT B A R 2 3 H
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BASIS OF PREPARATION (continued)

4.

132

The Group is also helping Jinxin to negotiate with other
financial institutions to obtain future financing to restructure
the syndicated bank loan and/or further development of the
project of Jinxin. The Group is currently discussing these plans
with all relevant parties including but not limited to the other
shareholder of Jinxin, the relevant lenders of Jinxin’s syndicated
bank loan, and participating financial institutions.

The Group has also formulated following plans and measures to

mitigate the liquidity pressure arising from the other defaults and

improve its cashflows:

(1)

The Group has been proactively communicating with the
other lenders of the Group to explain the Group’s business,
operations, financial condition and cash position. The directors
of the Company are confident to convince the other lenders
not to exercise their rights to request the Group for immediate
repayment of the loans prior to their scheduled contractual
repayment dates.

The Group has been communicating with the Company’s
ultimate holding company and certain related parties to extend
repayment of the certain borrowings which are repayable on
demand. The directors are confident that the extension will
be supported by the ultimate holding company and the related

parties.

The Group has also planned various actions to improve its cash
flows, which mainly include (a) speeding up the presale or sale
the Group’s properties completed or under development and
collection of relevant proceeds; (b) sale of Jinxin at a reasonable
price; (c) collection of settlement for its other receivables from
and loans to its related parties. The directors of the Company
are confident that the Group will be able to successfully and
timely generate cash inflows for the Group from the above-
mentioned actions.

B LR 1 (4

7 45 B IE 7E i B 48 o B At <5 Fl
HARER > LA EAHMEETER
B/ st — A 8 R 0 TH H R
RACHE o 4L M H i IE 8T A A
BH 7wl i o 55 A > AL H R BRA
B AR~ D SR SRAT
B R A B RN B 2 B 1Y 4
5 o

AR [ R B 5T LA w3 R i > DA
] JFC Al 728 46 T 25 A 1) O B0 < TR g I i
HBE&WE

(1)

7 B2 8] — A i BEL A S oL il K
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EHAE OB REAMERAREST
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BASIS OF PREPARATION (continued)

The directors of the Company have reviewed the Group’s cash flow
forecast prepared by the management, which covers a period of not
less than twelve months from 31 December 2023. They are of the
opinion that, taking into account the above-mentioned plans and
measures, and the Group will have sufficient funds to finance its
operations and to meet its financial obligations as and when they
fall due within the next twelve months from the date of issue of this
annual report. Accordingly, the directors of the Company are satisfied
that it is appropriate to prepare the consolidated financial statements
on a going concern basis.

Notwithstanding the above, material multiple uncertainties exist
as to whether the Group is able to achieve its plans and measures as
described above. Whether the Group will be able to continue as a
going concern would depend upon the followings:

(1) successfully persuading the relevant lenders of Jinxin’s
syndicated bank loan to suspend or cease the enforcement of
settlement judgement and grant further necessary extension for
repayment of overdue amounts under the syndicated bank loan,
and agreement by the other sharcholder of Jinxin to provide
funds that are necessary for Jinxin’s repayment of the interests

of the syndicated bank loan;

(2)  maintenance of a continuing and normal business relationship
with the Group’s existing lenders such that no action will be
taken by these lenders to exercise their contractual rights to
demand immediate repayment of the relevant loans;

o DF A 5 e i

For the year ended 31 December 2023
HWE20234F 1231 H L4
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BASIS OF PREPARATION (continued)

4.

134

(6)

successful negotiation with the Company’s parent company,
ultimate holding company, intermediate holding company and
certain related parties of the Group for extension of certain
borrowings due on demand;

successful speed-up and timely collection of proceeds from sales
and presales activities of completed properties and properties
under development, successful and timely sale of the Group’s
investments in certain joint ventures, development project, and
financial assets at a reasonable price, as well as timely collection
of loans to related parties and other receivables from a joint
venture and related parties;

successful in obtaining financial support from the Company’s
shareholders to finance the future development of Jinxin and
the Group’s existing properties under development for sales;
and

successful in receiving the full amount of consideration
according to the milestone of the Disposal Agreement.

Should the Group be unable to achieve the above-mentioned plans

and measures and operate as a going concern, adjustments would have

to be made to write down the carrying values of the Group’s assets

to their recoverable amounts, to provide for any further liabilities

which might arise, and to reclassify non-current assets and non-

current liabilities as current assets and current liabilities, respectively.

The effects of these adjustments have not been reflected in these

consolidated financial statements.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION

The consolidated financial statements incorporate the financial
statements of the Company and entities controlled by the Company
and its subsidiaries. Control is achieved where the Company:

. has power over the investee;

. is exposed, or has rights, to variable returns from its involvement
with the investee; and

. has the ability to use its power to affect its returns.

The Group reassesses whether or not it controls an investee if facts
and circumstances indicate that there are changes to one or more of
the three elements of control listed above.

When the Group has less than a majority of the voting rights of an
investee, it has power over the investee when the voting rights are
sufficient to give it the practical ability to direct the relevant activities
of the investee unilaterally. The Group considers all relevant facts and
circumstances in assessing whether or not the Group’s voting rights in
an investee are sufficient to give it power, including;

. the size of the Group’s holding of voting rights relative to the
size and dispersion of holdings of the other vote holders;

. potential voting rights held by the Group, other vote holders or

other parties;
. rights arising from other contractual arrangements; and
. any additional facts and circumstances that indicate that the

Group has, or does not have, the current ability to direct the
relevant activities at the time that decisions need to be made,
including voting patterns at previous sharcholders” meetings.

Consolidation of a subsidiary begins when the Group obtains control
over the subsidiary and ceases when the Group loses control of the
subsidiary. Specifically, income and expenses of a subsidiary acquired
or disposed of during the year are included in the consolidated
statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income from the
date of the Group gains control until the date when the Group ceases
to control the subsidiary.

5.
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (continued)

Profit or loss and each component of other comprehensive income are
attributed to the owners of the Company and to the non-controlling
interests. Total comprehensive income of subsidiaries is attributed to
the owners of the Company and to the non-controlling interests even
if this results in the non-controlling interests having a deficit balance.

When necessary, adjustments are made to the financial statements of
subsidiaries to bring their accounting policies in line with the Group’s
accounting policies.

All intra-group assets and liabilities, equity, income, expenses and
cash flows relating to transactions between members of the Group are
eliminated in full on consolidation.

Non-controlling interests in subsidiaries are presented separately
from the Group’s equity therein, which represent present ownership
interests entitling their holders to a proportionate share of net assets
of the relevant subsidiaries upon liquidation.

Changes in the Group’s ownership interests in existing subsidiaries

Changes in the Group’s interests in subsidiaries that do not result in
the Group losing control over the subsidiaries are accounted for as
equity transactions. The carrying amounts of the Group’s relevant
components of equity including reserves and the non-controlling
interests are adjusted to reflect the changes in their relative interests in
the subsidiaries.

Any difference between the amount by which the non-controlling
interests are adjusted, and the fair value of the consideration paid or
received is recognised directly in equity and attributed to owners of
the Company.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (continued)

Changes in the Group’s ownership interests in existing subsidiaries

(continued)

When the Group loses control of a subsidiary, the assets and
liabilities of that subsidiary and non-controlling interests (if any)
are derecognised. A gain or loss is recognised in profit or loss and is
calculated as the difference between (i) the aggregate of the fair value
of the consideration received and the fair value of any retained interest
and (ii) the carrying amount of the assets (including goodwill), and
liabilities of the subsidiary attributable to the owners of the Company.
All amounts previously recognised in other comprehensive income
in relation to that subsidiary are accounted for as if the Group had
directly disposed of the related assets or liabilities of the subsidiary
(i.e. reclassified to profit or loss or transferred to another category of
equity as specified/permitted by applicable HKFRSs). The fair value
of any investment retained in the former subsidiary at the date when
control is lost is regarded as the fair value on initial recognition for
subsequent accounting under HKFRS 9 Financial Instruments or,
when applicable, the cost on initial recognition of an investment in an
associate or a joint venture.

A business is an integrated set of activities and assets which includes an
input and a substantive process that together significantly contribute
to the ability to create outputs. The acquired processes are considered
substantive if they are critical to the ability to continue producing
outputs, including an organised workforce with the necessary skills,
knowledge, or experience to perform the related processes or they
significantly contribute to the ability to continue producing outputs
and are considered unique or scarce or cannot be replaced without
significant cost, effort, or delay in the ability to continue producing
outputs.

Acquisitions of businesses are accounted for using the acquisition
method. The consideration transferred in a business combination
is measured at fair value, which is calculated as the sum of the
acquisition—date fair values of the assets transferred by the Group,
liabilities incurred by the Group to the former owners of the acquiree
and the equity interests issued by the Group in exchange for control
of the acquiree. Acquisition-related costs are generally recognised in
profit or loss as incurred.
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (continued)

The identifiable assets acquired and liabilities assumed must meet the
definitions of an asset and a liability in the Conceptual Framework
for Financial Reporting 2018 issued in June 2018 (the “Conceptual
Framework”) except for transactions and events within the scope of
HKAS 37 Provisions, Contingent Liabilities and Contingent Assets
or Hong Kong (IFRIC) Interpretation (“HK(IFRIC)-Int”) 21, in
which the Group applies HKAS 37 or HK(IFRIC)-Int 21 instead of
the Conceptual Framework to identify the liabilities it has assumed in
abusiness combination. Contingent assets are not recognised.

At the acquisition date, the identifiable assets acquired and the
liabilities assumed are recognised at their fair value, except that:

o deferred tax assets or liabilities, and assets or liabilities related
to employee benefit arrangements are recognised and measured
in accordance with HKAS 12 Income Taxes and HKAS 19
Employee Benefits respectively;

. liabilities or equity instruments related to share-based
payment arrangements of the acquiree or share-based payment
arrangements of the Group entered into to replace share-
based payment arrangements of the acquiree are measured
in accordance with HKFRS 2 Share-based Payment at the
acquisition date;

. assets (or disposal groups) that are classified as held for sale in
accordance with HKFRS S Non-current Assets held for Sale
and Discontinued Operations are measured in accordance with
that standard; and

. leases liabilities are recognised and measured at the present
value of the remaining lease payments (as defined in HKFRS
16 Leases) as if the acquired leases were new leases at the
acquisition date, except for leases for which (i) the lease
term ends within 12 months of the acquisition date; or (ii)
the underlying assets is of low value. Right-of-use assets are
recognised and measured at the same amount as the relevant
lease liabilities, adjusted to reflect favourable or unfavourable
terms of the lease when compared with market terms.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (continued)

Goodwill is measured as the excess of the sum of the consideration
transferred, the amount of any non-controlling interests in the
acquiree, and the fair value of the acquirer’s previously held
equity interest in the acquiree (if any) over the net amounts of the
identifiable assets acquired and the liabilities assumed as at acquisition
date. If; after re-assessment, the net amount of the acquisition-date
amounts of the identifiable assets acquired and liabilities assumed
exceeds the sum of the consideration transferred, the amount of any
non-controlling interests in the acquiree and the fair value of the
acquirer’s previously held interest in the acquiree (if any), the excess is
recognised immediately in profit or loss as a bargain purchase gain.

Non-controlling interests that are present ownership interests
and entitle their holders to a proportionate share of the relevant
subsidiary’s net assets in the event of liquidation are initially measured
either at fair value or at the non-controlling interests” proportionate
share of the recognised amounts of the acquiree’s identifiable net
assets. The choice of measurement basis is made on a transaction-by-
transaction basis.

When a business combination is achieved in stages, the Group’s
previously held equity interest in the acquiree is remeasured to fair
value at the acquisition date (i.c. the date when the Group obtains
control), and the resulting gain or loss, if any, is recognised in profit
or loss or other comprehensive income, as appropriate. Amounts
arising from interests in the acquiree prior to the acquisition date that
have previously been recognised in other comprehensive income and
measured under HKFRS 9 would be accounted for on the same basis
as would be required if the Group has disposed directly of the previous
held equity interest.

If the initial accounting for a business combination is incomplete by
the end of the reporting period in which the combination occurs,
the Group reports provisional amounts for the items for which the
accounting is incomplete. Those provisional amounts are adjusted
retrospectively during the measurement period, and additional assets
or liabilities are recognised, to reflect new information obtained about
facts and circumstances that existed at the acquisition date that, if
known, would have affected the amounts recognised at that date.
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (continued)

Goodwill arising on an acquisition of a business is carried at cost
as established at the date of acquisition of the business (see the
accounting policy above) less accumulated impairment losses, if any.

For the purposes of impairment testing, goodwill is allocated to each
of the Group’s cash-generating units (“CGUs”) (or group of CGUs)
that is expected to benefit from the synergies of the combination,
which represent the lowest level at which the goodwill is amortised
for internal management purposes and not larger than an operating
segment.

A CGU (or group of CGUs) to which goodwill has been allocated is
tested for impairment annually or more frequently when there is an
indication that the unit may be impaired. For goodwill arising on an
acquisition in a reporting period, the CGU (or group of CGUs) to
which goodwill has been allocated is tested for impairment before the
end of that reporting period. If the recoverable amount is less than its
carrying amount, the impairment loss is allocated first to reduce the
carrying amount of any goodwill allocated to the unit and then to the
other assets on a pro-rata basis based on the carrying amount of each

asset in the unit (or group of CGUs).

On disposal of the relevant CGU or any of the CGU within the group
of CGUs, the attributable amount of goodwill is included in the
determination of the amount of profit or loss on disposal. When the
Group disposes of an operation within the CGU (or a CGU within a
group of CGUs), the amount of goodwill disposed of is measured on
the basis of the relative values of the operation (or the CGU) disposed
of and the portion of the CGU (or the group of CGUs) retained.

The Group’s policy for goodwill arising on the acquisition of joint
ventures and associates is set out in “Investments in associates and
joint ventures” below.

An associate is an entity over which the Group has significant
influence. Significant influence is the power to participate in the
financial and operating policy decisions of the investee but is not
control or joint control over those policies.

A joint venture is a joint arrangement whereby the parties that have
joint control of the arrangement have rights to the net assets of the
joint arrangement. Joint control is the contractually agreed sharing of
control of an arrangement, which exists only when decisions about the
relevant activities require unanimous consent of the parties sharing
control.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (continued)

The results and assets and liabilities of associates and joint ventures
are incorporated in these consolidated financial statements using the
equity method of accounting. The financial statements of associates
and joint ventures used for equity accounting purposes are prepared
using uniform accounting policies as those of the Group for like
transactions and events in similar circumstances. For associates and
joint ventures that use accounting policies that differ from those of
the Group for like transactions and events in similar circumstances,
appropriate adjustments have been made to conform the associate’s
and the joint venture’s accounting policies to those of the Group.
Under the equity method, an investment in an associate or a joint
venture is initially recognised in the consolidated statement of
financial position at cost and adjusted thereafter to recognise the
Group’s share of the profit or loss and other comprehensive income
of the associate or joint venture. When the Group’s share of losses
of an associate or a joint venture exceeds the Group’s interest in that
associate or joint venture (which includes any long-term interests that,
in substance, form part of the Group’s net investment in the associate
or joint venture), the Group discontinues recognising its share of
further losses. Additional losses are recognised only to the extent that
the Group has incurred legal or constructive obligations or made
payments on behalf of the associate or joint venture.

An investment in an associate or a joint venture is accounted for using
the equity method from the date on which the investee becomes an
associate or a joint venture. On acquisition of the investment in an
associate or a joint venture, any excess of the cost of the investment
over the Group’s share of the net fair value of the identifiable assets
and liabilities of the investee is recognised as goodwill, which is
included within the carrying amount of the investment. Any excess
of the Group’s share of the net fair value of the identifiable assets
and liabilities over the cost of the investment, after reassessment, is
recognised immediately in profit or loss in the period in which the
investment is acquired.
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (continued)

The Group assesses whether there is an objective evidence that the
interest in an associate or a joint venture may be impaired. When any
objective evidence exists, the entire carrying amount of the investment
(including goodwill) is tested for impairment in accordance with
HKAS 36 as a single asset by comparing its recoverable amount (higher
of value in use and fair value less costs of disposal) with its carrying
amount. Any impairment loss recognised is not allocated to any
asset, including goodwill, that forms part of the carrying amount of
the investment. Any reversal of that impairment loss is recognised in
accordance with HKAS 36 to the extent that the recoverable amount
of the investment subsequently increases.

When the Group ceases to have significant influence over an
associate or joint control over a joint venture, it is accounted for as
a disposal of the entire interest in the investee with a resulting gain
or loss being recognised in profit or loss. When the Group retains
an interest in the former associate or joint venture and the retained
interest is a financial asset within the scope of HKFRS 9, the Group
measures the retained interest at fair value at that date and the fair
value is regarded as its fair value on initial recognition. The difference
between the carrying amount of the associate or joint venture and the
fair value of any retained interest and any proceeds from disposing
of the relevant interest in the associate or joint venture is included
in the determination of the gain or loss on disposal of the associate
or joint venture. In addition, the Group accounts for all amounts
previously recognised in other comprehensive income in relation to
that associate or joint venture on the same basis as would be required
if that associate or joint venture had directly disposed of the related
assets or liabilities. Therefore, if a gain or loss previously recognised in
other comprehensive income by that associate or joint venture would
be reclassified to profit or loss on the disposal of the related assets or
liabilities, the Group reclassifies the gain or loss from equity to profit
or loss (as a reclassification adjustment) upon disposal/partial disposal
of the relevant associate or joint venture.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (continued)

Investments in associates and joint ventures (continued)

When a group entity transacts with an associate or a joint venture of
the Group, profits and losses resulting from the transactions with the
associate or joint venture are recognised in the consolidated financial
statements only to the extent of interests in the associate or joint
venture that are not related to the Group.

Accounting policies of associates and joint ventures are changed
where necessary to ensure consistency with the policies adopted by the
Group.

When an investment in an associate or a joint venture is classified as
held for sale, it is accounted for in accordance with HKFRS 5 Non-
current Assets Held for Sale and Discontinued Operations.

Clmngcs in the Group’s investments in associates an d
Jjoint ventures

The Group continues to use the equity method when an investment
in an associate becomes an investment in a joint venture or an
investment in a joint venture becomes an investment in an associate.
There is no remeasurement to fair value upon such changes in
ownership interests.

When the Group reduces its ownership interest in an associate or a
joint venture but the Group continues to use the equity method, the
Group reclassifies to profit or loss the proportion of the gain or loss
that had previously been recognised in other comprehensive income
relating to that reduction in ownership interest if that gain or loss
would be reclassified to profit or loss on the disposal of the related
assets or liabilities.
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (continued)

Non-current assets and disposal groups are classified as held for sale
if their carrying amounts will be recovered principally through a sale
transaction rather than through continuing use. Such classification
requires the asset or disposal group must be available for immediate
sale in its present condition subject only to terms that are usual and
customary for sales of such asset or disposal group and its sale is highly
probable. Management must be committed to the sale, which should
be expected to qualify for recognition as a completed sale within one
year from the date of classification.

When the Group is committed to a sale plan involving loss of control
of a subsidiary, all of the assets and liabilities of that subsidiary are
classified as held for sale when the criteria described above are met,
regardless of whether the Group will retain a non-controlling interest
in the relevant subsidiary after the sale.

When the Group is committed to a sale plan involving disposal of
an investment, or a portion of an investment, in an associate or joint
venture, the investment or the portion of the investment that will
be disposed of is classified as held for sale when the criteria described
above are met, and the Group discontinues the use of the equity
method in relation to the portion that is classified as held for sale
from the time when the investment (or a portion of the investment) is

classified as held for sale.

Non-current assets and disposal groups classified as held for sale are
measured at the lower of their previous carrying amount and fair
value less costs to sell, except for financial assets within the scope of
HKEFRS 9 and investment properties, which continue to be measured
in accordance with the accounting policies.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (continued)

Revenue fi’()IH contracts w "1'['11 customers

The Group recognises revenue when (or as) a performance obligation
is satisfied, i.e. when “control” of the goods or services underlying the
particular performance obligation is transferred to the customers.

A performance obligation represents a good or service (or a bundle
of goods or services) that is distinct or a series of distinct goods or
services that are substantially the same.

Control is transferred over time and revenue is recognised over time
by reference to the progress towards complete satisfaction of the
relevant performance obligation if one of the following criteria is met:

. the customer simultancously receives and consumes the benefits
provided by the Group’s performance as the Group performs;

. the Group’s performance creates or enhances an asset that the
customer controls as the asset is created or enhanced; or

. the Group’s performance does not create an asset with an
alternative use to the Group and the Group has an enforceable
right to payment for performance completed to date.

Otherwise, revenue is recognised at a point in time when the customer
obtains control of the distinct good or service.

A contract asset represents the Group’s right to consideration in
exchange for goods or services that the Group has transferred to a
customer that is not yet unconditional. It is assessed for impairment
in accordance with HKFRS 9. In contrast, a receivable represents the
Group’s unconditional right to consideration, i.e. only the passage of
time is required before payment of that consideration is due.
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (continued)

5.

146

A contract liability represents the Group’s obligation to transfer

goods or services to a customer for which the Group has received

consideration (or an amount of consideration is due) from the

customer.

A contract asset and a contract liability relating to the same contract

are accounted for and presented on a net basis.

For details of the Group’s revenue recognition policies are as follows:

(a)

Property development

For property development and sales contracts for which
the control of the property is transferred at a point in time,
revenue is recognised when the customer obtains the control
of the completed property and the Group has present right to
payment and the collection of the consideration is probable.

For property development and sale contracts for which the
control of the property is transferred at a point in time, deposits
and instalments received from purchasers prior to delivery
of the properties to the customers are recognised as contract
liabilities in the consolidated statement of financial position. A
contract liability represents the Group’s obligation to transfer
goods or services to a customer for which the Group has
received consideration (or an amount of consideration is due)
from the customer.

Property leasing

Operating lease income from investment properties is
recognised on the straight-line basis over the lease term,
which is the non-cancellable period for which the lessee has
contracted to lease the properties together with any further
terms for which the lessee has the option to continue to lease
the properties, with or without further payments, when it is
reasonably certain that the lessee will exercise the option at the
inception of the lease.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (continued)

Revenue from contracts with customers (continued)
(c)  Construction of infrastructure for intelligent network

Revenue from the construction of infrastructure for intelligent
network is recognised as follows:

When the outcome of a construction contract can be estimated
reliably, contract revenue and contract costs are recognised
over the time in which construction is conducted, respectively,
as revenues and expenses. The Group uses the percentage
of completion method (output method) to determine the
appropriate amount of revenue and costs to be recognised over
time. When the outcome of a construction contract cannot be
estimated reliably, contract revenue is recognised only to the
extent of contract costs incurred and it is probable that such
costs incurred will be recovered.

(d)  Property management service

Revenue from property management service is recognised in the
accounting period in which the services are rendered.

()  Hospital service

The Group operates a hospital to provide obstetrical and
gynecological services to the customer. The services include:

(i)  out-patient services;

(ii)  sale of relevant pharmaceutical products;

(iii) obstetrical operation; and

(iv) in-patient postpartum care service.

Revenue from (i) to (iii) is recognised at a point in time when
the customer obtains the control of the completed services or
pharmaceutical products and the Group has the present right
to payment and the collection of consideration is probable.
Revenue from (iv) is recognised over the service period when

the customer simultaneously receives the services and consumes
the benefits provided by the Group’s performance.
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (continued)

Incremental costs of obtaining a contract

Incremental costs of obtaining a contract are those costs that the
Group incurs to obtain a contract with a customer that it would not
have incurred if the contract had not been obtained.

The Group recognises such costs (mainly sales commissions) as an
asset if it expects to recover these costs. The asset so recognised is
subsequently amortised to profit or loss on a systematic basis that is
consistent with the transfer to the customer of the goods or services to
which the assets relate.

The Group applies the practical expedient of expensing all
incremental costs to obtain a contract if these costs would otherwise
have been fully amortised to profit or loss within one year.

Definition of a lease

A contract is, or contains, a lease if the contract conveys the right to
control the use of an identified asset for a period of time in exchange

for consideration.

For contracts entered into or modified on or after the date of initial
application of HKFRS 16 or arising from business combinations,
the Group assesses whether a contract is or contains a lease based on
the definition under HKFRS 16 at inception, modification date or
acquisition date, as appropriate. Such contract will not be reassessed
unless the terms and conditions of the contract are subsequently
changed. As a practical expedient, leases with similar characteristics
are accounted on a portfolio basis when the Group reasonably expects
that the effects on the consolidated financial statements would not

differ materially from individual leases within the portfolio.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (continued)

Leases (continued)
The Group as a lessce
Allocation of consideration to components of a contract

For a contract that contains a lease component and one or more
additional lease or non-lease components, the Group allocates the
consideration in the contract to each lease component on the basis of
the relative stand-alone price of the lease component and the aggregate
stand-alone price of the non-lease components, including contract
for acquisition of ownership interests of a property which includes
both leasechold land and non-lease building components, unless
such allocation cannot be made reliably. Non-lease components are
separated from lease component on the basis of their relative stand-
alone prices are accounted for by applying other applicable standards.

Short-term leases and leases of low-value assets

The Group applies the short-term lease recognition exemption to
leases of buildings, office equipment and transportation vehicles that
have a lease term of 12 months or less from the commencement date
and do not contain a purchase option. It also applies the recognition
exemption for lease of low-value assets. Lease payments on short-term
leases and leases of low-value assets are recognised as expense on a
straight-line basis or another systematic basis over the lease term.
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (continued)

The Group as a lessee (continued)

Right-of-use assets

The cost of right-of-use asset includes:

. the amount of the initial measurement of the lease liability;

. any lease payments made at or before the commencement date,
less any lease incentives received;

. any initial direct costs incurred by the Group; and

. an estimate of costs to be incurred by the Group in dismantling
and removing the underlying assets, restoring the site on which
it is located or restoring the underlying asset to the condition
required by the terms and conditions of the lease.

Except for those that are classified as investment properties and
measured under fair value model, right-of-use assets are measured at
cost, less any accumulated depreciation and impairment losses, and
adjusted for any remeasurement of lease liabilities.

Right-of-use assets in which the Group is reasonably certain to obtain
ownership of the underlying leased assets at the end of the lease term
are depreciated from commencement date to the end of the useful life.
Otherwise, right-of-use assets are depreciated on a straight-line basis
over the shorter of its estimated useful life and the lease term.

The Group presents right-of-use assets that do not meet the
definition of investment property or inventory as a separate line item
on the consolidated statement of financial position. Right of-use
assets that meet the definition of investment property and inventory
are presented within “investment properties” and “inventories of
properties”, respectively.

Refundable rental deposits

Refundable rental deposits paid are accounted under HKFRS 9 and
initially measured at fair value. Adjustments to fair value at initial
recognition are considered as additional lease payments and included
in the cost of right-of-use assets.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (continued)

The Group as a lessee (continued)
Lease liabilities

At the commencement date of a lease, the Group recognises and
measures the lease liability at the present value of lease payments
that are unpaid at that date. In calculating the present value of lease
payments, the Group uses the incremental borrowing rate at the lease
commencement date if the interest rate implicit in the lease is not
readily determinable.

The lease payments include: fixed payments (including in-substance
fixed payments) less any lease incentives receivable.

After the commencement date, lease liabilities are adjusted by interest
accretion and lease payments.

The Group presents lease liabilities as a separate line item on the
consolidated statement of financial position.

Lease modifications

The Group accounts for a lease modification as a separate lease if:

. the modification increases the scope of the lease by adding the
right to use one or more underlying assets; and

. the consideration for the leases increases by an amount
commensurate with the stand-alone price for the increase in
scope and any appropriate adjustments to that stand-alone
price to reflect the circumstances of the particular contract.

For a lease modification that is not accounted for as a separate lease,
the Group remeasures the lease liability based on the lease term of
the modified lease by discounting the revised lease payments using a
revised discount rate at the effective date of the modification.

The Group accounts for the remeasurement of lease liabilities by
making corresponding adjustments to the relevant right-of-use asset.
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (continued)

Leases (continued)

The Group as a lessor

Classification and measurement of leases

All other leases are classified as operating leases.

Rental income from operating leases is recognised in profit or loss on
a straight-line basis over the term of the relevant lease. Initial direct
costs incurred in negotiating and arranging an operating lease are
added to the carrying amount of the leased asset, and such costs are
recognised as an expense on a straight-line basis over the lease term
except for investment properties measured under fair value model.
Variable lease payments that do not depend on an index or a rate are
recognised as income when they arise.

Rental income which are derived from the Group’s ordinary course of
business are presented as revenue

Foreign currencies

In preparing the financial statements of each individual group entity,
transactions in currencies other than the functional currency of that
entity (foreign currencies) are recognised at the rates of exchanges
prevailing on the dates of the transactions. At the end of the reporting
period, monetary items denominated in foreign currencies are
retranslated at the rates prevailing at that date. Non- monetary items
carried at fair value that are denominated in foreign currencies are
retranslated at the rates prevailing on the date when the fair value
was determined. Non-monetary items that are measured in terms of
historical cost in a foreign currency are not retranslated.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (continued)

Exchange differences arising on the settlement of monetary items,
and on the retranslation of monetary items, are recognised in profit or
loss in the period in which they arise, except for exchange differences
on monetary items receivable from or payable to a foreign operation
for which settlement is neither planned nor likely to occur (therefore
forming part of the net investment in the foreign operation), which
are recognised initially in other comprehensive income and reclassified
from equity to profit or loss on disposal or partial disposal of the
Group’s interests in associates or joint ventures.

For the purposes of presenting these consolidated financial statements,
the assets and liabilities of the Group’s foreign operations are
translated into presentation currency (i.e. RMB) using exchange rates
prevailing at the end of each reporting period. Income and expense
items are translated at the average exchange rates for the period, unless
exchange rates fluctuate significantly during that period, in which case
the exchange rates at the dates of the transactions are used. Exchange
differences arising, if any, are recognised in other comprehensive
income and accumulated in equity under the heading of exchange
fluctuation reserve (and attributed to non-controlling interests as

appropriate).

On the disposal of a foreign operation (i.c. a disposal of the Group’s
entire interest in a foreign operation, or a disposal involving loss
of control over a subsidiary that includes a foreign operation, or a
partial disposal of an interest in an associate or joint arrangement that
includes a foreign operation of which the retained interest becomes
a financial asset), all of the exchange differences accumulated in
equity in respect of that operation attributable to the owners of the
Company are reclassified to profit or loss.

In addition, in relation to a partial disposal of a subsidiary that
includes a foreign operation that does not result in the Group losing
control over the subsidiary, the proportionate share of accumulated
exchange differences are re-attributed to non-controlling interests
and are not recognised in profit or loss. For all other partial disposals
(ie. partial disposals of associate or joint arrangements that do not
result in the Group losing significant influence or joint control),
the proportionate share of the accumulated exchange differences is
reclassified to profit or loss.
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (continued)

Borrow 'illg COSts

Borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition, construction
or production of qualifying assets, which are assets that necessarily
take a substantial period of time to get ready for their intended use or
sale, are added to the cost of those assets until such time as the assets
are substantially ready for their intended use or sale.

Any specific borrowing that remain outstanding after the related
asset is ready for its intended use or sale is included in the general
borrowing pool for calculation of capitalisation rate on general
borrowings. Investment income earned on the temporary investment
of specific borrowing pending their expenditure on qualifying assets is
deducted from the borrowing costs eligible for capitalisation.

All other borrowing costs are recognised in profit or loss in the period
in which they are incurred.

Employee Benefits
Retirement benefit costs

Payments to defined contribution retirement benefit plans and
stated-managed retirement benefit schemes are recognised as an
expense when employees have rendered service entitling them to the
contributions.

Short-term employee benefits

Short-term employee benefits are recognised at the undiscounted
amount of the benefits expected to be paid as and when employees
rendered the services. All short-term employee benefits are recognised
as an expense unless another HKFRS requires or permits the inclusion
of the benefit in the cost of an asset.

A liability is recognised for benefits accruing to employees (such as
wages and salaries, annual leave and sick leave) after deducting any
amount already paid.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (continued)

Share-based payments

The Group operates an equity-settled, share-based compensation
plan, under which the entity receives services from employees as
consideration for equity instruments (options) of the Group. The fair
value of the employee services received in exchange for the grant of the
options is recognised as an expense. The total amount to be expensed
is determined by reference to the fair value of the options granted:

. including any market performance conditions;

. excluding the impact of any service and non-market
performance vesting conditions; and

. including the impact of any non-vesting conditions.

At the end of each reporting period, the Group revises its estimates
of the number of options that are expected to vest based on the non-
marketing performance and service conditions. It recognises the
impact of the revision to original estimates, if any, in the statement of
profit or loss, with a corresponding adjustment to equity.

In addition, in some circumstances employees may provide services
in advance of the grant date and therefore the grant date fair value
is estimated for the purposes of recognising the expense during the
period between service commencement period and grant date.

When the options are exercised, the Company issues new shares. The
proceeds received net of any directly attributable transaction costs are
credited to share capital.

The grant by the Company of options over its equity instruments to
the employees of subsidiary undertakings in the Group is treated as
a capital contribution. The fair value of employee services received,
measured by reference to the grant date fair value, is recognised
over the vesting period as an increase to investment in subsidiary
undertakings, with a corresponding credit to equity in the parent
entity accounts.
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (continued)

Income tax expense represents the sum of current and deferred
income tax expense.

The tax currently payable is based on taxable profit for the year.
Taxable profit differs from profit before tax because of income or
expense that are taxable or deductible in other years and items that
are never taxable or deductible. The Group’s liability for current tax
is calculated using tax rates that have been enacted by the end of the
reporting period.

Deferred tax is recognised on temporary differences between the
carrying amounts of assets and liabilities in the consolidated financial
statements and the corresponding tax base used in the computation
of taxable profit. Deferred tax liabilities are generally recognised for
all taxable temporary differences. Deferred tax assets are generally
recognised for all deductible temporary differences to the extent
that it is probable that taxable profits will be available against which
those deductible temporary differences can be utilised. Such assets
and liabilities are not recognised if the temporary difference arises
from goodwill or from the initial recognition (other than in a
business combination) of assets and liabilities in a transaction that
affects neither the taxable profit nor the accounting profit and at
the time of the transaction does not give rise to equal taxable and
deductible temporary differences. In addition, deferred tax liabilities
are not recognised if the temporary difference arises from the initial
recognition of goodwill.

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for taxable temporary differences
arising on investments in subsidiaries and interests in associates and
joint ventures, except where the Group is able to control the reversal
of the temporary difference and it is probable that the temporary
difference will not reverse in the foreseeable future. Deferred tax assets
arising from deductible temporary differences associated with such
investments and interests are only recognised to the extent that it is
probable that there will be sufficient taxable profits against which to
utilise the benefits of the temporary differences and they are expected
to reverse in the foreseeable future.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at the end of
the reporting period and reduced to the extent that it is no longer
probable that sufficient taxable profits will be available to allow all or
part of the asset to be recovered.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (continued)

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax rates that are
expected to apply in the period when the liability is settled or the asset
is realised, based on tax rates (and tax laws) that have been enacted or
substantively enacted by the end of the reporting period.

The measurement of deferred tax liabilities and assets reflects the tax
consequences that would follow from the manner in which the Group
expects, at the end of the reporting period, to recover or settle the
carrying amount of its assets and liabilities.

For the purposes of measuring deferred tax for investment properties
that are measured using the fair value model, the carrying amounts of
such properties are presumed to be recovered entirely through sale,
unless the presumption is rebutted. The presumption is rebutted
when the investment property is depreciable and is held within a
business model whose objective is to consume substantially all of the
economic benefits embodied in the investment property over time,
rather than through sale, except for frechold land, which is always
presumed to be recovered entirely through sale. If the presumption
is rebutted, deferred tax liabilities and deferred tax assets for such
investment properties are measured in accordance with the above
general principles set out in HKAS 12 (i.e. based on the expected
manner as to how the properties will be recovered).

For the purposes of measuring deferred tax for leasing transactions
in which the Group recognises the right-of-use assets and the related
lease liabilities, the Group first determines whether the tax deductions
are attributable to the right-of-use assets or the lease liabilities.

For leasing transactions in which the tax deductions are attributable
to the lease liabilities, the Group applies HKAS 12 requirements
to the lease liabilities and the related assets separately. The Group
recognises a deferred tax asset related to lease liabilities to the extent
that it is probable that taxable profit will be available against which
the deductible temporary difference can be utilised and a deferred tax
liability for all taxable temporary differences.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset when there is a legally
enforceable right to set off current tax assets against current tax
liabilities and when they relate to income taxes levied to the same
taxable entity by the same taxation authority.
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (continued)

Current and deferred tax are recognised in profit or loss, except when
it relates to items that are recognised in other comprehensive income
or directly in equity, in which case, the current and deferred tax are
also recognised in other comprehensive income or directly in equity
respectively. Where current tax or deferred tax arises from the initial
accounting for a business combination, the tax effect is included in the
accounting for the business combination.

Property, plant and equipment are tangible assets that are held for use
in the production or supply of goods or services, or for administrative
purposes are stated in the consolidated statement of financial position
at cost less subsequent accumulated depreciation and subsequent
accumulated impairment losses, if any.

When the Group makes payments for ownership interests of
properties which includes both leasehold land and building elements,
the entire consideration is allocated between the leasehold land and
the building elements in proportion to the relative fair values at initial
recognition. To the extent the allocation of the relevant payments can
be made reliably, interest in leasehold land is presented as “right-of-
use assets” in the consolidated statement of financial position except
for those that are classified and accounted for as investment properties
under the fair value model. When the consideration cannot be
allocated reliably between non-lease building element and undivided
interest in the underlying leasehold land, the entire properties are
classified as property, plant and equipment.

If a property becomes an investment property because its use has
changed as evidenced by end of owner-occupation, any difference
between the carrying amount and the fair value of that item (including
the relevant leasehold land classified as right-of-use assets) at the
date of transfer is recognised in other comprehensive income and
accumulated in revaluation reserve. On the subsequent sale or
retirement of the property, the relevant revaluation reserve will be
transferred directly to accumulated losses.

Depreciation is recognised so as to write off the cost of assets less their
residual values over their estimated useful lives, using the straight-line
method. The estimated useful lives, residual values and depreciation
method are reviewed at the end of each reporting period, with the
effect of any changes in estimate accounted for on a prospective basis.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (continued)

Property, plant and equipment (continued)

An item of property, plant and equipment is derecognised upon
disposal or when no future economic benefits are expected to arise
from the continued use of the asset. Any gain or loss rising on the
disposal or retirement of an item of property, plant and equipment
is determined as the difference between the sales proceeds and the
carrying amount of the asset and is recognised in profit or loss.

Investment properties

Investment properties are properties and/or land held to earn rentals
and/or for capital appreciation (including investment properties
under construction for such purpose).

Investment properties are initially measured at cost, including
directly attributable expenditure. Subsequent to initial recognition,
investment properties are measured at their fair values, adjusted to
exclude any prepaid or accrued operating lease income.

Gains or losses arising from changes in the fair value of investment
properties are included in profit or loss for the period in which they
arise.

An investment property is derecognised upon disposal or when the
investment property is permanently withdrawn from use and no
future economic benefits are expected from its disposals. A leased
property which is recognised as a right-of-use asset is derecognised if
the Group as intermediate lessor classifies the sublease as a finance
lease. Any gain or loss arising on derecognition of the property
(calculated as the difference between the net disposal proceeds and the
carrying amount of the asset) is included in profit or loss in the period
in which the property is derecognised.
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (continued)

Im 1).’1i1'111 ent on 1)1'01)(_‘1'{’ )2 [)1"111 tand cq 111'1)111 ent and I'I'gb t-

of-use assets

At the end of the reporting period, the Group reviews the carrying
amounts of its property, plant and equipment and right-of-use
assets to determine whether there is any indication that these assets
have suffered an impairment loss. If any such indication exists, the
recoverable amount of the relevant asset is estimated in order to
determine the extent of the impairment loss, if any.

The recoverable amount of property, plant and equipment and right-
of-use assets are estimated individually. When it is not possible to
estimate the recoverable amount individually, the Group estimates the
recoverable amount of the cash-generating unit (“CGU”) to which
the asset belongs.

In testinga CGU for impairment, corporate assets are allocated to the
relevant CGU when a reasonable and consistent basis of allocation
can be established, or otherwise they are allocated to the smallest
group of CGUs for which a reasonable and consistent allocation basis
can be established. The recoverable amount is determined for the
CGU or group of CGUs to which the corporate asset belongs, and is
compared with the carrying amount of the relevant CGU or group of
CGUs.

Recoverable amount is the higher of fair value less costs of disposal and
value in use. In assessing value in use, the estimated future cash flows
are discounted to their present value using a pre-tax discount rate that
reflects current market assessments of the time value of money and the
risks specific to the asset (or a CGU) for which the estimates of future
cash flows have not been adjusted.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (continued)

If the recoverable amount of an asset (or a CGU) is estimated to be
less than its carrying amount, the carrying amount of the asset (or a
CGU) is reduced to its recoverable amount. For corporate assets or
portion of corporate assets which cannot be allocated on a reasonable
and consistent basis to a CGU, the group compares the carrying
amount of a group of CGUs, including the carrying amounts of the
corporate assets or portion of corporate assets allocated to that group
of CGUs, with the recoverable amount of the group of CGUs. In
allocating the impairment loss, the impairment loss is allocated first to
reduce the carrying amount of any goodwill (if applicable) and then
to the other assets on a pro-rata basis based on the carrying amount
of each asset in the unit or the group of CGUs. The carrying amount
of an asset is not reduced below the highest of its fair value less costs
of disposal (if measurable), its value in use (if determinable) and zero.
The amount of the impairment loss that would otherwise have been
allocated to the asset is allocated pro rata to the other assets of the unit
or the group of CGUs. An impairment loss is recognised immediately
in profit or loss.

Where an impairment loss subsequently reverses, the carrying amount
of the asset (or a CGU or the group of CGUs) is increased to the
revised estimate of its recoverable amount, but so that the increased
carrying amount does not exceed the carrying amount that would
have been determined had no impairment loss been recognised for
the asset (or a CGU) in prior years. A reversal of an impairment loss is
recognised immediately in profit or loss.

Properties held for/under development which are intended to be
sold upon completion of development and properties for sales are
classified as current assets. Except for the leaschold land element
which is measured at cost model in accordance with the accounting
policies of right-of-use assets, properties held for/under development/
held for sales are carried at the lower of cost and net realisable value
(“NRV”). Cost is determined on a specific identification basis
including allocation of the related development expenditure incurred
and where appropriate, borrowing costs capitalised. Net realisable
value represents the estimated selling price for the properties less
estimated cost to completion and costs necessary to make the sales.
Costs necessary to make the sale include incremental costs directly
attributable to the sale and non-incremental costs which the Group
must incur to make the sale.
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (continued)

Inventories of properties (continued)

Properties held for/under development are transferred to properties
held for sales upon completion.

The Group transfers a property from property held for sales to
investment property when there is a change in use to hold the
property to earn rentals or/and for capital appreciation rather than
for sale in the ordinary course of business, which is evidenced by
the inception of an operating lease to another party. Any difference
between the fair value of the property at the date of transfer and its
previous carrying amount is recognised in profit or loss.

Other inventories

Inventories represent trading merchandises are stated at the lower of
cost and net realisable value. Costs of inventories are determined on
a first-in-first-out basis. Net realisable value represents the estimated
selling price for inventories less all estimated costs of completion and
costs necessary to make the sale. Costs necessary to make the sale
include incremental costs directly attributable to the sale and non-
incremental costs which the Group must incur to make the sale.

Cash and cash equivalents

In the consolidated statement of cash flows, cash and cash equivalents
include cash on hand, deposits held at call with banks and other short-
term highly liquid investments with original maturities of generally
three months or less that are readily convertible into known amounts
of cash, subject to an insignificant risk of changes in value and held
for the purpose of meeting short-term cash commitments, less bank
overdrafts which are repayable on demand and form an integral part
of the Group’s cash management.

Investments in subsidiaries
Investments in subsidiaries is stated on the statement of financial

position of the Company at cost less accumulated impairment loss, if
any.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (continued)

Provisions are recognised when the Group has a present obligation
as a result of a past event, and it is probable that the Group will be
required to settle that obligation, and a reliable estimate can be made
of the amount of the obligation.

The amount recognised as a provision is the best estimate of the
consideration required to settle the present obligation at the end of
the reporting period, taking into account the risks and uncertainties
surrounding the obligation. When a provision is measured using
the cash flows estimated to settle the present obligation, its carrying
amount is the present value of those cash flows (where the effect of
the time value of money is material).

A contingent liability is a present obligation arising from past events
but is not recognised because it is not probable that an outflow of
resources embodying economic benefits will be required to settle the
obligation.

Where the Group is jointly and severally liable for an obligation,
the part of the obligation that is expected to be met by other parties
is treated as a contingent liability and it is not recognised in the
consolidated financial statements.

The Group assesses continually to determine whether an outflow of
resources embodying economic benefits has become probable. If it
becomes probable that an outflow of future economic benefits will
be required for an item previously dealt with as a contingent liability,
a provision is recognised in the consolidated financial statements in
the reporting period in which the change in probability occurs, except
in the extremely rare circumstances where no reliable estimate can be
made.

Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised when a group
entity becomes a party to the contractual provisions of the instrument.
All regular way purchases or sales of financial assets are recognised
and derecognised on a trade date basis. Regular way purchases or sales
are purchascs or sales of financial assets that require delivery of assets
within the time frame established by regulation or convention in the
market place.
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (continued)

Financial assets and financial liabilities are initially measured at
fair value except for trade receivables arising from contracts with
customers which are initially measured in accordance with HKFRS
15 Revenue from contracts with customers. Transaction costs that
are directly attributable to the acquisition or issue of financial assets
and financial liabilities are added to or deducted from the fair value
of the financial assets or financial liabilities, as appropriate, on initial
recognition.

The effective interest method is a method of calculating the amortised
cost of a financial asset or financial liability and of allocating interest
income and interest expense over the relevant period. The effective
interest rate is the rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash
receipts and payment (including all fees and points paid or received
that form an integral part of the effective interest rate, transaction
costs and other premiums or discounts) through the expected life of
the financial asset or financial liability, or, where appropriate, a shorter
period, to the net carrying amount on initial recognition.

Financial assets
Classification and subsequent measurement of financial assets

Financial assets that meet the following conditions are subsequently
measured at amortised cost:

. the financial asset is held within a business model whose
objective is to hold financial assets in order to collect
contractual cash flows; and

. the contractual terms of the financial assets give rise on specified
dates to cash flows that are solely payments of principal and
interest on the principal amount outstanding

Financial assets that meet the following conditions are subsequently
measured at FVTOCI:

° the financial asset is held within a business model whose
objective is achieved by both collecting contractual cash flows
and selling the financial assets; and

. the contractual terms of the financial assets give rise on specified
dates to cash flows that are solely payments of principal and
interest on the principal amount outstanding

All other financial assets are subsequently measured at FVTPL, except
that at the date of initial recognition of a financial asset the Group
may irrevocably elect to present subsequent changes in fair value of
an equity investment in other comprehensive income if that equity
investment is neither held for trading nor contingent consideration
recognised by an acquirer in a business combination to which
HKERS 3 Business Combinations applies.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (continued)

Financial assets (continued)

Classification and subsequent measurement of financial assets

(continued)

(i)

Amortised cost and interest income

Interest income is recognised using the effective interest method
for financial assets measured subsequently at amortised cost.
Interest income is calculated by applying the effective interest
rate to the gross carrying amount of a financial asset, except for
financial assets that have subsequently become credit-impaired
(see below). For financial assets that have subsequently become
credit- impaired, interest income is recognised by applying
the effective interest rate to the amortised cost of the financial
asset from the next reporting period. If the credit risk on the
credit-impaired financial instrument improves so that the
financial asset is no longer credit-impaired, interest income is
recognised by applying the effective interest rate to the gross
carrying amount of the financial asset from the beginning of the
reporting period following the determination that the asset is
no longer credit-impaired.

Financial instruments designated as at FVTOCI

Investments in financial instruments at FVTOCI are
subsequently measured at fair value with gains and losses arising
from changes in fair value recognised in other comprehensive
income and accumulated in revaluation reserve; and are not
subject to impairment assessment. The cumulative gain or loss
will not be reclassified to profit or loss on disposal of the equity
investments, and will continue to be held in the revaluation

reserve.

Dividends on these investments in financial instruments at
FVTOCI are recognised in profit or loss when the Group’s
right to receive the dividends is established, unless the dividends
clearly represent a recovery of part of the cost of the investment.
Dividend are included in the “other income” line item in profit
or loss.
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (continued)

Financial instruments (continued)
Financial assets (continued)

Impairment of financial assets subject to impairment assessment
under HKFRS 9

The Group performs impairment assessment under expected credit
loss (“ECL”) model on financial assets (including trade receivables,
other receivables, other financial assets at amortised cost, restricted
bank deposits and bank balances). The amount of ECL is updated
at each reporting date to reflect changes in credit risk since initial

recognition.

Lifetime ECL represents the ECL that will result from all possible
default events over the expected life of the relevant instrument. In
contrast, 12-month ECL (“12m ECL”) represents the portion of
lifetime ECL that is expected to result from default events that are
possible within 12 months after the reporting date. Assessments
are done based on the Group’s historical credit loss experience,
adjusted for factors that are specific to the debtors, general economic
conditions and an assessment of both the current conditions at the
reporting date as well as the forecast of future conditions.

The Group always recognises lifetime ECL for trade receivables.
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY 5. HEAREFIBURE B
INFORMATION (continued)

Financial instruments (continued) e LA (%)
Financial assets (continued) 2 EE (4
Impairment of financial assets subject to impairment assessment IRIE 1 T 1 75 26 I 55 O 3 JETHE 1 7 6k (i
under HKFRS 9 (continued) AL 1Y 2 il B 1 6 (L (7)
For all other instruments, the Group measures the loss allowance MUrA A TR S - AEEFENEER
equal to 12m ECL, unless there has been a significant increase in AR 1218 H EIE SR > BRIF AW
credit risk since initial recognition, in which case the Group recognises ey e AR £ B B B A > TR B DL
lifetime ECL. The assessment of whether lifetime ECL should be o AREEERR A I TEI G B EE o 2
recognised is based on significant increase in the likelihood or risk of a 73 I it 58 A AU TEL AU A5 s 1R B A T 2
default occurring since initial recognition. A B G R DA S 5 A 2 4 2 F] RE M ER R
W B e -
(i)  Significant increase in credit risk (1) 158 E s B B
In assessing whether the credit risk has increased significantly T FEAG B D b6 Al R AR M5 A R A
since initial recognition, the Group compares the risk of BNy AR EE R A H
a default occurring on the financial instrument as at the G il T ELBE A 2 & JE g BEL ) U
reporting date with the risk of a default occurring on the PR OH 4@l T2 B A 2 i A R B AT
financial instrument as at the date of initial recognition. In PR o FEIEAT Z AP A - AL g
making this assessment, the Group considers both quantitative RGP E B AEEE R
and qualitative information that is reasonable and supportable, AL T AT R b ) A B S
including historical experience and forward- looking T A] 15 2 J5E 5 K8 BR S W ekt
information that is available without undue cost or effort.
In particular, the following information is taken into account FEAE > 7 REAG MG B R U 7 B
when assessing whether credit risk has increased significantly: BmEs - G ELLT SR
o an actual or expected significant deterioration in the o 4 f T 5L A1 EB (A ) 31 A EP
financial instrument’s external (if available) or internal 15 HFPA Y B B sl I B
credit rating; it s
o significant deterioration in external market indicators of o AN T 5 A B LB e A 1 B
credit risk, e.g. a significant increase in the credit spread, AL > nfE SR = R IEE A
the credit default swap prices for the debtor; fEH N W5 FHE A 3 I E A
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5.
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (continued)

Financial assets (continued)

Impairment of financial assets subject to impairment assessment
under HKFRS 9 (continued)

Significant increase in credit risk (continued)

o existing or forecast adverse changes in business, financial
or economic conditions that are expected to cause a
significant decrease in the debtor’s ability to meet its debt
obligations;

o an actual or expected significant deterioration in the
operating results of the debtor;

o an actual or expected significant adverse change in the
regulatory, economic, or technological environment of
the debtor that results in a significant decrease in the
debtor’s ability to meet its debt obligations.

rrespective of the outcome of the above assessment, the Grou
Irrespective of the out f the ab t, the Group
presumes that the credit risk on a financial asset has increased
significantly since initial recognition when contractual
payments are more than 30 days past due, unless the Group
has reasonable and supportable information that demonstrates
otherwise.

Despite the foregoing, the Group assumes that the credit risk
on a debt instrument has not increased significantly since
initial recognition if the debt instrument is determined to
have low credit risk at the reporting date. A debt instrument is
determined to have low credit risk if i) the financial instrument
has a low risk of default, ii) the debtor has a strong capacity to
meet its contractual cash flow obligations in the near term and
iii) adverse changes in economic and business conditions in the
longer term may, but will not necessarily, reduce the ability of
the borrower to fulfil its contractual cash flow obligations. The
Group considers a debt instrument to have low credit risk when
it has an internal or external credit rating of “investment grade”
as per globally understood definition.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (continued)

Financial instruments (continued)

Financial assets (continued)

Impairment of financial assets subject to impairment assessment
under HKFRS 9 (continued)

(i)

(i)

Significant increase in credit risk (continued)

For financial guarantee contracts, the date that the Group
becomes a party to the irrevocable commitments is considered
to be the date of initial recognition for the purposes of assessing
impairment. In assessing whether there has been a significant
increase in the credit risk since initial recognition of financial
guarantee contracts, the Group considers the changes in the
risk that the specified debtor will default on the contract.

The Group regularly monitors the effectiveness of the criteria
used to identify whether there has been a significant increase
in credit risk and revises them as appropriate to ensure that the
criteria are capable of identifying significant increase in credit
risk before the amount becomes past due.

Definition of default

For internal credit risk management, the Group considers
an event of default occurs when information developed
internally or obtained from external sources indicates that the
debtor is unlikely to pay its creditors, including the Group, in
full (without taking into account any collaterals held by the
Group).

Irrespective of the above, the Group considers that default has
occurred when the instrument is more than 90 days past due
unless the Group has reasonable and supportable information
to demonstrate that a more lagging default criterion is more
appropriate.

o DF A 5 e i

For the year ended 31 December 2023
HWE20234F 1231 H L4

A s BORE B

& LR (4)

sk il Y E (A

HRIFEr s B o U S O R A1 T
VA Y <2 il B 19 966 1 (A

(i)

(i)

i 8 B L5 094 o (40

MMBER GRS » ALE RS
AT AR ] AR 3 R YE O B
LR Al BB AT P25 AR H W o R
w8 JE B 7 ) 2 e R B A AR
BIRZEABRIEY R > AL
Ty o A5 B T R E B IR

A e

7S T B A T DA A £ T By
A R MR 3 0 B e 2 2ag - HAB
FT R E (U1 ) A e R A5 HE RETE S A
AL T A5 L o A W 3

LN B A B B A B AR
RE M > A AR R T S A
B FEAR R 9 EORHBUR B8 A AR A]
RE 25 B 1 RO RE N (4 A 45 1) 7 3K
(R B AL B BT AR TS 410 ) By 3%
A o

A ESCRTAR - AEERBS - B
P 4 Pl T B da SRR AR 90 H AR 3% AR &
# > WAL EA G BLA R R B
S MR A AR T AR

169



D SRE GROUP LIMITED _t- 8 4 H 45 FiL 24 #]

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

o DF S 5 e i

For the year ended 31 December 2023
HWE20234F 1231 H L4

5. MATERIALACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (continued)

Financial instruments (continued)
Financial assets (continued)

Impairment of financial assets subject to impairment assessment
under HKFRS 9 (continued)

(iii) Credit-impaired financial assets

A financial asset is credit-impaired when one or more events of
default that have a detrimental impact on the estimated future
cash flows of that financial asset have occurred. Evidence that a
financial asset is credit-impaired includes observable data about
the following events:

(a) significant financial difficulty of the issuer or the
borrower;

(b)  abreach of contract, such as a default or past due event;

(c) the lender(s) of the borrower, for economic or
contractual reasons relating to the borrower’s financial
difficulty, having granted to the borrower a concession(s)
that the lender(s) would not otherwise consider; or

(d) it is becoming probable that the borrower will enter
bankruptcy or other financial reorganisation.

(iv)  Write-off policy

The Group writes off a financial asset when there is information
indicating that the counterparty is in severe financial difficulty
and there is no realistic prospect of recovery, for example, when
the counterparty has been placed under liquidation or has
entered into bankruptcy proceedings. Financial assets written
off may still be subject to enforcement activities under the
Group’s recovery procedures, taking into account legal advice
where appropriate. A write-off constitutes a derecognition
event. Any subsequent recoveries are recognised in profit or
loss.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (continued)

Financial instruments (continued)
Financial assets (continued)

Impairment of financial assets subject to impairment assessment
under HKFRS 9 (continued)

(v)  Measurement and recognition of ECL

The measurement of ECL is a function of the probability
of default, loss given default (i.e. the magnitude of the loss if
there is a default) and the exposure at default. The assessment
of the probability of default and loss given default is based on
historical data and forward-looking information. Estimation of
ECL reflects an unbiased and probability-weighted amount that
is determined with the respective risks of default occurring as
the weights. The Group uses a practical expedient in estimating
ECL on trade receivables using a provision matrix taking into
consideration historical credit loss experience, adjusted for
forward looking information that is available without undue

cost or effort.

Generally, the ECL is the difference between all contractual
cash flows that are due to the Group in accordance with
contract and the cash flows that the Group expects to receive,
discounted at the effective interest date determined at initial

recognition.

For a financial guarantee contract, the Group is required to
make payments only in the event of a default by the debtor in
accordance with the terms of the instrument that is guaranteed.
Accordingly, the ECL is the present value of the expected
payments to reimburse the holder of a credit loss that it incurs
less any amounts that the Group expects to receive from the

holder, the debtor or any other party.
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (continued)

5.

172

Financial instruments (continued)

Financial assets (continued)

Impairment of financial assets subject to impairment assessment
under HKFRS 9 (continued)

)

Measurement and recognition of ECL (continued)

For ECL on financial guarantee contracts for which the
effective interest rate cannot be determined, the Group will
apply a discount rate that reflects the current market assessment
of the time value of money and the risks that are specific to the
cash flows but only if, and to the extent that, the risks are taken
into account by adjusting the discount rate instead of adjusting
the cash shortfalls being discounted.

Lifetime ECL for certain trade receivables are considered on a
collective basis taking into consideration past due information
and relevant credit information such as forward looking
macroeconomic information.

For collective assessment, the Group takes into consideration
the following characteristics when formulating the grouping:

. Past-due status;
. Nature, size and industry of debtors; and
. External credit ratings where available.

The grouping is regularly reviewed by the management to
ensure the constituents of each group continue to share similar
credit risk characteristics.

A BORE R @)

£ T A (4%)

B Y E (7)

PR it Jo 5 F o T QI 27 9 EZRAEA T ok (E
AR A9 <2 B 1Y 960 1 (A

)

TG Bl 1R < FHE KRR (A7)

L R R R R B S M AR
] B9 B (5 S 1R = > A S K
R A0 S g S I ] (R RO T
5 e Al K2 5% B 4 O R o e )
BLAR A% RO JEL B £ o R R B
17T o B o Ol B 9 B A LA
JE IR o

RERH Kodn 399 EOR B AR B A B2 BRI
HIWE R BLAE T AR 5 T8 5 Bl
AT I B 1R 1% R 1
HAETUEE

PR R R AT S > AR B A A i
AL WRp 255 8 DA

o HEHIEUL

o TEBSANRIVEE - KUK KATZE S
K

o SMEBEEFES(NA) o

PG AL AL > DATEAR & AL
9 AR EL AT B 15 B L B AR o



2023 ANNUAL REPORT & = 4R4REHR

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (continued)

Financial assets (continued)

Impairment of financial assets subject to impairment assessment
under HKFRS 9 (continued)

(v)  Measurement and recognition of ECL (continued)

Interest income is calculated based on the gross carrying
amount of the financial asset unless the financial asset is credit-
impaired, in which case interest income is calculated based on
amortised cost of the financial asset.

Except for financial guarantee contracts, the Group recognises an
impairment gain or loss in profit or loss for all financial instruments by
adjusting their carrying amount, with exception of trade receivables,
other receivables and other financial assets at amortised cost where
the corresponding adjustment is recognised through a loss allowance
account.

Derecognition of financial assets

The Group derecognises a financial asset only when the contractual
rights to the cash flows from the asset expire, or when it transfers the
financial asset and substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership
of the asset to another entity. If the Group neither transfers nor
retains substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership and
continues to control the transferred asset, the Group recognises its
retained interest in the asset and an associated liability for amounts
it may have to pay. If the Group retains substantially all the risks
and rewards of ownership of a transferred financial asset, the Group
continues to recognise the financial asset and also recognises a
collateralised borrowing for the proceeds received.

On derecognition of a financial asset measured at amortised cost, the
difference between the asset’s carrying amount and the sum of the
consideration received and receivable is recognised in profit or loss.

On derecognition of an investment in equity instrument which the
Group has elected on initial recognition to measure at FVTOCI, the
cumulative gain or loss previously accumulated in the revaluation
reserve is not reclassified to profit or loss, but is transferred to
accumulated losses.
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (continued)

Financial instruments (continued)
Financial liabilities and equity instruments
Classification as debt or equity

Debt and equity instruments are classified as either financial liabilities
or equity in accordance with the substance of the contractual
arrangements and the definitions of a financial liability and an equity
instrument.

Equity instruments

An equity instrument is any contract that evidences a residual interest
in the assets of an entity after deducting all of its liabilities. Equity
instruments issued by the Group are recognised at the proceeds
received, net of direct issue costs.

Repurchase of the Company’s own equity instruments is recognised
and deducted directly in the equity. No gain or loss is recognised
in profit or loss on the purchase, sale, issue or cancellation of the
Company’s own equity instruments.

Financial liabilities at amortised cost
Financial liabilities (including trade payables, other payables, and bank

and other borrowings) are subsequently measured at amortised cost,
using effective interest method.
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (continued)

Financial instruments (continued)
Financial liabilities and equity instruments (continued)

Financial liabilities at FVTPL

Financial liabilities is classified as at FVTPL when the financial
liability is (i) contingent consideration that may be paid by an acquirer
as part of a business combination to which HKFRS 3 applies; (ii) held
for trading or (iii) it is designated at FVTPL.

Financial guarantee contracts

A financial guarantee contract is a contract that requires the issuer
to make specified payments to reimburse the holder for a loss it
incurs because a specified debtor fails to make payment when due in
accordance with the terms of a debt instrument. Financial guarantee
contract liabilities are measured initially at their fair value. It is
subsequently measured at the higher of:

. the amount of the loss allowance determined in accordance
with HKFRS 9; and

. the amount initially recognised less, when appropriate,
cumulative amortisation recognised over the guarantee period.

Derecognition of financial liabilities

The Group derecognises financial liabilities when, and only when,
the Group’s obligations are discharged, cancelled or have expired.
The difference between the carrying amount of the financial liability
derecognised and the consideration paid and payable is recognised in
profit or loss.
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CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS
AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY

In the application of the Group’s accounting policies, which are
described in note 5, the management is required to make judgements,
estimates and assumptions about the carrying amounts of assets
and liabilities that are not readily apparent from other sources.
The estimates and underlying assumptions are based on historical
experience and other factors that are considered to be relevant. Actual
results may differ from these estimates.

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an on-
going basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are recognised in the
period in which the estimate is revised if the revision affects only
that period or in the period of the revision and future periods if the
revision affects both current and future periods.

Critical judgements in applying accounting policies

The following is the critical judgement, apart from those involving
estimations (see below), that the management has made in the process
of applying the Group’s accounting policies and that have the most
significant effect on the amounts recognised in the consolidated
financial statements.

Deferred taxation on investment properties

For the purposes of measuring deferred taxation arising from
investment properties that are measured using the fair value model,
the directors of the Company have reviewed the Group’s investment
property portfolios and concluded that the Group’s investment
properties are held under a business model whose objective is to
consume substantially all of the economic benefits embodied in the
investment properties over time, rather than through sale. Therefore,
in determining the Group’s deferred taxation on investment
properties, the directors of the Company have determined that the
presumption of investment properties measured using the fair value
model are recovered entirely through sale is rebutted. As a result, the
Group has recognised deferred taxation for PRC Enterprise Income
Tax (“EIT”) on changes in fair value of investment properties.
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CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS
AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY (continued)

The following are the key assumptions concerning the future, and
other key sources of estimation uncertainty at the end of reporting
period that have a significant risk of causing a material adjustment to
the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities within the next financial

year.

PED, PUD and PFS under inventories of properties (collectively
referred to as the “Properties”)

As explained in note 5, the Properties are stated at the lower of cost
and NRV. The directors of the Company make significant judgments
in determining the estimated selling prices of the Properties and the
estimation of future costs to completion of the Propcrtics, where

applicable.

Based on the experience of the directors of the Company and the
nature of the subject properties, the directors of the Company
determine the NRV of the Properties by reference to the estimated
market prices of the Properties, which takes into account a number
of factors including the recent prices of similar property types in the
same project or by similar properties, and the prevailing and forecasted
real estate market conditions in the PRC.

The directors of the Company estimate the future cost to completion
of the Properties, where applicable, by reference to the actual
development cost of the Group’s completed projects, adjusted by
certain current market data.

If there is an increase in costs to completion or a decrease in selling
prices, this may result in write-downs for the Properties. Such write-
downs require the use of judgment and estimates from the directors
of the Company. As at December 31, 2023, the carrying amounts
of PFD, PUD and PFS were approximately RMB649,110,000,
RMB896,843,000 and RMB469,674,000, respectively (2022:
RMB832,816,000, RMB1,362,466,000 and RMB239,722,000,
respectively).

Provision for write-down of the Properties amounting to
approximately RMB198,683,000 (2022: RMB11,051,000) has
been made in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income for the year ended 31 December 2023.
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CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS
AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY (continued)

Land appreciation tax (“LAT”)

LAT is levied on properties developed by the Group for sale in
the PRC, at progressive rates ranging from 30% to 60% on the
appreciation of land value, being the proceeds of sales of properties
less deductible expenditures including the cost of land, sales charges,
borrowing costs and all relevant property development expenditures.

The Group is subject to LAT in the PRC. Significant judgments are
made by the directors of the Company in estimating the amounts of
land appreciation and the applicable land appreciation tax rate due
to the uncertainty of proceeds of sales of properties and deductible
expenditures for the whole project.

The Group recognises LAT in its consolidated statement of profit or
loss and other comprehensive income when properties are delivered
to the buyers. However, the LAT calculation and payments with local
tax authorities in the PRC for the year will not be finalised until the
appreciation amount of the whole property project is confirmed with
local tax authorities. The final tax outcome could be different from
the amounts that were initially recorded, and these differences will
impact the income tax expense and the related income tax provisions
in the period in which such tax is finalised with local tax authorities.

Deferred Tax Assets

Deferred tax assets are recognised for all unused tax losses to the extent
that it is probable that taxable profit or taxable temporary difference
will be available against which the tax losses can be utilised. Significant
management estimation is required to determine the amount of
deferred tax assets that can be recognised, based upon the likely timing
and level of future taxable profits or taxable temporary difference
together with future tax planning strategies. In cases where the actual
future taxable profits generated are less or more than expected, or
change in facts and circumstances which result in revision of future
taxable profits estimation, a material reversal or further recognition of
deferred tax assets may arise, which would be recognised in profit or
loss for the period in which such a reversal or further recognition takes

place.
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CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS
AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY (continued)

Key sources of estimation uncertainty (continued)

Recognition and allocation of construction costs on properties

under development

Development costs of properties are recorded as properties under
development during the construction stage and will be transferred
to completed properties for sale and charged to the consolidated
statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income upon
the recognition of the sales of the properties. Before the final
settlement of the development costs and other costs relating to the
sales of the properties, these costs are accrued by the Group based
on the management’s best estimate. During the development stage,
the Group typically divides the development projects into phases.
Costs that are common to different phases are allocated to individual
phase based on saleable area. Where the final settlement of costs and
the related cost allocation is different from the initial estimates, any
increase or decrease in the development costs and other costs would
affect the profit or loss in future years.

Estimation of fair value of investment properties

Investment properties were revalued at the end of each reporting
period using the term and reversion method on the basis of
capitalisation of net rental income derived from the existing tenancies
with due allowance for reversionary income potential of the property
interest. These valuations were based on certain assumptions, which
are subject to uncertainty and might materially differ from the actual
results.

For details of change in fair values of investment properties and
further details including the key assumptions used for fair value
measurement and a sensitivity analysis, please see note 22.
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CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS
AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY (continued)

Key sources of estimation uncertainty (continued)
Impairment of receivables

Impairment of receivables is made based on assessment of the
recoverability of receivables. The identification of impairment of
receivables requires management’s judgements and estimates. Where
the actual outcome or expectation in future is different from the
original estimation, such difference will have impact on the carrying
value of the receivables and impairment of receivables/reversal of
impairment in the period in which such estimate has been changed.
The impairment for receivables are based on assumptions about risk
of default and expected loss rates. The Group uses judgement in
making these assumptions and selecting the inputs to the impairment
calculations based on the Group’s past history existing market
conditions as well as forward—looking estimates at the end of each
reporting period. Details are disclosed in note 50(d).

Impairment of non-financial assets

The Group assesses whether there are any indicators of impairment
for all non-financial assets at the end of each reporting period.
Other non-financial assets are tested for impairment when there
are indicators that the carrying amounts may not be recoverable.
An impairment test exists when the carrying value of an asset or a
cash-generating unit exceeds its recoverable amount, which is the
higher of its fair value less costs of disposal and its value in use. The
calculation of the fair value less costs of disposal is based on available
data from binding sales transactions in an arm’s length transaction
of similar assets or observable market prices less incremental costs for
disposing of the asset. When value in use calculations are undertaken,
management must estimate the expected future cash flows from the
asset or cash-generating unit and choose a suitable discount rate in
order to calculate the present value of those cash flows.
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CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS
AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY (continued)

Estimated value of financial liabilities at FVTPL

As described in note 39, a third party developer reached agreement
with the Group to purchase certain beneficial interests of a vacant
land of the Group and jointly develop this land with the Group. The
beneficial interests of the land which the third party developer is
entitled is regarded as a liability of the Group, which is measured at
estimated present value of the future beneficial interests attributable
to the third party developer. The estimated liabilities were based
on future net proceeds derived from the development and sales of
the properties on the land attributable to the third party developer,
using certain assumptions mainly including future selling prices,
development costs and related applicable taxes of the properties. These
assumptions used are subject to uncertainty and might materially
differ from the actual results. In making the estimates, the Group
considers information from current prices in the neighborhood, cost
budget, and current prevailing tax rates.

Determination of losses arising from Jinxin

As described in Note 25, Note 38 and Note 48 to the consolidated
financial statements, as at 31 December 2023, the Group’s equity
investment in Jinxin was approximately RMB797,300,000
(2022:RMB1,642,144,000), the Group’s provision for losses due to
default of Jinxin’s syndicated bank loan and execution of the financial
guarantee contract was approximately RMB236,960,000 (2022:
RMB206,000,000) and the Group had carrying amount of other
receivables due from Jinxin of approximately RMB756,014,000 (2022:
RMB531,437,000), loans receivable due from Jinxin of approximately
RMB578,523,000 (2022:RMB623,683,000), and interests receivable
due from Jinxin of approximately RMB213,346,000 (2022:
RMB187,087,000) (the “Jinxin Balances”). Due to the default
of Jinxin’s syndicated bank loan and the related uncertainties as
described in Note 4, Note 38 and Note 53 to the consolidated
financial statements, the Group may incur further losses in relation to
Jinxin Balances (collectively referred as “Losses Arising From Jinxin”).
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CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS
AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY (continued)

Key sources of estimation uncertainty (continued)
Determination of losses arising from Jinxin (continued)

As described in note 4, the default of Jinxin’s syndicated bank loan
resulted in the relevant lenders having the right to, and the relevant
lenders have demanded the Group to fulfill its financial guarantee
obligation to repay the loan, and the Group’s equity investment in
Jinxin is also the collateral asset under the aforementioned financial
guarantee contract.

When the Group measured the Losses Arising From Jinxin, different
scenarios with different probability of occurrence were considered
with several key assumptions, including the estimation of the result
of the negotiation to extend Jinxin’s syndicated bank loan with the
banks, the value of equity interest in Jinxin and Jinxin’s underlying
properties, the probability of auction or sale of the assets under
collateral as well as the possible auction or sales price, and the final
settlement amount by foreclosing the collateral asset in the event that
the auction fails. The difference between the actual results and the
original estimate will affect the amount of the provision in the future.

6.
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REVENUE 7. WA
An analysis of revenue is as follows: AT
Year ended 31 December
BE12H31H IL4EE
2023 2022
20234F 20224F
RMB’000 RMB’000
YN ANR¥Fi0
Revenue from contract with customers i g diifeg ap e N i) 31|
recognised at a point in time iR A
— Revenue from sales of properties - PR E A 392,979 87,532
— Revenue from hospital service - BB R A 8,450 10,650
401,429 98,182
Revenue from contract with B 5 22 [ #0045 I [ e 52
customers recognised over time A
— Revenue from hospital service - BB R WA 19,806 31,998
— Revenue from construction of - AE R ae b A& Bl A
infrastructure for intelligent
network 438 2,397
— Revenue from property - Y RS A
management service 29,115 29,304
49,359 63,699
Revenue from other source H b A PRI A
— Revenue from property leasing (Note b) - WBE AU A (B 7b) 149,076 115,530
Sub-total /Nat 599,864 277,411
Less: Tax and surcharges B - A S S 2 (1,263) (1,495)
Total revenue RN 598,601 275,916
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For the year ended 31 December 2023
A 2023412031 H IF4ERE

7. REVENUE (continued) 7. llﬁ A ()
Notes: MEGE -
(a) TRANSACTION PRICEALLOCATED TO THE (@) HEEHEFMBETREAHBMEZIR
REMAINING PERFORMANCE OBLIGATION FOR U
CONTRACTS WITH CUSTOMERS
(i) Sales of properties (i) %
The transaction price allocated to the remaining unsatisfied 742023412 31 H 4Bl £ F R
performance obligations as at 31 December 2023 and the SE 1B £ AT 2 38 5 18 K TE
expected timing of recognising revenue are as follows: AR AR
Sales of
completed
properties
HECE LYE
RMB’000
ARMTFE
Within one year —4ER 235,629
More than one year —4EUE 32,106
The transaction price allocated to the remaining unsatisfied R20224F12 31 H A B B8R T oK
performance obligations as at 31 December 2022 and the 58 I #) T AT 2 38 5 48 I T IR
expected timing of recognising revenue are as follows: TR IR AT
Sales of
completed
properties
MECELYE
RMB’000
NN T
Within one year —FN 185,125
More than one year —4ELRL B 20,569
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7. REVENUE (continued)

Notes: (continued)

(a)

(b)

TRANSACTION PRICE ALLOCATED TO THE
REMAINING PERFORMANCE OBLIGATION FOR
CONTRACTS WITH CUSTOMERS (continued)

(ii)

Hospital service, construction of infrastructure for intelligent

network and property management services

All the contracts have an original expected duration of one year
or less. The Group has elected the practical expedient for not to
disclose the remaining performance obligation for these types of

contracts.

o DF A 5 e i

For the year ended 31 December 2023
HWE20234F 1231 H L4

7. WA

BT - ()

(a)

SEERE PR P EARMEZR
5 18 (45)

Gi)  EBEARE - HE R AR L AR AR
B 368 BURR %

A & [ #R A — i — AR s — 4 DU
TN JE TR R o AR AR O gt
AR 25 IE
e w2 BB G A 2 B E A BT
£ -

REVENUE FROM OTHER SOURCE WITHIN THE (b) 7 v I 5 o R B SR 16 S A R 1 1Y
SCOPE OF HKFRS 16 Hfth AR PR WA
Year ended 31 December
BE12H31 H L4 E
2023 2022
20234F 20224F
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥ Tt NS TH
For operating leases: REME -
Total revenue arising from leases FH B 2 AR I A\ HE R
Operating lease income with fixed 18] 7 A B Ao i AR AL B
lease payments [N 149,076 115,530
Less: Direct expenses W AW H R X (47,615) (37,320)
101,461 78,210

185



D SRE GROUP LIMITED _t- 8 4 H 45 FiL 24 #]

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

o DF S 5 e i

For the year ended 31 December 2023
HWE20234F 1231 H L4

8.

186

SEGMENT INFORMATION

The chief operating decision-maker has been identified as the board
of directors of the Company. The board of directors of the Company
monitors the results of the Group’s operating segments separately
for the purpose of making decisions about resources allocation and
performance assessment. The board of directors of the Company has
determined the operating segments based on the Group’s products
and services. The performance of cach segment is evaluated based on
its operating profit or loss before income tax and the methodology
used for its calculation is the same as that for the consolidated
financial statements. However, group financing (including finance
costs and finance income), exchange loss, share of results of associates
and joint ventures together with related impairment or losses, and
income taxes are managed on a group basis and are not allocated to
operating segments.

Intersegment sales and transfers are transacted with reference to the
selling prices used for sales made to third parties at the then prevailing
market prices.

The reportable operating segments are as follows:

. The property development segment develops and sells
residential and commercial properties.

. The property leasing segment leases offices and commercial
properties owned by the Group which are classified as
investment properties.

The other operations comprise, principally, the corporate activities
that are not allocated to segments and miscellancous insignificant
operations including provision of hospital service and property
management service, and construction of infrastructure for intelligent
network.
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B E20234F 12131 H IF4E
8. SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued) 8. bRk
An analysis by operating segment is as follows: BT
Year ended 31 December 2023
B 20234F 1231 H IL4EE
Property Property Other
development leasin, operations Total
RMB’O(E) RMB’O(l(} RMB’O(l(} RMB’()O_O
AR¥FI AR¥TIX ARWTIX ARWTI
Segment revenue vini 1 N
Sales to external customers BN 392,150 177,815 28,636 598,601
Intersegment sales 4750 M £ B - 5,176 - 5,176
392,150 182,991 28,636 603,777
Reconciliation: P
Elimination of intersegment 43 Vil TH] 8 65 IS 8
sales - (5,176) - (5,176)
Revenue A 392,150 177,815 28,636 598,601
Segment (loss) profit 43 ¥ (k5 48) #1H (691,621) 50,212 (2,559) (643,968)
Finance income PABS A 629
Finance costs BAHS A (369,695)
Finance costs—net PAHS A — TR (369,066)
Share of results of associates AL B A 2 2 2E A 9,889
Share of results of joint JEAG A B 5
ventures (649,878)
Net foreign exchange loss BEE 52, #8525 43 (19,915)
Impairment losses on financial WIS R G 4 (E
guarantee contract 518 (30,960)
Impairment losses in respect NG A ZE PO UE
of investments in joint R
ventures (4,917)
Loss before income tax Jifr 45 % i s (1,708,815)
Segment assets and 5B E K AR
liabilities
Segment assets Oy HBE 3,897,106 4,024,012 1,794,285 9,715,403
Investments in associates WA E B fé 971,803
Investments in joint ventures A S EMEZRE 2,507,015
Total assets & FE fa 13,194,221
Segment liabilities Vo= 5,548,293 2,292,539 2,691,147 10,531,979
Total liabilities £ E A 5,548,293 2,292,539 2,691,147 10,531,979
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8.

188

equipment of approximately RMB870,000.

Note: Capital expenditure consists of additions of property, plant and

B3
# N #870,0007C °

SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued) 8. ik
An analysis by operating segment is as follows: (continued) gD IONT ()
Year ended 31 December 2023
BFE20234E 12031 H L4
Property Property Other
development leasing operations Total
LE kL LIE YN H Al 38 B At
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥Tx AR¥Tx AR¥TIX AR¥TT
Other segment HAobsy#fE 8 -
information:
Interest income from R E BB 2 B
loans receivable from FOFE A
related parties - (124,755) - (124,755)
Income for management ] A PRI
services provided to a joint FRAR TS 2 WA
venture (243,409) - - (243,409)
Depreciation and NP & T
amortisation 359 1,763 20,325 22,447
Capital expenditure (Note) AR (B RE) - - 870 870
Change in fair value of gz AN R EE
investment properties 5 ) - 109,400 - 109,400
Provision for write down FEA 17 BH B 3£ 5 B
of PED or PUD or PES By EE A
W) 2 14 I A3 A 198,683 - - 198,683
Impairment losses on financial 4 Fll & /3 I (E 518 >
assets, net of reversal FrE 0] 824,000 19,870 - 843,870

BRI ELIE Y 3 - B R A 3
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8. SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued) 8. bRk
An analysis by operating segment is as follows: (continued) KB ARIIHTINT - ()
Year ended 31 December 2022
BE20224F 1231 H IL4EE
Property Property Other
development leasmﬁ operations Total
LY E:k VM E HoAth ZEH5 st
RMB'000  RMB000  RMB000  RMB'000
AR®TRT AR®Tx AR®Tx AR%®TT
Segment revenue i1 N
Sales to external customers EHHNE 89,785 140,823 45,308 275,916
Intersegment sales A3 T 6 - - 2,663 2,663
89,785 140,823 47,971 278,579
Reconciliation: R
Elimination of intersegment 4750 M) B B R 8
sales - - (2,663) (2,663)
Revenue A 89,785 140,823 45,308 275,916
Segment loss vigs) ol (47,950) (13,994) (1,362) (63,306)
Finance income BB A 434
Finance costs PAHS A (130,567)
Finance costs—net A A - TR (130,133)
Share of results of associates JRE Ak e 2 A 2 2 2B 45 13,467
Share of results of joint JEAL %%ﬁ%%z%%
ventures (77,425)
Net foreign exchange loss [ifE 0,98 2K 15 (86,563)
Impairment losses on financial ~ FABE R & 48
guarantee contract 518 (206,000)
Reversal of impairment e E B ERN A BIE
losses in respect of T HE 43 [m]
investments in joint
ventures 41,046
Loss before income tax Jifr 75 B¢ i s (508,914)
Segment assets and 5B E K B
liabilities .
Segment assets 1 3,869,423 4,488,253 1,750,124 10,107,800
Investments in associates R & fﬁ 965,065
Investments in joint REBEtEZRE
ventures 2,857,743
Total assets 283250 13,930,608
Segment liabilities oy b AR 4,402,506 2,756,178 2,496,000 9,654,684
Total liabilities A 4,402,506 2,756,178 2,496,000 9,654,684
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8. SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued) 8. bRk
An analysis by operating segment is as follows: (continued) BT - (38)
Year ended 31 December 2022
B 20224F 12 H 31 H IL4EJE
Property Property Other
development leasirﬁ operations Total
LYES WEMRE HoAh 257 o
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥ET AR¥TRT AR¥TI ARWETT
Other segment Hibny e .
information:
Interest income from loans oK A B 2 e
receivable from related M B A
parties - (67,288) - (67,288)
Depreciation and Hr8s J Hil a
amortisation 483 1,913 24,606 27,002
Capital expenditure (Note) AR (P RE) 4 74 349 427
Change in fair value of BEYEZ N RIEE
investment properties ) - 78,900 - 78,900
Provision for write down TR 1 BHEE ) SE B8 B
of PED or PUD or PES B W) A
B ) SE Y S 138 1 11,051 = = 11,051
Impairment losses on financial 4 il & /3 I & 5 18
assets =

Note: Capital expenditure consists of additions of property, plant and
equipment of approximately RMB427,000.

Geographical information

(a)  For the year ended 31 December 2023, 100% (2022: 100%) of
the sales to external customers of the Group are generated from
Mainland China.

(b)  Non-current assets

As of 31 December 2023, around 81% (2022: 88%) of the
Group’s non-current assets (based on the locations of the
assets and excludes deferred tax assets and financial assets at
FVTOCI) were located in the PRC and the remaining 19%
(2022: 12%) of the Group’s non-current assets are located in
United States of America.

Information about major customers

The Group’s customers from whom the revenue is derived are widely
dispersed. No customer or a single group of customers which are
known to be under common control contributed 10% or more of the
Group’s revenue for the years ended 31 December 2023 and 2022.

190

6,442 30,468 36,910

WEEE - B ST ELIE Y 2 - RS R

#NRH427,0007C ©

I I i /B,

(a)

202341231 H IH4ERE
] 45 25 SE AR AN & 5 B
|%jig)O%(zozz@ ©100%) 5K H

)

20234512431 H » AEEFX81%
(20224F = 88%) FE B & = (DL & =
FTAE b 5 LR > N A A IR I A TE R
XU B R E S A
HoAt &7 5 Uk 35 2 & RVE ) LR P
s AL B T 19%(20224F ¢
1.2%)#%@3%3%@3@5‘%%%%%
k] o

AR
A9 W
g

>

LREF 178

AEEEBF T N MEZ - 8220234
J20224E12 31 H 4 > WEE B RS
A A —HE R N L ALK AR AR A W A
7R 4E [ AR A 10%ER DA | o



2023 ANNUAL REPORT —- % . =Z4E4EH; [:]

OTHER INCOME

An analysis of other income is as follows:

| ]
Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

o DF A 5 e i

For the year ended 31 December 2023
HWE20234F 1231 H L4

9. Hu A
HAA Z 5 Hran R -
Year ended 31 December
HE12H31H L4 B
2023 2022
20234 20224F
RMB’000 RMB’000

NS T PN

Interest income from loans receivable

2 B 7 2 W KR B

due from related parties (note 48) WA (P 5E48) 124,755 67,288
Income from guarantee provided to a ] 5B A SE SR AEE IR 1)
joint venture (note 48) WA (Pt 5E48) - 2,077
Income for management services provided 16] 5 7 A SE B AL P RS Y
to ajoint venture (note 48) A (M 5E48) 243,409 -
Others HoAth 1,023 1,194
369,187 70,559

10. OTHER GAINS AND LOSSES

An analysis of other gains and losses is as follows:

10. H ik g5 % &8
Hof i 25 K 48 2 AT E -

Year ended 31 December
BE12A31H L
2023 2022
20234 20224F
RMB’000 RMB’000
INA S T ANR¥TIT
(Restated)
(R HFY)
Change in fair value of investment BB N REEEE)
properties (note 22) (B 5E22) 109,400 78,900
Gain from disposal of an associate i B A A 2E 2 s (171) (3,576)
Change in fair value of financial assets at DL B (A R H I E)wt
FVTPL (note 19) ANE R 2 SRS E A
SR A2 B) (M 5E19) 334 -
Change in fair value of financial DL oM (B w & HOE )
liabilities at FVTPL (note 39) FHAE 4R £ Y 4 il
A2 AREEES)
(FitaE39) (8,046) (11,389)
Loss (gain) on disposal of property, PI3E ~ M A iR
plant and equipment Js 18 Ol £ ) 38 187 (169)
Accrual for the legal exposure TR R I 2 1,333 834
Accrual of estimated penalty in late delivery JE B S ) SE B ) S
of properties or property titles 7 A BT R THE A & 206 5,231
Impairment losses (reversal of impairment HMHRER G ERERE L
losses) in respect of investments TRl Ml 15 (3 L s 1R.48% (1)
in joint ventures 4,917 (41,046)
Net foreign exchange loss HE 52, 8 2K 43 4 19,915 86,563
Others HAth 9,949 (1,211)
138,024 114,137
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For the year ended 31 December 2023

B E20234F 12131 H IF4E
11. IMPAIRMENT LOSSES ON FINANCIAL 11. 4l B D1 e 48 > B 438 [l
ASSETS, NET OF REVERSAL
Year ended 31 December
BE12H31H IL4EE
2023 2022
20234F 20224F
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR Tt AR¥F0
Impairment losses on: B RR U (M 1R,
— Trade receivables - ESIR K 20,502 6,442
— Other receivables - HAtb W 3K 596,839 31,870
= Other financial assets at amortised cost — FA AT IR 2
HoAth 45 il 5 226,529 55
Reversal of impairment losses on: 8 [0 (E s 18 -
— Trade receivables - IR K - (750)
— Other receivables ~ Ho A ik - (83)
= Other financial assets at amortised cost — A AT IR 2
HoAth 45 il - (582)
— Other non-current assets - HoAt I i ) - (42)
843,870 36,910
Details of impairment assessment are set out in note 50. WA FEAL 2 FE I O B 550 -
12. FINANCE INCOME 12. MBRA
An analysis of finance income is as follows: BB IN T
Year ended 31 December
BE12H31H IL4EE
2023 2022
20234F 20224F
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR Tt AR¥F0
Interest income from bank deposits SRATAE RS A 629 434
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HWE20234F 1231 H L4
13. FINANCE COSTS 13. BAH AR
An analysis of finance costs is as follows: WA
Year ended 31 December
BERH3H LEE
2023 2022
20234 20224F
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥TFt ANR#TI0
(Restated)
(B 31)
Interest on bank and other borrowings SRAT S oA A5 R R 376,739 136,071
Interest on lease liabilities (note 21) HE&EME 1) 2,092 2,242
Less: Amount capitalised to properties under B DA B 2 PR b 2
development for sales 2GR (9,136) (7,746)
369,695 130,567
During the year ended 31 December 2023, the weighted average R E20234E 1231 H IR - I
interest capitalisation rate was 7.57% (2022: 3.02%) per annum. B EF S EARIL R E7.57% (20224 ¢
3.02%) ©
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14. LOSS FORTHE YEAR

14. e H

Year ended 31 December
BERH31ALEE
2023 2022
20234 20224F
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥EF o ANRH#T 0
Loss for the year has been arrived at after kR (FEA) F A& HAE N
charging (crediting): SEREREE
Auditor’s remuneration 1% SR <5
— Annual audit services — A BRI 2,510 3,200
— Non-audit services - I EFRS - 425
Cost of property inventories included in cost FTA B B AR 1 ) 2 A
of sales A 277,330 82,746
Depreciation of property, plant and WU ~ R K ST
equipment 12,207 16,653
Depreciation of right-of-use assets i PR P T 10,240 10,349
Write-down of inventories of properties to ) 3 A7 B R 2 T A B R
net realisable value 198,683 11,051
Directors’ emoluments: B
— Fees -t 969 898
— Salaries and allowances — Frdx SR 3,477 3,585
— Retirement benefit contributions — R ARAE I Ik 328 306
Other staff costs HAth & T LA
— Salaries and allowances -z SR 78,014 108,747
— Retirement benefit contributions — W ARAE I Ik 17,267 17,970
Total staff costs B TRA 100,055 131,506
Less: Amount capitalised to properties under W AL B 2 BB 2
development for sales ZEARICEHE (4,991) (5,398)
95,064 126,108
Gross rental income from investment BB EM S WA SR
properties 149,076 115,530
Less: Direct expenses W B (47,615) (37,320)
Net rental income from investment BEYEM S WA T
properties 101,461 78,210
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15. DIRECTORS’, CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S AND 15. EF - mRITBRABLRREEZ
EMPLOYEES’ EMOLUMENTS i
Directors’ and chief executive’s remuneration for the year, disclosed KPR R R e m R B 5E
pursuant to the applicable Listing Rules and Hong Kong Companies EE I EITH A B ZHMNT -
Ordinance, is as follows:
Year ended 31 December 2023 BRE20234E12H 31 H IL4EE
Salaries,
allowances Share
and benefits Retirement option
Directors’ fees inkind benefit scheme Total
#ié -
H R e S0
#iS L BIRFEA it 3l gt
Name of directors and
the chief exccutive BEHENTRAREA RMB000 RMB000 RMB000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARBFE  ARWFE  ARBTFx  ARWTFE  AR%Tx
CHAIRMAN 3
= Mr. Xu Ming (Note a) - BRI (3Ea) - 910 164 - 1,074
- Mr. Hong Zhihua - SRR
(resigned in 2023) (Note b) (20236 BE) (HEzED) - 519 - - 519
- Mr. Qin Guohui (appointed in 2023 - REURSAE (02023 B %A
and resigned in 2024) (Note c) T 20045 REAE) (i 3k o) - 471 - - 471
EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS HES
- Mr. Kong Yong - LB EE - 930 164 - 1,094
- M. Jiang Qi - WRE - 539 - - 539
NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS FTEE
- Mr. Lu Jianhua - BRI - 54 - - 54
= Mr. Pan Pan -BEEE - 54 - - 54

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE Bk EE

DIRECTORS
= Mr. Zhuo Fumin - HER . 323 - - - 323
= Mr. Ma Lishan - B 323 - - - 323
- M. Chui Man Lung, Everett - RICHESRE 323 - - - 323
Total it 969 3477 328 - 4774
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For the year ended 31 December 2023
% 20234F 12431 H IF4E
15. DIRECTORS’, CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S AND 15. F - kRt ABRIEEZ
EMPLOYEES’ EMOLUMENTS (continued) i )
Year ended 31 December 2022 ME2022F12H31 H I %
Salaries,
allowances Share
and benefits Retirement option
Directors' fees inkind benefit scheme Total
B e fy e
RGO EDM&E  RIKER FiE ] it
Name of directors and
the chicfexecutive EEMTRARES RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB000
ARETT  AR®TT  AE®Tr AREFx ARET:
CHAIRMAN Edi
- Mr. Hong Zhihua - EELL
(resigned in 2023) (Note b) (1220234 BHE) (Hi3ED) = 1,018 = = 1,018
EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS WirER
- M. Kong Yong - B %EE - 969 153 - 1,122
= Mr. Xu Ming - TRUIEE - 987 153 - 1,140
- M. Jiang Qi - WRLE - 513 - - 513
NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS FUES
= Mr. Luo Guorong (Resigned in 2022) - B A (20224 BHT)
(Noted) (fEd) = 12 = = 12
= Mr. Lu Jianhua - BRI - 49 - - 49
= Mr. Pan Pan (appointed in 2022) o & i
(Notee) (20225 ZAE) (fiTe) = 37 = = 37
INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE B ES
DIRECTORS
- M. Chan, Chatles Sheung Wai - Bt
(resigned in 2022) (Note ) (1R20224F BEE) (i3S 256 = = = 256
- Mr. Zhuo Fumin - HRRAEE 308 = = = 308
- Mr. Ma Lishan - Bk 308 = = = 308
- M. Chui Man Lung, Everett - RICHESRE
(appointed in 2022) (Note g) (20225 Z1E) (H3Eg) 26 - - = 26
Total Azt 898 3,585 306 = 4789




2023 ANNUAL REPORT & = 4R4REHR

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

15. DIRECTORS’, CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S AND

EMPLOYEES’ EMOLUMENTS (continued)

Notes:
(@ In August 2024, Mr. Xu Ming was appointed as Chairman.
(b) In July 2023, Mr. Hong Zhihua has resigned as Chairman.

() Mr. Qin Guohui was appointed as Chairman in July 2023 and
subsequently resigned as Chairman in August 2024.

(d  In March 2022, Mr. Luo Guorong has resigned as a non-executive

Director.

(e)  InMarch 2022, Mr. Pan Pan was appointed as a non-executive director.

() In October 2022, Mr. Chan Charles Sheung Wai has resigned as an

independent non-executive director.

(g  In December 2022, Mr. Chui Man Lung, Everett was appointed as an
independent non-executive director.

The executive directors’ and non-executive directors’ emoluments
shown above were for their services in connection with the
management of the affairs of the Company and the Group.

The independent non-executive directors” emoluments shown above
were for their services as directors of the Company.

Mr. Kong Yong is also the Chief Executive of the Company and his
emoluments disclosed above include those for services rendered by
him as the Chief Executive.

There was no arrangement under which a director or the chief
executive waived or agreed to waive any remuneration during the year.

No amount was paid or payable during the financial year to directors
or the Chief Executive as an inducement to join or upon joining the
Group.

No compensation was paid or payable during the financial year to
directors, past directors or the Chief Executive for the loss of office
as a director or the Chief Executive of any member of the Group or
of any other office in connection with the management of the affairs
of any member of the Group distinguishing between contractual
payments and other payments.

o DF A 5 e i

For the year ended 31 December 2023
HWE20234F 1231 H L4

15. % - RRITBABRREREZ

i M )

B 5E

(@) H20244F8J1 » RIISEAEBRIT B EN -
(b)  20236F7H - P S BHE L o

()  ZBHEAR2023F7 AR HER
M R 7 202447 8 H BEAT F I -

(d)  20224F3H > B4 BT IFRITE
o

(e) 2022437 - WRBE SRR A IF AT
o

() 20224F 107 - B fa 5 A BEAT B S JF
fruie o

(g 20224F121 - TR CHESEAMEZAT Fy 8 o
FERATIES

DA B 7 A 2 30 0 M % LA 2 = M
T AR S A B A BRAS 2 ) B AR 4 B = 5
R AR AR B T S AT

VA B 7 98 32 98 47 3 2 0 5 el 1 55
LA ) 2 55 B $R A A MRS T S A

fLB S BN B A A RO AT AR > b3t
7 BT < L4 L AT AT O R R L AR 5 Y

P <z o

AR AR S BRI AR TR M T
7] T8 A AT Ao S8 M ) 22 B

P B BB 32 A AR S 8 £°F 8 B A 2 = A T B
ROEKIAANE s W5 | H I A S I A A4 1
fhf 2 S -

EBFELAE N o BRET A R A AT AN o A
HAAL MM A AFZEF - fTESR
AT AR EALEULMT A AR 2
BT B A AT o] A B B A 4
EROLASUNGIE 37 Pa A ISR Y R
o I AT B AR AT TR -

197



D SRE GROUP LIMITED _t- 8 4 H 45 FiL 24 #]

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

5 D B 5 e e fi ik

For the year ended 31 December 2023
HWE20234F 1231 H L4

15.

198

DIRECTORS’, CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S AND
EMPLOYEES’ EMOLUMENTS (continued)

Employee’s emoluments

Of the five individuals with the highest emoluments in the Group,
two (2022: three) were directors of the Company whose emolument
is included in the disclosures above. The emoluments of the remaining
three (2022: two) individuals were as follows:

5. mH - mEITBABRERZ

i )
1 413

AAE [ h 4 R O 4% (2022
o ZR)BANFESR  HFEMO R L
AR o R T =4 (20224F - Wi4) {1 A A
- FH A

Year ended 31 December

®E12H31H L4
2023 2022
20234F 20224F
RMB’000 RMB’000
ANR¥ET e ANRHF T
Salaries allowances and benefits in kind Bra o B X EYEA 2,766 1,902
Retirement benefits contributions AR I ALK 468 305
3,234 2,207

The number of the highest paid employees who are not the directors
of the Company whose remuneration fell within the following bands
is as follows:

TE Ao ) S f i AR B Y AR
LA -

Year ended 31 December
BE12A3IHILESE
2023 2022
20234 20224F
No. of No. of
employees cmployccs
PN & B A8
Nil to Hong Kong Dollars (“HK$”) 1,000,000 % %1,000,000% 7T ([ 76))
(equivalent to approximately RMB904,000) (R s ) N R %904,0000C)
(2022: RMB861,000) (20224F : A R ¥861,0000T) 1 =
HK$1,000,001 to HK$1,500,000 (equivalent 1,000,001} 7T % 1,500,000%E TG
to approximately RMB904,001 (A& i %) N R #904,0017T
to RMB1,356,000) (2022: RMB861,001 & ANR¥1,356,00070)
to RMB1,291,500) (20224F : AR ¥861,00170
£ ANR#1,291,50070) 2 2

No amount was paid or payable to the five highest paid employees
during the financial year as an inducement to join or upon joining
the Group. No compensation was paid or payable to the five highest
paid employees during the financial year for the loss of any office in
connection with the management of the affairs of any member of
the Group distinguishing between contractual payments and other
payments.

i B TR A T A AR 0 A SRR AT T A% e e
P B K TEE 2 e 5 | I A SR I A A 4R
B ey 2 BEE o R ABUAE RN > BRET A R H
A Ko > MR A S BT R B 2 ] 2
T4 d e I R B 2K AT A B A AR 4R
P AT 18 B 2 7 S8 2 B T A SR A+
T4 o R B M R B 2 AL TG4 -
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16. INCOME TAX CREDIT

o DF A 5 e i

For the year ended 31 December 2023
HWE20234F 1231 H L4

16. i Biik s

An analysis of income tax is as follows: BB
Year ended 31 December
BERHIH ILEE
2023 2022
20234 20224F
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR T T ANR¥ET T
Current taxation I
- EIT (Note a) — A ZE PTG (Y 5Ea) 47,489 (121)
- LAT (Note c) — A (E L (K akc) 11,688 (10,180)
59,177 (10,301)
Deferred taxation (note 37) R S Fod T (¥ 5 37)
- EIT — SRR (170,974) (7,164)
- PRC withholding tax (Note d) — AR AR A
(KftEd) - (233,512)
(170,974) (240,676)
Income tax credit for the year A BE S B AK A (111,797) (250,977)
Notea: EIT Bt 5Ea - A2 158

The Group conducts a significant portion of its business in PRC
and the applicable income tax rate of its subsidiaries operating
in PRC is generally 25% in accordance with the PRC Corporate
Income Tax Law which was approved and became effective on 1
January 2008.

For the pre-sale of properties under development, the tax
authorities may impose income tax ahead of the completion of sale
transactions and revenue recognition based on certain estimations.
The outstanding balance recorded in “prepaid income tax” was
approximately RMB1,492,000 as at 31 December 2023 (2022:
RMB1,398,000). Such prepaid taxes are initially recorded in the
consolidated statement of financial position and later released to

profit or loss upon revenue recognition.

AR B E LA AR S B
20084F 1 H 1 HEA R (P EE AR
JLN B A 2 P A5 B TR ) BLE A —
o HAEPBHKE 2 TAA— M
F2259% 19 4 A B S 400 A 2E T A5
Bl o

BT R BLESERM
ARl S B 52 R B YA TR 5 LRI
A FF & B E AR - R
20234F12H31H > fETFEAT Fr %
Bilpst sk ) KRR GRA B A
[ 1,492,0007T (20224F + AR
1,398,00070) ° #% % T Bl JE AL AT
TE A P B 55 5IR L 26 v I o i
AR A B 25 o

gk
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For the year ended 31 December 2023
HWE20234F 1231 H L4

16. INCOME TAX CREDIT (continued)

Noteb:  Other income tax

The Company is exempted from taxation in Bermuda until 2035.
Taxes on profits assessable elsewhere are calculated at the rates of
tax prevailing in the jurisdictions in which the Group operates,
based on existing legislation, interpretations and practices in respect
thereof.

No provision for Hong Kong profits tax has been made as the
Group had no assessable profits arising in Hong Kong during the
year ended 31 December 2023 (2022: Nil).

Notec: LAT

LAT is incurred upon transfer of property and land ownership
and is levied at progressive rates ranging from 30% to 60% on
the appreciation of land value, being the proceeds from the sale
of properties less deductible expenditures including land costs,
borrowing costs, taxes and all property development expenditures.

For the pre-sale of properties under development, the tax authorities
may impose LAT ahead of the completion of transactions and
revenue recognition, generally based on 1% to 2% (2022: 1% to
2%) on proceeds from the sale and pre-sale of properties. Prepaid
LAT has been recorded in “prepaid income tax” with an amount
of approximately RMB2,548,000 as at 31 December 2023 (2022:
RMB3,151,000). Such prepaid taxes are initially recorded in the
consolidated statement of financial position and later released to

profit or loss upon revenue recognition.

Noted: PRC withholding tax

Pursuant to the PRC Corporate Income Tax Law which became
effective on 1 January 2008, a 10% withholding tax is levied on
dividends declared to foreign investors from the foreign investment
enterprises established in PRC and on gain from disposal of equity
interests to non-tax resident enterprises. A lower withholding
tax rate may be applied if there is a tax arrangement between the
PRC and the jurisdiction of the foreign investors. On 22 February
2008, Caishui (2008) No. 1 was promulgated by the tax authorities
to specify that dividends declared and remitted out of the PRC
from retained profits as at 31 December 2007 are exempted from
withholding tax.

As at 31 December 2023 and 2022, the Company expected that no
dividend would be declared to foreign investors from the foreign
investment enterprises established in PRC in the foreseeable future.

200

16. s Bk %

BF5ED

B ftc -

firakd -

HoAt P

A L S A T L 2035
R IE o I SERER BT 98 2E A S
W BB LA 0 2 A
BB - BRI DILE 19 BT B
A

AREFE R E 2023412 H31 H ILFETE
A s N7 0 IR A Bl R > R Ok T AR A U
FIARFL (20224F © %) o

s 1 (BB

- i 398 o S ) 2 % b T A RE Ry
FEAE ok s E > RIS 2L TS 3K
TEFNBR AT S0 E B (B35 1 B 3 A -
BN A~ BLIE K A ) 2B S )
e ZHERL 2309 2 60% EL

BB Z W > B M AT
HE A A2 5 52 JL A0 e A Tl w2 DA i 7 -
WAL > W 58 R EY TR
TH 2 19%%.2% (20224F © 1% %2%) © AL
At 38 Bl A [ FEAS P 450 T ) v st %
2023412 H31H - AT 3 (B
# N R #2,548,00070 (20224F + ARM
3,151,0007%) ° %% TE B B LY 7E & OF
VS IR YO 2 e ok S B S A T R T 4 o
EEISEAa

i B A A AR 158

MR P N RIS G -
FE20084F 1 1 H AL > 7 9 B 5% A BT 1Y
A A A ZE TR B AR A1 B B G 1 B R
Fe g B B HE T I OB B A 2 0 i 25 T
TR HL10% 1 BT 15 BL o 25 H B BURF
A R 45 I A IR 2 B A
o BT R UK 2 Bl o 200842
H22H > BIZBIHS 4R M 14 14 Fi [2008]
565 15ESCHIRESR > R20074E12 31 H &
A AN R B A 2T R B AT A R
BL 4G N 15 B IR St A 2T 5
ﬁ °

R20234F K 20224E12 31 H » AL AEFE
A BT TR A A o A R I T Y
SRS EMANRIE S EIREE -
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17.

INCOME TAX CREDIT (continued)

A reconciliation of the income tax credit applicable to loss before
income tax using the statutory tax rate of 25% for the jurisdiction in
which the majority of the Company’s subsidiaries are domiciled to the

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

o DF A 5 e i

For the year ended 31 December 2023
HWE20234F 1231 H L4

16. Fri3Bidk i

PRIA S FIRER G 124 =) BT AE w1 i
E LA 25% w T H (9 8 R BT 15 B Al ES 8 19
Prs Bt o > B A 42 B B MR R St R BT

income tax credit at the Group’s effective tax rate is as follows: SRR AT
Year ended 31 December
BERHIH ILEE
2023 2022
20234F 20224
RMB’000 RMB’000
AN R¥Toe AR ¥ET o
Loss before income tax T AL Hi s 15 (1,708,815) (508,914)
Tax at the applicable tax rate of 25% Fi38 B 2R 25% w1 . 2 Bl IH
X (427,204) (127,229)
Tax effect of share of results of associates JRE A B A S 2 e
FHS e 2 (2,473) (3,367)
Tax effect of share of results of joint JEME A a2 A
ventures FHS e 2 162,470 19,356
Tax effect of LAT M (E R 2 B S 2 (2,922) 2,545
Utilisation of tax losses previously ) I S AR W RR A B e 1
not recognised (89,847) (21,969)
Tax effect of tax losses not recognised AR e 18 2 B s 22 103,870 70,145
Tax effect of deductible temporary FRITAGIE T ST b
differences not recognised FHS e 2 259,248 53,229
Tax effect of expenses not deductible for ANATHEANBLIA B 52 2
tax purposes HHS i 2 476 S
Reversal of deferred tax liabilities P38 7] B D) A 4F BE AR HDARAH
related to withholding tax provided PSR A B 2 IR AE
in prior years (note 37) o JEL A (K 5E37) - (233,512)
Others HoAth (127,103) -
EIT e KL (123,485) (240,797)
LAT (including deferred LAT) - b 3G (BB (555 1 4B
+ B E L) 11,688 (10,180)
Income tax credit IRES R (111,797) (250,977)

DIVIDENDS

The Board has resolved not to recommend the payment of final
dividend in respect of the year ended 31 December 2023 (2022: Nil).

17. BB

R B PN E R IR B 22023412 A
31H 1E4E B 2 AR (20224F © 4E) -
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For the year ended 31 December 2023
A 20235 F 12431 H IR

18. LOSSES PER SHARE ATTRIBUTABLE TO
OWNERS OF THE COMPANY

(a) Basic

(a)

18. i JB I AR 2 i) e S A A i s 4R

A

Basic losses per share is calculated by dividing the loss
attributable to owners of the Company by the weighted average

5 JBERE A Ml HR AR AR 2 R R A s
HER DUAFE A B 3847 2 28 B A i e -

number of ordinary shares in issue during the year. WG -
Year ended 31 December
BE12A31H LA
2023 2022
20234 20224F
Loss attributable to owners AN T R FREAG B 18
of the Company (RMB’000) (NR¥Fo0) (1,618,018) (267,764)
Year ended 31 December
BE12A3H LR
2023 2022
20234 20224F
Number of total shares ("000) Ji A B8 (T 1)
Weighted average number of L3475 0 A R 35 8
ordinary shares in issue 20,564,713 20,564,713
Year ended 31 December
WE12H31H L4
2023 2022
20234 20224F
Basic losses per share BB EEA R RMB(0.079) RMB(0.013)

AR¥(0.079)6 AER%(0.013)70
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18. LOSSES PER SHARE ATTRIBUTABLE TO
OWNERS OF THE COMPANY (continued)

(b)

Diluted

Diluted losses per share is calculated by adjusting the weighted
average number of ordinary shares outstanding to assume
conversion of all dilutive potential ordinary shares. The share
options issued in 2016 constitute dilutive shares. For the
Company’s share options, a calculation is done to determine
the number of shares that could have been acquired at fair
value (determined as the average annual market share price
of the Company’s shares) based on the monetary value of the
subscription rights attached to outstanding share options. The
number of shares calculated as above is compared with the
number of shares that would have been issued assuming the

exercise of the share options.

The diluted losses per share is equal to the basic losses per share
as there were no dilutive potential ordinary shares outstanding

during the years ended 31 December 2023 and 2022.

19. FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FVTOCI/
FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FVTPL

(a) Financial assets at FVTOCI

Breakdown of financial assets at FVTOCI as at 31 December
2023:

£ O B 5 e e Bk

For the year ended 31 December 2023
HWE20234F 1231 H L4

18. i B R AR 2 B R B 4

(b) HEH

i J 4 0 i 4R ) 928 00 R R SR AT AE S
14 8 28 B HE -2 B L ARG
e A EL 4 5 8 2 YA A SO
1 o TR 20165 BEAT 2 I 3 ST HEE A
FEWE A o AL B 2 A7 S M T
B o A0 E EARSE R AT (I 0 1 HE
Wit afr < RE I HE 2 B W (E A > O RE
90 ¥ 0 SR ABAE (7R S 2 AR )RR 2
S 349 4 52 53 i ) oA ) S B
H oo Lokt 5 P s 2 ey BoH BLAE
BB AT W T > B
AT LA BOH HE -

20234 2022412 A 31 H IE4F
FE o pR A AT AE A1 Y EL
RS TN I EsY e A TEEES
B IEA R -

19. DA% sufd st & HIL 8k A
Ho Al 5% 5 W ik 2 xRl DA
2 SR B 8hEt A
UL E T Pl § g

(a) UL R AT 2 HH 5 B af
A H A 7 75 W ik 2 <2 B

#20234E12H31H A R EMAE 2

HESB G A HEEZ SME R
Z4PHE :
% to total
Costat Fair value at assets at
31 December 31 December 31 December
2023 2023 2023
1420234
120234 120234 12311
12A31H 12A31H 1A A
A ZRREE [’
RMB’000 RMB’000

ARWT 7 ARWT 7

Investment #&

Secured loan package from Industrial A% 1 B T 47 Note
and Commercial Bank of China (T B LR 4T D Y 3k
(“ICBC”) EHETAE

75,264 28,542 0.2%
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For the year ended 31 December 2023
2023 F 12031 H IL4FFE

19. FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FVTOCI/ 19.

FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FVTPL (continued)

(a) Financial assets at FVTOCI (continued)

Breakdown of financial assets at FVTOCI as at 31 December

VLo sufe R it & H LS Bt A
H Al 5% 5 W ik < Xl DA
A e fE A G H LS B at A%
S i 2 < b S ()

(a) UL R Al 2 HHZ B bt
AR A 45 6 W ik 2 <2 0B
(#8)

2022412 A 31 H LA AR fE E R
HE S5 A A4 & I %5 2 4Rl

2022:
EEZ I
% to total
Cost at Fair value at assets at
31 December 31 December 31 December
2022 2022 2022
A20226F
J20224 J#£20224F 12A31H
1231H 1231H fhAREE
ZHA 2N HArb
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR#TTT INH SO
Investment Evd -y
Secured loan package from Industrial 3¢ B B i 4147 ([ Note 75,264 39,955 0.3%

and Commercial Bank of China TRSRAT ) A HE AR Bk B 55
(“ICBC”) FiRe

Note: As at 31 December 2023, the Group held the secured
loan packages originated from ICBC with fair value of
approximately RMB28,542,000 (2022: RMB39,955,000).
The fair value is within level 3 of the fair value hierarchy with
details, as disclosed in note SO(f). The significant unobservable
inputs are the adjusted unit market value of the comparative
properties.

Amount recognised in other comprehensive income:

During the year, the following loss was recognised in other
comprehensive income.

BfFE = R20234F12H31H > ASHE H #
AR G B TR SR AT R R
A A SRAEES R B H A
F#528,542,0000C (20224F = A
K #39,955,0000) ° /A SLAE(H
JB N UM A T A 3 0 TN ) R A
B EESO(F) B #F o B R A A
S A SR ) T L)
PR AT -

T At £ WG Tl D ) 2
AR LA i SR HL At AR A Wi

Year ended 31 December
®E12H31H L4

2023 2022
20234 20224F
RMB’000 RMB’000
ANR¥T 6 ANR¥ET T

Loss from changes in the fair value 78 FefE 5 B s 18

(11,413) -
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For the year ended 31 December 2023

HWE20234F 12731 H IL4FFE
19. FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FVTOCL/ 19. PAo sufEfE R B 3R A
FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FVTPL (continued) HAb s AWz amEE Y

Rl E B HEB5AE
MBR 2 SME E @

(b) Financial assets at FVTPL (b) YA 7 E L qf 2 HH %85
A B 18z 2 2 & E
Breakdown of financial assets at FVTPL as at 31 December R20234F12 31 H DA R fEEF 2
2023: S B A CE AR A 2 4 A
2T -
% to total
Costat Fair value at assets at
31 December 31 December 31 December
2023 2023 2023
20234
20234 20234 12A31H
12H31H 12A31H fh AR A
Bk ZRAREH Balk
RMB’000 RMB’000

ARET ARET

Investment

Wealth management products (Note) ~ #f BB (D) 37,500 37,834 0.3%
Note: The Group entered into contracts in respect of wealth BT - A 5 A ey < S A R Y T
management plans managed by financial institutions. The EHEH BT S AR o 12023412
principal is unguaranteed with expected return rates by making H31H - Ag AR > BEY
reference to short-term money market financial instruments. R FEPEFE S ST g i s
The aforesaid investments had maturity dates within one year M LEAES - RAiBEmMBI A
and were classified as financial assets at FVTPL. BN SRR LA R fE
L sk A R AR 1
Fl R o
Amount recognised in profit or loss: 45 2 B R P A
During the year, the following gain was recognised in profit or FR S DU IR R S R o
loss.
Year ended 31 December
BE12H31H L4
2023 2022
20234 20224
RMB’000 RMB’000
NS PN
Gain from changes in the fair value A S AE B B A 334 -

205



D SRE GROUP LIMITED L B 42 Bl 47 FR 23
u

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

5 D B 5 e e fi ik

For the year ended 31 December 2023
A 20235 F 12431 H IR

20. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

20. P3E ~ Maw Kt

Furniture,
fittings,
fixtures
Leasehold and office Motor
Buildings  improvements equipment vehicles Total
B R R FHK
a7 I YN Hii At
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
AR#F T AE®ETLT  AR¥®TT AR¥®Tx AR¥ETx
COST WA
At 1 January 2022 #20224E 1A 1H 783,961 2,767 108,285 17,063 912,076
Additions NE - = 300 127 47
Disposals EE (346) = (1,982) (300) (2,628)
Exchange realignment PR A = = 4 81 123
At 31 December 2022 #20224F12H31H 783,615 2,767 106,645 16971 909,998
Additions NE - - 870 - 870
Disposals EE (347) - (636) (296) (1,279)
Exchange realignment MR - - 26 1 27
At 31 December 2023 #2023 12H31 H 783,268 2,767 106,905 16,676 909,616
DEPRECIATION AND PrE KR
IMPAIRMENT
At 1 January 2022 R20224E 1 1A 546,735 2,767 19,695 17,023 586,220
Provided for the year FRFEHR 11,587 - 4919 147 16,653
Disposals JEE (194) = (1912) (300) (2,4006)
At 31 December 2022 #20224E12H 31 H 558,128 2,767 22,702 16,870 600,467
Provided for the year ERFHE 8,669 - 3,512 26 12,207
Disposals & (201) - (595) (296) (1,092)
At 31 December 2023 #2023 12H31H 566,596 2,767 25,619 16,600 611,582
CARRYING AMOUNTS e A
At 31 December 2023 #2023412H 31 H 216,672 - 81,286 76 298,034
At 31 December 2022 2022412 H31 H 225,487 - 83,943 101 309,531
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For the year ended 31 December 2023
HWE20234F 1231 H L4

20. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 20. W€ ~ WkAR Bl o

(continued)

The above items of property, plant and equipment are depreciated L - WS KA E B AT R AR R

using the straight-line method after taking into account of their Tl R (B (E 1% LA B ARIEAR DA R AR R 47 85

estimated residual values at the following rates per annum:

Hotel buildings 40 years Y/ ES 404F

Other buildings 20 years HoAh 3 5E 204F

Leaschold improvements Shorter of the remaining period HERR ol e LB A [ 52 &
of the lease and the useful life JEE 11 ] {57 47 1 (LA
of the assets S A Ty YE)

Furniture, fittings, fixtures 5 to 10 years RET AT SE10EF

and office equipment
Motor vehicles 5 years H i 54
The hotel buildings and buildings are all situated on lands in the PRC. 9 )5 ) 3 e HC At 5 2 F0 67 i P B
Hl o

As at 31 December 2023, the property, plant and equipment with 2023412 H31H > MRMEEL 2 AR

a carrying amount of approximately RMB72,339,000 (2022: 72,339,0007C (20224F : N #76,368,000

RMB76,368,000) were pledged as collateral for the Group’s bank and TC) B 3E - B B A S A S

other borrowings (note 36). SRAT S A & 3 2 SRR (i 5E36) »
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For the year ended 31 December 2023
HWE20234F 1231 H L4

21. LEASES 21. HE
This note provides information for leases where the Group is a lessee. A B G SR A B A SR A R R AT B 2
HR} o
(i)  Amounts recognised in the consolidated statement of financial i) EUMBRIEERZEH -
position:
Asat 31 December
#12H31H
2023 2022
20234 20224F
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR Tt ANR¥FI0
Right-of-use assets 5F O O
— Land-use rights — b A 217,062 224,068
= Golf course land use right and — 1= T8 I Bk b fof A
office B 26,816 30,050
243,878 254,118
Lease liabilities payable: JRE AT AHL B A A
Within one year — AR 3,047 4,141
Within a period of more than L —4F BB W AT
one year but not more than
two years 2,860 2,860
Within a period of more than ZIRWAE » HAR B AR
two years but not more than
five years 7,675 8,369
Within a period of more than R A LA
five years 16,543 17,687
30,125 33,057
Less: Amount due for settlement W mE A AR T M A
within 12 months shown under TR EI) HA 45 530
current liabilities (3,047) (4,141)
Amount due for settlement after FEREAaBEN R~ T MARK
12 months shown under FIHA LS IR
non-current liabilities 27,078 28,916
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21. LEASES (continued)

@)

(ii)

Amounts recognised in the consolidated statement of financial
position: (continued)

Additions to the right-of-use assets and lease liabilities for the
year ended 31 December 2023 were nil (2022: RMB3,815,000
and RMB3,688,000 respectively).

The weighted average incremental borrowing rates applied to
lease liabilities range from 3.02% to 6.95% as at 31 December
2023 (2022: 3.02% to 6.95%) per annum.

o DF A 5 e i

For the year ended 31 December 2023
HWE20234F 1231 H L4

21. *ﬂ,%\ (#)

@

O BR DL LRz W ()

HAE20234F12 31 H I > M4
I B A G A O A (2022
o N R H3,815,00000 & A
R #3,688,0007T) °

R20234F12H31H > HLE & EE
T2 T HE - ¥ B8 &5 3KCAE R R A
F3.02%%6.95% (20224 1 3.02% F
6.95%) °

Amounts recognised in the consolidated statement of profit or 1) AP TE R R A A% A U s KRR
loss and other comprehensive income: ZEH .
Year ended 31 December
HWELRH3HILAE
Note 2023 2022
B 20234F 20224F
RMB’000 RMB’000
ANR¥T e ANR¥Fi0
Depreciation charge of HERREE S BN
right-of-use assets
Land-use rights i i 7,006 7,006
Golf course land use right = T R Bk 1 (5
and office P& N 3,234 3,343
10,240 10,349
Interest expense (included in SR
finance cost) (FHA B 5 B AS) 13 2,092 2,242
Expense relating to short- S HAFE B R B B <2
term leases (included (FEABH & A B
in cost of sales and BHEH)
administrative expenses) 3,625 4977
The total cash outflows for leases for the year ended 31 ME20234F12H31H IEFE > flEH SR

December 2023 were approximately RMB8,649,000 (2022:
RMB6,086,000).

As at 31 December 2023, the right-of-use assets with a
carrying amount of approximately RMB37,883,000 (2022:
RMB39,092,000) were pledged as collateral for the Group’s
bank borrowings (note 36).

AR Ry 40 N R W5 8,649,0007T (20224 -
AN ¥6,086,0007T) °

A20234F 1231 H > R FEL 5 NR K
37,883,000 7T 1 ff FFIAE 0 (202248 + AR
#539,092,00070) 1F 7 A< 42 [ SR AT 155 3K (B o
36) HEH -
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For the year ended 31 December 2023
HWE20234F 1231 H L4

22. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES

Com p[ctcd investment properties

22. &P
CBiLE LREYE

Asat 31 December
R12H31H
2023 2022
20234F 20224F
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥TE NR¥TF It
At the beginning of year AR 4,075,400 4,154,300
Net change in fair value recognised in TR 2 P RERR G S LB T
profit or loss s ) (109,400) (78,900)
At the end of year TR 3,966,000 4,075,400

The investment properties as at 31 December 2023 and 2022 mainly

R20234E 202241231 H - &M ¥EE

BAEW T Y

210

represent the following properties:

Shanghai Oasis Central Ring Centre—Portions of eight
multi-storey shopping malls and car-park places at Putuo
District, Shanghai, with a total fair value of approximately
RMB1,044,000,000 (2022: RMB1,062,000,000), for which the
operating leases entered into have terms ranging from 1 to 15
years (2022: 1 to 15 years);

Shenyang Richgate Shopping Mall-A seven-storey
shopping mall at Shenhe District, Shenyang, with a total
fair value of approximately RMB1,750,000,000 (2022:
RMBI1,844,000,000), for which the operating leases entered
into have terms ranging from 1 to 10 years (2022: 1 to 10
years);

Shanghai Lake Malaren Transportation Hub—A five-
storey shopping mall at Baoshan District, Shanghai, with a
total fair value of approximately RMB250,000,000 (2022:
RMB246,000,000), for which the operating leases entered into
have terms ranging from 1 to 8 years (2022: 1 to 8 years);

Shanghai Lake Malaren Commercial Street—A commercial
street at Baoshan District, Shanghai, with a total fair value of
approximately RMB734,000,000 (2022: RMB735,000,000),
for which the operating leases entered into have terms ranging
from 1 to 15 years (2022: 1 to 15 years); and

Shanghai Lake Malaren Hotel=A 9-storey hotel building
at Baoshan District, Shanghai, with a total fair value of
approximately RMB188,000,000 (2022: RMB188,000,000),
for which the operating lease entered into has a term of 19 years
(2022: 19 years).

As at 31 December 2023 and 2022, the Group had no unprovided
contractual obligations for future repairs and maintenance.

M B L - S BT
K 55 8 B 22 Jig i il AR HE SR (19 35 4
ForoHAABEAFO S ARE
1,044,000,0007C (20224F = AR
1,062,000,0007C) » H 482 & R
F1E154E (20224  1E154F)

T B 28 R R M B ) o — R VR B
T w2 7B s > A REEE
A AR %1,750,000,0007C (2022
o0 NRHE1,844,000,0000T) - H &
ST EMAMR A 15 104F (20224F : 158
104F) 3

Vi S5 I RS A MR AR — 7 b i
Ly [ 7 — M S g B oy > HAS A
fEE A B AR 250,000,000
(20224 : NE#246,000,0007T) »
A A IR A 14F E84F (2022
F1E8HF)

IR S - R I

) — e AREMEAFE

By N H734,000,0007C (20224F = A

R #735,000,00070) » H AL &%

2%@5&%1@%15@(2022@ C1%15
) s &

bV SE A~ R BT E
6 1 — RO FE S I KA > A REE A
4 AR %188,000,0007T (20224F -
A #188,000,0007T) » H AR TH &
ZERT IR B 194 (20224F 1 194F)

R20234E 12022412 31 H » AR EFE A
B R A1 T AR ) R BB A BV EAT -
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For the year ended 31 December 2023
A 20235 F 12431 H IR

22. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (continued)

Fair value hierarchy

The following table illustrates the fair value measurement hierarchy of

the Group’s investment properties:

22. BEW¥
A A (E (g R

Fair value measurement
Asat 31 December 2023 using
20235 127 31 F £ 2 S 1R 4%

KEBREYEZ A RIEETE R E W
T

Quoted prices Significant Significant
in active observable unobservable
markets inputs inputs
(Level 1) (Level 2) (Level 3) Total
BAWBE BEAATEE
R 0 £ [P S H
(@ #1) (& #%2) (& #%3) At
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBET T ARBET T AR TT ANRBT T
Recurring fair value RN ABEERE
measurement for:
Commercial properties [iikYES - - 3,660,000 3,660,000
Car parks R - - 306,000 306,000
- - 3,966,000 3,966,000
Fair value measurement
Asat 31 December 2022 using
420224 127 31 B K 2 AR TEE
Quoted prices Significant Significant
in active observable unobservable
markets inputs inputs
(Level 1) (Level 2) (Level 3) Total
ERABE  ERAAUEE
EHTT R BT o P o
(& #%1) (G 42 (FG43) Mt
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
AR#F T AR#F ARHF NG T
Recurring fair value BEWAREHE
measurement for:
Commercial properties EhikZES - - 3,760,300 3,760,300
Car parks FEY - - 315,100 315,100
= = 4,075,400 4,075,400

The Group’s policy is to recognise transfers into and transfers out
of fair value hierarchy levels as of the date of the event or change in

circumstances that caused the transfer.

During the year, there were no transfers of fair value measurements
between Level 1 and Level 2 and no transfers into or out of Level 3.

AR 1B 2 R T T o B YL A Bl A
R PR AT T =1 A A R

AR > ARHE [ A0 (B R A FE AR R AE T 5
12 32 MM H AR o
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22. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (continued)

212

Fair value hierarchy (continued)

Reconciliation of fair value measurements categorised within Level 3

of the fair value hierarchy:

22. BEW*k

T (B4 TR 3 ()

e JE A% 35T B~ AR A A 1 7 BT B
W

Commercial
properties Car parks Total
[igiikZES LY At
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
NG & ST ANR¥T 6 AR¥F 6
Carrying amount at R20224F 17 1 H Z BT
1 January 2022 3,855,400 298,900 4,154,300
Net change in fair value A8 2 H RERR B A A (E
recognised in profit or loss ) (95,100) 16,200 (78,900)
Carryingamount at 31 December 2022412 H 31 H A
2022 and 1 January 2023 20234F1 7 1 H Z IR I {E 3,760,300 315,100 4,075,400
Net change in fair value A £5 HRERR A B
recognised in profit or loss ) (100,300) (9,100) (109,400)
Carrying amount at 2023412 A 31 H 2 iR Tfi B
31 December 2023 3,660,000 306,000 3,966,000

Asat 31 December 2023 and 2022, the Group’s investment properties
were valued by Colliers Appraisal & Advisory Service Co., Ltd., an
independent professionally qualified property valuer and consultant.
The Group’s finance team will review the valuation performed by the
independent valuer, including:

. verifies all major inputs to the independent valuation report;

. assesses property valuation movements when compared to the
prior year valuation report;

. holds discussions with independent valuers.

The valuations were performed based on the income approach (term
and reversion method or direct capitalisation method).

20234 K 202241231 H » AEMLE
Wy 2E e LA S 2 R 1 8 ST A (B 2 R 1)
120 70 50 AV A0 5 s b IR S A B A T
(B o A 2 9] S5 48] 4190 A 48 7 A (L Rl 719
g > A5 -

o BB ER S Z T £ B A
g

o R OB AR 2 A (R B AT
A )

o BUBSIAS{ERIELT S o

RAFWCA L (R [ R i s E E E AL
E)ESTAGE -
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22. &Mk
2B )8R ()

22. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (continued)
Fair value hierarchy (continued)

A 18 KA o] B R B A B 4 A

Information about fair value measurements using significant

unobservable inputs (Level 3)

(R e it 42 1y B () % 3)

Fairvalueat  Valuation Unobservable Range of Relationship of unobservable
Description 31Dec2023  technique inputs unobservable inputs inputs to fair value
120234
12H31H ] 5 U A5
Bl ZAREE ABEWAL  ATREEAENER AR ETE R #
RMB’000
ARWF 7
Commercial properties 3,660,000  Income Term yield Term yield of 40%- 5.75% The higher the term yield,
- Mainland China (2022:3,760,300) approach (2022: 4.0%- 5.75%) the lower the fair value
T RHE - PR 3,660,000 A TE MR 40%- 5.75% 2 E E RIS - AR RS
(20224 - 3,760,300 (2022 : 4.0%- 5.75%)
Reversionary yield Reversionary yield of The higher the reversionary yield,
40%=6.25% the lower the fair value
(2022: 45%- 625%)
(e 40%- 6.25%2 5 FR R AR BRI
(20224 : 45%- 6.25%
Marketunitrentof ~ RMB37 - RMB226 The higher the market unit rent,
individual unit (2022: RMB41 - RMB233) the higher the fair value
per square metre per month
BB ZES  BABTHRARE-200  WHEAEE > AREEES
gtk (2022 = AR M41-23370)
Underground car parks 306,000  Income Term yield Term yield of 3% The higher the term yield,
- Mainland China (2022:315,100) approach (2022:3%) the lower the fair value
HOF S - KB 306000 A E Mg 3% 7 Ml EME R AR EER(L
(20224 = 315,100) (20224 : 3%)
Reversionary yield Reversionary yield of 3% The higher the reversionary yield,
(2022: 3%) the lower the fair value
ki 3 BRI 00226 3% ERWEAR - ARFEERE
Marketunitrentof ~ RMB350 - RMB750 The higher the market unit rent,
individual unit (2022: RMB300 - RMB750) the higher the fair value
per lot per month
B ASE R ARK3S0T- Tidr AL - A
fiff g AR HE7S07E (20224F :

NEH30070- AR #75070)
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A 2023412031 H IF4ERE

22.

214

INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (continued)

Fair value Ill'c’r;lt‘cll}" (continued)

The term and reversion method measures the fair value of the
property by taking into account the rental income derived from
the existing leases with due allowance for the reversionary income
potential of the leases, which are then capitalised into the value at
appropriate rates. The direct capitalisation method measures the
fair value of the property by assuming a stabilised economic income
capitalised by a market yield rate. The market yield was developed
based on the research on the sales and rental evidences of the similar
properties in the surrounding market and assuming the existing
tenancy will be extended. A significant increase/(decrease) in the
estimated market yield would result in a significant decrease/ (increase)
in the fair value of the investment properties.

Were the rental rate and yield rate required assumed to increase or
decrease by 10% from management’s estimate, the changes in carrying
amount of investment properties as at 31 December 2023 and 2022
would have been as follows:

22. EWH¥

4 AL (A e K ()

R0 [0 fi Oy i RS0 A SR AE (R TS AEE
LB AHEAEENHESRA > I iZ %51
A0 TEETE PR B SO FHR B A o AR
R B A b 3 5T E AR (T
B HREACEEFEREYENL
FAR AR > 7522 AL I 35 Wi i e R
RE— TR RS o T i as SRR
390 728 T 35 R AT 2 6 B A o AL T LA
o RSB A AT - A AT
i it B0 TR, (D) 6 5 R BB )
ENREERERED B -

AR A1E 3 40 2 A 1 L 4 A B Wi 5 SR A B
T 1) T S 484 T 8 30 109% 5 A 20234
20224 120 31 H 2 $8% &4 SE 1R 1 (B 1 5%
BF :

Year ended 31 December
BERH31H IR
2023 2022
20234 20224F
RMB’000 RMB’000
ANRWF L ARH#T 0
Investment properties increase/ (decrease) By, ()
— 10 percent rental rate higher — FH 4 BAE G 110% 342,000 347,000
— 10 percent rental rate lower — 4 BEAE W 10% (346,000) (371,000)
Investment properties increase/ (decrease) Bea R, ()
— 10 percent term and reversionary yield — Jit I 2 0 B A Bl i %
rate used higher BEhn10% (212,000) (222,000)
— 10 percent term and reversionary yield — it 7 0 B A B i i
rate used lower > 10% 228,000 244,000

As at 31 December 2023, the Group’s investment properties of
approximately RMB2,028,000,000 (2022: RMB2,043,400,000) were
pledged as collateral for the Group’s bank and other borrowings (note
36).

R20234E12H31H > B AR MRAT X
Hophf& R IE 2 BHEMELHH AR
#2,028,000,0007C(20224F © N R %
2,043,400,00070) (Fff5£36) °
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23. GOODWILL 23. FiE
Asat 31 December
R12H31H
2023 2022
20234 20224F
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR Tt ARHT I
Cost JRA 174,353 174,353
Accumulated impairment B E (174,353) (174,353)
Carrying amount i T B - -
The cost of goodwill allocated to each of the major cash-generating o348 5 T B A B4 Y R T 0 R (T
units before impairment is as follows: ZIA IR R
As at 31 December
R12H31H
2023 2022
20234 20224F
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥ T ANR¥T T
Shanghai Bairun Real Estate TR b EE A BRA
Co., Ltd. (Note a) (Mt iEa) 144,354 144,354
Shanghai Haibo Property Development VI I b AR BH
Co., Ltd. (Note b) A BR 2\ (KT D) 12,297 12,297
Shanghai Xiabo Industry Ltd. (Note b) bR BEEEARAR
(FifiED) 1,847 1,847
Others FHoAth 15,855 15,855
174,353 174,353
Note a: The goodwill arose from the acquisition of Shanghai Bairun Bff5ta : o e s M EE A RR A R (T
Real Estate Co., Ltd. (“Bairun”) is related to its properties T 1) 2 2R B T R A R DU AR 0
under developments in prior years. The goodwill has been fully 4 B 8 ) 26 o RERZ S W
impaired in prior years pursuant to the sales of these properties. S EE - R LA AR B A I
{H -
Note b: The goodwill arose from the acquisition of Shanghai Haibo BERED e i T U S FE AR S PR EE A
Property Development Co., Ltd. and Shanghai Xiabo Industry PR 2 ) B b 2 3 S 3 PR
Ltd. is related to their parcels of land in the city of Shanghai. JEE 22 Y iR B S A E T Y M DR
The goodwill has been fully impaired in prior years pursuant A B o d R BOUR E E RE B B
to the irrevertible change of government plan of land not for A2 TS AT TR O 7 R AT
residential properties but for rural usage. TYE - TR RRA ) o %
PSR IR0 E R ERBE o
For the years ended 31 December 2023 and 2022, the goodwill was BE20234F 2 20224F 12 H 31 H (L4 FE > 7
fully impaired. B 2B -
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24. INVESTMENTS IN ASSOCIATES 24. RBEREZHE
Asat 31 December
*12H31H
2023 2022
20234F 20224F
RMB’000 RMB’000

AR¥Tou ANRBT T

Share of net assets T EE 1,243,113 1,236,375
Less: Provision for impairment W WESE (271,310) (271,310)
971,803 965,065
As at 31 December 2023 and 2022, the Group had indirect interests R20234E % 20224E12 31 H » ASE F W45
in the following associates: FrA AT I 3 hE £
Authorised
Place and date of share
incorporation or Issued and capital/
establishment and Proportion of paid-up registered  Principal
Name business ownership interest capital capital  activities
sl AR 3 CEIE  BEhk/
[ e LR CHRIT R R A BRkA  EMEA  REREH
Held by Indirectly
the Company held
ARFHH 3]
At3l Ac3l At3l A3l
December ~ December ~ December ~ December
2023 2022 2023 2022

20035 2022 2003 20224
2H3IH 12A3IE A3 12A31H

Mayson Resources Limited British Virgin Islands - - 40% 40% HKS8 HK$8  Property
(“Mayson”) (“BVI") sales
29 January 2003
FRGHARAT(EE])  REETHE 8ikk T Sk MEHE
(A R ])
20034F1H29H
Shanghai Real Estate Asset PRC/Mainland China = = 20% 20% RMB RMB  Investment
Management Co,, Ltd. 25 March 2016 35,000,000 100,000,000  management
(“SRE Asset”)
FEEEER(EBARAT  E /B AR ARW HEEH
TLEHEE] 2016534 25H 35,000,0007C 100,000,007
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24. INVESTMENTS IN ASSOCIATES (continucd) 24, BB ERZBE @
Authorised
Place and date of share
incorporation or Issued and capital/
establishment and Proportion of paid-up registered  Principal
Name business ownership interest capital capital  activities
sl R 31 CEIk  BEhk/
A EHWEAM TR RAERA Mgk EMEA  REEH
Held by Indirectly
the Company held
ARTEH LR
A3l Ac3l At31 At3l
December ~ December ~ December  December
2023 2022 2023 2022

20235 20224 2023 R20228
RA3H  1RA3E  RAIE 12A3LH

Shanghai Orda PRC/Mainland China - - 24% 24% RMB RMB  Researchand
Optoclectronics 23 March 2000 8360,000 11,000,000  development
Science & Tech Co., Ltd. of
(“Orda”) optoclectronic

products

EEREXETREAERAT B/ PEARE N ARH EETEMDE
(FeE)) 200034231 83600007 11,000,0007C

Shanghai Shang Xin Richgate PRC/Mainland China N/A = N/A 25% RMB RMB  Investment
Investment Management 14]July 2011 (Note) (Note) 9,100,000 9,100,000 management
Co, Ltd. (“Richgate”)

L ERENREEAER B/ PERE AR AR N ARH  BEER
W ([0 ) 01177 14H (&) (F &) 9,100,000 9,100,0007

Ningbo Meishan Free Trade PRC/Mainland China - - 33.34% 33.34% RMB RMB  Investment
Zone Jia Miao Investment 24 October 2017 4,000,000 30,000,000 management
Co, Ltd. (“Ningbo Jia Miao”)

ERHLREERERRE B/ PEARE AR ARH BEER
GLYNGIE 2iE33) 2017510/ 241 4000,0007C 30,000,0007

The financial year end dates of the above associates are the same as bl W v A 2 2 B BUAT AT A H B A ]

that of the Group. AR

Note: On 22 April 2023, a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company entered BiERE : R20234F4H22H > AN R ARG TAH]

into an agreement with an independent third party for the disposal of B — R ML = T RT L Wk o LAY
25% equity interests in Richgate at a consideration of approximately R 2,292,0007C A9 AU HH 45 215 25%
RMB2,292,000 and a gain on disposal of an associate of approximately JBHE - S HAt e 2 K% s 1 ol 2
RMB171,000 in relation to Richgate was recognised in other gains and 8t — B A 2l i A0 N R
losses. As at 31 December 2023, the aforesaid consideration was fully 171,0007C ° #%20234F12H31H » B
settled by the purchaser. T B A ER AT LA AE o
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24. INVESTMENTS IN ASSOCIATES (continued) 24, RBHEREZHBE @)
The Group’s equity holdings in the associates comprise of equity A A [ A B A 3 2 RRE LA B I AR N ]
holding held through certain wholly-owned subsidiaries and non- HTRETARARERE T AFAFRAZK
wholly-owned subsidiaries of the Company. All the above associates HE o DA EPTA BB T RN S
have been accounted for using the equity method in the consolidated DF B R AR -
financial statements.
The commitments relating to the Group’s interests in associates are A B AR T A e £ 2 2 M A RIS HOS
presented in note 44(a). There are no contingent liabilities relating to M 5E44(a) 7 BAASSE i B 4 25 2 RE
the Group’s interests in the associates. g 7 M SR A A o
Extracts of financial information of material associates A5 Y 5 8Bk
The following tables illustrate the financial information of the DATF 31 2R e ke 7 A 4 3] = R W e A SE 1Y B
Group’s material associates as extracted from their financial BE R > ZE BB A &R A MR
statements: *
(1) Mayson (1) Kk
Asat 31 December
#12H31H
2023 2022
20234 20224F
RMB’000 RMB’000
ANR¥Fu ANRET 0
Current assets it ) 2,689,366 2,726,741
Non-current assets IE W) 253,408 259,430
Current liabilities b B~ (528,395) (596,946)
Net assets B 2,414,379 2,389,225
Revenue A 6,717 115,305
Profit after tax B A% A1 25,154 32,189
Total comprehensive income AEREER A I HEAE
for the year 25,154 32,189
Dividend received O A - -
The Group’s share of profit A S 234G R 10,062 12,876
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2023 F 12031 H ILFREE
24. INVESTMENTS IN ASSOCIATES (continued) 24. RBHEREEZRE @)
Reconciliation of summarised financial information Y 7% & WA
Reconciliation of the summarised financial information presented to it 52 51 o 5 R LA A [ A T R 3
the carrying amount of the Group’s interests in associates. Z Mt 2 MR 2 #R -
Mayson Others immaterial associates Total
ER ENIE Y YN F-ge 4 it
At3l A3l At3l1 Ac3l At3l1 Ac3l
December December December December December December
2023 2022 2023 2022 2023 2022

120234 J1¥20204F 120234 1%20224F 20234 1’20224F
12H31H 12A31H 12H31H 12131A 12H31H 12H31A
RMB'000 RMB000 RMB'000 RMB000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARETE  ARBTT  AR¥TE  AR®BTt  AR¥TT  AE¥TR

Opening net assets HmEeEE 2,389,225 2,357,036 39,036 36,163 2,428,261 2,393,199
Profit for the year LaLpilk 25,154 32,189 (874) 2873 24,280 35,062
Dividends distribution g - - (4,119) - (4,119) -
Closing net assets WAREE T 2,414,379 2,389,225 34043 39,036 2,448,422 242861
Interest in associates T 0 4 40% 40%

Share of net assets FEENE 965,752 955,690 7,178 8,381 972,930 964,071
Impairment in associates e e EwE (268,735) (268,733) (2,575) (2,575) (271,310) (271,310)
Goodwill and adjustments TR R 268,735 268,735 1,448 3,569 270,183 272,304
Carrying amount M 965,752 955,690 6,051 9375 971,803 965,065
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25. INVESTMENTS IN JOINT VENTURES 25. REBEEZIHRE

Asat 31 December
#12H31H

2023 2022
20234 20224F
RMB’000 RMB’000
NS ST ANR¥ET T

Share of net assets T R 3,018,788 3,316,896
Less: Provision for impairment W R (511,773) (459,153)
2,507,015 2,857,743
As at 31 December 2023 and 2022, the Company had indirect JR20234F J20224F 124310 » ARA R
interests in the following joint ventures: A EAREREA W R
Authorised
Place and date of share
incorporation or Issued and capital/
establishment and Proportion of paid-up registered
Name business ownership interest capital capital  Principal activities
s AR 2 R CBER  Belk/
At e LV ELY CRTRERRA SRR A A  BEEH
Held by Indirectly
the Company held
KBTI [} 352)

At31 Ac3l At3l Ac3l
December  December  December — December
2023 2022 2023 2022
B3 R2nE R RunE
AR DAE A3 12A3IA

Jiangsu Da Run Sensor PRC/Mainland China - - 2% 12%* RMB RMB  Rescarchand
Technology Co,, Ltd. 20 May 2010 53,000,000 53,000,000 development
(“DaRun’) of sensor

TR B R AT /K B NG NG
(k) 201045H20H S30000007C 53,000,000

Ningbo Meishan Free Trade PRC/Mainland China S - 16.37%" 16.37%* RMB RMB  Equity
Zone Zhi Miao [nvestment 29 December 2016 236,000,000 236,000,000 investment
Center LLP “Ningbo Zhi
Miao”) (Note )

ERBURBEREARYE  hE/PEKME N4 ARE BERY
POEREBIERER) 201681229 2360000007 236,000,000
(Wr3ka)

75 Howard Owner LP (‘75 USA/Delaware - - 65%* 6% United States  US$213,276267  Property
Howard”) (Note b) 27 March 2017 dollars (USS”) development

213,276,267

75 Howard Ovwner LP ([75 FH /BRI 376267 23276267 WERE

Howard]) (H7Eb) 01743271 EH 7
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25. INVESTMENTS IN JOINT VENTURES

25. R BLEZERE @

(continued)
Place and date of Authorised
incorporation or Issuedand share capital/
establishment and Proportion of paid-up registered  Principal
Name business ownership interest aapital capital  activities
AR R g#ik Wik
L B CH#TRSERA SRR AlEs  FEEHR
Held by Indirectly
the Company held
Yt ] WEkhH
A3l A3l A3l A3l
December ~ December ~ December  December
2023 2022 2023 2022
PIDELD VI VAK D (SIUX L Ak
AR A3 nAsH RA3IA
Shanghai Jinxin Real Estate PRC/Mainland China - - 51% 51%* RMB RMB  Property
Co, Led.(‘finxin’) (Note ) 28 October 2002 2660000000 2660000000 development
LRSLEEARAFA(EL) B/ PEAE ARH NG I E
(ko) 2002410/ 28H 266000000070 2,660,000,0007
Changsha Horoy Real Estate PRC/Mainland China - - 54.08% 5408%'  RMB26,870,000  RMB100,000,000  Property
Development Co, Ltd. 25 September 2017 development
(“Changsha Horoy”) (d) and Sales
RUBKERAMEREARL  hE/EARE ARH NG T
ARYERRD () 0175925 H 268700007 100,000,0007C
Napa Lifestyle Holdings, LLC USA/State of Delaware = = 79.33%* 7933%" USS19.260310  US$19260310  Property
(‘NAPA”) (Notee) 01 February 2015 development
Napa Lifetyle Holdings, LLC 2B /BN 19260310 1926031070 MR
(INAPAJ) (Hfzke WIsF2A1R
Shanghai Gaoxin Business PRC/Mainland China = = 50% 50% RMB8,000,000  RMBS,000,000  Management
Management Co, Ltd.(‘Gao 17 July 2017 consulting
Xin")
LEmHeEERARAR /KR ARH AREE EHE
(s 7R 17H BOD000TE 8,000,007
Revenue Concept Investment PRC/Hongkong - - 50% 50% HK$1,000000  HKS$1,000000  Equity investment
Limited (“Revenue 8 November 2017
Concept’)
B RREARAT R/ B L000000ETL  1000000iEL  eHERRE
(Este) 01711A8H

The Group accounts for its investments in these companies as joint

ventures although the Group holds more or less than 50% of equity

interest. According to the investment agreements and articles of

associations, the Group and the other investors will jointly control the

key relevant activities of these companies.

AR B EL A 5% 4 24 R 0 388 1 AR J 7
FEMEIEE  MEAERRAZ R
DS 0% B HE o AR A W Bh el K AL Ak
AZANA o A S E R A £ LA
Pt R% 55 20 W B L ZEAH B 3E RS -
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25. INVESTMENTS IN JOINT VENTURES

(continued)

222

Note a:

Note b:

Notec:

As at 31 December 2023 and 2022, the Group’s equity interest
in Ningbo Zhi Miao was frozen by the court, which applied by
syndicated banks of the Group’s joint venture namely Jinxin because
the Group’s subsidiary, also the sharcholder of Ningbo Zhi Miao,
provided a guarantee to the syndicated bank loan.

In 2023, the Group injected additional capital amounting to
approximately US$78,402,000 (equivalent to approximately
RMB552,475,000) to the joint venture.

In 2023, the Group entered into a loan agreement with a third party
and obtained borrowing of approximately US$87,500,000, which is
secured by the pledges of the Group’s investment in a joint venture
namely 75 Howard and the underlying properties of this joint

venture.

As at 31 December 2023 and 2022, the Group’s investment in Jinxin
was pledged as collateral for Jinxin’s syndicated bank loan.

As at 31 December 2023, the recoverable amount of interest in
Jinxin was approximately equal to its carrying amount, therefore no
impairment loss or reversal of impairment loss was made during the
year ended 31 December 2023.

Asat 31 December 2022, the recoverable amount of interest in Jinxin
was higher than its carrying amount, and the Group reversed a total
impairment loss of approximately RMB41,046,000 for the year
ended 31 December 2022. In relation to above, the Group engaged
an independent professional valuer to estimate its share of the present
value of the estimated market value of Jinxin and determined the
recoverable amount.

In relation to above, the Group assessed recoverable amount of
investment in Jinxin without taking into consideration of Jinxin’s
default of syndicated bank loan (“the Default”). Further assessment of
impact on the Group’s consolidated financial statements arising from
the Default is considered in a separate provision as described in note

38.

25. REBNEZRE @

B 5Ea

B 5ED -

M SEc

R20234F % 2022412 H31H > AR4EHE
A BE AR ) RERE R B BRAS > A
EENEGEAEEIE D) 18R ERT

W EAALEENTAE > HEEE
sk B TR 7 I [ SR A T B AR B AR o

R20234F > ASEE 0] G 8 A SEBIMNE
478,402,000 JT (R 45 i 49 N R
552,475,0007C) °

R20234F > A B B — £ 58 = JyET 57
B > R 202346 HUS 18 5Kk
87,500,000 JG » LAAS AL A G A
R E (175 Howard) YA K i% &%
i ZE A B ZE AR AR

20234 % 20224F12H31H > AR4EH
i 40 B2 A B HE A £ 40 SR 4R
AT B 5 o

A20234E12 A31H 5 &0 s A9 AT Uk
Ie] 45 R 40 R A MR T > R b o
AEE20234F 12 31 H 1E4F B 1E H
(B 48 SR s PR A% ] o

R20224E12A31H > A& OHERE RG]
Wi Im] 4 e A LR T AR A o IR R E
20224F12H31 H IR4E R > AREED
o] 4 N\ B 41,046,000 7T 1Y 8 (5 48
HE e Bt LT > AEEEEH—
2 08 T 253 A (R DA S A 4 O
F T (E A BUE BT Ak A5 % 36 i 5 mT
Wi 7] 43 o

LSO & > A B AT AT 0
2 A T A T < A IR 7 1 0 6
B ARAT R A E A ([ A ]) - AR
A7 A T 3 41 I 5 ) A 5 R ) o
— 2B WP A A B RE 38 AT At F) S8 ST A o
E i -
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(continued)

Noted:

Notee:

As at 31 December 2023 and 2022, the Group’s investment in
Changsha Horoy was pledged as collateral for Changsha Horoy’s
bank borrowings.

On 4 January 2023, the Group entered into a purchase and sale
agreement (“SPA”) with an independent third party (“NAPA
Purchaser”), to dispose the equity interest in NAPA at a total
consideration of approximately US$27,000,000 (the “Transaction”).
As at 31 December 2022, the Transaction was foreseeable to be
completed within one year, and the related investment in NAPA was
included in assets classified as held for sale (note 32). Subsequently,
on 6 March 2023, the Group has received a written notice from the
NAPA Purchaser to terminate the SPA, and the related investment in
the joint venture was reclassified from assets classified as held for sale
to investments in joint ventures during the year ended 31 December
2023.

As at 31 December 2023, the recoverable amount of interest in
NAPA was lower than its carrying amount, and the Group had made
impairment loss of approximately RMB4,917,000 for the year ended
31 December 2023.

The financial year end dates of the above joint ventures are the same
as that of the Group.

The Group’s shareholdings in the joint ventures comprise equity

shares held through certain wholly-owned subsidiaries and non-

wholly-owned subsidiaries of the Company. All the above joint

ventures have been accounted for using the equity method in the

consolidated financial statements.

25. AE

Wy 5Ed

Bfffte -

o DF A 5 e i

For the year ended 31 December 2023
HWE20234F 1231 H L4

BEEZBE®

20234 &%20224F12H31H » A4
AR V8 B R I B B A R s
TRERAT BRI 8 o

R20234F1 H4H > ASSE B — M8 575
— 77 (INAPAE 77 )il v B F ek ((E
Bhhakl) » DU & RN ADP A B HEHE
T > HEACAE 49 %527,000,0005 0 ([3%
Lo 1) » ih20224F12H31H - #%38 5
TG A —4E R T A > TR BN APA
B A TR 5 Bl B A R R (I R
32) o Hif% 5 #A20234E3H6H » A%
H Y BINAPA T Jr 4 1k B 2 h ek 11 2
AR > MG 8 ENMERRED
AR E20234F 12 31 H IE4F B 404
ERAEHEEENERIBERSE
EZRE -

2022341231 H » IANAPAME %
AT ] < AR A FCRR TR (B > i AR 4R
A B 22023412 A 31 H IE4EEE 1R
R E R R A AN R ¥64,917,0000C © i
20223412 H31H > JANAPAMEZE >
A5 [e] 4 AR A R L AR T (B - 1 A 42 81
B A E 202341231 H IEFEAEH
W E R A A R #54,917,0000C °

bl A3 AR AR A H B AR

AR -

AL G B AR B SR E R AL
A EE T RF RIFEETARRA NS
fie o BRI & B A SEITE S O B R
H ISR I -
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A 2023412031 H IF4ERE
25. INVESTMENTS IN JOINT VENTURES 25.

224

(continued)

Extracts of financial information of material joint

ventures

The following tables illustrate the financial information of the
Group’s principal joint ventures as extracted from their financial

REaB8tEIBEW
HAG BRI 17 Bk

DL 5 3R S B T A [ 3 g A A B
BAE R - w5 B A & KA A W H
%

statements:
(1)  Ningbo Zhi Miao (1) W EH
Asat 31 December
*12H31H
2023 2022
20234 20224F
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR Tt AR¥FI0
Current assets it B
Cash and cash equivalents Hla R B EY) 269,095 300,279
Total current assets B & E A 269,095 300,279
Non-current assets IE B A 2,405,604 2,405,604
Current liabilities i U B=Ki= (1,433,343) (1,458,002)
Net assets B R 1,241,356 1,247,881
Revenue A - =
Loss after tax BRAL 1A (6,525) (3,014)
Total comprehensive expense for the A SR B S A
year (6,525) (3,014)
Dividend received ERe &l - -
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#H20234F 1231 H ILAEE
25. INVESTMENTS IN JOINT VENTURES 25. REBEEZIRE @
(continued)
Extracts of financial information of material joint HEAGELFEM G BB
ventures (continued)
(2) 75 Howard (2) 75 Howard
As at 31 December
#12H31H
2023 2022
20234 20224F
RMB’000 RMB’000

ARHET I8 PN

Current assets B E

Cash and cash equivalents B4 NI A EEY 76,648 201

Other current assets Al B 2,235,177 2,247,715
Total current assets L) A AR 2,311,825 2,247,916
Current liabilities A fE (18,516) (741,625)
Non-current liabilities JE B A (522) (1,239)
Net assets BEFH 2,292,787 1,505,052
Revenue YA 48,663 414,722
Loss after tax FRBi & (112,299) (88,147)
Total comprehensive expense for the A A P s

year (62,226) (38,378)
Dividend received % i e A - -

225



D SRE GROUP LIMITED L B 42 Bl 47 FR 23

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

£ B 5 e e Ff ik
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A 20235 F 12431 H IR

25. INVESTMENTS IN JOINT VENTURES

226

(continued)

Extracts of financial information of material joint

ventures (continued)

(3) Jinxin

25. REBEEIBE®

T BT B (40

(3) &L

Asat 31 December
*12H31H

2023 2022
20234 20224F
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥T o ANR¥FI0

Current assets it B

Cash and cash equivalents 4 KA EEY 157 165

Other current assets HoAth 3t B 9,330,414 9,450,967
Total current assets B S E A 9,330,571 9,451,132
Non-current assets IE BB A 104 106
Current liabilities nE A (7,290,962) (6,315,348)
Net assets B R 2,039,713 3,135,890
Revenue A - =
Loss after tax BRA AR (1,096,177) (22,110)
Total comprehensive expense for the AR SR B S A

year (1,096,177) (22,110)
Eliminated interest and other cost ELHE S A LE B EoAth Bl AR 296,755 40,752
Dividend received SR &l - -
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For the year ended 31 December 2023

% 20234F12H 31 H IE4E

25. INVESTMENTS IN JOINT VENTURES 25. REBEEZIRE @

(continued)

FA G E LRI G B )

Extracts of financial information of material joint
ventures (continued)

(4) NAPA (4) NAPA
Asat 31 December
R12H31H
2023 2022
20234 20224F
RMB’000 RMB’000
YN PN T
Current assets B E
Cash and cash equivalents B4 NI A EEY 213 210
Other current assets oA B A 188,486 173,965
Total current assets L) A AR 188,699 174,175
Current liabilities E A (80,540) (68,826)
Non-current liabilities JE i B B A (4,584) (4,060)
Net assets R 103,575 101,289
Revenue A - -
Profit after tax i A 1% A1 - -
Total comprehensive income AF B A Wi s AR
for the year 2,286 9,561
Eliminated interest cost [REIREIVENI N 5,084 3,475
Dividend received B A - =
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2023 F 12031 H IL4FFE

25. INVESTMENTS IN JOINT VENTURES 25. REBEEZIRE®
(continued)
Extracts of financial information of material joint FA G E B K G B )

ventures (continued)

(5) Changsha Horoy

(5) RIBRI

Asat 31 December
*12H31H

2023 2022
20234 20224F
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR T AR¥FI0

Current assets it B

Cash and cash equivalents Hla R B EY) 99,327 126,017

Other current assets HoAb i Eh & 1,407,415 1,230,242
Total current assets B S E A 1,506,742 1,356,259
Non-current assets IE BB A 7,057 7,080
Current liabilities i) A E (1,261,740) (1,145,051)
Non-current liabilities B & 6R (378,000) (280,000)
Net liabilities B=RERE (125,941) (61,712)
Revenue A 226,333 -
Loss after tax BB AR 15 (64,229) (6,106)
Total comprehensive expense for the A AR S s

year (64,229) (6,106)
Eliminated interest cost ELHE S A S B EoAth Bl AR - 49,289
Dividend received SR &l - -
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WA 2023 F 1231 H R4
25. INVESTMENTS IN JOINT VENTURES 25. REBEEZIRE@®
(continued)
Extracts of financial information of material joint HAG E ARG 7 BB )
ventures (continued)
The Group has ceased recognising its share of losses of certain joint A A A I AR 4 0 R 5 | B3O R0 HL B A 7
ventures when applying the equity method. The unrecognised share TAEMRERR o F R &RFHRER NG
of those joint ventures, both for the year and cumulatively, are set out ZAEEERERTEIIMT
below:
Year ended 31 December
BERH3H L4
2023 2022
20234 20224F
RMB’000 RMB’000
NS B ANRH#T T
Unrecognised share of losses of N R IR AL & a2
joint ventures for the year 18 7,008 -
Asat 31 December
R12H31H
2023 2022
20234 20224F
RMB’000 RMB’000
NS B ANRH#T T
Accumulated unrecognised share of BEt KRR G
losses of joint ventures 18 7,008 =
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25.

230

INVESTMENTS IN JOINT VENTURES

(continued)

Reconciliation of summarised financial information

Reconciliation of the summarised financial information presented to
the carrying amount of the Group’s interest in joint ventures.

Ningbo
ZhiMiao 75 Howard
ZWEK 75 Howard
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARH#FE AREFT

25. REBEEIBE®

S5 B RS
v 52 570 B 55 S M B A A B R A S
Z W ah 2 BRI 2 SR
Changsha
Jinxin NAPA Horoy Others Total

2 NAPA  RUMRE b it
RMB000  RMB000  RMBO00  RMB000  RMB00O
ARBFLE  ARBEFE  ARBFL AREFE AR¥ETFx

Opening net assets (liabilitis) at 202311 Z

1 January 2023 WG (A6 1247881 1505052 3,135,890 101,289 (61,712) 542l 5983821
(Loss) profit for the year A (1) I TE (6,525) (112,299)  (1,096,177) - (64,229) 47 (1,279,183)
Other comprehensive gz ai

income - 50,073 - 2,286 - - 52,359

Capital injection BAEA - 849961 - - - - 849961
Closing net assets (liabilites) WRBERE BB LAL3S6 2090787 209713 103575 (125941) 5468 5,606,958
Interest i joint ventures ‘e ks 1637% 65.00% 51.00% 79.33% 54.08%
Share of net assets liabilitis) R BB hE 03210 1490312 L0SI215 82,166 (68,109) 1779 2776584
Impairment in joint ventures RAE R LR - - (446,572) (52,620) - (12,581) (511,773)
Goodwill and adjustments & RE 118 - 192,657 (18,630) 68,109 - 242,004
Carrying amountat 2023 12H31HZ

31 December 2023 IREH W38 140312 797,300 10,866 - 5209 2,507,015
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25. INVESTMENTS IN JOINT VENTURES 25. REBEEZIRE @
(continued)
Reconciliation of summarised financial information Vg 3=gil .
(continued)
Ningbo Changsha
ZhiMiao 75 Howard Jinxin Horoy Others Total
HEEK 75 Howard b RUBER ity b

RMB0O00 ~ RMB000  RMBOOO  RMBOOO ~ RMBO00  RMBU00O
AREFE  ARETE  ARWTL  AR®TFr  AREFE  ARKTX

Opening net assets (liabilities) at R202E1IR1HZ

1 January 2022 MpEEE B 1,250,895 1419460 3,158,000 (16,89) 61,391 5,872,850
Loss for the year EnEE (3014) (88,147) (22,110) (6,106) (54) (119431)
Other comprehensive income Hibse Al (70

(expense) - 49769 - - (5,916) 43853
Capital injection (reduction) EAEAGHE) = 123,970 = (38,710) = 85,260
Closing net assets (liabilities) PRS- VAU | 1,247,881 1505052 3,135,890 (61,712) 55,421 5,382,532
Tnterest in joint ventures ReBEEN L 1637% 65.00% 51.00% 54.08%
Share of net assets (liabilitics) W (AR M 204278 978284 1,599,304 (33,374) 17,773 2,766,265
Impaitment in joint venures RAESENHE - - (446,572) - (12,581) (459,153)
Goodwill and adjustments [k JT L 118 - 489,412 61,101 - 550,631
Carrying amount at R02E1AIRZ

31 December 2022 R 204,396 978,284 1,642,144 770 5192 2857743
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26. INVENTORIES OF PROPERTIES

26. MEHRE

Asat 31 December
#12H31H

2023 2022
20234F 20224F
RMB’000 RMB’000
ANR¥TIe ANE¥EFIT
(Restated)
(88 E 41))
PED (Note) FA e bR 2E (B ) 649,110 832,816
PUD B g 3 896,843 1,362,466
PFS FEHREYE 469,674 239,722
2,015,627 2,435,004

Note: In March 2023, a government office filed a legal claim against a

232

subsidiary of the Company in the PRC, demanding the Group and

the subsidiary to repay entire payables principal of approximately
RMB81,000,000 and related interests, and requested the court to
seize two pieces of land of the Group located in Dalian with a carrying
amount of approximately RMB640,842,000 as at 31 December 2023.
In March 2024, the Group reached a settlement agreement with the

government office, and the previously seized two pieces of land were

approved to be released accordingly in April 2024.

Details of the PFD and PUD are as follows:

R20234F3 H > — MIEUR HEA % 1 AL
A — R P T A AR R AR
B BORAE B % TN AE R 2
A 44 N R ¥81,000,0007T K+
BRI, » Sl 320K 1 (5% 2 A 4 18 o7 i K
R (E R 20234F 12 A 31 H 41 A AR
640,842,000 7 (19 W & L o 72202443
H o A% 5 ) BEL 5 B I 25 0 A A%
o MIR20244F4H > JEHEA B A IE 1
bR R PR A e o

FrA FE PR EEY) S R P R ) Y wE
ER N

As at 31 December
#12H31H
2023 2022
20234F 20224F
RMB’000 RMB’000
NS ST AR¥T 0
(Restated)
(B8 & 51)
PED and PUD R 1 B 2 K BB R
ES
At cost 2 A 1,926,253 2,387,512
Less: Provision for impairment loss W E R T A (380,300) (192,230)
1,545,953 2,195,282
— In Shanghai City, PRC — e B T 531,968 1,093,472
— In Dalian City, PRC — A& B R 2 T 640,842 771,932
— In Phnom Penh City, Cambodia — TER SR BT 373,143 329,878
1,545,953 2,195,282
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26. INVENTORIES OF PROPERTIES (continued) 26. MERE @
(a)  Details of the PFD and PUD are as follows: (continued) (a) T Fr BAEEY) 3 T BA S h ) SE M RE
TR - (%)
Asat 31 December
®12H31H
2023 2022
20234F 20224F
RMB’000 RMB’000
YN ANR¥Fi0
(Restated)
(B 51))
PED or PUD expected to be FrA R B AR Y SE B B 3
completed, at net realisable value ZEFEGTSE L H ) (Fe vl 5 31
F1E)
— Within one year —15ER 373,143 329,878
— After one year — 12 % 1,172,810 1,865,404
1,545,953 2,195,282
The movements of impairment of PFD or PUD are as follows: F5H 15 BA B 4 26 1% B 25 v ) 26 0 W
EEB W R
Asat 31 December
R12H31H
2023 2022
20234F 20224F
RMB’000 RMB’000
ANBR¥ T8 NG S
(Restated)
(B F1)
At the beginning of year AR 192,230 192,230
Provision for write down of PFD or T 15 B a2 ak B g
PUD 0 S 1 A A A 188,070 -
At the end of year JRAER 380,300 192,230
As at 31 December 2023, approximately RMB373,143,000 of R20234F12H31H > HH AR
the Group’s properties under development for sale was pledged 373,143,000 70 1) 45 4 [ BA 5% o 15 &
as collateral for the bank loan. WS HEA 5 ERAT BRI K 5 o
As at 31 December 2022, approximately RMB52,000,000 of #20224F12A31H » AEBEH AR
the Group’s properties held or under development for sale was #52,000,0007T At B 7 #5545 B0 B
pledged as collateral for a joint venture’s entrusted loan. The BHYECELEECERTENK
aforesaid entrusted loan was repaid and the pledge over the SR I 7 o = O & B Uik 7/ S
property has been released in 2023. ELR20234F il [ o
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26. INVENTORIES OF PROPERTIES (continued) 26. MIERER @)
(b)  Details of the PFS are as follows: (b) FAMREWEMNFEREWT
Asat 31 December
*12H31H
2023 2022
20234F 20224F
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR Tt AR¥FI0
(Restated)
(& 51))
PFS SR SRR LY/
At cost A 549,842 314,840
Less: Provision for impairment loss I I R TR R M (80,168) (75,118)
469,674 239,722
— In Shanghai City, PRC — e _E T 443,976 175,560
— In Chengdu City, PRC — AE H AR T 25,698 64,162
469,674 239,722
The movements of impairment of PFS are as follows: FEFEYEM R EEE W T
Asat 31 December
#12H31H
2023 2022
20234 20224F
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR Tt AR¥T oo
(Restated)
(& 41))
At the beginning of year TR 75,118 95,106
Provision for write down of PES ERERER=L/EAE 8] 10,613 11,051
Write-off of PFS TR 158 W s (5,563) (31,039)
At the end of year TRAER 80,168 75,118
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27. TRADE RECEIVABLES 27. FEWUR K
Asat 31 December
®12H31H
2023 2022
20234F 20224F
RMB’000 RMB’000

AR Tt ARMTT

Trade receivables (Note) JARE WA 3 (B ) 112,128 78,327
Less: Allowance for impairment losses W AR (54,116) (33,614)
58,012 44,713
Note: As at 1 January 2022, trade receivables from contract with customers FitsE © R20224E1 A 1H » KEEF S L8 EIR
amounted to approximately RMB52,935,000. HRR A N 152,935,000 7T ©
Considerations in respect of properties sold are paid by purchasers in B Ty RSN B B S sk S A B E
accordance with the terms of the related sale and purchase agreements. WA -
Rental receivables from investment properties is received in accordance 2 [ 1 2 0 RE R 4 T AR R AH B AR
with the terms of the relevant lease agreements, normally within 30 B R I > 2 Rk S H 30
days from the issuance of invoices. ENEE
Payments terms with customers for other operations are mainly on FoAb 588 S5 % 5 RO AT 3G 12 22 B i
credit. These customers are allowed with a credit period of 0 to 60 days S o %A PR AT A £ B0
from date of issuance of the invoices. IR HM0EG0H o
The following is the aging analysis of gross trade receivables, DATR 2 ¥ S22 4 B T B 45 R R B
determined based on the date of the properties were delivered and IR A5 2 448 1A 8] R A B A R % 40
sales were recognised and services were provided: Br -
Asat 31 December
#12A31H
2023 2022
20234 20224F
RMB’000 RMB’000

AR Tt PN o

Within 6 months 6fA H LAY 41,462 37,689
6 months to 1 year 6 H &1 4 10,414 7,573
1 to 2 years 1452 4 28,634 4,258
Over 2 years 214ERL B 31,618 28,807
112,128 78,327
As at 31 December 2023, included in the Group’s trade receivables A20234E12 31 H » 7 42 5] FE Wi R X 45
balance are debtors with aggregate carrying amount of approximately % 455 R T AR 49 AR 9110,906,0007C
RMB110,906,000 (2022: RMB76,208,000) which are past due as at (20224F + NER%76,208,0007C) IfEH
the reporting date. HREE H e 28 -
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27. TRADE RECEIVABLES (continued) 27. WEWUHRAK )
The Group’s trade receivables are related to a large number of ASE B ORI 2 B R BAF %5
diversified customers. There is no significant concentration of credit HAAEAEERAG B  BEUOR RS 2 A
risk. Trade receivables are non-interest-bearing. Wi S B RAK o
The movements in the allowance for impairment losses of trade JEM IR W B R T B S E R
receivables are as follows:
Asat 31 December
R12A31H
2023 2022
20234 20224F
RMB’000 RMB’000

AR¥T oo AR¥TT

At the beginning of year R4 33,614 27,922
Impairment losses recognised il R (B M 1R 20,502 6,442
Impairment losses reversed 5% [ Yok (e 15 - (750)
At the end of year AR 54,116 33,614
Details of the impairment assessment are set out in note 50. VIAE FEAG A5 SO B EESO -
28. OTHER RECEIVABLES 28. A JjE Wk
Asat 31 December
#12H31H
2023 2022
20234F 20224F
RMB’000 RMB’000

AR¥Tou ANR#T T

Receivables from subsidiaries disposed of A E LRI E B R E A
in prior years 2 JEWCIR X 877,048 877,048
Receivable of consideration arising from BTN A GRAE 2
disposal of subsidiaries JRE A B X 49,906 50,206
Receivables from related parties (note 48) A< B BB 7 2 RE MUK A
(F3E48) 1,248,634 713,245
Interests receivable from related parties R I 7 UG (PR 48)
(note 48) 728,747 534,571
Advance to a non-controlling sharcholder Fy— AR — 2 IR
of a subsidiary J SR EGR 190,000 190,000
Advance to an independent third party for I — 44 8 57 5 = Oy A L
aland development project B %% IE H #E 203,505 201,715
Others HAth 275,731 274,847
3,573,571 2,841,632
Less: Allowance for impairment losses W W E R (1,836,579) (1,239,740)
Other receivables, net HoAt Bk R 1,736,992 1,601,892
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28, H b JBE Wk )

ik WY T 48 48 5 1 2 11 R T D7 ) R Wi A
b > HAb UK IA 2 A w5 RS — R —4F
REAS o

28. OTHER RECEIVABLES (continued)

Except for the interest receivables from related parties which are
disclosed in note 48, the other receivables are non-interest-bearing
and are normally settled within one year.

Lt 1B e R I 81 M 4 498 4 5 8 A7 D A

The movements in the allowance for impairment losses of other

receivables are as follows: T
Asat 31 December
R12H31H
2023 2022
20234F 20224F
RMB’000 RMB’000
YN PN T
At the beginning of year JRAEH) 1,239,740 1,207,953
Impairment losses recognised A=Y 2Ei) 596,839 31,870
Impairment losses reversed P8 D (E e 12 - (83)
At the end of year RAER 1,836,579 1,239,740

Details of the impairment assessment are set out in note 50.

29. PREPAYMENTS AND OTHER CURRENT

AL A AR W 50 o
29. THAFRKIE B Il i B) ¥

ASSETS
Asat 31 December
#12H31H
2023 2022
20234 20224F
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR Tt ANR#ET T
Prepaid VAT TS (E L 23,535 18,758
Prepaid other tax and surcharges TEAT AL 48 K% B fim 22 1,337 3,721
Prepayments for construction costs 2 2 A T A OR 941 941
Others HoAth 25,274 22,048
51,087 45,468
Less: Allowance for impairment losses W S R I A (17,500) (17,500)
33,587 27,968
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2023 F 12031 H IL4FFE
30. OTHER FINANCIAL ASSETS AT AMORTISED  30. % & B A 51 i 2 {4 i &
COST JEE
Asat 31 December
#12H31H
2023 2022
20234F 20224
RMB’000 RMB’000
ANR¥ET e ANR#ET T
Loans receivables due from related parties TSR e (i sk a)
(Note a) 1,396,213 1,214,436
Less: Allowance for impairment losses (Note b) ¥k = 5 (B f5 4848 4 (4 5Eb) (260,607) (34,078)
1,135,606 1,180,358
Notes: B 5E
(@)  The balance as at 31 December 2023 mainly represented the () R2023%F12H31H » #REER/ETE
interest-bearing loans granted to related parties of approximately 2 BT 4 N H1,396,213,000 7T (2022
RMB1,396,213,000 (2022: RMB1,214,436,000) with a provision of A0 NRHE1,214,436,00000) 15 E B 3K
approximately RMB260,607,000 (2022: RMB34,078,000) (note 48). B4 49 N R 15260,607,000 05 (20224F
A B %34,078,00070) (Ff 5548) °
(b)  The provisions were made as at 31 December 2023 and 2022 as the (b)  HAAS L F) R B A T R R T
directors of the Company consider that the recoverability of certain Ui ] PE AR A 2 > UL 20234F % 20224F
receivables is uncertain. 12H 31 H 5HRH -
The movements in the allowance for impairment losses for other R G AR 97 R 2 A <6 O 7 (B 1R
financial assets at amortised cost are as follows: BB
Asat 31 December
#12H31H
2023 2022
20234 20224F
RMB’000 RMB’000
NG & T ANRH#T 0
At the beginning of year TRAFER] 34,078 34,605
Impairment losses recognised iR RIEN, CEi) 226,529 S5
Impairment losses reversed 1% 7] 3o s 15 - (582)
At the end of year AR 260,607 34,078
Details of the impairment assessment are set out in note 50. VIAE FEAG A5 SO B EES0 -
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#H 202341231 H ILAEE
31. RESTRICTED BANK DEPOSITS/BANK 31. FRBIPESRAT A7 AT &5 B8 R
BALANCES AND CASH B4
Asat 31 December
#12H31H
2023 2022
20234 20224F
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARW¥ T ANRM¥TIT
Cash on hand TFUH & 133 121
Bank balances SRATHE R 126,322 100,578
Bank balances and cash SRAT &5 % S B 5 126,455 100,699
Restricted bank deposits relating to SRLERAT i A Bl B B )
bank borrowings (Note a) AT (5 2,822 2,660
Restricted bank deposits relating to SR LR AR A B B R )
unsettled lawsuits (Note b) SRATAEK (B 5ED) 812 1,671
Restricted bank deposits relating to SRR AR A B B R )
inactive bank account SRATAEK 606 49
Restricted bank deposits B P 4R AT A7 3K 4,240 4,380

Notes:

()

As at 31 December 2023, an amount of approximately RMB2,822,000
(2022: RMB2,660,000) is restricted in connection with bank
borrowings.

As at 31 December 2023, an amount of approximately RMB812,000
(2022: RMB1,671,000) is restricted in connection with unsettled
lawsuits.

2023412 A31H » L ANRH2,822,000
JUARE (20224F © N %52,660,00070) £
ERLERAT 15 3 B A R P A o

2023412 H31H > £ AR H#812,00000

SR (20224F © NR¥1,671,00000) £ B
FERAAE B BRI o
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31. RESTRICTED BANK DEPOSITS/BANK
BALANCES AND CASH (continued)

As at 31 December 2023 and 2022, the carrying amounts of the
Group’s restricted bank deposits and bank balances and cash by

currency are as the following:

31.

B Tl Pk SR AT 173K SRAT &5 85
W&o

A20234F 52 20224E12 H 31 H > 74 82 3] R 5l
PESRATAF 3R DA R SR AT 45 Bk R B & fie B
HRTHE AT -

Asat 31 December
R12H31H

2023 2022
20234F 20224F
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARSI ANR¥ET T

HKS$ T 200 2,652
US$ S 45,816 1,688
Great British Pound (“GBP”) B 88 84
RMB N 84,591 100,655

130,695 105,079

The Group’s restricted bank deposits and bank balances carry variable
interest rates ranging from 0.20% to 0.35% (2022: 0.25% to 0.35%)
per annum and from 0.20% to 0.35% (2022: 0.25% to 0.35%) per
annum, respectively.

32. ASSETS CLASSIFIED AS HELD FOR SALE

S [ 1) B A P SR AT A7 K I SR AT 45 R T
IR Al 55 A F0.20% £0.35% (2022
A 0.25%%0.35%) KEFENT0.20% %
0.35%(20224F : 0.25%%.0.35%) °

32. ARERFHHEERE

Asat 31 December
R12H31H

2023 2022
20234F 20224F
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR o6 ANR#ET T

Assets classified as held for sale NRERAREEE

- 19,091
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ASSETS CLASSIFIED AS HELD FOR SALE

(continued)

On 4 January 2023, the Group entered into a purchase and sale
agreement (“SPA”) with an independent third party (“NAPA
Purchaser”), to dispose the equity interest in NAPA at a total
consideration of US$27,000,000 (the “Transaction”). As at 31
December 2022, the Transaction was foreseeable to be completed
within one year, and the related investment in NAPA was included
in assets classified as held for sale. Subsequently, on 6 March 2023,
the Group has received a written notice from the NAPA Purchaser
to terminate the SPA, and the related investment in the joint venture
was reclassified from assets classified as held for sale to investments in
joint ventures during the year ended 31 December 2023.

TRADE PAYABLES

Trade payables principally comprise amounts outstanding for
purchase of materials and subcontracting fee for the construction
of properties for sale. The average credit period for purchase of
construction materials and settlement of subcontracting fee ranged
from two months to one year.

An aged analysis of the trade payables as at the end of the reporting
period, from the date when they were incurred, is as follows:

o DF A 5 e i

For the year ended 31 December 2023
HWE20234F 1231 H L4

32. AWMERAHBEEE®R

202341 H4H - A B BB 7 5 =
B (INAPAE F )T v EE Wk ([EH
hakl) > DIBIGENAPARCHE » 21018 4
27,000,000 7G ([5% 38 % |) © Ji~20224F 12 H
31H - 5% 5 A — F R 5E R > i
HNAPAMHEE AN EAGEYR
B o HIf% > JR20234E3H6H > AL ENLF
NAPAE 7 # 15 8 E i sk 0 2w A > i
A A ZEN B RCE B R £ 2023412
H3HIEEEHAEE A FEEENE
HAERRGEEEZRE -

JE Aok MR 3K

RS B ek 2 B % R A 0 A 1 2 RO
R AHREYEERNOEEN - HE
SRR LA P25 R T
M H 24

33.

TEAHCE B IR > MREEEEE P AEE i E AT
AR BR B S AT AN T

Asat 31 December
#12H31H

2023 2022
20234F 20224
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARW T ANR¥T 7T
Within 1 year 14E A 185,048 231,891
1 to 2 years 1 ZE 24 24,798 15,401
Over 2 years 24D | 140,212 210,015
350,058 457,307
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34. OTHER PAYABLES AND ACCRUALS 34, ot E£F 3k % ERTHIE H

Asat 31 December
*12H31H

2023 2022
20234 20224F
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR T AR¥FI0

Other tax and surcharges payables Al R ASF A5 K R B 2 103,684 67,221
Dividends payable to non-controlling JREASE T ) PR 25

interests of subsidiaries ikl 25,700 25,700
Deposits from a tenant FEH—ZHT 24 50,000 50,000
Deposits from stores, rents received PSR 4 ~ A BH S R WiCERUY

on behalf of developers and 4 AT 2E A3t

public utility fees collected and HEH

paid on behalf tenants 39,145 27,524
Payroll and welfare payable JEAT T T A A1) 2 1,691 56,126
Accrued interest JE =S 2 649,058 457,816
Payable to the former non-controlling JEEAST B B T8 B Z il

interests of a disposed subsidiary I 122 BEHE 25 IS R g 2 17,000 17,000
Non-trade payables to related parties JREAST BRIy I 2k I (Fff 7 48)

(note 48) 889,089 873,501
Accruals fEFHEH 41,715 17,433
Others HoAthy 752,617 559,498

2,569,699 2,151,819
Other payables are non-interest-bearing and are normally settled FARREA IR R MR 85 I — N E
within one year. fit o
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CONTRACT LIABILITIES & B8
Asat 31 December
R12H31H

2023 2022
20234F 20224F
RMB’000 RMB’000
ANR¥T e ANR¥Fi0
Contract liabilities ElR & & 222,625 133,640

As at January 1, 2022, contract liabilities amounted to approximately
RMB71,925,000.

The contract liabilities mainly represent the receipt in advance
from property sales. The Group normally receives 30% — 100%
of the contract value as deposits from customers when they sign
the sale and purchase agreement. For certain properties sold to the
contractors of the Group, pursuant to the written offset agreement,
the consideration of properties is settled against the payables of
construction service provided by the contractors. As at 31 December
2023, contract liabilities of approximately RMB199,779,000 (2022:
RMB117,680,000) is expected to be released to profit or loss after
twelve months from the end of the reporting period.

For properties under development for sales, the Group typically
provides guarantees to banks in connection with the customers’
borrowing of mortgage loans to finance their purchase of the
properties for an amount up to 70% of the total purchase price of the
property. If a purchaser defaults on the payment of his/her mortgage
during the term of the guarantee, the bank holding the mortgage may
demand the Group to repay the outstanding amount of the loan and
any accrued interest thereon. Under such circumstances, the Group is
able to retain the customer’s deposits and sell the property to recover
any amounts paid by the Group to the bank. Unless the selling price
would drop by no less than 30%, the Group would not be in a loss
position in selling those properties.

R20224E1H1H - ARIGAEH B NRYE
71,925,0007C ©

A A EER Y LM ETEIGIE - A%
B — A S w T O R IRE AR P LS A
fEERI30% — 100%1FE A% 4 o Bl BT A
EEREE L TN S » RIEMES W
H o W BHE T DU SR G 4R R
JIRHS 78 A6 1) EAST R IE 45 - 12202347121
31H > ARIBEAH ARY199,779,0007C
(20224F © AR ¥117,680,00070) T8 11545 i
s BAOR 1210 A R 45 2 85 -

BB P EY RIS  ARBEIE
J5 0% i 0 2 R T A 2 48 8 R 1) R
FrER (A AR ¥ DR S os W) SR
EAI70% o 05 H T A1 R 30 1 ok RE A2
ety QFEA 8 B9 SRAT AT RE & 2R AR
VB 75 1 oA T I EL A ] 5t )
B oo FERREOLT - A B AT R R P Y %
<317 14 ) 5 S A 8] A ] by A 4 [ S A
TERAT I IH o BRI AE R O #30% -

AEBAGTEHEZE W HERRZHRL -
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36. BANKAND OTHER BORROWINGS

244

36. SRAT M H A AR K

As at 31 December
#12H31H
2023 2022
20234 20224F
RMB’000 RMB’000
NV & T ANRMT T
Current portion of long-term T IHERAT 18 K R0 ER 453
bank borrowings )
= Secured, from bank (Note a(i)) — HEHE R - SRAT (M EEa(d)) 773,970 805,370
773,970 805,370
Current portion of long-term other R 00 3 Al £ 3k B3 43
borrowings )
= Secured, from others (Note b) — LA > oAb (D) 87,500 100,000
— Unsecured, from others — S LAt - 23,908
87,500 123,908
Short-term bank and other borrowings S ERAT B A A X
= Secured, from bank (Note afii)) - HEHRAE R - SRAT
(Pt rEaii)) 42,496 =
— Secured, from a fellow subsidiary - PR 5‘5 H—HF &R
(Noted) T (B EEd) 177,068 =
— Unsecured, from the ultimate holding - BEHCH AR X K B R A
company (Note ¢) PN 7 (Mt GEe) 180,000 180,000
399,564 180,000
Borrowings, current portion 2R > BIHER0Y 1,261,034 1,109,278
Other long-term borrowings, oAl A8 K > JE R ES 1y
non-current portion
= Secured, from others (Note f) — FCAPE K 2 3 HoAth
(B LD 619,736 -
— Secured, from parent company (Note ¢) - AP R A RA R
(Kt iEc) 560,000 560,000
— Unsecured, from parent company and - SR G BK > 2HE B RE S ]
its subsidiaries (Note c) RILTF AT (k) 2,650,505 2,783,339
Borrowings, non-current portion &k - FE RV AR Ay 3,830,241 3,343,339
The long-term borrowings are repayable RYMERB BRI T -
as follows:
- On demand - O 2 861,470 905,370
— Within 1 year o NEE - 23,908
= 1to2years - 1ZE24F N3 A 3,210,505 -
=2 to 3 years - 223N E 619,736 3,343,339
4,691,711 4,272,617
Less: long-term borrowings, current portion W R BIEROy (861,470) (929,278)
Long-term borrowings, non-current portion R TR 3,830,241 3,343,339
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36. BANKAND OTHER BORROWINGS (continued)

Notea: Bank borrowings — secured

Note b:

(i)

(ii)

As at 31 December 2023, long-term bank borrowings
of approximately RMB773,970,000 (2022:
approximately RMB805,370,000) were secured by the
pledges of the Group’s leaschold land, together with
bank deposits, trade reccivable, property, plant and
equipment, investment properties, PFD or PUD and
equity interests of subsidiaries. Interest rate ranges
from 4.06% to 5.53% (2022: 4.36% to 5.68%) per
annum for the aforesaid bank borrowings. As at 31
December 2023, approximately RMB773,970,000
(2022: approximately RMB805,370,000) for the
above bank borrowings were defaulted and became
immediately repayable on demand.

As at 31 December 2023, short-term bank borrowings
of approximately RMB42,496,000 (2022: Nil) was
secured by the pledges of the Group’s PUD. Interest
rate for the loan is 11% per annum and principal of the
loan matures on 28 November 2024.

Other borrowings from others

As at 31 December 2023, the loan of approximately
RMB87,500,000 (2022: RMB100,000,000) was provided by
an external party and secured by the pledges of the Group’s

investment properties. Interest rate for the loan is 13% per

annum and principal of the loan matures on 21 April 2023.
Since 2022, the loan was defaulted triggered by the defaults
of a joint venture’s syndicated bank loan which is guaranteed

by the Group, and therefore became immediately repayable

on demand.

36. SRAT M H At

Bt sEa

WL :

B F B %5 H L Bt G
For the year ended 31 December 2023
HWE20234F 1231 H L4

2L
H mA (75

TRHIERAT K — JEF (& 3K

(i) 20234 12H31H > &M
AT E H o EE AR K
773,970,000 JT(20224F : #)
AR %805,370,0007T) & LA
ALEEEEE 2 HE T - 4R
AR~ REWIRE - W2 -
SIS L/ E
B FEBEE Y 2L ol B h 2
K0 ) R V) R A A 1
oo bl SR AT 15 3R R A
T 4F4.06% % 5.53% (2022
D 4.36%%E5.68%) © BE
20234F12H31H » L#leRAT
A & N R ¥5773,970,000
JE(20224F + B AR ¥
805,370,000 7C) B # &7 3lf7 JE T
SRo7 B fEE -

R20234F12H31H » 4 HASR
17185 3 4 N R 42,496,000
JG(20224F © M) DL A 4R 3] B
R 2E M AR B ISR -
BRI 11% > 32 KAR
S FMH 2024411 H28
H o

A Al B AR R

BE2023F12H31H » HIMRA
R4 AR %587,500,0007T (2022
A0 NR¥5100,000,00070) B
A DA AS 4 [ 45 8 ) 2E AT AR
PR o BRI R L13% > 2K
AREFNHH A20234F4H21H o i
2022%F 245 > AREEIERN A S
4> S R [ SR AT R BOE A i a7 A
SR > 3R I 28 RE 55k 57 B
oo
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36. BANKAND OTHER BORROWINGS (continued)

246

Note c:

Note d:

Note e:

Other borrowings from parent company and its subsidiaries

As at 31 December 2023, loan from its parent company
namely China Minsheng Jiaye of approximately
RMB560,000,000 (2022: RMB560,000,000) was secured by
pledge of equity interests of a subsidiary. Interest rate is 7%
per annum and principal of the aforesaid loan matures on 30

September 2025.

As at 31 December 2023, unsecured loans of approximately
RMB1,625,765,000 (2022: RMB1,615,951,000) were
provided by its parent company namely China Minsheng
Jiaye. Interest rate ranges from 5.59% to 12% per annum and
principal of the aforesaid loans will mature in 2025.

As at 31 December 2023, unsecured loan of approximately
RMB929,557,000 (2022: RMB1,079,634,000) and
approximately RMB95,183,000 (2022: RMB87,754,000)
were provided by Jiasheng (Holding) Investment Limited
(“Jiasheng”) and Jiahuang (Holding) Investment Limited
(“Jiahuang”), two subsidiaries of its parent company namely
China Minsheng Jiaye, respectively. In respect of the
unsecured loans provided by Jiasheng and Jiahuang, interest
rate is 6% and 10% per annum respectively, and principal of
the aforesaid loans will mature in 2025.

Short-term other borrowings from a fellow subsidiary

As at 31 December 2023, loan of approximately
RMB177,068,000 (2022: Nil) was provided by the CMI
Financial Holding Corporation, the fellow subsidiary of the
Group, and the aforesaid loan was secured by the pledges of
the Group’s equity interests of a subsidiary. Interest rate is
12% per annum and the aforesaid loan was defaulted and
become immediately repayable on demand.

Short-term other borrowings from the ultimate holding
company

As at 31 December 2023 and 2022, unsecured loan of
approximately RMB180,000,000 was provided by China
Minsheng Investment, the ultimate holding company of the
Group, and interest rate is 8% per annum. As at 31 December
2023 and 2022, the aforesaid loan was defaulted due to
breach of financial covenants clause related to the default
of the Group’s other borrowings, and become immediately
repayable on demand.

36. $RAT M HAAG K )

Mt Ec

ffikd -

Bifike :

A B ] R F A A
N

R2023F12H31H > HARE
560,000,0007T (20224F : AR HF
560,000,0007C) B B 3% H B 7 H
Rt > Sk 72 7 00 i
4@7%.3)%{% BHAEMR 7% - b

AL E| W H 2202549 H 30
E] °

HZE20235F12H31H > AL
HEN R H1,625,765,0007C (2022
0 NR%1,615,951,00070) 1 H:

BN F PR RS o ER KN
F5.59%%12% ¢ il B zkééﬂj

JA20254F-F 1 o

R20234E12H31H > HH ANRK
929,557,0007C (20224 = A&
#1,079,634,0007T) M &9 A & HE
95,183,0007C (20224F : AR ¥
87,754,0007C) I 4HE K 48 67 2K 43 Al £
HEA AR ENHETAF
B EER)BEERAF (FEB])
Ko 82 () B & A R 7 (5

2R o B 2R
ARG AT G 3K A H 250 Bl B 6% I
10% > b4l B A 4 41 A 2025 4F
F)H -

A — [ R 28 12 w9 S HL A

(CEN

2023412 H31H > A A
R#177,068,0007C (20224F  #E)
HAEE—HMFERFAFACMI
Financial Holding Corporationj’fx'z
f > bl R DA SR i — T T
o ] ERE R PR B 4G AR o AR
FyiFAE12% > T Lt SR E E A
37 e SRk ST R R -

516 I 5 S e ) A 6 O At
K

20234 &% 2022412 H31H > 4%
HEFR 204 N R #180,000,000 7T
P A A ] e 4P N FD R R AR R
s R B EEAE8% o 20234 %
2022412 A31H » Bt T
A #E B A 48 [ HAMh R AR
A ) BA B S5 AT A A > NIF B
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36. SRAT M HAbAG K )

BFREE © HoA R - JE R

36. BANKAND OTHER BORROWINGS (continued)
Notef:  Other long-term borrowings, non-current portion

W2023%F12H31H » &K
87,500,000 7T (FH & A 49 N L HE
619,736,00070) (20224F41) ( 4h
A4t > 8 DUAS SR [ — T
o5 E) BORE R A AE SRR o B EK
SRR B 14% > ARSI 2026
FEeHIH T -

As at 31 December 2023, the loan of approximately
US$87,500,000 (equivalent to approximately
RMB619,736,000) (2022: Nil) was provided by an external
party and secured by the Group’s equity interests of a
subsidiary. Interest rate for the loan is 14% per annum and
the principal of the loan will mature on 9 June 2026.

Overall collateral arrangements for bank and other

borrowings

As at 31 December 2023 and 2022, pledged assets as collateral for the

RIT R HA A5 5k 117 L HE 7

A20234E 52022412 H31H » 1EAAREH

Group’s borrowings were as follows: BRSSP EIEREE R ¢
2023 2022
20234F 20224
RMB’000 RMB’000
N T AR¥Fi0
Property, plant and equipment (note 20) Yook - W Al (M RE20) 72,339 76,368
Right-of-use assets (note 21) i PR B (ff 21 37,883 39,092
Investment properties (note 22) & B2 (fik22) 2,028,000 2,043,400
Investments in joint ventures (note 25) HBAENTE (FE25) 1,490,312 =
Inventories of properties (note 26) %%ﬁﬁ [t 5E26) 373,143 52,000
Bank deposits (note 31) AT (M EE31) 2,667 2,660
The weighted average effective interest rates for these borrowings at AR5 3 AR A R A A B S I T2
the end of the reporting period were as follows: GRS (1
2023 2022
20234 20224F
US$ RMB US$ RMB
*7t N i NG
Long-term bank borrowings ~ RIISRATIEK - 5.63% - 5.59%
Long-term other borrowings R X 9.26% 7.22% 1.99% 2.49%
Short-term bank borrowings ~ RLHSRAT 3K 11.00% - - -
Short-term other borrowings At 5K - 8.00% - 8.00%

As bank borrowing are all borrowed at prevailing market interest rates,
which would be adjusted from time to time in line with interest rate
changes in the market, the carrying amounts of the bank borrowings
approximate to their fair values.

F A SRAT (5 A R 2 By BUAT T 5 A1) 2% > I
BT S s AL T AR o TR ERAT A KA MR T
B {E B AR (E AR
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36. BANKAND OTHER BORROWINGS (continued) 36. $RAT B H Al A K )

The carrying amounts of the bank and other borrowings are SRAT B A A K B0 R B (B DA 51 8 W
denominated in the following currencies: AL
Asat 31 December
R12A31H
2023 2022
20234 20224F
RMB’000 RMB’000

AR¥ T oo ARMTT

US$ B 1,864,040 1,191,296
RMB NG 3,227,235 3,261,321
5,091,275 4,452,617
37. DEFERRED TAXATION 37. MEREBLIA
Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset when there is a legally A HE A Rt BN 3B I L R ST RG
enforceable right to offset current tax assets against current tax THA e > BRI 15 B9 I Rl — Bl
liabilities and when the deferred income tax assets and liabilities relate T8 B K] — BB B I > JU) ml i fiE
to income taxes, if any, levied by the same tax authority on the same FIr A5 7 B A A AR HLHEEY o #IE20234F
taxable entity. As of 31 December 2023 and 2022, the majority of J20224-12 31 H > F BIRAE A5 80 B =
deferred tax assets and liabilities are to be recovered after more than BB Z R 1248 A &0 lm] o
12 months.
The net movements in the deferred tax accounts are as follows: PRAEFLTERR H s an |
Asat 31 December
#12H31H
2023 2022
20234 20224F
RMB’000 RMB’000

AR¥ T PN

At the beginning of year W] 1,330,570 1,328,409
Credit to profit or loss (note 16) R AR TS A (B 16) (170,974) (240,676)
Recognised in other comprehensive A A 55 5 i £ AR

income (2,853) -
Net off K - 242,837
At the end of year AER 1,156,743 1,330,570
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37. DEFERRED TAXATION (continued) 37. WEAEBLIA )
The movements in deferred tax assets and liabilities during the year A N AR SE T 15 0 6 o B R A T A5 B B f
are as follows: T
Deferred tax assets PEHE P 17 B B
Difference in Difference in Difference in
accounting accounting accounting
and tax bases and tax bases and tax bases
arising from arising from arising from
share transfer netlease  financial assets
consideration liabilities at FVTOCI Tax losses Total
&N RE AR
HESFHA

BehaRfr  MEAREE HsakE

EEREE  EER e SR AR
Bk R BiEER it kBiEER U it
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥TET  ARWTE  ARETT  ARWTE  ARET

At 1 January 2022 R20224E 17 1H 242,837 726 8,828 - 252,391
Charge to profit or loss RS IR - (503) - - (503)
Net off (Note) L8 (W 3E) (242,837) = = = (242,837)
At 31 December 2022 2022412310 - 223 8,828 - 9,051
Credit to profit or loss Sz ET e IR - 7,308 - 5,670 12,978
Recognised in other T A AR A i
comprehensive income T3 - - 2,853 - 2,853
At 31 December 2023 120234 12431 - 7,531 11,681 5,670 24,882
Note: As at 31 December 2022, the Group netted off income tax payables FBEGE : BiE20224F12H31H » B R Mt
against deferred tax assets of approximately RMB242,837,000 —HBUHER - AEEMREL LS
recognised resulting from historical transactions considering further tax o R 1) T A5 B AR T R A S
obligation is remote. # N R ¥5242,837,0007C °
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37. DEFERRED TAXATION (continued) 37. MREEBLIA 40
Deferred tax liabilities ALy 130 A 1
Difference in
Fair value accounting
Fair value adjustments and tax bases
changeof arisingfrom  Withholding arising from
investment business taxes right-of-use
properties  combination (note 16) assets Others Total
EARERS RinR%  BAEEE
WEREZ BAREE  RERGH B
AR EAES [k (ke  RBHEER ol At
RMB000 RMB000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB000
ARE#TE  AR¥TT  ARETr  AR®Tx AR®TT  ARKTR
At 1 January 2022 #2022 1H 1H 506,894 740,462 233,512 - 99,932 1,580,800
(Credit) charge to profit or loss 45 i (HE 62) 411 BR (19,725) (3,698) (233512) - 15,756 (241,179)
At 31 December 2022 #2022 121 311 487,169 736,764 = = 115,688 1,339,621
(Credit) charge to proficorloss A48 4 (L4 1% (27,350) (153,106) = 6,703 15,757 (157,996)
At31 December 2023 20234 12310 459819 583,658 = 6,703 131,445 1,181,625
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37. DEFERRED TAXATION (concinued) 37. MEEEBIE 4
Deferred tax liabilities (continued) PEHE P 1B A 5 (7
As at 31 December 2023, the Group had unutilised tax losses of J20234F12 H 31 H » A EAH K F AL
approximately RMB1,516,316,000 (2022: RMB1,638,049,000). A AR R A N R 1,516,316,0007T (2022
deferred tax asset has been recognised in respect of approximately A NERH1,638,049,0000T) o sZBLES 5 R
RMB22,680,000 (2022: Nil) of such tax losses. No deferred tax H R AN H22,680,0007T (20224F i)
assct has been recognised in respect of the remaining tax losses of TERER R R BLUIE A - 8 R BUB R4
approximately RMB1,493,636,000 (2022:RMB1,638,049,000) due AR #1,493,636,0007C (20224F © AR
to the unpredictability of future profits streams. The unrecognised tax 1,638,049,00070) Mfi 7 fifé 5% 5 1% 4.E A JB &
losses will expire in the following years: BE > T AR R A R R ) AN ] TR -
KRHEB R BLTS B I A2 LA R A5 28 -
Asat 31 December
#12H31H
2023 2022
20234 20224F
RMB’000 RMB’000

AR¥Tou PN

2023 20234F - 200,505
2024 2024 214,613 542,241
2025 20254 319,643 322,478
2026 2026 206,355 219,423
2027 20274 337,547 353,402
2028 20284 415,478 =

1,493,636 1,638,049
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37.

252

DEFERRED TAXATION (continued)

At 31 December 2023, the Group had temporary differences of
approximatcly RMB2,629,270,000 (2022: RMB1,592,280,000)
in respect of allowance for impairment of trade receivables, other
receivables, other financial assets at amortised cost, prepayment
and other current assets and inventories of properties. No deferred
tax asset has been recognised on the temporary differences of
approximately RMB2,629,270,000 (2022: RMB1,592,280,000) due
to the unpredictability of future profit streams will be available against
which the deductible temporary differences can be utilised.

As at 31 December 2022, the Company expected that no dividend
would be declared to foreign investors from the foreign investment
enterprises established in the PRC in the foreseeable future and thus
the Group reversed deferred tax liabilities related to above mentioned
withholding taxes of approximately RMB233,512,000. The Board

approved such reversal.

In the opinion of the directors of the Company, it is probable that the
temporary differences relating to the profits that are not expected to
be distributed will not reverse in the foreseeable future. The aggregate
amount of temporary differences associated with investments in
subsidiaries in the PRC for which deferred tax liabilities have not
been recognised totalled approximately RMB2,796,154,000 (2022:
RMB2,278,000,000).

There are no income tax consequences attaching to the payment of

dividends by the Company to its shareholders.

37.

W& HE B IH (4)

2023412731 H > A% 4 [ B U R K
oAt R i > DR B R A 4 R 2 At 4
Rl EE YRS 3ROTE R HL At O B A DA K&
WA & W A A B 2 IR 2 A A
N #52,629,270,0007T (20224 = AR K
1,592,280,0007%) © A< 5 [ lf7 40 5t 7 1R 25 A
£ N R %2,629,270,0007C (20224F © A RHE
1,592,280,0007C) fifé 58 48 1L Bl JH & 78 > 5
i PR 325 TR W A G0 R 25 AR A R AR
FIEH

R20224F 12 H31H > A B FEFHA AT I A
AR R A [ A H B ST A e A A 2
] S B 5 A R S > R L A A [ 4 T
B ol TE 0B B A E GE BB BE A A
233,512,000 ° # & O At % 55 15
[7] o

AT ZERRE > W EREF ARG
2 WERIAR B 2 " Bep 2= R AE AT TR R 2 R AR
gl o B N B 2 B B A R
FRIRSE AT AR B A 2 B R A SR A A
N RH2,796,154,0007T (20224F = AR HE
2,278,000,0007C) °

ANATAE i) %23 ) JS SR T B T 38 i 45 i
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38. PROVISION FOR LOSSES DUE TO THE 38. WP AR R E AT B8
DEFAULT OF A JOINT VENTURE’S # B AT BA 9 IR B 2 AR
SYNDICATED BANK LOAN AND ) s 48 A IS 988 1
EXECUTION OF THE FINANCIAL
GUARANTEE CONTRACT
Asat 31 December
#12H31H
2023 2022
20234 20224F
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR Tt NG e
Provision for losses due to the default of o DR 4 0 SR B SR AT K
Jinxin’s syndicated bank loan and K RPAT I B IR B 5
execution of the financial guarantee T 2 A 1 R 4R 1 A
contract 236,960 206,000
The movements of the provision for losses due to the default of A R 4 0 R B R AT B R £ S AT BA T
Jinxin’s syndicated bank loan and execution of the financial guarantee PR KT FE A= 14 s 481 L 438 4 0 5 ) 4
contract are as follows: T
Asat 31 December
R12H31H
2023 2022
20234F 20224F
RMB’000 RMB’000
ANRWT It ANR¥ETF T
At the beginning of year TR AER] 206,000 =
Losses recognised TR s 1 30,960 206,000
At the end of year AR 236,960 206,000
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38.

254

PROVISION FOR LOSSES DUE TO THE
DEFAULT OF A JOINT VENTURE’S
SYNDICATED BANKLOAN AND
EXECUTION OF THE FINANCIAL
GUARANTEE CONTRACT (continued)

As at 31 December 2023, the Group had equity investment in Jinxin
of approximately RMB797,300,000 (2022: RMB1,642,144,000),
the carrying amount of other receivables due from Jinxin of
approximately RMB756,014,000 (2022: RMB531,437,000), loans
receivable due from Jinxin of approximately RMB578,523,000
(2022: RMB623,683,000) and interests receivable due from Jinxin
of approximately RMB213,346,000 (2022:RMB187,087,000).
In addition, the Group provided financial guarantee for Jinxin’s
syndicated bank loans and the guaranteed amount was approximately
RMB4,872,870,000 (2022: RMB4,731,600,000) including the
outstanding principal of approximately RMB4,451,800,000 (2022:
RMB4,451,800,000) as well as related interest and bank fees of
RMB421,070,000 (2022: RMB279,800,000) as at 31 December
2023, and the Group’s equity investment in Jinxin is the collateral for
the aforementioned syndicated bank loan.

As described in note 4, the default of Jinxin’s syndicated bank loan
resulted in the relevant lenders having demanded the Group to fulfil
its financial guarantee obligation to repay the loan, and had applied for
court’s forcible execution, including auction or sale of the assets under
collateral including the Group’s equity interests in Jinxin. The Group
has been communicating with the relevant lenders to suspend or cease
the forcible execution and the extension of Jinxin’s syndicated bank
loan with the banks whereas no conclusive result so far. Therefore, the
Group may incur losses due to the default of Jinxin’s syndicated bank
loan in relation to the financial guarantee (“losses due to the default of
Jinxin’s syndicated bank loan and execution of the financial guarantee
contract”).

38.

i B AR 3R o T SR AT kR
29 B PUAT B s 3 AR &0 i 2 2
A s 1R A S 9 )

2023412 A31H » REFBIKE LM
BEHER G 2 AR %797,300,0007C (2022
4E 0 NERHE1,642,144,0007T) 4h » EI S
O L Ath FRE e 2T - MR 40 1) BB M B
DA JRE i 4 O 1) Wi 1) R 22 R T L 40 Tl
B # N H756,014,0007T (20224 © AR
#531,437,00070) © AR ¥578,523,000
JC(20224F + AR ¥623,683,00070) &
N H213,346,000T (20224 A
R ¥187,087,00070) © WAk » AREM 5
G0 1 SR H R AT 0 B 4 B RS S AR
R20234E12H31H > IEBREFHELH A
[ #54,872,870,00070(20224F + N
4,731,600,0007T) > BIFREEAREL
N R #4,451,800,0007T (20224F © AR
4,451,800,00070) DA K 40 B A B X8R AT F
A N R %421,070,00000 (20224 © AR
#5279,800,00070) » M A< £E [ ik 400 1 i
BER 2y L ot SR I SR AT K A R iy o

AN B R4 L o <0 SR BRAT R R A
LR B RN B R AR MR AT HLAR
BRI B 5548 (R FAE EL R s I e O
7o AR EEM S T EE (8
TEAE A &0 W BEHE) - AL —H i
R IR 5 RN T A LA A AR L 3R AT
JE 5 50 O SR B SRAT BE > M 2 A R B
KSR o WL AREETREN W KB
08 O B0 <o 52 T R S A4 T 8 7 s 4
(I PRI <0 S 0 R 48 0 460 AT A 5 4f
RE LM ELREE]) -
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PROVISION FOR LOSSES DUE TO THE
DEFAULT OF A JOINT VENTURE’S
SYNDICATED BANK LOAN AND
EXECUTION OF THE FINANCIAL
GUARANTEE CONTRACT (continued)

The measurement of expected credit losses in relation to the financial
guarantee contract as well as other receivables and other financial
assets due from Jinxin was based on the value of Jinxin’s net assets,
which mainly depended on the value of the related property under
development in the PRC held by Jinxin (the “Related Property”).
For the assessment of the impairment of investment in Jinxin, the
Group determined the recoverable amount by reference to the value
of its equity interests in Jinxin which was estimated by engaging an
independent professional valuer. The valuation of the estimated
value of Jinxin were performed based on asset-based approach, which
was also mainly depended on the value of the Related Property. The
Related Property was valued based on market approach.

When the Group measured the losses due to the default of Jinxin’s
syndicated bank loan and execution of the financial guarantee
contract, different scenarios with different probability of occurrence
were considered with several key assumptions, including the
estimation of the success of the negotiation to extend Jinxin’s
syndicated bank loan with the banks, the value of equity interest
in Jinxin and Jinxin’s related property, the probability of auction
or sale of the assets under collateral as well as the possible auction
or sales price, and the final settlement amount by foreclosing the
collateral asset in the event that the auction fails. The Group engaged
an external legal counsel to provide legal analysis for the purpose of
assessing the probability of occurrence of the different scenarios.
During the year ended 31 December 2023, the Group estimated
that the probability of execution of the financial guarantee contract
and/or auction of assets under collateral by the relevant lender of
Jinxin’s syndicated bank loan was appropriately 25% (2022: 20%),
and the probability of success in negotiation of extension of Jinxin’s
syndicated bank loan with the lenders was approximately 75% (2022:
80%). Based on the assessment, the Group recognised losses of
RMB30,960,000 during the year ended 31 December 2023 (2022:
RMB206,000,000).

38.

o DF A 5 e i

For the year ended 31 December 2023
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AP 6 A G T SR AT B K
209 B AT B s 3 AR B & i e 2R
FR s 1R A1 9 )

A B B 5 408 O 4 DA B B i < JHC A B i
AR B HEAt < Rl 1) TR A7 B 4R T AR
OB E M E ERHE > 78 2
PR U5 R I 1B R b ) 3 (T4
BRI )) IO ME AR o i A 8 <o 1A 50 9k
{HIM > A5 M 255 Fk 60 1 R fE (E
( Fhy Z T £ 8 S S50 il (0 A 1) 788 5 T i
(] S o Ll 0B L B i (6 T 00 S
IR > TN EEBGR AR B Y SE (E(E -
AR B P SE R A (EL DA T 355 15 Ry R E o

A [ R 40 B I SR AT B R 4
AT BB YE R & & 2 AR S R > AR TR
LA R AN [R] G e B B S AR R —
PE% 8 - BLHE Al 51 Ak 2 B8R 4T 5% 7 4L =B
SO SREERAT K ~ A0 B HE K &0 A
B EEE - E SR EIRSEEN
A RE M LA B T RE A 11 o AEAS > DA
TEFAE I U B 1K 7 I )
MM RAGSEEH  AEEZET 4
A1 EB A R AR R R A A AT > DAREAG A
G DL EEAE M nT Re M » A 20234121
31H IR B AL EALFE 50 88 [ 8- AT
B A B BTSSR S H &
oA B HE A Y R RE M A 5 25%
(20224F = 20%) > M BL B¢ 3RO 7 A8 =2 4
Lo B ER AT A B L Eh v BB ME AU 575 %
(20224F : 80%) o MREFEAL > A% 5 B iR
#2023F12H31 H I E iR 1B AR
30,960,0007T (20224 = AR #5206,000,000
Jb) °
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39.

40.

256

FINANCIAL LIABILITIES AT FVTPL 39. Uil Eﬁ i H S Bt A
HHEG SR a R
As at 31 December
#12H31H
2023 2022
20234 20224F
RMB’000 RMB’000
ANR¥T e ARHFIT
Financial liabilities at FVTPL DI B E R BB A
CEECE iA=L 267,252 275,298
During 2021, a third party developer (the “Third Party Developer”) TA20214F > — [ 58 = J7 BRI s (155 = 77 B
and the Group reached an agreement to co-develop certain vacant B ) BEAC A [ B Bk o DAL BR A
parcel of land (the “Property Project”), in which the Third Party Tz M ((HREA D) > K =77k
Developer is entitled for a distribution of 30% of the earnings of BER A RE IR IR T B A W H AR Y
the Property Project at completion stage (the “Income Right”). The 309%53 IR (T AREFIL) o oA BE ) 48 A A
Income Right will only be finalised upon the completion of sales of ) 2 55 £ 52 B MR A B A 260 B AR B
the properties and settlement of the relevant liabilities in relation H %fﬁ C TEIEHE > WL AR
to the Property Project, and therefore the Income Right is regarded AL A A (R - ﬁ/{‘2\02335 12
as liabilities of the Group (the “Liabilities”). As at 31 December H31H - AR AR 5 AR
2023, the fair value of the Liabilities, is estimated at approximately 267,252,0007C (20224 + AR #275,298,000
RMB267,252,000 (2022:RMB275,298,000) and resulted in a gain of oe) o lf E AR AR A N R 98,046,000 0
approximately RMB8,046,000 (2022: RMB11,389,000). (20224F :+ AR %11,389,0007C)
ISSUED SHARE CAPITAL AND SHARE 40, DBEATIBA B ik A e
PREMIUM
Shares Vi a/a
Number
of shares Amount
(thousand) Ex |
Je o B H HK$000
(F i) THITT
Ordinary shares of HK$0.1 each 5 I T {ELO. 175 G 114 353 it
Authorised: B
At 1 January 2022, 31 December 2022 and TA20224E1H1H -
31 December 2023 20224E 1231 H &
2023412 H31H 50,000,000 5,000,000
Issued and fully paid: AT R -
At 1 January 2022, 31 December 2022 and 202241 H1H ~
31 December 2023 20224F12H31H &
20234 12431H 20,564,173 7,488,108
As at 31 December
#12H31H
2023 2022
20234 20224F
RMB’000 RMB’000
ANR¥T5 ARHFIT
Shown in the consolidated financial statements Q%% & AR R 6,747,788 6,747,788
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2023 F 12031 H ILFREE
40. ISSUED SHARE CAPITAL AND SHARE 40. CFEATIA B B A i 18 ()
PREMIUM (continued)
Shares (continued) 17 ()
A summary of movements in the Company’s share capital is as AR FA BB EARMT
follows:
Amount
&%
Number
of shares Issued Share
(thousand) capital premium Total
B4y % H CEfTRA B A i )
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARWF 8 AREF T AREF 8
At 1]January 2022, #2024 14 1H -
31 December 2022 and 20224 12H31H K
31 December 2023 20231231 H 20,564,713,000 1,701,661 5,046,127 6,747,788
41. OTHER RESERVES 41. Hftfa e
Exchange
Surplus fluctuation
reserve reserve Others Total
B LW BIR Hi At
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARWT 70 ARWTT0 ARWTT0 ARWTI0
At 1 January 2023 £20234 1A 1H 428,994 (31,976) (161,794) 235,224
Other comprehensive income, HAps AW »
net of tax meH4
Currency translation differences el - (8,104) - (8,104)
Changes in the fair value of DA R E(ERHE BB
financial assets at FVTOCI, ARG Al 2 SR
net of tax 2N R EEEE - ik
B - - (8,560) (8,560)
- (8,104) (8,560) (16,664)
Transactions with owners HBHER 5
Statutory reserve (Note) T E Gt (W 3E) 22,534 - - 22,534
At 31 December 2023 R2023% 121310 451,528 (40,080) (170,354) 241,094
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41. OTHER RESERVES (continued)

41, HAbGEHG )

Exchange
Surplus fluctuation
reserve reserve Others Total
BtrfefE LB oty At
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARWT T ARWT T NG T NS
At 1 January 2022 202241 1A 423,323 (82,428) (161,794) 179,101
Other comprehensive income, Hipsi B »
net of tax meH &
Currency translation differences B 2 - 50,452 - 50,452
Transactions with owners HERR S
Statutory reserve (Note) 7 it il (B ) 5,671 - - 5,671
At 31 December 2022 2022412310 428,994 (31,976) (161,794) 235,224

Note: Pursuant to the relevant laws and regulations for Sino-foreign joint

e

258

venture enterprises, a portion of the profits of the Group’s entities
which are established in the PRC has been transferred to reserve funds

which are restricted as to use.

Companies within the Group, most of which are registered in the PRC
as foreign invested entities, are required to make appropriations from
statutory net profits to the reserve fund and the enterprise expansion
fund, upon distribution of their post-tax profits of the current year. The
percentages to be appropriated to the reserve fund and the enterprise
expansion fund are determined by the boards of directors of these
companies.

Companies within the Group, which are registered in the PRC as
domestic invested entities, are required to appropriate 10% of statutory
net profits to the statutory surplus reserve, upon distribution of their
post-tax profits of the current year. A company may discontinue the
contribution when the aggregate sum of the statutory surplus reserve
is more than 50% of its registered capital. Upon contribution to the
statutory surplus reserve using its post-tax profit, a company may make
further contribution to the surplus reserve using its post-tax profit in
accordance with a resolution of the board of directors.

H

CRIETSN G AR A B A A TE

o A S Y A T ) AR o
PRI —E M R4 AERRE & o

AR A T 1B LA A B A ST SO
O] A AR AR BEEAT BUAR A 2 B
BT > ZEUARE 325 5 19 1 o 4R B0 fof 5 8 4 W
FEEE > RILAIH LA T 2 EE

AR 45 ] A F B K B DA TR B A 2 ST
LN A o AR AR AR BE AT B A 4 i
T > ZEAR 70 V0 AT R B B 109 A i
BERGEM - 52 MR R RE A T G
A 509%IE > ATRFHEREL o DARLIR
TS E B AR > AR R
P 5 T PR A I TR o — 4R
U Bkt o
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(a) Cash from operations
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For the year ended 31 December 2023
HWE20234F 1231 H L4

42, BlEHiRER
(a) A HAEIFBH B %

Reconciliation of loss before income tax to cash used in

R BT A 0 T s 8 B ) A A T B
HEHIRWT -

operations:
Year ended 31 December
BERHA3H ILERE
2023 2022
20234 20224
RMB’000 RMB’000
ANRWF T ANR#ET T
OPERATING ACTIVITIES KB iEE
Loss before income tax % BT A5l i A 8 (1,708,815) (508,914)
Adjustment for: T
Change in fair value of investment BEYEAN REEEE)
properties 109,400 78,900
Depreciation of property, plant and E R SV G TR
equipment 12,207 16,653
Depreciation of right-of-use assets i IR o A A5 10,240 10,349
Loss (gain) from disposal of property, UE R SV AN
plant and equipment JiE 48 (W £3) 187 (169)
Gain from disposal of interests in an i T Bk o A S A
associate B A 2 Wi g v AR (171) (3,576)
Provision for write down of PFD or 5 17 B A SE B B 5
PUD or PFS LYE SIS EEEREREYE 350
I A 198,683 11,051
Impairment losses of trade IR AL R 0 Dk {1 M
receivables 20,502 5,692
Impairment losses of other At B WA B G 1R
receivables 596,839 31,787
Impairment losses (reversal of P 0 AN T i 2 LAt
impairment losses) of other financial P 7S I (L B Gl
assets at amortised cost e 5 5 1)) 226,529 (527)
Reversal of impairment of other At FF ) a4 ]
non-current asset - (42)
Change in fair value of financial assets DIA B AR H A E)
at FVTPL ARk P e
EE S B (B 5 ) (334) -
Change in fair value of financial DIA B AR H A E)
liabilities at FVTPL FHACE B8 55 1 5 Rl B
2z~ MBS (8,046) (11,389)
Impairment losses (reversal of A E SN EBE
impairment losses) in respect of [ FEEAE it T
investments in joint ventures 4,917 (41,046)
Share of results of associates JEAG T A 36 2 34K (9,889) (13,467)
Share of results of joint ventures JEAG G ¥R 649,878 77,425
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42. CASH FLOW INFORMATION (continued)

260

42. BleRnEE @

(a) Cash from operations (continued) (a) K HZE GBI & )
Year ended 31 December
WE12H31H L4
2023 2022
20234 20224F
RMB’000 RMB’000
ANR¥ET 6 ANR¥ET T
Impairment losses on the financial WA R A A9 0 I (E 5 1R
guarantee contract 30,960 206,000
Finance income B (629) -
Finance costs A LA 369,695 130,567
Interest income from loans receivable JHE e B s SRR S U A
due from related parties (124,755) (67,288)
Income from guarantee provided to BESEERERA
ajoint venture - (2,077)
377,398 (80,071)
Decrease in restricted bank deposits R il 14 SR AT A7 3 s 2D - (1,720)
Decrease (increase) in inventories of WIEAF BB (BEm)
properties 192,591 (6,461)
Increase in other inventories HAth A7 & 38 n (583) (50)
Increase in prepayments and AT R I B L A ) 5
other current assets I (5,619) (262)
Increase in other receivables HAthy JRE S 2K 8 (537,755) (30,190)
Increase in trade receivables B 5 MEMCEK TE 3 i (33,801) (25,391)
Decrease in trade payables B 5 BEAS IR WD (70,010) (27,503)
Increase in other payables oAt A R H K I H
and accruals I 421,942 156,532
(Decrease) increase in contract liabilities IR A A () B (78,575) 61,715
(111,810) 126,670
Cash from operations SR AR 0 B 1 L4 265,588 46,599
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42. CASH FLOW INFORMATION (continued)

(b)

Major non-cash transactions

During the reporting periods, the Group had the following

significant non-cash transactions:

(i)  During the year ended 31 December 2023, the Group
settled its trade payables in the amount of approximately
RMB37,239,000 by PFS with a carrying amount of
RMB35,992,000 (2022: Nil). The Group recognised
profit of approximately RMB1,247,000 during the year
ended 31 December 2023 as a result of the aforesaid
transaction.

(i) During the year ended 31 December 2023, China
Minsheng Jiaye had reached an agreement with the
Group to set off its interest-bearing loans to the Group
amounting to approximately RMB167,560,000 (“Set
Off Balance”) (i.e. originally carry an interest rate ranges
from 5.59% to 12% and due for repayment in 2025),
which the Group had agreed to recognise the Set Off
Balance as consideration for purchase of PES and the Set
Off Balance was included in contract liabilities as at 31
December 2023.

(iii) During the year ended 31 December 2022, the Group
decided to convert the receivable from joint ventures
of RMB80,580,000 to equity investment in the joint
ventures.

5 OF W 15 2 Bt a
For the year ended 31 December 2023
HWE20234F 1231 H L4

2. BEREE&R @
(b) FEBIEHREI5H

R AT > AL AT ERE
e

(i) ABE20234F12H31H L4
o AREE LR E A AR
#35,992,000 7T i #5 A 15 &
YA AT IR AN R
37,239,0007C (20224F : ) o
BE20234F12H31 H IR
H i Bl se 5y 5 AR 4 T R A
& N R H1,247,0007C ©

(i) A#E2023F12H31H IE4F
B PR D AR MK
Tk 7 LA 91K 8 L 1) A 4R | Y F
BERHANR¥167,560,000
76 (R 2R 4 [ R 55 5.59% &
12% > H k20254 2 HA {5 %)
(MHshsieR)) > AEEERE
TERRIR S A 0 b I L A 1 s
YIZEMACAE > 1M 20234F12 A
31H » AR O A G A

(==
5 °

(i) WA #EE20224F12H31H IE4F
JE o RS B E S A S R
FEHHE AR 80,580,000 0 1
25 A B SR R AR 4L
% o
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B E20234F 12131 H IF4E
42. CASH FLOW INFORMATION (continued) 42. BlERBER @
(c) Netdebt reconciliation (c) HFAMEHIE
An analysis of net debt and the movements in net debt as FEAE R HET) 2T
follows:
Net debt A
Asat 31 December
R12H31H
2023 2022
20234F 20224F
RMB’000 RMB’000
ANR¥ Tt ANR¥FI0
Bank balances and cash SRATE R B4 126,455 100,699
Borrowings due within one year — 4 R 2 1 0 A K (1,261,034) (1,109,278)
Borrowings due after one year —AE 4% ) I A0 A K (3,830,241) (3,343,339)
Non-trade other payables due to JREAST BRIt 7 9 B o 3K OR
related parties (889,089) (873,501)
Lease Liabilities s A (30,125) (33,057)
Net debt FAME (5,884,034) (5,258,476)
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42. CASH FLOW INFORMATION (continued) 42. B&REE R @
(c) Net debt reconciliation (continued) (c) HHMEHIE®)

Liabilities from financingactivities
Mg g2 A
Non-trade
other
Bank Borrowings Borrowings payables due

balances duewithin due after to related Lease
and cash one year one year partics liabilities Total
RTERE  CEREE CEREE O RAEEN
Ra Zfik s FaA HERME it
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000

AR ARMFx  AREFR  ARWTR  ARWTx  ARWFR

Netdebtas at RanEIA

1January 2022 ZHAR 70521 (896749)  (3344629) (836560) (459)  (5042013)
Net cash flows Sig R 30,178 (120500) = (36941) 1,109 (126,154)
Foreign exchange adjustments ShETRR - (2944) (98710) - - (101,654)
Tnterest on lease liabilicies fEAENE - - - - (2242) (2242)
Other changes HED)
- Lease modification -HEBY - - - = 2672 2672
- Others - Jt - 10915 - - - 10915
Reclassification of current/ Ve T €

non-current liabilities e = (100,000) 100,000 = = =
Net debtasat anEAsn

31 December 2022 ZHAR 100,699 (1L109278)  (3343.339) (873501) (3057)  (5258476)
Net cash flows HA g 25,756 (151,613) (634,690) (15,588) 5,024 (771,111)
Foreign exchange SMNERE

adjustments - (19) (197) - - (19915)
Interest on lease liabilities HEARRE - - - - (2,092) (2,092)
Other changes Kbz
= Set offwith contract liabilities - A AR

(note 425 (i) (FisE420ii)) - - 167,560 - - 167,560

Netdebtasat AR

31 December 2023 2R 126455 (1,261,034) (3,830.241) (889,089) (30,125) (5,884,034)

263



D SRE GROUP LIMITED _k ¥ 4 [l 45 Bl 2 7]

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

5 OF W 55 L it R
For the year ended 31 December 2023
HWE20234F 1231 H L4

43. OPERATING LEASE ARRANGEMENTS

264

43. MEMHELHE

The Group leases certain of its office properties under operating
lease arrangements. Leases for properties are negotiated for
terms for around one year.

At 31 December 2023 and 2022, the Group had total future
minimum lease payments under non-cancellable operating
leases which was not recognised as right-of-use assets as follows:

(a) Aslessor (a) HHLTT
The Group leases its investment properties under operating AL AR S E L PR E
lease arrangements, with leases negotiated for remaining terms ¥ FHRHEWEELIFEE 184
mainly ranging from 1 to 18 years. The terms of the leases R ZEMHEE MR — BB R K
generally also require the tenants to pay security deposits TN SR E 4 > 36 AT DL BIAR 38
and provide for periodic rent adjustments according to the AR AFAE B T 18 DL A 4
prevailing market conditions.
At 31 December 2023 and 2022, the Group had total future R20234F &%20224F12H31H > A4
minimum lease receivables under operating leases with its AR PE KT AN ZR TS E A
tenants falling due as follows: [R] > W] A DLTR 4F B 23 B g By R
R KA G AZE I T
Asat 31 December
#12H31H
2023 2022
20234F 20224F
RMB’000 RMB’000
NG T N T
Within one year 1454 119,060 123,754
In the second to fifth years, inclusive 2 B RS
(B4 R W 4F) 269,597 249,541
After five years SHERL E 259,675 260,772
648,332 634,067
(b) As lessee (b) M7

A % T AR 4% A8 8 A B 2 PEAELA OO
KW - KW > WEHE 5
—4ER -

20234 K 20224F12H31H > A4
9] 4R 1 T 488 T 10 S T A L
A IR I S e 2y (A RE ) > ZH K
15 B R A AR AR 4 AR T

Asat 31 December
12H31H
2023 2022
20234 20224F
RMB’000 RMB’000
NG T AR¥F0
Within one year 1N 229 464
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44. COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES

(a)

The Group had the following capital commitments and
commitments in respect of PFD or PUD, investment properties
and investment in an associate at the end of the reporting

period:

5 OF W 15 2 Bt a
For the year ended 31 December 2023
HWE20234F 1231 H L4

44, 7RG MEA BIHE

(a)

WK - AL EAEH LT EA
YEIR Gt B AT B AT 155 B 28 4 56 B
Frpyse - BEYSE LB A A
BEE R

Asat 31 December
R12H31H
2023 2022
20234F 20224
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR Tt AR¥Fi0
Contracted, but not provided for 2% 4 1H K 38
PFD or PUD A 15 B g 1 S sl B
L/ES 604,574 287,520
Committed investments in a land A Hh B 2 RGE R
development 66,495 68,251
Committed investment in associates NS R E 15,640 15,640
686,709 371,411

The Group provides guarantees in respect of the mortgage
facilities granted by certain banks to certain purchasers of the
Group’s properties. Pursuant to the terms of the guarantee
arrangements, in case of default on mortgage payments by
the purchasers, the Group is responsible for repaying the
outstanding mortgage loans together with any accrued interest
and penalty owed by the defaulted purchasers to the banks. The
Group is then entitled to take over the legal titles of the related
properties. The Group’s guarantee periods commence from
the dates when the relevant mortgage loans are granted and
end when the purchasers pledge related property certificates as
security to the banks offering the mortgage loans. The Group
entered into guarantee contracts of principal amounts totalling
approximately RMB61,000,000 (2022: RMB98,000,000) and
these contracts are still effective as at the close of business on 31
December 2023.

The Group did not incur any material losses during the financial
year in respect of the guarantees provided for mortgage facilities
granted to purchasers of the Group’s properties. The directors
consider that the probability of default of purchasers is remote
and even in case of default on payments, the net realisable value
of the related properties is expected to be sufficient to cover the
repayment of the outstanding mortgage loans together with any
accrued interest and penalty, because the principal of each of
the mortgage loans was normally below 70% of the sales price of
the properties at the date of the sales agreement, and therefore
no provision has been made in connection with the guarantees.

(b)

AL ) 5 T 7 o R I O B
o2 8 SR AT B B M SRAT SR AL R o AR
PEVE AR W R P e - W25 5% 7 A
R RE S A e R > AR SEE
JE B B I SRATME R A R A
RFRAS G R ERERE R B3R o AR
48 13 UL AR (8 15 B SE TR B
HE o AREBE R B EITREA
B KBRS - B RL SR IE AT
WA 55 Y 55 b s A B ) i R
PRE ST 2R AT E 2 H
1 o A2 M 4 F IR AR A 4
AT NR¥61,000,0007C(2022
40 NR#98,000,00070) %S
[ J220234F 12 H31 HABA B RK -

A A 0 A A B 5 R 2 T i S R i
N BRUH) H5 48 SR AT B2 AR 0 9 1R
RSB E RAER o ERERDHZFR
G R B AT REVEAR D > HAM %
SR NER > A B Y SR T B
TR TE AT R DA ST i K 09 2 45 A
& R ERFLE RE R - B REEA
B — AR 5 A [/ S HT H 55
TEARH970% > R G R 7E A B 5 ok
HA % S AR DR AE L JBE A o
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44. COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES

266

(continued)

()

(i)

(iii)

The Group also provided guarantee to the syndicated
bank loan for a joint venture of the Group. As at
31 December 2023, such guarantee amounted
to approximately RMB4,451,800,000 (2022:
RMB4,451,800,000) and the related interests and bank
fees of RMB421,070,000 (2022: RMB279,800,000)
(note 48).

As at 31 December 2022, the Group provided a
completion guarantee on the development of 75
Howard, a joint venture of the Group in relation
to the development loans balance of approximately
US$98,000,000 (equivalent to approximately
RMB687,000,000) and such completion guarantee was
released during the 31 December 2023 (note 48).

As at 31 December 2023, the Group provided a
guarantee to another joint venture’s bank borrowings
of approximately RMB378,000,000 (2022:
RMB280,000,000) (note 48).

In relation to the above financial guarantees, except for (i)

above which the fair value of financial guarantee was disclosed

in note 38, in the opinion of the directors of the Company,

the Group’s exposures in these remaining financial guarantee

contracts are considered to be insignificant and no expected

credit loss has been recognised during the years ended 31
December 2023 and 2022.

44, 7RG R EA B IH @)

(c)

()  AEEIRGH—HEESEN
SRAT L HEERAT 15 KIS IR -
R20234E12H31H > sZiffleE
#) N R %4,451,800,0007C (2022
A0 NR¥4,451,800,0007T) »
A B S R SRAT T4 2 o
% 421,070,0007C (20224F = A
K %279,800,00070) (Fff5£48))
HIELR o

R20224F12A31H » A%
By A AR — A4
75 Howard i Bl # & 3K 4
98,000,000 3 7T (FH & A &N R
#687,000,00070) 244t 7 IH H
PS5 TS0 > 3% 58 LB
R 202341231 H IF4E
ELHEAR B (31 48) -

2023412431 H > AREM A
7 — MG B AR BT R IR
& N R 378,000,000 7T 1 {4
(20224F + AR ¥280,000,000
Jt) (f5E48) -

(iii)

A Bl AR > BRA (i) B
BEAE LR A8 (A B sE 38 P B R A1
ANFERDB L > RNEERZER
T B AR A TR] A G A A A
Ko HAEE20234F12H31H 1E4F
JEE S A R TR A AR AR -



2023 ANNUAL REPORT & ~=4R4EH#)

45,

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

SHARE-BASED PAYMENTS

On 3 June 2016, the Board proposed to adopt a new share option
scheme (the “Scheme”) to reward the contributions made by
the employees that are eligible under the Scheme (the “Eligible
Employees”), which was approved and adopted by the sharcholders of
the Company on 6 July 2016.

On 14 July 2016, options to subscribe for a total of 1,073,717,976
new shares were offered to the Eligible Employees. The exercise price
of the granted options is equal to the average closing prices per share
as stated in the daily quotation sheets issued by the Stock Exchange
for the five business days immediately preceding the date of the grant
which is 14 July 2016. The options shall be vested in three tranches in
accordance with the following vesting date and conditions: (i) 40% of
the options shall be vested on 30 August 2016 and exercisable from
30 August 2016 to 13 July 2021 at a condition of the Group achieving
its target to turn losses into gains for the six months ended 30 June
2016; (ii) an additional 30% shall be vested on 30 August 2017 and
exercisable from 30 August 2017 to 13 July 2021 at a condition of the
Group achieving a net profit of no less than RMB350,000,000 for the
six months ending 30 June 2017; and (iii) the remaining 30% shall be
vested on 30 August 2018 and exercisable from 30 August 2018 to 13
July 2021 at a condition of the Group achieving a growth rate of net
profit of no less than 50% comparing the six months ending 30 June
2018 to the six months ending 30 June 2017. The Group has no legal

or constructive obligation to repurchase or settle the options in cash.

During the years ended 31 December 2023 and 2022, no share
options were exercised and the balance for outstanding options
granted to Eligible Employees as at 31 December 2023 and 2022 were
nil.

B DF B 5 e 3% B 5
For the year ended 31 December 2023
W E20234FE 1231 H IL4EE

Jie Ay 2 Ak

JR20165F6 H 3 H > B 35 & R R A A A7 1)
RERHE) ([RZat#1)) » DUSEEh ez st #UIH T 5
AL B EB & EKER (5 E%IE
B > Zat#R 201647 H 6 H A 7 ik
TR HE S PRA o

R20164F-7H 14H » 58§ &3£1,073,717,976
JBEH e 2 B RE L 4% T A B IR B - i
Uy JARE I AT (48 AH 46 s B B4 1h B (D
201647 A 14 H ) Hi 141 4 2E B 75 522 B 8%
2 A HORAE 3R T 38 A el T AR - %
Py HARE S F 0 R B H ) B A = kB
J& : (i) 40% 2 S 0y BARE R B H £520164F8
H30H > HZER20164E8 A 30 H £20214F7
H13H AT > A AL E# 22016
FE6H30H 1k 6 A 2 5 ks A 2 0 B A

(i) BB 5P 30%5 8 H £520174F8 H30H » H
ZEIR20174E8 H30H £20214F7H13H M
MIATAE - R AR LR 201746 H 30
H 1k 6ffl A%z 2= A0 AR 350,000,000
JCIVE B 5 DL K (i) B R 30% 5 8 H
£520184F8 H30H » HZHER20184F8 H30H
F20214F7 H 13 H BAMIATAE » W42 Uik
HE20184F630H 1L6fl A A E 20174F
6301 1k 6ffl A A< 4 [ Z R 2 2 R D ik
50% 2 W 2R o AR [ 4 D) B 4 [ B
A B A A ME 2 TR ol 2R o

BE20234F & 20224F 12 A 31 H IL4F ¥ > #E
0 B A ME AT 0 > HLR 20234F % 20224F
12H 31 H #4642 7 & EAS IR B RAT I RE
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46.

47.

268

RETIREMENT BENEFITS PLANS

The Group operates a Mandatory Provident Fund Scheme for all
qualifying employees in Hong Kong. The Group contributes certain
percentage of relevant payroll costs to the Mandatory Provident Fund
Scheme, which contribution is matched by employees.

The employees of the Group in the PRC are members of state-
managed retirement benefit scheme operated by the PRC
Government. The Company’s subsidiaries are required to contribute
a certain percentage of payroll to the retirement benefit schemes to
fund the benefits. The only obligation of the Group with respect to
the scheme is to make the required contributions under the scheme.
For the year ended 31 December 2023, the total cost charged to the
consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive
income of approximately RMB17,595,000 (2022: RMB18,276,000)
respectively, represented contributions from the continuing operation
payable to the scheme.

MATERIAL NON-CONTROLLING
INTERESTS

The table below shows details of non-wholly-owned subsidiaries of
the Group that have material non-controlling interests:

46.

47.

Proportion of ownership

interests held by

non—controlling interests

38 P 15 At

AR T 7 5 T A A IR B S R A
PEATR B R - 12 B A S E T
G L 8 AR B w4 Ak T AR BURZR
P SRR AR -

ASE i P B 2 A B 2 P BB 2 B R
MR RAE R B2 8 8 - AN R TAFH
Y 445 40 L e AR AR A A s B I
DA R RS B o AR R 5T 3 2 3
A% 7 B AR PR St BUAE T /R Ak - i B
F2023F12H31 H IEF R » i & k8 &
HoAt 53 A Ui 3 2 U BR AY 48 R AR £ By N RS
17,595,0000C (20224 + AR %18,276,000
JG) o RIVRRAE AR SE TSI ) s AT BUAE B
P -

BRI 52 I HE 2

HATIOF B i AL B2 E T4
FIRFIERIIWT

Profit (loss) allocated to Accumulated

non-controlling interests non-controlling interests

FERMEGRA M RERILN A RE TR A O ) EHERE I

2023 2022 2023 2022 2023 2022

Name of subsidiaries FhNLH W34 2A0F 2234 A0F 2234 ANE

% % RMB’000 RMB000 RMB’000 RMB'000

% % AREFr  AE®FX  ARETFR  ARETx

Bairun [} 49% 49% 6621 20369 157,638 151017
Individually immaterial subsidiaries with RAHFEREGN @A

non-controlling interests FEAFAH 14,379 (10542) 141,624 127,45

21,000 9827 299,262 278262
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47. MATERIAL NON-CONTROLLING
INTERESTS (continued)

The following tables illustrate the summarised financial information

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

B DF B 5 e 3% B 5
For the year ended 31 December 2023
2023 F 12031 H IL4FEE

47. ¥RIEFEIEHE LR ()

HHENEAMBESWT -

of Bairun.
Year ended 31 December
BWELRAHILSE
2023 2022
20234F 20224
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥ETF It ANRHET T
Revenue YA 44,540 3,830
Total expenses 4858 (31,863) (7,550)
Profit (loss) before income tax Bk BT A5 B4 11T 1 1R (fes 48) 12,677 (3,720)
Income tax credit RGE TR IR 836 45,289
Profit for the year A 13,513 41,569
Total comprehensive income AP RE 45 A i i HE AR
for the year 13,513 41,569
Current assets B & 752,775 748,007
Non-current assets By 38 38
Current liabilities ) A fE (429,370) (436,797)
Non-current liabilities EI U= (1,733) (3,051)
Net cash flows from operating activities RIS s 2 B
FH 28,461 4,903
Net cash flows used in investing BEEH T B E
activities FE (37,500) =
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48. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

270

In addition to the related party transactions and balances disclosed
clsewhere in these consolidated financial statements, the Group
had the following significant transactions and balances with related

parties.

(a) Name and relationship with related parties

Name

i

38 W )5 52 5

IR S i 5 O S A S 7 R 1 B
W5 30 5 Bt R 81 - 745 S I S 7 A A
T EB ) Kk o

(a) B D SR Wit Oy 1 4

Relationship
BA £

China Minsheng Investment

R

China Minsheng Jiaye

R

CMI Financial Holding Corporation

CMI Financial Holding Corporation

Shijia Holding Group (Hangzhou) Co., Ltd. (“Shijia”)

3 2 R () A BR A D (T2 )

Jinxin

&

Shanghai Shuo Cheng Real Estate Co., Ltd. (“Shuo Cheng”)

i B DS b A R W] (TR )

Changsha Horoy

NAPA

NAPA

Jiasheng

e

Jiahuang

2

75 Howard

75 Howard

Mayson

e

Ningbo Jia Miao

B Rk

CMIG Southern China (Guangzhou) Real Estate Co., Ltd.
(“CMIG Southern”)

i REE R () BSEA BRA A ([ REEw )

DaRun

KiH

The Company’s parent company ultimate
controlling shareholder
E/NCIPAS NGRS el SIS
The Company’s parent company
A ] Z B )

A fellow subsidiary of the Group
AW R T 24w

A related party of the Group
AR 2 B 7

A joint venture of the Group
FEHZ GEMEHE

A subsidiary of an associate of the Group
AL HEE AL TR
A joint venture of the Group
FEHZ GEMEHE

A joint venture of the Group
FEBZ GEMEHE

A fellow subsidiary of the Group
AREEMFR R T 24w

A fellow subsidiary of the Group
AREEMFR R T 24w

A joint venture of the Group
REBZ GEMEHE

An associate of the Group

AL [ — e A

An associate of the Group

AL [ — e A

A subsidiary of an associate of the Group

AL HEESEZ TR
A joint venture of the Group

KL GEdE
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48. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (continued)
(b) Transactions with related parties

(i) Revenue from sales of properties to a related party

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

o DF A 5 H R i

For the year ended 31 December 2023
WA 2023 F 1231 H R4

48. BT 5y ()

H G T 2 3% 5
() KHBE HEYFEK
A
Year ended 31 December
HE12H31H L4
2023 2022
20234F 20224F
RMB’000 RMB’000

ARH Tt PN

Shijia

51,337 -

(i)  Advance to a joint venture

(ii) HEE SRS

Year ended 31 December
#BE12H31 0 L4

2023 2022
20234F 20224F
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR T 0 UNEL S ST

Jinxin

181,785 194,764

(iii)  Advance received from an associate

(iii) A i 5 18 4 Bk

Year ended 31 December
BER2AHILEE

2023 2022
20234 20224F
RMB’000 RMB’000
NG S ST AR¥Fi0

Shuo Cheng

15,588 36,941
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For the year ended 31 December 2023
A 20235 F 12431 H IR

48. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (concinued) ~ 48. BT 38 5 (4

(b) Transactions with related parties (continued) (a) BRI T2 3 5
(iv) Loan from the ultimate controlling sharcholder (iv) 2K H 55 4% ¥ R J R 0 B sk
Year ended 31 December
WE12H31H L4
2023 2022
20234 20224F
RMB’000 RMB’000

AR TIu PN

China Minsheng Investment R - 180,000

(v)  Loan from a fellow subsidiary (v) A H [FF L&k

Year ended 31 December

WEI12H31H L5
2023 2022
20234 20224F
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR T ANR¥EFIT

CMI Financial Holding Corporation CMI Financial Holding
Corporation 177,068 -
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48. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (continued)

(b)

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

Transactions with related parties (continued)

(vi) Interest income from related parties

5 OF W 15 2 Bt a
For the year ended 31 December 2023
HWE20234F 1231 H L4

48. BT 22 5 (4)

(b)

5t 7y 2 R 57 (4)

(vi) A H I 1 75 B9 7 B A

Year ended 31 December

HERHAH ILAE
2023 2022
20234F 20224F
RMB’000 RMB’000
NG T ANR¥ET T
Jinxin BN 106,691 77,351
Changsha Horoy ERURIE 3 70,085 76,751
NAPA NAPA 6,409 6,702
183,185 160,804

Interest income from these joint ventures represents
gross interest income before elimination of the Group’s
share of the interest income. After elimination of the
Group’s share of the interest income, interest income from
these joint ventures were amounting to approximately
RMB124,755,000 during the year ended 31 December
2023 (2022: RMB67,288,000).

(vii) Income from guarantee provided to a joint venture

A& A A ZE R E A TS
ALE B FERAR AR 2 RS AT
HAFN S A o FBRAS 5 F AL
RIFLE AL - #222023F 121
31H LR » RAAEAZENF]
B A& 25 N R 124,755,000 JC
(20224F + N67,288,00070)

(vii) 1 5 5 1 5 B2 P 0 1R B W
A

Year ended 31 December
KERHAH ILAE
2023 2022
20234F 20224F
RMB’000 RMB’000
A R¥ Tt NG
Jinxin 40 - 4,154

Financial guarantee income from a joint venture
represents gross guarantee income before elimination
of the Group’s share of the financial guarantee income.
After elimination of the Group’s share of the financial
guarantee income, financial guarantee income from
a joint venture was amounting to approximately
RMB2,077,000 during the year ended 31 December
2022 (2023: Nil).

0 H BB A BRI A
T 46 01l A 42 [ JE A5 1) B4 5 4
PRI AT I BB LRI - A
20224F12A31 H IR > 1
Io% A 2 B JE A 1 B S A5 R U A
1% o 2K B A8 A 0 B
PRI & 25 N B H2,077,0007T
(20234 : 48) -
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48. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (continued)

274

(b)

Transactions with related parties (continued)

(viii) Income from management services provided to a joint

48. B T5 22 5 ()

(b) B Ty 2 5 5 (4)

(viid) [ 6 5 1 5 78 0 PR R 2

venture Hg’&A
Year ended 31 December

#BE12H31H L4
2023 2022
20234F 20224F
RMB’000 RMB’000
ANR¥T 8 YN
Jinxin BN 486,818 -

Management service income from a joint venture
represents gross management service income before
climination of the Group’s share of the management
service income. After elimination of the Group’s share
of the management service income, management service
income from a joint venture amounting to approximately
RMB243,409,000 (2022: Nil).

The nature of such management services income mainly
include the provision of design and other various work
include project finance advisory, technical advisory and
project management for its development project.

(ix) Interest expenses charged by related parties

(ix)

HH A BB BRBIA
T4 Fi 8 4 45 [ R AL A 7 S8R
USRI SR IR A A o
FIT R A 5 1) JRE A 1 7 B IR S Wi
A% RAGESENEHIR
B A% 25 N R ¥5243,409,000
JG(20224F ¢ 4E) o

%5 BRI S M A
VRN LV SN E R R S
B HoAty %7 TAE - G4EIHH B
BRI - 5 fl R R R 0H H
.

G 15 T e A I8 B 5%

Year ended 31 December
BE12H31H IL4EE

2023 2022
20234 20224F
RMB’000 RMB’000
ANR¥T oo ANR¥F0

China Minsheng Jiaye PEREX 155,737 43,672
Jiasheng = 56,111 21,592
Jiahuang RE 8,817 1,756
China Minsheng Investment MR 14,600 3,840

235,265 70,860
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

48. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (continued)

(b)

Transactions with related parties (continued)

(x)  Compensation to key management personnel of the

£ DF A 5 o B

For the year ended 31 December 2023

A 2023412031 H IL4ERE

48. BT 5 )
Bl 5 i Ty 2 38 5 (48)

) AEBEEEHNRHE

(b)

Group
Year ended 31 December

BE1R2H31H L4
2023 2022
20234 20224F
RMB’000 RMB’000
ANR¥Toe PN T

Salaries and other short-term B e HAb R &

employee benefits A& F| 6,850 6,941

(xi) Guarantees provided to related parties

(2)

The Group provided guarantee to the syndicated
bank loan for Jinxin, a joint venture of the
Group. As at 31 December 2023, such guarantee
amounted to approximately RMB4,451,800,000
(2022: RMB4,451,800,000) and the related
interests and bank fees of RMB421,070,000 (2022:
approximately RMB279,800,000). For the year
ended 31 December 2023, the Group charged nil
(2022: RMB4,154,000) (before consolidation
climination) for financial guarantee provided to
Jinxin.

As at 31 December 2022, the Group provided a
completion guarantee on the development of 75
Howard, a joint venture of the Group in relation
to the development loans balance of approximately
US$98,000,000 (equivalent to approximately
RMB687,000,000) and such completion guarantee
was released during the year ended 31 December
2023.

The Group provided guarantee to the bank
loan for Changsha Horoy, a joint venture of the
Group. As at 31 December 2023, such guarantee
amounted to approximately RMB378,000,000
(2022: RMB280,000,000).

(xi) 19 0 7 52 1 Y 6 R

(a)

PN S I S NI NS
2 — M A8 SE)
) 4R [ 4R 4T B 3K R it
Pt o R20234FE12
31H - ZEEHREN
NER#4,451,800,000
JE(20224F + AR¥
4,451,800,0007C) A AH
FLE KR ANRE
421,070,0007C (20224F :
N 279,800,000
JG) © B E20234E12H 31
= N ol N i A 1
Al 4O B2 36 B S 95 £ i
B JH (20224E @ AR
4,154,00070) (i~ & P&
ST 2 W ts e

R20224F12H31H » &
LEAAELEH —HEE
{>275 Howard 1 B % &
K #798,000,00035 7T (5
R # N R ¥687,000,000
Je) AL T IH H BRI 5
TR 258 LR
ME2023F12H31H 1k
FERE SRR -

AL AL S S
X RV IHEEHRITE
AT L - R 2023
E12A31H > iZEEHA
A N R 1378,000,000
JE(20224 @ AR ¥
280,000,0007T) °
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RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (concinued)  48. B 22 5 (4)

48.

276

(c) Related-party balances (c)

(i) Other receivables due from related parties

B Wi 75 4% 6%
JE WG I e Ty R s JE W 5k
Asat 31 December
R12H31H
2023 2022
20234 20224F
RMB’000 RMB’000

AR¥Tou ANRBT T

Jinxin (Note) &0 (5L 1,074,101 541,079
Mayson g 165,897 163,530
Ningbo Jia Miao B 5 AR 4,900 4,900
CMIG Southern R HE Ry 3,736 3,736
1,248,634 713,245

Less: Allowance for impairment losses W Ul (M R R A (331,352) (18,459)
917,282 694,786

Note: As at 31 December 2023, the carrying amount of Bfet o R20234F12H31H » &40

other receivable due from Jinxin was approximately
RMB756,014,000, after net off the allowance for
impairment losses of approximately RMB318,087,000
(2022: RMB531,437,000, after net off the allowance for
impairment losses of approximately RMB9,642,000).
During the year ended 31 December 2023, ECL
provided for other receivable due from Jinxin was
amounting to approximately RMB308,445,000 (2022:
Nil).

o ok (s 18 B A A0 N RS
318,087,000 0% > MEUL 40>
A FE Wi 3K T Y T T 49
N R #756,014,0007C (2022
ARS8 U (E e R
# N R 9,642,000 T4 B
ANE ¥ 531,437,0007C) °
HWE2023F12H31H L4
BE > MEMS A 0 L Ath JE WA T
sHRE MG RERAO AR
#308,445,0007C (20224F :
1) o

Amounts due from related parties are unsecured,
interest-frec and repayable on demand.

R WS R e 75 R T3 2y SR
AEHE R R BRI
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For the year ended 31 December 2023
A 20235 F 12431 H IR

48. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (continued)  48. BRI T5 28 5 )

(c) Related-party balances (continued) (c) BT 45 6f (4)
(ii)  Non-trade other payables due to related parties (i)  JENT BB T7 FF B 5wk B
Asat 31 December
#12H31H
2023 2022
20234 20224F
RMB’000 RMB’000

AR¥T7E PN

Shuo Cheng Tk 889,089 873,501

Amounts due to related parties are unsecured, interest- JREAST R Wt 77 R TR 5 SRR A
free and repayable on demand. Rt B R R B -

(iii) Prepayments made to a related party (iii) 3 1o B it 75 7 1o s I

Asat 31 December
®12H31H

2023 2022
20234F 20224F
RMB’000 RMB’000
NG S ST NG e

Da Run N 1,500 1,500
Less: Allowance for impairment W VAR TR A
losses (1,500) (1,500)
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RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (concinued)  48. B 28 5 (4)

48.

278

(c) Related-party balances (continued)
(iv)  Loans receivables due from related parties

Loans to related parties are summarised as below:

(c) BT TT 45 6F ()

(iv)

TN I Wiy

Ti) [ gk 7 422 {3 B SROE At
T

Asat 31 December
R12H31H

2023 2022
20234F 20224F
RMB’000 RMB’000
ANR¥T 6 ANR¥FI0

Changsha Horoy (Note a) TRV IB SR (M ika) 531,790 531,790
Jinxin (Note b) &0 (FHEED) 823,141 641,356
NAPA (Note c) NAPA (Fft#kc) 41,282 41,290
1,396,213 1,214,436
Less: Allowance for impairment losses W W R (260,607) (34,078)
1,135,606 1,180,358

Notea: The loans receivable due from Changsha Horoy
are interest-bearing loans of approximately
RMB391,790,000 (2022: RMB391,790,000)
with an interest rate of 10% per annum and
RMB140,000,000 (2022: RMB140,000,000)
with an interest rate of 15% per annum.

Miika : MENSCR VISR 2 B 5
FFEERK > B A AR
391,790,0007C (20224F :
AN ER#391,790,00070) >
FRAEFIR10%HHE - ZA
B #140,000,0007C (2022
£ NE%140,000,000
J0) > AR 15%EHE -
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For the year ended 31 December 2023

48. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (continued)

48. BT RZ 5

A 2023412031 H IL4ERE

(%)

(c) Related-party balances (continued) (c) BB T 45 6f (4)
(iv)  Loans receivables due from related parties (continued) (iv) MEWL I Wt T Bk (#48)

Note b: The loans receivable from Jinxin are interest- Wk e B 40 A M i 45 3K
bearing loans of RMB80,200,000 (2022: N R %80,200,0007C (2022
RMB80,200,000) with an interest rate of F o NE%80,200,000
24% per annum, RMB376,021,000 (2022: SE) KB B H - JRAE
RMB361,156,000) with an interest rate of Fl#F24%%E 3 NR¥E
15% per annum, and RMB366,920,000 (2022: 376,021,0007C (20224F :
RMB200,000,000) with an interest rate of NE#¥361,156,0007C) »
12.5% per annum. AR R 5% S - A

R #366,920,0007T (2022
0 AR #200,000,000
7;5) s AR FR 12.5% 7t
As at 31 December 2023, the carrying R20234E12H31H >
amount of loan receivable from Jinxin was 11 1o VA e AR 8 A 40
approximately RMB578,523,000, after net NE¥®244,618,0007C
off the allowance for impairment losses of %> KA 4EDEIRSE
approximately RMB244,618,000 (2022: ORI R E AN R
RMB623,683,000, after net off the allowance 578,523,0007T (20224 -
for impairment losses of approximately AL 11 B (L e 4 B8 4 4
RMB17,673,000). During the year ended AR ¥17,673,0007C1% 4
31 December 2023, ECL provided for loan NE ¥ 623,683,0007C) ©
receivable from Jinxin was amounting to WE2023F12H31H 1k
approximately RMB226,945,000 (2022: Nil). FERE R A 4D EIR
AR 2 T M5 S 1R
) N R #226,945,00070
(20224 © ) o

Notec: The loans receivable due from NAPA are M MEURNAPAZ Bk A4 N
interest-bearing loans of approximately % 41,282,0007C (2022
RMB41,282,000 (2022: RMB41,290,000) 0 NEH41,290,0007T)
with a compound interest rate of 10.5% per mEE S ERK - WEES
annum. FI#10.5%7 B °

Interests receivables from related parties in relation to Bt ol B SKAR E BE B  RE i A]

the above loans are summarised as below: B an -

As at 31 December
#12H31H
2023 2022
20234F 20224F
RMB’000 RMB’000
A RHETF e NG
Changsha Horoy (Note a) VPR AR (M 5Ea) 401,851 327,561
Jinxin (Note b) 0 (B kD) 303,306 190,214
NAPA (Note c) NAPA (Fft#Ec) 23,590 16,796
728,747 534,571
Less: Allowance for impairment losses W S AE G TR (101,830) (12,330)
626,917 522,241
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48. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (continued)

280

(iv) Loans receivables due from related parties (continued)

Note a:

Note b:

Note c:

As at 31 December 2023, the interests
receivable from Changsha Horoy of
approximately RMB202,717,000 (2022:
RMB162,000,000) bear interest rate of 10%

per annum together with the loans receivable.

As at 31 December 2023, the remaining
interest receivable amounting to approximately
RMB199,134,000 (2022: RMB165,561,000)
did not carry additional compound interest.

As at 31 December 2023, the interests
receivable from Jinxin of approximately
RMB62,121,000 (2022: RMB43,054,000)
bear interest rate of 24% per annum,
RMB167,078,000 (2022: RMB111,132,000)
bear interest rate of 15% per annum and
RMB74,107,000 (2022: RMB36,028,000) bear
interest rate of 12.5% per annum together with
the loans receivable.

As at 31 December 2023, the carrying
amount of interests receivable from Jinxin
was approximately RMB213,346,000, after
net off the allowance for impairment losses
of approximately RMB89,960,000 (2022:
RMB187,087,000, after net off the allowance
for impairment losses of approximately
RMB3,127,000). During the year ended 31
December 2023, ECL provided for interests
reccivable from Jinxin was amounting to

approximately RMB86,833,000 (2022: Nil).

As at 31 December 2023, the interests
receivable from NAPA of approximately
RMB23,590,000 (2022: RMB16,796,000) bear
interest rate of 10.5% per annum together with
the loans receivable.

Except for the above interests receivables from related
parties, the other balances under interests receivables are
non-interest-bearing and are normally settled within one

year.

48. Bl J5 2 5 ()

(iv) M I T 7y B 35K (417)

Msta :

Hith:

Wikc :

R20234E12H31H > fE
R WA FEA B A A
R #202,717,0007C (2022
o NE 162,000,000
JC) $i AR R 10% w1 B #E
[F] B WA

R20234E12H31H > i
T HE AR B AN R
199,134,0007C (20224F :
ANE¥165,561,0007C) i
AIMNE A RIS -

2023412 H31H > fE
W40 BB AN R
62,121,0007C (20224F = A
R #43,054,0007T) i 4
FlHR24%5HE > KR
167,078,0007C (20224F :
ANEH111,132,0007C) 7%
EFR15%HE - NRK
74,107,0007C (20224F : A
. #36,028,000) 7T) $# 4F
3 12.5% 71 5. 48 [a] JHE Ui

e
HpA °

W20234E12H31H » &
NN RIEY TEEEC RPN
R #89,960,000 T1% » &K
H 4O FE Ui A S IR T
E# NEH213,346,000
JE (20224 « &40 BR W
s BB A AR K
3,127,000 & AR
¥ 187,087,0007C) ° #%
2023412 H31H L4
R WE RN 08l
BERrHEEUG EREED
N #386,833,0007T (2022
4 I o

R20234E12H31H -
BNAPAF]E & AR ¥
23,590,0000C (20224 = A
K #16,796,0007C) > [
F%ngié%ﬂﬁﬁﬂ%ilo.s%
A .

Bk bt oA 1 B T 7 ) R SRS
Sb > BEWCALE T B A 45 85 4
AEE S — R — AR
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48. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (concinued) ~ 48. BHY 75 38 5 (4)
(c) Related-party balances (continucd) (c) BT 45 B ()
@) s o paes () B £
Loans from related parties are summarised as below: BRI 7 B A T

Asat 31 December
#12A31H

2023 2022
20234 20224F
RMB’000 RMB’000
NG S ST AR¥Fi0

Non-current FEED A
— China Minsheng Jiaye —HREX 2,185,765 2,175,951
— Jiasheng — b 929,557 1,079,634
— Jiahuang —RE 95,183 87,754
Current B #
— China Minsheng Investment — PR 180,000 180,000
— CMI Financial Holding — CMI Financial
Corporation Holding
Corporation 177,068 -
3,567,573 3,523,339
Interests payables to related parties in relation to the A0 b At R IR AT I W O LB
above loans are summarised as below: Mt R
Asat 31 December
#12H31H
2023 2022
20234 20224
RMB’000 RMB’000
ANR¥T5E ANR¥TF 7T
China Minsheng Jiaye HREE 429,420 266,859
Jiasheng =W 102,480 54,248
Jiahuang RE 21,219 12,213
China Minsheng Investment R 18,440 3,840
CMI Financial Holding Corporation CMI Financial Holding
Corporation 10,711 -

582,270 337,160
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49.

282

CAPITAL RISK MANAGEMENT

The Group manages its capital to ensure that entities in the Group
will be able to continue as a going concern while maximising the
return to sharcholders through the optimisation of the debt and
equity balance.

The capital structure of the Group consists of net debt, which
includes, where appropriate, the bank and other borrowings disclosed
in note 36, net of cash and cash equivalents and equity attributable to
owners of the Company, comprising issued share capital, reserves and
accumulated losses.

The directors of the Company review the capital structure on a regular
basis. As part of this review, the directors of the Company consider
the cost of capital and the risks associated with each class of capital,
and take appropriate actions to balance its overall capital structure.

9. WA JE K A B

ALEEEHILEA > DI RALE BN EH
P RE 0 R A A [ IR A AR AL (S B A
A7 DA e KA BBER 4 [ 4

AL EAG AT M HERK
(fiei 8 1) A€ 19 B i 7 2 SRATT B At £ 3K (3
TR M k368 5R) - Bl K Bl &% H Y
1L D% Jih o T A% > ) BESAOHEE i (B0 45 B AT
A ~ Gt e Rt ) o

A A H A I AR ST o MRS
W — ) - ARFERGE EEARN
JEAR T B2 5B AS R B P Ja B - Sl PR BB
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50. 4 ik T H
(a) Eit T AR

Asat 31 December
#12H31H

2023 2022
20234F 20224F
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARSI ANR#F 0

Financial assets SR E
Financial assets at FVTOCI DA SUE(E R H LS5 E)
A AFAAE S It 2
B 28,542 39,955
Financial assets at amortised cost FEBESE AR B AR 2 4
— Other financial assets at — FHR R AR T IR 2
amortised cost oA 4 fl & 1,135,606 1,180,358
— Other receivables — Ho At R 1,736,992 1,601,892
— Trade receivables — MR 58,012 44713
Financial assets at FVTPL DI SE(E R H L )5
AN HATE AR 2 4 il 37,834 -
Restricted bank deposits R il 14 SR AT A7 3K 4,240 4,380
Bank balances and cash SRATHE R B4 126,455 100,699
Total Hast 3,127,681 2,971,997
Financial liabilities 4x i £ 0%
Financial liabilities at amortised cost e B AR 51 B 1) B il 2 R
— Bank and other borrowings — SRAT B HA 3K 5,091,275 4,452,617
— Trade payables — FEAT R K 350,058 457,307
— Other payable and accruals — H A AT FRIE K
JEwHE B 2,424,300 2,067,165
Financial liabilities at FVTPL LA Ao fE (w5 B L5 )
A 45 A S A AR 267,252 275,298
Provision for losses due to the R — [ G e E SR ERAT
default of a joint venture’s syndicated BRI K BOAT B
bank loan and execution of WELR A KT 28 2E 1)
the financial guarantee contract Hes AR i 43 A 236,960 206,000
Total At 8,369,845 7,458,387
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50. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)
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The Group’s major financial instruments include financial
assets at FVTOCI, financial assets at FVTPL, trade receivables,
other receivables, other financial assets at amortised cost,
restricted bank deposits, bank balances and cash, trade payables,
other payables, bank and other borrowings, other non-current
liabilities and provision for losses due to the default of a joint
venture’s syndicated bank loan and execution of the financial
guarantee contract. Details of these financial instruments are set
out in respective notes. The risks associated with these financial
instruments and the policies on how to mitigate these risks are
set out below. The management manages and monitors these
exposures to ensure appropriate measures are implemented on a
timely and effective manner.

The Group’s activities expose primarily to the market risks of
changes in interest rates, foreign currency exchange rates risks
and other price risk (see below).

There has been no significant change to the Group’s exposure
to market risks or the manner in which it manages and
measures the risks over the year.

Interest rate risk management

The Group is exposed to cash flow interest rate risk due to
the fluctuation of the prevailing market interest rate on bank
balances and bank and other borrowings which carried at
prevailing market interest rates and variable rate based on the
interest rates quoted by the People’s Bank of China.

The Group is also exposed to fair value interest rate risk
relates primarily to restricted bank deposits, bank and other
borrowings and lease liabilities which carried fixed interest
rates.

50. 4 ik T H )

AEEKN EL M TREAHFUA R
fE (e w2 BHC S Bk A At AR S i
MmZEMEE - U nEEs2E
HEHa ARG EMEE
JEWSCHR AR ~ FCAt IR WK - DA B R
AT HR 2 FoAth < B A - PR PR GR
Ffeak ~ MATH B e Bl & - IEATIR
A HAR AT AR R AT K A fE
K HARIE B BRI Kk H &
A S SR SR AT B BOR A KBTS
& DR 5 T 7 A 1O s HELAE L B4R o
% S5 4B A T L B R 17 ST A R B SR
o BELGZ % 4 Al T LA B A JEL B K
B 5% 2 A B BUR RS T o
B R B e Bz AR o M
T PR RE % R A 280 M B 1t 8 i A

7 4 ] 19 65 5 2T Bl R R A ) i
S I\ B~ A1 R 25 Ja B B LAt (B A%
JEUBg (LR 30)

AF PR 7 B TR T B 199 T 3 D gy
Kt B Ja By i O Xl 2 R A
&) o

Y 3 o e P

A 5% 1 T B 4 O B M) R LB > G
2 T BRAT & B B BLAT T 35 A1) A
B o Lo r Rl BAT T35 A R RAR B
o BN R SR AT RE 1 1 B A 5 R
A ERAT S HoAt £ 3K -

Z¥ SEWINEN AR =R R R
FE T A B PR A R AT A7 K~ SRAT
Be oAt A 5 L B [ RE A R AL E A
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50. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

(c)

Market risk (continued)
Interest rate risk management (continued)

The Group currently does not use any derivative contracts to
hedge its loans to interest rate risk. However, the management
will consider hedging significant interest rate exposure should
the need arise.

The following table demonstrates the sensitivity at the end
of the reporting period to a reasonably possible change in
interest rates of the major currencies in which the Group’s
bank borrowings are denominated, with all other variables held
constant, of the Group’s loss before income tax (through the
impact on floating rate borrowings). The Group’s equity is not
affected, except for the consequential effect on accumulated
losses (a component of the Group’s equity) by the changes in
loss before income tax.

5 OF W 15 2 Bt a
For the year ended 31 December 2023
HWE20234F 1231 H L4

50. 4k T H @)
(c) i8I B )

Y 7 PR B PE (4)

i SNE BTG 5 R R A e )
S ph HAR A R a b o SR > R
i £ A T 2 B 2 3 i B R R
JEg o

TRIUR TR IR EI AR
il 5 B PR A R B B > SR T T AR B
il 5 G 78 77 ) A1) 3R A g 2 280 3
AL M ARAT i ARRHE N EE B S
L FT A 8% A B A1) 5 5 B 1Y SORORE
Hr o BR T P45 B A 4R & R R
Al 1R (A 46 1 2 W 4 1) — FB )
BB > AL B HE 2R A R R
.

Year ended 31 December
BERHA3H ILERE
2023 2022
20234 20224F
Impact on loss Impact on loss
before before
income tax income tax
Increase Increase
(decrease) (decrease)
3 (W) 1 ()
P 45 Bt i IR ETA]
i 18 2 5 B i 15 2 5 2B
RMB’000 RMB’000
PN ST ANRHET T
Changes in variables — RMB N B A 3R 1 52 )
interest rate
+50 basis points +S05EHE 26,129 4,331
=50 basis points —S0%E B (26,129) (4,331)

Forcign currency risk management

Most of the Group’s operating entities operate in the PRC with
most of the transactions denominated in RMB.

The Group is exposed to foreign exchange risk with only
limited exposure arising primarily with respect to cash at banks
and bank borrowings, which are mainly denominated in HK$,
USS$, GBP and Australian Dollar (“AUD”).

G ¥ o B

AL 2 AR T A P AL
HRHIr B AN R W FHE - A%
P T A R ) B 5 By - B A
T~ 3RTC - JEgE T (o)) =t
1B A9 SRAT A7 K S SRAT 15 K5
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50. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued) 50. “fh T H @)
(c) Market risk (continued) (c) 17 55 I, i (#)
Foreign currency risk management (continued) Sp ¥ I B PR (4
The carrying amount of the Group’s foreign currency A2 ) A S R B T DA AN T (E
denominated monetary assets and monetary liabilities 1) W R U A I SR T
at the respective reporting periods are as follow: 3
Asat 31 December
#12H31H
2023 2022
20234 20224F
RMB’000 RMB’000
ANR¥ET T ANR¥FI0
Assets &iE
HKS$ T 419,551 185,698
Us$ ESH 300,522 12,249
GBP B 1,272 84
AUD LT 1,007 =
Asat 31 December
R12H31H
2023 2022
20234F 20224F
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR Tt N o
Liabilities fafd
HKS$ BT 5,826 =
US$ e 1,919,407 171,050
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(c)

Market risk (continued)
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50. 4k T H @)

(c) 5B )

Foreign currency risk management (continued)

Foreign currency sensitivity analysis

The following table demonstrates the sensitivity at the end
of the reporting period to a reasonably possible change in the
HKS, the US$, the GBP and the AUD exchange rates, with
all other variables held constant, of the Group’s loss before
income tax (due to changes in the fair value of monetary assets

and liabilities). The Group’s equity is not affected, except for

the consequential effect on accumulated losses (a component of

the Group’s equity) by the impact on loss before income tax as

disclosed below.

G Jl B P ()

SRR T

TERIUR TSR - A H
At By 53 R DR AF RS B IR o RS T R T
370 il 1R (U 6 R 7 A £

2 FUAE (E % E)

¥ 5 2T BE O

TG~ RTT ~ S MU HE RSB
BURE AT o BR T 0 R BUER 9l B
PR AU 1R 2Rt e 1R R SR R AR
M — &R o)) B B ) BB - AR
VR 4 B A 52 R o 1 S 2B o

Year ended 31 December
#E12H31 0 L4
2023 2022
20234F 20224F
Impact on Impact on
loss before loss before
tax tax
Increase Increase
(decrease) (decrease)
S 38 m (3 A) E I ()
Bini iR BliAikiE s e
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥T T PN T
Changes in exchange rate of HK$ 0 SN R BE R 5% B
against Renminbi
+5% +5% (20,686) (8,294)
=5% -5% 20,686 8,294
Changes in exchange rate of US$ F 70 50 N R FE 3R 5% )
against Renminbi
+5% +5% 80,944 6,385
=5% -5% (80,944) (6,385)
Changes in exchange rate of GBP e gk vo N RO [ 2R 5 B
against Renminbi
+5% +5% (64) (285)
-5% -5% 64 285
Changes in exchange rate of AUD W0 o N\ R BE 52 52 B
against Renminbi
+5% +5% (50) -
-5% -5% 50 -
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50. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)
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In management’s opinion, the sensitivity analysis is
unrepresentative of the inherent foreign exchange risk as the
year end exposure at the end of the reporting period does not
reflect the exposure during the year.

Other price risk

The Group is exposed to price risk arising from loan packages
which is classified as financial assets at FVTOCI. The
management will monitor the price movements and take
appropriate actions when it is required.

Price on loan packages sensitivity analysis

The sensitivity analyses below have been determined based on
the exposure to price risks on loan packages at the end of the
reporting period.

If prices on loan packages were 20% higher or lower, the
investment revaluation reserve would increase or decrease by
approximately RMB5,708,000 (2022: RMB7,991,000) for
the Group as a result of the changes in the fair value of loan
packages.

Credit risk refers to the risk that the Group’s counterparties
default on their contractual obligations resulting in financial
losses to the Group. The Group’s credit risk exposures are
primarily attributable to trade receivables, other receivables,
other financial assets at amortised cost, restricted bank deposits
and bank balances. The Group does not hold any collateral or
other credit enhancements to cover its credit risks associated
with its financial assets and financial guarantee contracts.

Trade receivables arising from contracts with customers

Trade receivables arise when the properties are delivered to
the customers who chose to pay the consideration by bank
mortgage and the banks have not paid the mortgage amount to
the Group. Trade receivables also arise from customers who are
mainly the residents in the residential communities managed
by the Group and tenants of the investment properties of the
Group.

50. 4 ik T H )

ERLRE R A o R R A AR R
JeEL B S A BE B R A A Y JEL g o TR L
T 23 A 10 S RE AR R ] A 4 L

By -
At 67 1% I B

A 55 B R 2 B AL BT AR B (E AR
JEVBg o TR AR A R DL S
E&F B8 5 A AR5 didt
ZABREE o LIS B A AR
B3I A 5 2 IR SR ORI

B A B IS UL M

AT S0 BE 40 T T 2 A i o R R
3B ALE EA R 2 R o

A0 450 K AH B S 18 =R 2.0% o
AL ) B8 A A SR A
7N SR AE (B 55 B i 2 s 5 A
R #5,708,0007C (20224F : AR
7,991,0007C) ©

fr B B 45 A 4 1 52 oy 3 0
o KT 1T B 4R [ A S
ERJa B o A S T B Y 1R R R B
E A MO - AR UK
24 5 A B AR 2 A < L E
FIR 1 1k SR AT 7 i S SRAT A B o AR
P 7 4 1 A A AR R AR o R At 0
15 e LA 90 25 L 4 A S 9 AR
AR BE 2 5 Bk -

K H HLE 7 G #90 HENE ¢

W) 26 ST 3R A DA SR AT 15 e S A
BHEIZ B o il 8RAT 14 R ST %
BECE T AL > A E R
Ao MR R IRAC [ A 4 B A HL
At I Y fa R B A B B Y 3
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50. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

Trade receivables arising from contracts with customers

(continued)

In order to minimise the credit risk, before accepting the bank
mortgage, the Group would assess the credit quality of the
banks and the monitoring procedures are carried out to ensure
that follow up action is taken to recover these debts. In this
regard, the directors of the Company consider that the Group’s
credit risk is significantly reduced. In addition, the Groups
reviews regularly the recoverable amount of each individual
customer at the end of the reporting period to ensure that
adequate impairment assessment under ECL model on trade
balances based on individual basis.

In addition, the Group performs impairment assessment under
ECL model in accordance with HKFRS 9 on trade balances
individually or based on provision matrix. For trade receivables,
the Group has applied the simplified approach under HKFRS
9 to measure the loss allowance at lifetime ECL. The lifetime
ECL (net of reversal) provided for trade receivables is
approximately RMB20,502,000 (2022: RMB5,692,000) (life-
time not credit impaired) for the year ended 31 December 2023
based on historical credit loss experience adjusted by forward-
looking estimates without undue cost or effort, the loss rate
ranging from 0% to 100% is adjusted to reflect the current
conditions and forecasts of future economic conditions, as
appropriate.

B DF B 5 e 3% B 5
For the year ended 31 December 2023
HWE20234F 1231 H L4

50. £t T H )

K H HLE 7 1 #9109 HE I 5% (477)

it £ 4 JL By e 28 IR > TR R A2 R
FTHE AR T > A SR B & il BRAT 0 15
BHERLHERRF » UHERA K
B4R S AT B LUB 9] 5% 55 B85 - sttt
ME - ARFEERHAEENE
BB C KRG o o - ALLE
B T i R 2 WA e (R S Y
AT ] e R o DAREOR AR 45 TE B A B
s tR AL Y B B ) 6 BRI AT T8 00 Y 9
{HPA ©

WAL > 7 45 AR 95 A v S i 4 e
HI SR 958 35 1 5 & 3 4 47 {181 Al ok
A 455 A5 0 ) Y (B A o LB TR
M5 > AS 55 [0 AR 58 7 o A 5 3
5 9sR B Ak ik > A
WE G S E R
R P E 5 15 6 s 48 40 B J 7F |
T 2 AR g &
IO A R > A E 20234612
H31H L4 > BEYCIR SR 2 10 78
W5 Bl 18 B (Fo R 8 ) 20 B A
R %#20,502,00070(20224F : AR
5,692,00070) (2 48 (5 Sk H) -
BHRNF0%5100% > HE LTI L
W I I DL B A Bl 48 R 1 T
W FLNE VLT AE) -
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50. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

(d)

290

Credit risk and impairment assessment (continued)

Trade receivables arising from contracts with customers
(continued)

The Group recognised lifetime ECL for trade receivables based
on individually significant balance or collectively for customers
that are not individually significant as follows:

50. @@k T H @)

(d) 15 B R R i e ¥ A (47)

K H HLE 5 #9105 (450)

A AR AR 5 A1 9] K 465 5 8l {18
Sl AR T K ) % 5 T 4 B R
SRk ) 77 AU B E s 1R n

2023 2022
20235 20026
Gross Net Gross Net
carrying Average Loss carrying carrying Avcragc Loss carrying
Category amount lossrate  allowance amount amount lossrate  allowance amount
B WAl THERE  BREG  RERHE  REAE TOBERX  BEEE  RERE
RMB'000 RMB'000  RMB000  RMB000 RMB'000  RMB'000
AREF 7 AREFE AREFL ARBTI AREFTE ARETFI
Within ¢ months Not credit-impaired 41,462 1.80% (748) 40,714 37689 1.50% (567) 37,122
6fEA LR REERE
6monthsto I year Credit-impaired 10414 2.84% (296) 10,118 7573 281% (213) 7,360
6fAZ 1 BiEEHE
1o 2 years Credit-impaired 28,634 74.92% (21,454) 7,180 4258 9457% (4027) 31
Lyl BREEHE
Over 2 years Credit-impaired 31,618 100% (31,618) - 28807 100% (28,807) =
VEDLE BERRE
112,128 (54116) 58012 78307 (33614) 4713
Other receivables and other financial assets at amortised il JE Wk T 4 488 85 ok AR A e 2
cost HAih 2 &

The credit risk of other receivables, and other financial assets
at amortised cost are managed through an internal process.
The credit quality of each counterparty is investigated before
an advance is made. The Group also actively monitors the
outstanding amounts owed by each debtor and identifies any
credit risks in a timely manner in order to reduce the risk of
a credit related loss. Further, the Group closely monitors the
financial performance of the joint ventures, associates and
related parties.

For other receivables, the directors of the Company considers
the counterparties with good credit worthiness based on
their credit ratings, past repayment history and subsequent
settlement.

The Group uses three categories for other receivables and other
financial assets at amortised cost which reflect their credit risk
and how the loss provision is determined for each of those
categories. These internal credit risk ratings are aligned to
external credit ratings.

FE At B SRR B 4 S P B B 2
it 5 Al 7 A A5 R JEL i 7 8 oA S
AT B B o FE A BT >
THEBMZSHTFHNEEER -
A % 1 7 A Ml B A o7 AT A B R
A o R e o N % R AT AT £
BB o DAY (5 FEAR B G 18 09 J
B o BLAL > A G2 I U0 B 5 5 4
3~ TR A 3 % B B O B S R
B o

ALY F > AL A EER
B o B F B A5 FE AT AR ~ RS
LBk M RBSE > BABTREAR
HIfEE -

A AR T 9 480 AR 1 EL At B A
Fopt < pl & 2 0 o = RBA - DL
WA L A5 L gt K% an T 7% g 1R 5 7 e
E AR - %55 A AR (5 BT AR B
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50. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued) 50. il T H @)
(d) Credit risk and impairment assessment (continued) (d) 17 B B Je ik 0 7 A (48)
Other receivables and other financial assets at amortised il JE W 35k e 14 188 8 ) AR W &
cost (continued) HAth 2 i & 7 ()
A summary of the assumptions underpinning the Group’s A B A 4R TR 3045 5 s 1R T ) B
expected credit loss model is as follows: RAHEI R
Basis for recognition of Basis for calculation of
Category Group definition of category expected credit loss provision interest revenue
K Y A 5 Tk FEL 0 £ 50 4 0 o 2 at A B R %
Stage one Customers have a low risk of default 12 months expected losses. Where the Gross carrying amount
and a strong capacity to meet expected lifetime of an asset is less than
contractual cash flow 12 months, expected losses are measured
atits expected lifetime
P B EEMENRRE  BARANER LREARBER - WREENENF SR AR (E
BeREwN HIR12MA > BT R
e
Stage two Receivables for which there is a Lifetime expected losses Gross carrying amount

significant increase in credit risk
since initial recognition

P B AR LA ERmEE S 2EEE e AR (E
FE ik
Stage three Receivables for which there is credic Lifetime expected losses Amortised cost carrying
loss since initial recognition amount (net of credit
allowance)
PEBi= VD B e B LA £ A R 9 Bk g bl o S A R T
(HBR {5 S )

291



D SRE GROUP LIMITED _k ¥ 4 [l 45 Bl 2 7]

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

B OF B 5 e 3% B 5
For the year ended 31 December 2023
2023 F 12031 H IL4FFE

50. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued) 50.
(d) Credit risk and impairment assessment (continued)

Other receivables and other financial assets at amortised

cost (continued)

The Group accounts for its credit risk by appropriately
providing for expected losses on a timely basis. In calculating
the expected credit loss rates, the Group considers historical loss
rates for each category of receivables and other financial assets at
amortised cost, and adjusts for forward looking macroeconomic
data.

(i) Other receivables

b T H o)

(d) 1B B J& WA 7F A ()
Al JE W I ok T L fih 1% 18 51 oG A
DR 19 & il & (45)

A [ 20 e B 2 4R A R R
Dhat B LS B o E R BN AR
FERGIRR K AR B & % 8 1
e bl d R VE R ) ]l
M FLAt < Pl 7 o SO I
TP AR T o

(i) HALEY

Gross Expected
carrying credit Loss
amount loss rate allowance Net Value
R T AR JEH R e 16 18t HHE
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ANREF 70 NS & ST ARTF 70
Asat 31 December 2023 R20234 1231 R
Stage one M — 732,335 2.45% (17,921) 714,414
Stage two PEE 1,834 14.56% (267) 1,567
Stage three B = 2,839,402 64.04% (1,818,391) 1,021,011
Total M 3,573,571 (1,836,579) 1,736,992
Asat 31 December 2022 #2022%12H31H
Stage one M B — 747,571 1.43% (10,701) 736,870
Stage two MEB— 11,570 12.03% (1,391) 10,179
Stage three MEE = 2,082,491 58.96% (1,227,648) 854,843
Total Mt 2,841,632 (1,239,740) 1,601,892
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2023 F 12031 H ILFREE
50. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continucd) 50. il T H )
(d) Credit risk and impairment assessment (concinued) (d) 1= B B B Do e 7T A (4
Other receivables and other financial assets at amortised -l JE W I Kk e A #4188 5 )k A
cost (continued) DI 1 <2 ik 5 (4
(ii)  Other financial assets at amortised cost (i) 1B AT IR 2 HoAfh 2 il
JE
Gross Expected
carrying credit Loss
amount loss rate allowance Net Value
T
iR T AR A fEH R | ikl i
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARWBTT ARW T ARET
Asat 31 December 2023 #20234 12431 H
Stage one PEB— 573,072 2.79% (15,989) 557,083
Stage three PEB = 823,141 29.72% (244,618) 578,523
Total Mgt 1,396,213 (260,607) 1,135,606
Asat 31 December 2022 R20224E 1231 H
Stage one W Bt — 573,080 2.86% (16,405) 556,675
Stage three M= 641,356 2.76% (17,673) 623,683
Total M5t 1,214,436 (34,078) 1,180,358
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50. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)
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Bank balances

The credit risk on liquid funds is limited because the
counterparties are banks with high credit ratings assigned by
international credit rating agencies or state-owned banks in
the PRC. In the opinion of the directors of the Company, the
risk of default by these counterparties is not significant and the
Group assessed that the ECL on these balances are insignificant.

Financial guarantees

For properties that are presold but development has not been
completed, the Group typically provides guarantees to banks
in connection with the customers’ borrowing of mortgage
loans to finance their purchase of the properties for an amount
up to 70% of the purchase price of the individual property. If
a purchaser defaults on the payment of its mortgage during
the period of guarantee, the bank holding the mortgage may
demand the Group to repay the outstanding loan and any
interest accrued thereon. Under such circumstances, the
Group is able to forfeit the sales deposit received from the
customer and resell the repossessed properties. Therefore,
the management considers the Group would likely recover
any loss incurred arising from the guarantees provided by the
Group. The management considers the credit risk exposure to
financial guarantees provided to customers is limited because
the facilities are secured by the properties and the market
price of the properties is higher than the guaranteed amounts.
In this regard, the directors of the Company consider that
the Group’s credit risk is significantly reduced and the ECL
is insignificant. As at 31 December 2023, the gross amount
of financial guarantees to banks in connection with the
customers’ mortgage loans were amounting to approximately
RMB61,000,000 (2022: RMB98,000,000).

50. 4 ik T H )
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F R 52 5y 36 F 20 6 B R A B AR
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A BRAT - TR U B B AR BR A 1R
Bk AR e AR FRIEERE
% 55 58 5 3 FE K I LB A K - HL
AR [ Al A% S R TS B
BIAEK -

HEAEIR

BN EEME N RE RN E K
45 [ 9 H  F 15 TRCHE P K ) 4R
TTHEBHER - DLA K P I E PR
HEE 4 > SR Nl R B 4 3
FEEMI70% o {4 BRI IR
1 R R R R 2 > IR
G Y SR AT n] R AL [ R R
B AT 3k B TR B 2 A 1 AT o] JE 5T
B TEIEUW T AL E RN R Ik
B & 5 IR 8 85 e 4 30 e B kg (]
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ARG ] B Wi e 3l A 42 (B 4 174 47 1
JIT 7 A B AT AT $E O o A5 3 i R 4 )
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WA PR > R B sk 23K > B
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H > i ELK 5 K 8 30h B 9 8R 17
PABS LR JA%E A 5 N R 61,000,000
J6(20224 + AR 198,000,0007T) e
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50. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

The Group’s objective is to maintain a balance between
continuity of funding and the flexibility through the use of
borrowings. The directors of the Company closely monitor
the liquidity position and expect to have adequate sources of
funding to finance the Group’s projects and operations.

The following tables detail the Group’s remaining contractual
maturity for its financial liabilities. The tables have been drawn
up based on the undiscounted cash flows of financial liabilities
based on the earliest date on which the Group can be required
to pay. Specifically, bank borrowings with a repayment on
demand clause are included in the carliest time band regardless
of the probability of the banks choosing to exercise their
rights. The maturity analysis for other non-derivative financial
liabilities is prepared based on the scheduled repayment dates.
The tables include both interest and principal cash flows. To
the extent that interest flows are floating rate, the undiscounted
amount is derived from interest rate at the end of the reporting

period.

As at 31 December 2023, the Group had net current liabilities
of approximately RMB71,716,000. The Group is exposed to
liquidity risk if they are not able to raise sufficient funds to meet
its financial obligations. The Group has a number of alternative
plans to mitigate the potential impacts on anticipated cash
flows should there be significant adverse changes in economic
environment. These include adjusting and further slowing
down the construction progress as appropriate to ensure
available resources for the development of properties for sale,
implementing cost control measures, and accelerating sales with
more flexible pricing. The Group, will base on its assessment of
the relevant future costs and benefits, pursue such options as
are appropriate. The directors of the Company consider that
the Group will be able to maintain sufficient financial resources
to meet its operation needs.

B DF B 5 e 3% B 5
For the year ended 31 December 2023
W E20234FE 1231 H IL4EE

50. 4k T H @)

A A T B AR 5 AR G SR AR 3R
4 FY 28 A6 P BEL R S M 2 D Y A
AN ERFENEERDE SR
U TR TR B SRR DAL
FrARL R IHE fod

TRASIAEHEAMABNGERT S
RIZIHNE L o 5% R IR AS 4R ) ]
REBZOR A I B B H I > 12l
AR BEE SR ESH - B
ME > A ST & 1 B4R AT (i A
A 5 i R R e Ak Bl SR AT i
A A S R R AL A o HC A JE
7 A B B R B B AT TS R
JEE R B AR R o R B
LAGBEmE - A8 & A
A2 o QR IT B G RATAE AR R
HEIR I FE o

20234 12A31H » REFHEAR F
B AL 2 AR ¥E71,716,0000C -
¥ A BE 2 42 2 40 4 I A L P S o
AE > RIS 42 [ 5 v s o 38 R o
g £8 I BRI AT B R R R 58 > A 4E
9 A5 22 TE B AR R ) DA 8 e 3 7 B
SWMEMTBERLE - HHEFHEE
A S — WS AR R (78 )
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1) 78 AN PR E  o AN 4 EEAR BE
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For the year ended 31 December 2023

% 20234F 1231 H IE4EE
50. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

296

50. =il TH @

Liquidity risk (continued) (e) I B 1 B ()
3t0 Total
On Lessthan less than Ito Over  undiscounted Carrying
demand 3 months 12 months 5 years Syears ashflows amount
KHH
CEl SRR sEnBA 1554 sERE  Redit it
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARMFE  ARWFx  ARBTx  ARETx  AREFx ARMFR ARWFR
At31 December 2023 RaséE 1231
Non-derivative financial Hits R
[abilies A
Trade payables Tt g 12527 84744 165010 - 350058 350058
Other pyable and accruls JLABRER SR R A 1769373 95,632 527355 31940 SLA 24430
Financilliabilicies at WARRlE B EHEH
FTRL AR SRR - - - 267250 - 267,52 26750
Bankand other borrowings EGYEN R 1218538 29,98 0496 452964 ST SHLS
Financial guATAtEe Contracts HEBERER 5,316,870 - - - - 5,316,870 236,960
Toul it 8392,5% 137457 654595 4917166 - WL 8368
Leaselabliis HEAE - 812 243 17,21 35,060 55,528 30,125
310 Toul
On Less than Jess than lto Over  undiscounted Carrying
demand 3 months 12 months S years Syears ash flows amount
i
EA  JISER 3EnMA 1555 SENE  HeRdd (e
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB1000 RMB'000
MEfT  ARRTT  ARBTRX  ARWTR  ARWTR ARRTR ARETX
At31 December 2022 Roonf 12 3iH
Non-derivative financial HitER
[abilies -4
Trade payabls B 82,446 12,666 136779 25416 - 457307 457307
Other payable and accruals JLABReRt SR R R A 1486132 160,167 420866 - - 2,067,165 2,067,165
Financil labilcies at WARBEBAEES
FVIPL ARBRRN AR - - - 75098 - 175098 75098
Bankand other borrowings GV 1085370 91084 302 4057277 S SHET8 440617
Financial guarantee contracts B R 5,796,600 - - - - 5,796,600 206,000
Toul it 8450548 263917 o067 455791 - RIS T8
Leas iabliis fHgaE = 1390 365 17938 847 61,208 3057
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50. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

The amounts included above for variable interest rate
instruments for non-derivative financial liabilities are subject
to change if changes in variable interest rates differ to those
estimates of interest rates determined at the end of the
reporting period.

The amounts included above for financial guarantee contracts
are the maximum amounts the Group could be required to
settle under the arrangement for the full guaranteed amount if
that amount is claimed by the counterparty to the guarantee.
Based on management estimation at the end of the reporting
period, the Group made a provision of approximately
RMB236,960,000 for the estimated losses due to the default
of Jinxin’s syndicated bank loan and execution of the
financial guarantee contract as at 31 December 2023 (2022:
RMB206,000,000). However, this estimate is subject to change
depending on the probability of the counterparty claiming
under the guarantee which is a function of the likelihood that
the financial receivables held by the counterparty which are
guaranteed suffer credit losses.

Some of the Group’s financial instruments are measured at
fair value for financial reporting purposes. The directors of the
Company determine the appropriate valuation techniques and
inputs for fair value measurements.

In estimating the fair value, the Group uses market-observable
data to the extent it is available. Where Level 1 inputs are not
available, the Group engages third party qualified valuers to
perform the valuation. The valuation committee works closely
with the qualified external valuers to establish the appropriate
valuation techniques and inputs to the model. The valuation
committee reports the findings to the directors every quarter to
explain the cause of fluctuations in the fair value.

Fair values of the Group’s financial assets and financial
liabilities that are measured at fair value on a recurring basis
The following table gives information about how the fair values
are determined (in particular, the valuation techniques and
inputs used), as well as the level of the fair value hierarchy into
which the fair value measurements are categorised (levels 1 to
3) based on the degree to which the inputs to the fair value
measurements is observable.

B DF B 5 e 3% B 5
For the year ended 31 December 2023
W E20234FE 1231 H IL4EE
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50. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

®)

(continued)

Fair value measurements of financial instruments

Level 1 fair value measurements are those derived from quoted
prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets or

liabilities.

Level 2 fair value measurements are those derived from inputs
other than quoted prices included within Level 1 that are
observable for the asset or liability, either directly (i.e. as prices)
or indirectly (i.e. derived from prices).

Level 3 fair value measurements are those derived from
valuation techniques that include inputs for the asset or liability
that are not based on observable market data (unobservable

®)

50. @@k T H @)

el LR A 2 F 1 A1 2 (4%)

BN R EER ETIR AMEE
TR 5 R P 9 R T 355 B fE R A 3

e

1|=_)°

BN REER R IR AR
— R LASL 5 A€ 3 % AR
Y L4 (DR A ) o M) 4 (RP i A A
%) 69 AT LS i A\ BchE

BN RBEERBTIRAGREA
3t I LA 5 2 T B i A B O aT
Bl A\ BR) e B A TR

inputs). AT -
Fair value as at Fair value
31 December hierarchy ~ Valuation technique and key input
RAAMRME
RASIAMARERE B GIBTYER T IN ¢
2023 2022
w3 20k
RMB000  RMB'000
ARBTR ARETT
Financial assets at FVTOCI DU AL T ELEC 28,542 39955 Level3 Market approach = The fair value of underlying
- Secured loan package EHi AR propertics.
Wit 2 e RERE
- EAETA S H3E sk - BN A R -
Financial assets at FVTPL DA R & AR 37,834 - Level3 Income approach - discounted cash flow method was
- Wealth management products A EPNGE used to estimate the return from underlyingassets.
ZEMERE
- MEEHER H3E WeAdk- SRR BB & B DL A B R A
i I -
Financial liabilities at FVTPL DAREERER 267,252 275298 Level 3 Market approach = The fair value of underlying
HEBAEN properties.
RERMERAR
308 TSk - MR A R -

The directors consider that the carrying amounts of financial
assets and financial liabilities recognised in the consolidated
financial statements approximate their fair values.
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50. 4k T H @)
O T AL R EMER 2

50. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

(f)  Fair value measurements of financial instruments
(continued)

(i) Sensitivity analysis in financial assets at FVTOCI (i)  BA R 2 H S

The sensitivity analyses below have been determined
based on the exposure to unobservable inputs at the end
of the reporting period. For sensitivity analysis purpose,
the sensitivity rate is increased to 20% (2022: 20%) in
current year as a result of the volatile financial market.

al A KAl 45 15 W ai 1Y <2 i
B IR AT

T ST BB S B T B A
AR Y AS 0] 15155 iy A g L e
M - SRS
H A 4 R T 5 U B o RO
H R AR T T %20% (2022
A1 20%) e

For the year ended 31 December 2023, if the BAE2023F 12731 H I >
unobservable inputs of the secured loan packages had il H1RA B K A 5 B RS T B
been 20% (2022: 20%) higher/lower, the Group’s other ABiE BT R FE20% (2022

comprehensive expense would decrease/increase by
approximately RMBS5,708,000 (2022: RMB7,991,000)
while total equity would increase/decrease by
approximately RMBS5,708,000 (2022: RMB7,991,000)
as a result of the changes in fair value of financial assets at
FVTOCIL

Reconciliation of Level 3 fair value measurements of

A1 20%) > HR DAA AAEE T
B HEEH A LM S ks
Z ARG RN B E) - i
7% 45 [ HoAth 45 A BE S0
O # A R #55,708,0000C (2022
0 NR#7,991,00000) - 1
25 AR ST B BN R
#%5,708,0007T (20224F = AR
7,991,0007C) °

DARE W PR S 3 N AR R 2 &

financial assets on recurring basis are as follows: RilEE 2 IR
RMB’000
YN
At 1 January 2022, 31 December 2022, R20224F1 7 1H ~ 2022412 31H
and 1 January 2023 K202341H1H 39,955
Changes in fair value through other A R fEERE B HEH A
comprehensive income HAh%x & i gt 2 55 ) (11,413)
At 31 December 2023 "20234E12 431 H 28,542
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50. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

300

Fair value measurements of financial instruments

(continued)

(ii)  Sensitivity analysis in financial assets at FV'TPL

The sensitivity analyses below have been determined
based on the exposure to unobservable inputs at the end
of the reporting period. For sensitivity analysis purpose,
the sensitivity rate is increased to 10% in current year as a
result of the volatile financial market.

For the year ended 31 December 2023, if the
unobservable inputs of the financial assets at FVTPL had
been 10% higher/lower, the Group’s loss would decrease/
increase by approximately RMB3,783,000 while total
equity would increase/decrease by approximately
RMB3,783,000 as a result of the changes in fair value of
financial assets at FVTPL.

Reconciliation of Level 3 fair value measurements of

50. @@k T H @)

(t

2 TR B4 A 8 AT 2 )

(i)

Y2 7 1 it 5 H H 5 B
AT A & 18 g 19 <2 i B
BIRE W

T 3¢ AR A3 A T A
J AR 14 R BT 38 2 i A R R B
M2 - SEMURE TS >
F A 4 AT S B o AU
RN ALERE E T2 10% o

B E 202341231 H ILEE »
LA e E R B B 85
N IR 25 A 4 A A R T
S A BEE BT R H10% o
A RAA e B (A 5] HOH A )
FEAE BB SMEE AR
B S E) > WA 4 130 s 4 4 Dok
b # N R %#3,783,000
JC > T A £R AAFHEE b
#1 N R3,783,0000T °

DURE W MR 3 N RE R R 2 &

financial assets on recurring basis are as follows: RlEE 2 BIRWE ¢
RMB’000
AREETIC
At 1 January 2022, 31 December 2022, 20224E1 1 H ~ 20224E12 31 H
and 1 January 2023 F202341H 1H =
Addition NE 40,000
Disposal e (2,500)
Changes in fair value through PAos et (E R H B2 # A
profit or loss EHAE £ 2 B ) 334
At 31 December 2023 A20234F12H31H 37,834
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50. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued) 50. £t T H )

(f)  Fair value measurements of financial instruments () e LHRA A EMEE )

(continued)

(iii)  Sensitivity analysis in financial liabilities at FVTPL (iii) VAL E e At 2 H H 52 8)

The sensitivity analyses below have been determined
based on the exposure to unobservable inputs at the end
of the reporting period. For sensitivity analysis purpose,
the sensitivity rate is increased to 10% (2022: 10%) in
current year as a result of the volatile financial market.

For the year ended 31 December 2023, if the
unobservable inputs of the financial liabilities at
FVTPL had been 10% (2022: 10%) higher/lower, the
Group’s loss would increase/decrease by approximately
RMB26,725,000 (2022: RMB27,529,000) while total
equity would decrease/increase by approximately
RMB26,725,000 (2022: RMB27,529,000) as a result of
the changes in fair value of financial liabilities at FVTPL.

Reconciliation of Level 3 fair value measurements of

dl A & 18 4 19 <5 i 1 15
BIRE 2B

T ST SR S BT T B A
AR A A AT 4B gy A 08 L e
A E o BBURE TS
F A 4 Rl T S 0 ) > RO
HE R AAAE BE T %10% (2022
1 10%) o

B E 202312031 H ILERE
i DA oA (B R & H A ) 5
N R =R i N
B A LR 10%
(20224F : 10%) > HALLA 2
fEAE & H IS B A B8
T 14 42 il B A s FOME (S )
AR 48 9] 109 s 15K 38 R
b # N R H26,725,0007C (2022
£ ANR#27,529,00000) >
M 2 AL G T30 ek 0 A
R #26,725,0007C (20224 = A
R #27,529,0007C) °

DA W 2 HE 45 B 3 8] o AL ME

financial assets on recurring basis are as follows: Eit &2 & EE 2 BRI
o
RMB’000
AR¥F0
At 1 January 2022 20224E1H 1H 286,687
Changes in fair value through profit PUos s A (R H S #hEh A
or loss ARt 2 B ) (11,389)
At 31 December 2022 and 202212 31 H I
1 January 2023 202341 H1H 275,298
Changes in fair value through profit AR RfEER B A
or loss HIR R 2 S E) (8,046)
At 31 December 2023 r20234E12 31 H 267,252
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51. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL 51. AAREZET A
SUBSIDIARIES OF THE COMPANY
As at 31 December 2023 and 2022, the Company had direct or R20234F 2 20224F 12 H31H » AN H
indirect interests in the following principal subsidiaries: SRR U T FE A AL
Place and date of
incorporation or Issued and
establishment and Proportion of paid-up Authorised
Name business ownership interest capital share capital  Principal activities
b ML iR
(s e L VAL CH#IT R RA B RA Ak EEREH
Held by Indirectly
the Company held
ARFHH Fgerif
Sinopower [nvestment Limited BVI 100% - US$52 US$50,000  Investment holding
1 October 1998
HEREARLA e papt SET SO000KT  HRHR
19985 10 1H
Shanghai Xin Dong Industry PRC/Mainland China - 100%  US$3457,729  USS3457.729  Property leasing and real
Co,, Ltd. 28 May 1993% estate agency
LBEREEARAA VAN 3ATTORT  3ATTORTL  WEMERERERAR
199345 28R #
Shanghai Oasis Garden Real PRC/Mainland China - 100%  US$19,600,000  US$19,600,000  Property development
Estate Co,, Ltd. (“Oasis 29 September 1998
Garden”)
LEAHERERARAR VAN 19,600000%7C  19,600000%7C ¥R
(ki fe ) 199859 29 R
Shanghai Wingo Infrastructure PRC/Mainland China - 100%  US$20,000,000  US$20,000,000  Development of technology
Co, Ld. 4 August 1999 housing and provision of
construction services
HEARRRARA (VAN 2000000076 20,000000%7C  BRMEERE AR
19995871 4R ¥ s
Shanghai Zhufu Property PRC/Mainland China - 51%  RMB10,000,000 RMB10,000,000  Property development
Development Co, Ltd. 11 August 20009
(‘Zhufw’)
LEEERMERRAMAT  HE/PEKE N ARE FHERE
(&) 2000487110 1000000075 10,000,007
Anderson Land (Shanghai) Led. BVI = 52% US$100 US$50,000  Investment holding
29 September 2001
EEM(ER) AR e pape 100%7E  S0000%7C  BEHER
200149A29H
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51. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL 51. ARZ A EE AL W] 4
SUBSIDIARIES OF THE COMPANY (continued)

Place and date of
incorporation or Issued and
establishment and Proportion of paid-up Authorised
Name business ownership interest capital share capital  Principal activities
A A B C#ITk
Ea E S TILYTE CEITRER A BRI A HElA  EEEH
Held by Indirectly
the Company held
KA EHH LE2E
Shanghai Anderson Fuxing Land PRC/Mainland China - 5248%  US$20,000,000  US$20,000,000  Property development
Co,, Ltd. 16 April 2002
EEEEERE A RAR T,/ KR 20000000E7  20000000F7C i B3
20024F4 16H
Shanghai Hangtou Govern Real PRC/Mainland China = 98%  US$10,000,000  US$10,000,000  Property development
Estate Co., Ltd. 14June 2002
LR R EEARAR T,/ KR 1000000057C 100000005 7T i HEFH
20024F6 /1 14H
Shanghai Andong Real Estate PRC/Mainland China = 99% RMB370,000,000 RMB370,000,000  Property development
Development Led. 18 October 2007%
FlRREREREARAT BB N ARYE FHERE
20074F 107 18 HO) 370,000,0007C  370,000,0007C
Shanghai Jinwu Real Estate Co., PRC/Mainland China = 97% RMB442,235,160 RMB442,235,160  Property development and
Led. (“Shanghai Jinwu”) 12 August 2002961 property leasing
FERTEEARAT VDN N ARHE  FHERERMERE
(L#2F) 200268 12A 0 402351607 442,235,1607C
Shenyang Huarui Shiji Asset PRC/Mainland China = 100%  US$31936,200  US$31,936200  Property leasing
Management Co,, Ltd. 30 October 2007
(‘Huarui Asset Management”)
RHESHCREERARAR  PE/PEKE 3193620057 319362005 WIHHE
(G EREER) 2007410300
Shanghai Shangzhi Real Estate PRC/Mainland China = 100%  RMB10,000,000 RMB10,000,000  Property development
Development Co, Led. 16 October 2008”
F PERREREARAT BB N AREE FHERE
200842104 16H1 100000007 10,000,0007
Shanghai Xiangdao Real Estate PRC/Mainland China = 100% RMB330,000,000 RMB330,000,000  Property development
Led. (“Xiangdao”) 21July 2009461
FEEREEEEARA VDN N ARYE FHERE
(&) 20097 A21HE0 330,000,007 330,000,0007C
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S1. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL
SUBSIDIARIES OF THE COMPANY (continued)

S1. AR A RE AL @)

304

Place and date of
incorporation or Issued and
establishment and Proportion of paid-up Authorised
Name business ownership interest capital share capital  Principal activities
GALERE TR CHEITR
B REBWBRAM CEITRAR A BRIRA BERA  FEEHK
Held by Indirectly
the Company held
KA R s A
Shanghai Xiabo Industry Led. PRC/Mainland China - 100% RMB RMB  Property development
(“Xiabo”) 14 September 19959 3,000,000 3,000,000
THEREEARAAER) B/ hEKRE NG AR% FiERE
19959 14 P 300000000 3,000,000
Shanghai Haibo Property PRC/Mainland China - 100% RMB RMB  Property development
Development Co., Ltd. 27 December 1996 15,000,000 15,000,000
(“Haibo”)
LEEEEREGAREARA  PE/RELME AR AR% FiERE
7 (M) 19964125270 150000000 15,000,0007C
Shanghai Bairun Real Estate PRC/Mainland China - 51% RMB RMB  Property development
Co., Ltd. (“Bairun”) 16 May 20029 605,500,000 605,500,000
EEEEERRAR Gl LN NG AR% FiERE
(M) 200245 16H 605,500,0007C  605,500,0007C
Wuxi Zhongging Real Estate PRC/Mainland China - 100% RMB RMB  Property development
Co, Ltd. (“Wuxi Zhongging”) 11 July 2008 85,000,000 85,000,000
EHMEFHERBARAR B/ REKRE NG AR% FiERE
(M) 20087 11O 850000007 85,000,007
Jiaxing Lake Richgate Real Estate PRC/Mainland China - 100% RMB RMB  Property development
Co, Ltd. (‘iaxing Lake 26 September 20070 335,114,300 335,114,300
Richgate”)
TR B A RA T Gl YL NG AR% FiERE
(TR BB Bt ) 20074£9H26H 00 3351143007 335,1143000C
Shanghai Zhiyi Enterprise Ltd. PRC/Mainland China - 100% RMB RMB  Procurement management
14 March 2011% 500,000,000 500,000,000
HiEEEEERRA W /oK B NG ARE REER
20115371 14A 9 500,000,000 500,000,0007C
Dalian Shangzhi Real Estate PRC/Mainland China - 100% RMB RMB  Property development
Development Co., Ltd. 19 July 2013 30,000,000 30,000,000
KEFBRMERBARAR B/ EARE NG AR% FiERE
201347A1909 30,000,000t 30,000,007
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51. AW FE LA E @

SUBSIDIARIES OF THE COMPANY (continued)

Place and date of
incorporation o Issued and
establishment and Proportion of paid-up Authorised
Name business ownership interest capital share capital  Principal activities
ERLAA T A BTk
k4 YES T YEE] CEITRAERA BRI A BERA  EEEH
Held by Indirectly
the Company held
AR TEHH L2
Shanghai Zhi Yi Investment Led. PRC/Mainland China - 100% RMB RMB  Investment
21 January 20149 100,000,000 100,000,000
FiEEREARAR VAP AR ARW  #%
2014F 1210 100,000,000 100,000,0007C
Chengdu Shangzhi Real Estate PRC/Mainland China - 100% RMB RMB  Property development
Co,, Ltd 20 December 2010% 20,000,000 20,000,000
WL EEERRAT e /o B AR AR EHEEE
20104122010 20,000,0007C 20,000,0007C
Shanghai Lake Malaren PRC/Mainland China - 100% RMB RMB  Hospital
Obstetrical and Gynecological 17 October 20138 10,000,000 10,000,000
Hospital Co,, Ltd.
FEEEWRERRRARAR  E /PR AR AR ARE Bk
2013510/ 17H0) 10,000,0007C 10,000,0007C
Shanghai Lake Malaren Corporate  PRC/Mainland China - 72.63% RMB RMB  Property development
Development Co,, Led 8 April 2014% 70,000,000 70,000,000
LEERMCEBRRARAT  E/REAE AR AR EHEEE
2014F4718H0 70,000,000 70,000,007
Shanghai Lake Malaren PRC/Mainland China - 72.63% RMB RMB  Property development
Commercial Management Co,, 8 April 2014% 70,000,000 70,000,000
Led
LEEWMEEERARAT  E /R AR AR EHEREE
2014F4718H0 70,000,000 70,000,007
Shanghai Malaren Lake Real PRC/Mainland China - 72.63% RMB RMB  Property development
Estate Development Limited 8 April 2014% 200,000,000 200,000,000
FEERMEREREARAR  E /PR AR AR EHEEE
2014451800 200,000,0007C  200,000,0007C
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51. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL 51. AA R FEFAHE @
SUBSIDIARIES OF THE COMPANY (continued)
Place and date of
incorporation or Issued and
establishment and Proportion of paid-up Authorised
Name business ownership interest capital share capital  Principal activities
GALERE TR CHEITR
B REBWBRAM CEITRAR A BRIRA BERA  FEEHK
Held by Indirectly
the Company held
KA R s A
Jiangsu Jiaye SRE Commercial PRC/Mainland China = 80% RMB100,000,000 RMB100,000,000  Factoring
Factoring Limited 10 February 20170
THEELERERARAR B/ hEKRE NG NG
2017427100 100,000,000 100,000,000
Qingdao Zhongtong PRC/Mainland China = 100% RMB90,010,000 RMB90,010,000  Investment
Environmental Fund Center 16 October 2017¢
(Limited Partnership)
FEPEREES PO ERE  hE/ PR AR AREE #YE
%) 201710/ 16H© 90,010,000 90,010,007
Zhongtong Wanfang Construction ~ PRC/Mainland China = 90% RMB100,000,000 RMB100,000,000  Construction
and Development 21 November 20179
(Zhangjiakou) Co,, Led.
TRE T ERERRED) Gl YEEPN NG ARE B
ARAT 2017112100 100,000,007 100,000,007
Gullveig Investment Co., Ltd.* Cambodia = 100% US$250,000 US$250,000  Investment
30 January 2018
Gullveig Investment Co., Ltd.* JEiE S 250,000 7 250000%x  HE
2018511301
Valkyrie Investment Co., Ltd.* Cambodia = 100% US$260,000 US$260,000  Investment
30 January 2018
Valkyrie Investment Co., Ltd.* GEiiE S 260,000 7 260000£T  HE
201851130
Romduol Overseas Co., Ltd. Cambodia = 100% KHR KHR  Property development
30 January 2018 4,000,000,000 4,000,000,000
Romduol Overseas Co,, Led. TR 4000,000000 4000000000  FHEFE
2018517300 Bl 5l
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51. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL
SUBSIDIARIES OF THE COMPANY (continued)

*

Although the Group holds less than 50% of these Cambodian
companies legally, the other sharcholders are deprived of the rights and
obligations of these interests through an agreement to hold on trust for
the Group, therefore the Group in substance holds 100% interest in

these Cambodian companies.

Registered as wholly foreign owned limited liability companies under
PRC law.

Registered as sino-foreign limited liability companies under PRC law.

Registered as domestic limited liability companies under PRC law.

Registered as domestic partnership.

As at 31 December 2023 and 2022, the Group’s equity interests in
three subsidiaries, Shanghai Jinwu, Jiaxing Lake Richgate and Xiangdao,
were frozen by the court, which applied by the syndicated banks of the
certain joint ventures (note 3).

The above table lists the subsidiaries of the Group which, in the

opinion of the directors, principally affected the results for the year or

formed a substantial portion of the net assets of the Group. To give

details of other subsidiaries would, in the opinion of the directors,

result in particulars of excessive length.

Other than disclosed above, the Company has several investment

holding subsidiaries incorporated in the BVI, Hong Kong, the United

Kingdom and the United States of America with nominal issued

shares. All subsidiaries located in the PRC are limited liability entities.

51.
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B E20234F 12131 H IF4E
52. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF  52. A2 ®] MR %
THE COMPANY
Asat 31 December
R12H31H
2023 2022
20234 20224F
RMB’000 RMB’000
ANR¥ET e ANRHF 0
Non-current assets e B &
Property, plant and equipment LER Ty & 12 17
Investments in subsidiaries RTFRARZHBE 1,017,278 1,429,746
Advances to subsidiaries TEA A R A 939,597 2,764,562
1,956,887 4,194,325
Current assets Ui By
Dividends receivable from subsidiaries M T F AR 1,951,622 1,951,622
Prepayments and other current assets T ARIE S HoAt A ) 42,087 43,325
Bank balances and cash SRATHE AR LA 451 3,383
1,994,160 1,998,330
Current liabilities bR
Bank and other borrowings SRAT B HA £ 3K 177,068 -
Other payables and accruals A JRE AR R H % Bt TE H 484,484 401,451
661,552 401,451
Net current assets B R 1,332,608 1,596,879
Total assets less current liabilities B A AR R B £ 18 3,289,495 5,791,204
Non-current liabilities /S =N
Bank and other borrowings SRAT Mo HoAth £5 3% 1,024,740 1,167,388
Net Assets EE T E 2,264,755 4,623,816
CAPITAL AND RESERVES R i 0 £ A e A I kA
Issued share capital and share premium B BT A B A Vi 6,747,788 6,747,788
Reserves fiti 5 (4,483,033) (2,123,972)
Total equity B 4 A5 2,264,755 4,623,816
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52. A2 v W 5 IR O 3% )

A summary of the Company’s reserves is as follows: AR EN A REAR A
Accumulated
losses Others Total
EibiEia Hit At
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥F AR¥TIX AR¥Tx
At 1 January 2023 202341 H 1H (2,450,600) 326,628 (2,123,972)
Total comprehensive expense ARG PSR
for the year (2,359,061) - (2,359,061)
At 31 December 2023 2023412731 H (4,809,661) 326,628 (4,483,033)
Accumulated
losses Others Total
2Rt HoAtl o
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥TT AR¥TI AR¥TT
At 1 January 2022 20224F1H 1H (1,873,553) 326,628 (1,546,925)
Total comprehensive expense ARG PSR
for the year (577,047) - (577,047)
At 31 December 2022 #2022412H31H (2,450,600) 326,628 (2,123,972)
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53. EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD

310

a)

b)

Disposal of equity interests in two subsidiaries and
assignment of loan

On 6 February 2024, the Group entered into two disposal
agreements with its fellow subsidiary namely CMI Financial
Holding Corporation to (1) sell 100% equity interest of Bowin
International Limited (a wholly-owned subsidiary of the
Group) at a consideration of approximately US$15,370,000
and assign a loan together with all rights, title, interest and
benefits at a consideration of approximately US$5,930,000;
and (2) sell 7.66% equity interest of Cheswing Limited (a
wholly-owned subsidiary of the Group) at the consideration
of approximately US$4,000,000. On 20 June 2024, CMI
Financial Holding Corporation issued a letter to the Group
for requesting for a negotiation for an extension of the original
long-stop date (i.e. 31 May 2024) of the disposal agreement for
a period of not more than six months. As at the date of this
report, the aforesaid transactions have not been completed and
are subject to independent sharcholders” approval at a general
meeting,

One governmeant office withdrew a legal proceeding

In March 2023, a government office filed a legal claim against
the Company and a subsidiary in the PRC, demanding the
Group and the subsidiary to repay entire payables principal
of approximately RMB81,000,000 and related interests,
and requested the court to seize two pieces of land of the
Group located in Dalian. In March 2024, the Group reached
a settlement agreement with the above government office.
Subsequently, a withdrawal of the legal proceeding was
submitted by the government office and approved by the court
on 10 April 2024, and the previously seized two pieces of land
as disclosed under PFD in note 26 were approved to be released
accordingly. On 29 April 2024, the aforesaid government office
issue a debt settlement certificate to the Group.

53. i Wk FIAE

a)

b)

H P T 745 7P
20242 H 6 H > A 4L [ B W
% 722w (RICMI Financial Holding
Corporation)ﬂjﬁﬁl,atﬂﬁﬁf% 2
(1) th B A R 2 ] (K 5
2 T2 Rl )100% BHE > A
£515,370,000% 7T 7 i  — 45 45 30
[ A RER - BT A RE - MEAR R
o RAE#9755,930,0003 70 5 & (2)
MEREARAR (AEANEE T
AT 7.66% B HE > AUE A £54,000,000
EIT o 202446200 - CMI
Financial Holding Corporation|i] 4 £
3 o R > SR T AE = S T
e JALE 1Y B A% Uk B (RI20244F 5
A31H) > BEIAEEANEA - 7
P B R b N R i N
S 28 o 08 S T RO RO R g Bt
% HAHEE -

— A BT 2 4 i 1] A R
EAS

[ 74

202343 H 5 — BT BEA E I
AN A Je— T A B T 4R
kR > BEORAEEKZTA
AME R TR A S N R
81,000,000 70 M #H B | & > 3 R
7% e 2 B A A [ 7 K Y A I 1
M o A20244F3 H o A EA b
TN IO 2 T — TR R Wk o B
1% 52 WU HE2 28 1) 95 B B R 3
3 A 202444 H 10 H 15 235 Bt e
Hakan bt sk 2695 R B s 2 TH
IR vk ] PR EC e
o BR A EL o R20244F4H29H > A
aic SBCRF HE N 2 ) A 4 | B T RS
LETETER o
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(continued)

On 8 April 2024, the Group conditionally entered into a
disposal agreement with Zhongchong Investment Group Co.,
Led. (P E LB A R ) (an independent third party
of the Company) to (i) dispose of entire interest in Jinxin at
a consideration of approximately RMB800,000,000; and (ii)
assign the rights to the Purchaser in relation to the debts as
originally owed by Jinxin to the Group at a consideration of
approximately RMB2,610,000,000. On 29 May 2024, the
Company held an Original SGM for the purpose of approving
the aforesaid disposal transaction. During the Original SGM,
the board of directors of the Company announced that due
to the lack of quorum was present within thirty minutes from
the time appointed for the Original SGM, the Original SGM
was adjourned and the board of directors of the Company
announced that the Adjourned SGM will be held on 13 June
2024. On 13 June 2024, certain sharcholders of the Company
requested to further adjourn the special general meeting to a
date, time and venue to be determined by the board of directors
of the Company during the Adjourned SGM. As of the date of
this report, the arrangement for the Further Adjourned SGM
was not yet determined by the Company and the aforesaid
transactions have not been completed and are subject to
shareholders’ approval at general meeting,

Jinxin and certain subsidiaries of the Group, namely Shunlink
Investment Limited (4% &4 F 22 ), Gaken Investment
Limited (7 #4 &AM A), SRE Jiaye Real Estate
Development (Shanghai) Company Limited (I & 5% 3£ 5 #i
PE ¥ SR (F18) A BR/A ) and Shanghai Oasis Garden Real
Estate Company Limited (L &% L B 'S 26 RA A)
(altogether, the “Enforcees”), have received an enforcement
ruling dated 12 September 2024 and numbered (2023) Hu
74 Zhi No0.1509* ((2023) 18741150998 CRLITE EE))
(the “Ruling”) from the Shanghai Financial Court (I 4
% Bt ). Ie was stated in the Ruling that according to the
civil mediation document numbered (2022) Hu 74 Minchu
No. 2987* ((2022) €74 47 298798 (R FHFA D) (the
“Mediation Document”), the enforcees and other relevant
parties shall pay to the lenders the principal amount of the loan
in the amount of approximately RMB4,451,820,000, together
with corresponding interests and management fees and shall
also bear the enforcement fee of approximately RMB4,519,220

in respect of the action.

B DF B 5 e 3% B 5
For the year ended 31 December 2023
W E20234FE 1231 H IL4EE

R2024F4A8H > ANME FH A M f b
B 2P G E A RA A (AR A A
W) — AL =) FT L — H
Wk > () ELO 2R - E
# 5 N 800,000,000 5 K (ii)
A A B A0 TR R AR SE A R
M@ T E T - AEHH AR
2,610,000,00070 ° *20244F5H29
H > A FIERAT R SRR Al R & s
DISEUE bl h B2 5 o i IR A B
ke L RAFESEGEM > A
A AE TR B SRR I K 46 BT IR
AL = a8 A SR AR AT E N
& R AR R G e T R
N ) 3E S5 A R AR R OR
HEIR20244E6 H 13 H 8247 © 1820244F
GHI13H » AN T MR T K iE—
2 51% B SRR R K i 4iE 5 4E B &8 pR R
NEIE RGN B R R
B o BEAE H I > AN
o 8 R R I R i — 2 e Y
S SN (T o a7 1 7 N7, (R | A
o LA e s R g bk EfR > A
fEE -

0 BAEEA T TR (RP E &%
BHERATF - mEREERAF -
AR M EERE (L) AR R
B & sk A B 2 A BRA D) (5548
[ 7 il AT N D) 08 i & RlvE Bl
H 5202449 A 12 H 2 (2023)1E74
B1S09%9%E CATHE F) (e D) -
FHoE E I AARIE(2022)1E74 R 912987
ECREFIFE) TPEED - Bl
BUAT A B EoAthAH B 7 28 1) B RN SC
AR £ 58 49 N R 4,451,820,000
JC G ] AR B RIS, R 8 B ) > 8l
FRAA R IE AT B A N R 4,519,220
jL‘ o
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53. EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD

(continued)

312

d)

Enforcement ruling of Jinxin (continued)

Pursuant to the Ruling, given that the defendants (including
the Enforcees) failed to perform their obligations under
Mediation Document, the Shanghai Financial Court has ruled
to force actions on (i) the 18.80% equity interests in Jinxin,
held by Shanghai Oasis Garden Real Estate Company Limited;
(ii) the 18.42% equity interests in Jinxin held by Shunlink
Investment Limited; (iii) the 7.89% equity interests in Jinxin
held by Gaken Investment Limited; and (iv) the 5.89% equity
interests in Jinxin held by SRE Jiaye Real Estate Development
(Shanghai) Company Limited (the “Enforcement Action”).
The equity interests in Jinxin held by the Enforcees are mainly
enforced by way of transfer through judicial auction. The
specific actions to be taken shall be subject to further notice

from the Shanghai Financial Court.

53. IR S IH @)

d) sBOHTEEZ )

HRAE e 5 - B i (5 bl
AT ) oK RE AR BE 59 i 58 AT
5 LSk e G) LAk
MEREBERABRAARFAHZEO
18.80% B At 5 (ii) LB % & A FRZA w
F5A 2 400 18.42% 00 5 (i) 5% B 4%
B RN AR 2 4007.89%BHE
Fe(iv) BB ¥R E SR (LE)A
RN B 22 4 000'5.89% IR HE 3k & 78
il BRI T By (T3 il A T1) o Bh 4o 1l
AT NFFA 2 40 IEHE 32 B A
FAAE O AT o A TR
SEATENALE Ll Sk e — 4
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